
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

July 18, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 
Meeting Chambers 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 
 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes- Consideration to approve the June 20, 2023 work session and regular meeting 
minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

1. [2023-342 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the License Agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 
133762 (Springfield) 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

2. [2023-343 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement by and between the Georgia 
Department of Corrections and Effingham County Prison for GED Testing for Offenders 

3. [2023-344 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm a Facility Lease Agreement with the City of 
Rincon for the Ebenezer Fire Station 

4. [2023-345 Grant Application] 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm the submission of a Grant Pre-Application 
to the Georgia Emergency Management Agency's (GEMA) Hazard Mitigation Grant 
Program 

5. [2023-346 Grant Application] 

Consideration to approve to submit a Grant Application to Firehouse Subs Public Safety 
Foundation  

6. [2023-347 Grant Award] 

Consideration to approve acceptance of a Grant Award from the Georgia Emergency 
Management Agency (GEMA) for the Emergency Management Performance Grants 
(EMPG) Program 

7. [2023-348 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm a Contingency Amendment from the 
Governor's office of Planning and Budget (OPB) Water/Sewer Infrastructure Grant 
Program 

8. [2023-349 Donation Form] 

Consideration to approve to accept an anonymous donation to the Effingham County 
Senior Center 

9. [2023-350 Grant Application] 

Consideration to approve to submit a Grant Application to ACCG-Group Self-Insurance 
Workers' Compensation Fund-Employee Safety Grant  

10. [2023-351 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve Amendment #2 to the Food Services Agreement between 
Effingham County and Summit Food Service for provision of meals to the Prison and 
Senior Center 

X. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-214 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #3 to Task Order 21-25-004 with Roberts Civil 
Engineering for the FDRE for Ash Roads Design and Construction Management 
(postponed May 2, and May 16, 2023, and removed June 6, 2023) 

2. [2023-215 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #2 to LMIG 2022 Support and CM Services 
Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering (postponed May 2, and May 16, 2023, and 
removed June 6, 2023) 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

3. [2023-216 Change Order] 

Consideration to approve Change Order #2 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 
Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 
(postponed from May 2, 2023 and May 16, 2023, removed June 6, 2023) 

4. [2023-324 Ordinance/Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading to amend Part II, Article VIII - Chapter 
30 - Timber Ordinance  of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, (in response  to Title 
36 of the Official Code of Georgia) (1st reading approved 06/20/2023) 

5. [2023-325 Ordinance/Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading to amend  Part II , Appendix C - Article 
II - Definitions, Article IX - Amendments to Map or Text, Article XI- Zoning Appeals of the 
Effingham County Code of Ordinances (in response to the changes of Title 36 of the Official 
Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law) (1st reading approved 06/20/2023) 

XI. New Business 

1. [2023-352 Plan] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve the Effingham County Parks and Recreation Master Plan  

2. [2023-353 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #1 for the 2023 LMIG Support and CM Services 
Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

3. [2023-354 Agreement] Clint Hodges 

Consideration to approve an Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement between Effingham 
County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire Department 

4. [2023-355 Purchase] Clint Hodges 

Consideration to approve to authorize the Purchase of the Ebenezer Fire Station Building 
from the City of Rincon 

5. [2023-356 Plan] Clint Hodges 

Consideration to approve the Local Emergency Operations Plan Update 

6. [2023-357 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 2023-013 to amend the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
budget 

7. [2023-358 Agreement] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve a Personnel Agreement with the UGA Extension Office for fiscal 
year 2024 

8. [2023-359 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order# 1 for Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay 
Bell for the Clarence E. Morgan Complex 

9.  [2023-360 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement with the cities to conduct 
municipal elections 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

10. [2023-361 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Memorandum of Understanding between Effingham County 
EMS and Rescue Training, Inc. to allow for student ride-a-longs 

11. [2023-362 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment #3 for the extension of the Master Services 
Agreement for Professional Services for EOM Operations  

12. [2023-363 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment# 6 to the EOM Operations Agreement to perform 
public works related tasks 

13. [2023-364 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to Approve Task Order# 8 with EOM Operations under the Master 
Services Agreement  

14. [2023-365 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 
Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the State Court of Effingham County 

15. [2023-366 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 
Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the Superior Court of Effingham County 

16. [2023-367 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve to terminate  the Probation Services Agreement between 
Effingham County and Superior Court 

17. [2023-368 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve to terminate the Probation Services Agreement between 
Effingham County and State Court 

18. [2023-369 Grant] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve the 2024 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) 
Project List and submittal of the Application to the Georgia Department of 
Transportation (GDOT) 

19. [2023-370 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a  Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & 
Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

20. [2023-371 Ordinance] Chelsie Fernald 

Consideration to approve the First Reading to amend  Part II - Appendix C, Article II - 
Definitions,  Article III - General Provisions of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 
(in response to Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia) 

21. [2023-372 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve a request for annexation as submitted by the City of Springfield 
for a property located on Industrial Boulevard Map# 429A Parcel# 3A 

 

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

22. [2023-373 Resolution] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-014 to create a Special Service District for 
Effingham Gateway  

23. [2023-374 Resolution] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-015 to create a Special Service District for the 
Research Forest  

24. [2023-375 Resolution] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-016 to create a Special Service District for 
Interstate 16 

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - Consideration to approve the June 20, 2023 executive session 
minutes 

XV. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

1. [2023-376 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by 3 Byrds Development, 
LLC for a Sketch Plan located on Noel C. Conaway Road for "North Tract Development" 
zoned R-3 Map# 352 Parcels# 18, in the First District 

2. [2023-377 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Rogan DeMarco for  a 
Sketch Plan located on Noel C. Conaway Road for "Windfield Parcel C&E Townhomes," 
zoned PD Map# 352F Parcels# 1H & 1J, in the First District 

3. [2023-378 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Greenland Developers 
for  a Sketch Plan located on Noel C. Conaway Road for "Brunson Station," zoned PD-R 
Map# 418 Parcels#  2E, in the Second District 

4. [2023-379 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Teramore Development 
as agent for Ashley Fleetwood and George & Angela Usher for approval of a Sketch 
Plan located on Shawnee Road & Highway 21 for "Dollar General #25069," zoned B-2 
Map# 264A Parcels#  20 & 21, in the Third District 

5. [2023-380 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jacob Tadlock & Halie 
Tadlock as Agents for Buddy Rose to rezone 5 acres located at 533 Old Louisville 
Road to allow for the creation of a home site from AR-1 to AR-2 in the Third District 

6. [2023-381 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Jacob Tadlock & Halie 
Tadlock as Agents for Buddy Rose to rezone 5 acres located at 533 Old Louisville 
Road to allow for the creation of a home site from AR-1 to AR-2 in the Third District 

 

5



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

7. [2023-382 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Katherine R. Waddell 
requests to rezone 4.54 acres located at 2335 Springfield Egypt Road to allow for 
division of the parcel from AR-1 to AR-2  Map# 316 Parcel# 2 in the Third District 

8. [2023-383 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Katherine R. 
Waddell requests to rezone 4.54 acres located at 2335 Springfield Egypt Road to allow 
for division of the parcel from AR-1 to AR-2  Map# 316 Parcel# 2 in the Third District 

9. [2023-384 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Ashley N. Hynes as Agent 
for Richard Lancaster requests to rezone 5.89 acres located at 1101 Springfield Egypt 
Road to allow for the creation of a home site from AR-1 to AR-2 Map# 342 Parcel# 
29D in the Third District 

10. [2023-385 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Ashley N. Hynes as 
Agent for Richard Lancaster requests to rezone 5.89 acres located at 1101 Springfield 
Egypt Road to allow for the creation of a home site from AR-1 to AR-2 Map# 342 
Parcel# 29D in the Third District 

11. [2023-386 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Holly Winkler requests 
for a rural business located at 590 Old Tusculum Road Map# 366 Parcel# 10 in the 
Third District 

12. [2023-387 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Holly Winkler  for a 
Rural Business Use located at 590 Old Tusculum Road Map# 366 Parcel# 10 in the 
Third District 

13. [2023-388 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by T&T Exley Properties to 
rezone 274 of 1,047 acres located off of Highway 21 from PD-MU to PD-MU, to allow for 
the amendment of a Planned Development Map# 466D Parcels# 1,6,9,11 in the 
Second District 

14. [2023-389 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by T&T Exley 
Properties to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres located of of Highway 21 from  to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development PD-MU to PD-MU Map# 466D Parcels# 
1,6,9,11 in the Second District 

15. [2023-390 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Simcoe Investments 
Group, LLC to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres located at 1094 Goshen Road to allow for a 
residential development from R-1 to PD-R Map# 451 Parcel# 21 in the Second 
District 

6



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

16. [2023-391 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Simcoe Investments 
Group, LLC to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres located at 1094 Goshen Road from R-1 to 
PD-R, to allow for a residential development Map# 451 Parcel# 21 in the Second 
District 

17. [2023-392 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by T&D Enterprises as 
Agent for Clayton Morgan to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres located at Lowground Road & 
Midland Road, to allow for a surface mine from AR-1 to PD-MR Map# 350 Parcel# 
18 in the First and Fourth Districts 

18. [2023-393 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by T&D Enterprises as 
Agent for Clayton Morgan to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres located at Lowground Road & 
Midland Road , to allow for a surface mine from AR-1 to PD-MR Map# 350 Parcel# 
18 in the First and Fourth Districts 

19. [2023-394 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Braly Investment 
Properties as Agent for HT Savannah Properties, LLC to rezone 6.08 acres located at 
817 East US Highway 80 to allow for business development from R-1 to B-3 Map# 302 
Parcel# 102 in the First District 

20. [2023-395 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Braly Investment 
Properties as Agent for HT Savannah Properties, LLC to rezone 6.08 acres located at 
817 East US Highway 80 to allow for business development from R-1 to B-3 Map# 302 
Parcel# 102 in the First District 

21. [2023-396 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Dena C. Rodewolt as 
Agent for Land J. Sanders, Inc. to rezone 4.33 acres located at 2726 Highway 119 North 
to allow for business development from R-1 to B-2 Map# 294 Parcel# 41 in the Third 
District 

22. [2023-397 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Dena C. Rodewolt as 
Agent for Land J. Sanders, Inc. to rezone 4.33 acres located at 2726 Highway 119 North 
to allow for business development from R-1 to B-2 Map# 294 Parcel# 41 in the Third 
District 

23. [2023-398 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by McBride Properties to 
rezone 5 acres located on Mill Pond Road from R-1 to B-3 for business 
development Map# 446 Parcel# 7E in the Fifth District 

 

 

7



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 18, 2023 

24. [2023-399 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by McBride 
Properties to rezone 5 acres  located on Mill Pond Road from R-1 to B-3 for business 
development Map# 446 Parcel# 7E in the Fifth District 

XVI. Adjournment 

8



Staff Report 
Subject: Consideration to renew the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 

133762 (Springfield) 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Renew the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 133762 

(Springfield) 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval to renew the License 

Agreement with Verizon Wireless for the South Tower – Springfield site 133762 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has a license agreement in place with Verizon Wireless 

which allows co-location of radio antennas at their site 133762 - Springfield.  The 

terms of the agreement are August 2006 to August 2011, with three additional 

five year renewals unless otherwise cancelled (2011-2016, 2016-2021, 2021-

2026). 

 The county owns, operates and maintains its own equipment. There are no 

payments to Verizon. 

 The radio frequencies used are already identified and coordinated with Verizon. 

 The agreement can be terminated with 90 days written notice with or without 

cause. 

 The Fire Chief / EMA Director has indicated he would like the agreement to 

continue.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval to allow the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site ID 

133762 (Springfield) to continue 

2. Cancel the agreement. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, EEMA 

Funding Source: None 

Attachments: License Agreement 

 

 

 

 

9

Item IX. 1.



10

Item IX. 1.



11

Item IX. 1.



12

Item IX. 1.



13

Item IX. 1.



14

Item IX. 1.



15

Item IX. 1.



16

Item IX. 1.



17

Item IX. 1.



18

Item IX. 1.



19

Item IX. 1.



20

Item IX. 1.



21

Item IX. 1.



22

Item IX. 1.



23

Item IX. 1.



24

Item IX. 1.



25

Item IX. 1.



26

Item IX. 1.



27

Item IX. 1.



28

Item IX. 1.



29

Item IX. 1.



30

Item IX. 1.



31

Item IX. 1.



32

Item IX. 1.



33

Item IX. 1.



34

Item IX. 1.



35

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement by and between the Georgia 
Department of Corrections and Effingham County Prison for GED Testing for Offenders 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent  
Department: Purchasing & Prison 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement by and 
between the Georgia Department of Corrections and Effingham County Prison for GED 
Testing for Offenders 
 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The purpose of this Agreement is for the Department to provide GED® testing 
services for offenders at Effingham County Prison 

 Effingham County is responsible for paying for test booklets for content area 
tests at a rate of $46.00 per test content area per tester no later than thirty (30) 
days after invoice receipt. For computer tests, the cost per test is $46.00 per 
content area, and if the individual does not pass, to retake the test will be $26 per 
content area.  

 The agreement has 14-day termination clause. 

 The agreement will be effective July 1, 2023 and will run through June 30, 2024.  
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval to renew the Intergovernmental Agreement by and between the 
Georgia Department of Corrections and Effingham County Prison for GED 
Testing for Offenders.  

2. Do not renew  
 

Recommended Alternative: 1 
 

Other Alternatives: 2 
 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 
 

Funding Source: Operating Budget for Prison 
 

Attachments: Intergovernmental Agreement by and between the Georgia Department 
of Corrections and Effingham County Prison for GED Testing for Offenders 

36

Item IX. 2.



1 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

BY AND BETWEEN 

THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTONS 

AND 

Effingham County Correctional Institution 
 Computer/Paper Based GED® Testing for Offenders 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into the first day of July, 2023 by and between the 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, an agency of the State of Georgia 

(“Department”), and _Effingham County_ a political subdivision of the State of Georgia 

(“County”), acting by and through its Board of County Commissioners,  referred to 

individually as “Party” or together as “Parties.” 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is for the Department to provide paper 

based GED® testing services for offenders at Effingham County Correctional Institution, 

Springfield Georgia (“Testing Location”). 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises and 

agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Scope of Services. The Governmental Entity agrees to perform fully and faithfully 

the services described in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein 

(the “Services”).  The Department and the Governmental Entity shall meet annually to 

review the Services. No additional or different services shall be performed unless provided 

for by an amendment to this Agreement, executed by the parties in the manner provided 

for herein.   

 

2. Independent Contractor. In the performance of the services, and for all tax, 

liability, employment, and insurance purposes, Governmental Entity shall at all times be 

an Independent Contractor and not an agent, representative, or employee of the 

Department. Governmental Entity shall determine the means and manner of performance 

of its responsibilities, and Governmental Entity shall not hold itself out to be an employee 

or agent of the Department. 

 

3. Compensation. The Department agrees to pay Governmental Entity in 

accordance with Exhibit “B” attached to this Agreement and incorporated by reference 

herein (the “Compensation Schedule”) for the full and faithful performance of the services 

under this Agreement during the term hereof. The Department shall pay Governmental 

Entity upon receipt of Governmental Entity’s invoice in approved form. The Department 

shall endeavor to pay approved invoices within 30 days of receipt; however, no interest 

shall accrue on past-due amounts. Governmental Entity acknowledges and agrees that the 

Department is authorized to withhold payments due the Governmental Entity until 

37

Item IX. 2.



2 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

Governmental Entity has filed with the Department the Governmental Entity’s Taxpayer 

Identification Number.  In addition, payments otherwise due the Governmental Entity may 

be withheld by the Department on account of the Services being deemed deficient by the 

Department and not remedied or for breach of any term of this Agreement.  If the foregoing 

deficiencies are remedied, then withheld payments shall be made promptly, and if not 

remedied within a reasonable time, the Department may terminate this Agreement in the 

manner provided for herein. Payment request submitted thirty (30) days after the 

termination of this Agreement will not be paid by the Department. 

 

4. Benefits. The Governmental Entity acknowledges that he is not entitled to any 

benefits, including health insurance, workers compensation coverage, unemployment 

compensation coverage, which are ordinarily provided to employees of the Department. 

 

5. Pledges of Credit. Governmental Entity acknowledges that the State of Georgia 

may not lawfully pledge its credit so as to cause a State agency to incur a financial 

obligation unless funds to honor the obligation have been lawfully appropriated.  In the 

event that the source of any payment by the Department as provided for herein is 

insufficient, in the sole discretion of the Department, this Agreement shall terminate 

without further obligation of the Department. 

 

6. Expenses. The Department shall not be liable for and shall not reimburse 

Governmental Entity for any travel or other expenses incurred by the Governmental Entity 

unless approved in advance by the Department in writing.  Any such reimbursement shall 

be made in accordance with and in amounts permitted by applicable state rules and 

regulations. 

 

7. Equipment. The Department is not required to provide any office space nor any 

equipment to the Governmental Entity except as specifically provided under this 

Agreement. 

 

8. Term and Amendment. This Agreement shall be effective as of the 1st day of 

July, 2023, and shall continue in full force and effect until 11:59 p.m. on June 30, 2024.  

Any changes, modifications, or amendments to this Agreement will be effective only if 

reduced to writing and signed by both parties.  

 

9. Renewal. The Department shall have the option, exercisable in its sole 

discretion depending on the satisfactory performance and availability of funds, to renew 

this Agreement for up to four (4) terms. Each renewal term shall not exceed twelve months. 

The Department shall give the Governmental Entity no less than thirty (30) days’ notice of 

its intent to renew.  If renewed, renewal shall be upon the same terms and conditions. As 

to each term and subject to the termination provisions of this Agreement, the Agreement 

shall terminate absolutely and automatically at the close of the then-current term without 

further obligation by the Department. The original Agreement, applicable amendments and 

38

Item IX. 2.



3 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

any Agreement renewals shall bind the Department and the Governmental Entity. Upon 

the Department’s election, in the Department’s sole discretion, to renew any part of this 

Agreement, the Governmental Entity shall remain obligated to perform in accordance with 

this Agreement unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Department and the 

Governmental Entity. 

 

10. Compliance with Laws. The Governmental Entity agrees to perform the 

Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in compliance 

with all laws, rules, regulations and orders of federal, State and local governments, 

including orders of any court of competent jurisdiction and standard operating procedures 

of Department.  Without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, Governmental Entity 

agrees to comply with any special conditions, undertakings or representations attached 

hereto, all of which form a part hereof. 

 

11. Termination for Convenience. Either party may terminate this Agreement for 

any reason by providing written notice fourteen (14) days in advance of such termination.  

In the event of termination under this paragraph, the Department shall pay the 

Governmental Entity for Services that have been fully and faithfully performed prior to the 

effective date of termination; provided, however, that payments otherwise due the 

Governmental Entity may be applied by the Department against amounts due or claimed 

to be due the Department and, in addition, if termination is for cause, payments may be 

withheld by the Department on account of the Services being deemed deficient and not 

remedied by the Governmental Entity prior to the effective date of termination.  

Governmental Entity shall be liable to the Department for any additional cost incurred by 

the Department as a result of deficiencies in the Services to be provided hereunder. 

 

12. Rights and Interests.     This relationship is intended solely for the mutual benefit of 

the Parties, and there is no intention, express or otherwise, to create any rights or interests 

for any party other than the Department or Governmental Entity. 

 

13. Conflicts of Interest.       The Governmental Entity covenants that the Governmental 

Entity presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 

would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the Governmental Entity’s 

services hereunder.  The Governmental Entity further covenants that in the performance of 

this Agreement, the Governmental Entity will not employ any person having such an 

interest. 

 

14. Trading with State Employees.    The parties certify that this Agreement does not 

and will not violate the provisions of O.C.G.A. §45-10-20, et seq., in any respect.  The 

Governmental Entity agrees not to employ any individual that would result in a violation 

of this law. 

 

15. Screening. Governmental Entity acknowledges and agrees that Governmental 

39

Item IX. 2.



4 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

Entity, including employees of Governmental Entity and subcontractor(s) of Governmental 

Entity, shall be subject to background investigations, including but not limited to criminal 

background investigations, conducted by duly authorized agents of the State, and while on 

the premises of any Department Facility, Governmental Entity and Governmental Entity’s 

personnel shall be subject to, and agree to comply with, rules pertaining or related to safety 

and security, including spoken directives of GDC facility staff and the Department’s 

standard operating procedures related to Employee Standards of Conduct and sexual 

harassment. 

 

16. Training. In the event the Agreement is to perform Services at a Department 

facility, the Governmental Entity shall participate in Department and facility policy and 

procedure orientation which shall include but shall not be limited to institutional rules, 

security and operations. The Governmental Entity shall participate in any additional 

training as needed or appropriate to the services being rendered to the Department. The 

determination of additional training shall be solely determined by the Department. 

 

17 Licenses, Certifications and Insurance. Governmental Entity agrees to maintain 

for the duration of this Agreement all licenses, certifications and permits applicable to the 

Services under this Agreement. Both parties acknowledge that each is self-insured through 

the Department of Administrative Services, and that neither shall be responsible for 

damages caused by the other. 

 

18. Sexual Harassment Prevention. Both Parties acknowledge that they are subject to 

the Governor’s Executive Order “Preventing Sexual Harassment in the Executive Branch 

of Government” signed January 14, 2019 and both parties agree to comply with the same. 

 

18. Standards of Conduction and Sexual Harassment.     Governmental Entity agrees 

that the Governmental Entity and any of its agents, employees, officials or subcontractors 

who enter any facility, institution, office or other premise of the Department or who come 

into contact with any employee of the Department shall comply with the Department's 

Policies and Procedures relating to Standards of Conduct and Sexual Harassment and shall 

follow all orders or directives given by Department personnel.  If the Governmental Entity 

or any of its agents, employees, officials or subcontractors should be accused of violating 

any of these policies or procedures or otherwise violating this provision, then the 

Governmental Entity will allow and assist the Department in investigating the charge or 

accusation.  If the charge is established or if the Governmental Entity, its agents, 

employees, officials or subcontractors is found guilty of sexual harassment disciplinary 

action, including dismissal and termination of the contract and/or services may be instituted 

by the Department. The Governmental Entity will take appropriate action to sanction the 

violation and to ensure that there are no further violations.  The Department may also bar 

anyone from its premises whom it finds to have violated these policies or procedures or 

who has otherwise violated this provision.  The Governmental Entity shall execute 

acknowledgements evidencing that it has been advised of the Department’s Standard of 

40

Item IX. 2.



5 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

Conduct, Guidelines for Contract Personnel and Unlawful and Sexual Harassment Polices 

of the Department. 

 

19. Confidentiality.   Governmental Entity agrees to adhere to the Department’s 

Confidentiality policy and procedures which have been or will be provided to the 

Governmental Entity in writing by the Department. Governmental Entity will hold in 

strictest confidence and will not disclose to others for any reason whatsoever, any works, 

writings, plans, proposals, documents, contracts, records, data, analyses, compilations, 

forecasts, studies, reports, recordings, maps, or other information or material received or 

prepared by Governmental Entity (collectively, the “Information”), except to the extent 

that such Information (a) is otherwise available from third persons without restriction on 

its further use or disclosure, (b) is required by order of any court or by law (including but 

not limited to the Georgia Open Records Act) or by any regulatory agency to which 

Governmental Entity is subject or in connection with any civil or administrative 

proceeding, or (c) to the extent such Information is or becomes publicly known other than 

through actions, direct or indirect, of the Governmental Entity. 

 

20. Prison Rape Elimination Act.    Governmental Entity agrees to assist the Department 

in complying with standards articulated under 28 C.F.R. 115, entitled the Prison Rape 

Elimination Act, by submitting to a background check and agreeing not to sexually abuse 

or harass any offenders.  Governmental Entity agrees to undergo training, as the 

Department sees fit, regarding the Department’s zero-tolerance policy for sexual abuse and 

sexual harassment and Governmental Entity agrees to document and acknowledge in 

writing that Governmental Entity understands such training. Governmental Entity agrees 

to inform Department of any knowledge, suspicion, or information regarding the 

occurrence of sexual abuse or harassment in any facility in which the Governmental Entity 

is present. Governmental Entity agrees to keep all information about sexual abuse or sexual 

harassment, other than such information as is required to report the incident, completely 

confidential. Governmental Entity agrees and understands that a violation of the Prison 

Rape Elimination Act could result in administrative sanctions, criminal sanctions, or both.  

Governmental Entity acknowledges that failure to maintain the standards articulated in this 

paragraph is considered a material breach of this Agreement and is grounds for termination 

of this Agreement. 

 

21. Shop Right. Governmental Entity agrees that any processes, equipment, 

proprietary know-how or other proprietary information or matters that are produced or 

result, directly or indirectly, from or in connection with Governmental Entity’s 

performance of the Services shall be the property of the Department, and Governmental 

Entity further agrees to execute any and all documents, or take additional actions which 

may be necessary in the future to give full effect to this provision. 

 

22. Cooperation.    Governmental Entity and the Department, its employees, agents, 

subcontractors, and assigns, agree to cooperate fully in the defense of any litigation brought 

41

Item IX. 2.



6 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

against the Department or Governmental Entity relating to this Agreement, and each party 

shall give the other prompt notice of any claim, demand, suit, or proceeding. 

 

23. Assignment.   The parties will not transfer their right, title, or interest hereunder or 

delegate any of their duties or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of 

the other parties. 

 

24. Notices. Any notice under this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if 

delivered by hand (against receipt) or if sent by registered or certified mail to a party hereto 

at the address set forth below or to such other address as the parties may designate by notice 

from time to time in accordance with this Agreement. 

 

  It to Governmental Entity:  Effingham County Prison 

       Janet M. Robere, Senior Counselor 

       321 Hwy 119 South 

P.O. Box 235 

       Springfield, GA  31329 

 

  If to Department:    Jennifer Ammons 

       General Counsel 

       Georgia Department Corrections 

       State Offices South at Tift College 

       P.O. Box 1529 

       Forsyth, Georgia 31029 

 

  With Copy to:    Dr. Jennifer Irvin 

       300 Patrol Road 

       Upshaw – 2nd Floor 

       Forsyth, GA 31029 

 

25. Headings.     The headings in this Agreement have been inserted for convenience 

only and shall not affect or control the meaning or construction of any of the provisions of 

this Agreement. 

  

26. Survival. The terms, conditions, representations, obligations, understandings 

and undertakings herein shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

 

27. Severability.   If any term or provision in this Agreement shall be found to be illegal 

or unenforceable, then, notwithstanding the offending terms or provisions, this Agreement 

shall remain in full force in effect and such terms or provisions shall be deemed stricken 

herefrom. 

 

28. Legislative Modification. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement 

42

Item IX. 2.



7 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

to the contrary, in the event that any federal, state, or local law, rule, regulation, or 

interpretation thereof restricts, prohibits, or in any way materially changes the method or 

amount of reimbursement or payment for services under this Agreement at any time during 

the duration of this Agreement, then this Agreement shall, to the extent permitted by the 

laws of the State of Georgia, be deemed amended by the parties to provide for payment of 

compensation and other fees in a manner consistent with any such prohibition, restriction, 

or limitation. 

 

29. Drug-Free Workplace.   The Governmental Entity acknowledges that it is fully 

aware of the contents and requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act, O.C.G.A. §50-

24-1, et seq. (A) The Governmental Entity hereby certifies that he will not engage in the 

unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled 

substance or marijuana during the performance of this Agreement and any extensions 

thereof.  (B) The Governmental Entity may be suspended, the contract terminated or the 

Governmental Entity debarred if it is determined that: (1) the Governmental Entity has 

made false certification hereinabove; or (2) the Governmental Entity has violated such 

certification by failure to carry out the requirements of the “Drug-Free Workplace Act”. 

 

30. Governing Law. This Agreement is executed in the State of Georgia, and the 

laws of the State of Georgia shall govern all matters pertaining to the validity, construction, 

interpretation and effect of this Agreement. Venue shall lie in the Superior Courts of Fulton 

County for any action arising from Governmental Entity’s provision of Services pursuant 

to the Agreement. 

 

31. Compliance with Federal and State Work Authorization and Immigration Laws.   

Governmental Entity certifies its compliance with Illegal Immigration Reform and 

Enforcement Act of 2011 and specifically those provisions codified at O.C.G.A. §13-10-

90, et seq. Governmental Entity warrants that it has registered with and uses the federal 

work authorization program commonly known as “E-Verify.” Governmental Entity further 

agrees that it will contract for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of this 

contract only with subcontractors who present an affidavit as required by O.C.G.A. §13-

10-91. Governmental Entity warrants that it will include a similar provision in all contracts 

entered into for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of this contract.  

 

32. Remedies. No remedies or rights herein conferred upon the parties are intended 

to be exclusive of any remedy or right provided by law, but each shall be cumulative and 

shall be in addition to every other remedy or right given hereunder or now or hereafter 

existing at law or in equity (including the right of specific performance). 

 

33. Waiver.     The failure of either party to exercise or enforce any right conferred upon 

it hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any such right nor operate to bar the 

exercise or performance thereof at any time or times thereafter; nor shall its waiver of any 

right hereunder at any given time, including rights to any payment, be deemed a waiver 

43

Item IX. 2.



8 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

thereof for any other time. 

 

34. Counterparts.     This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 

which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute one agreement.  No party shall 

be bound by this Agreement until all parties have executed it. 

 

35. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and 

understanding between the parties hereto and replaces, cancels and supersedes any prior 

agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof; and all prior 

representations, agreements, and undertakings between the parties hereto with respect to 

the subject matter hereof are merged herein. This Agreement may be modified only by 

mutual consent of the parties. Any modification must be in writing and signed by both 

parties. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused the authorized representatives 

of each to execute this Agreement on the day and year first above written. 

 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF   GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

CORRECTIONS 

 

 

 

By: ___________________________  By: _____________________________ 

       Jennifer Ammons           Name 

       General Counsel            Title 

 

Date: __________________________  Date: ____________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44

Item IX. 2.



9 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 

 

I. The Governmental Entity Shall: 

 

1. Governmental Entity shall contact the Department to schedule a test date 

that is mutually agreeable for both Parties. Pearson requires testers to 

schedule paper tests at least 14 days in advance. Computer tests can be 

scheduled at any time, including while on site.  

2. Governmental Entity will provide a quiet testing space, free of 

distractions and interruptions, for the Department to administer the GED® 

test at the Testing Location and coordinate the exact time and location 

with the Governmental Entity at a time that is mutually convenient for 

both Parties. The Governmental Entity will provide appropriate 

accommodations for the Examinee(s) with special needs.  

3. Provide a list of testers and required demographic information and test 

content area(s) needed.  

3. Provide a quiet, secure location for testing that will accommodate the 

number of testers and necessary space between testers that will satisfy 

social distancing requirements as well as a staff member to ensure 

security during testing.  

4. Schedule testing so that there is a Governmental Entity Staff Member 

available to provide breaks as needed for the Department’s Test 

Administrator.  

5. Provide hand sanitizer and other appropriate measures to abide by current 

health standards and social distancing requirements.  

6. Provide approved calculators and scratch paper for use on the test.  

7. For paper tests, pay for test booklets for content area tests at a rate of 

$46.00 per test content area per tester no later than thirty (30) days after 

invoice receipt. This is the actual price of the test from Pearson. 

8. For computer tests, pay for content area tests no later than thirty (30) days 

after invoice receipt. For the first time an individual takes a test, the cost 

will be $46 per content area. If the individual does not pass, the retake 

will be at a rate of $26 per content area. The prices will continue in that 

45

Item IX. 2.



10 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

same pattern for subsequent retakes ($46, $26, $46, $26, etc.). These are 

the actual prices of the test from Pearson. 

9. Ensure that all testers have photo identification to present on the day of 

testing as the GDC test administrator will not test without identification.  

    Department will be responsible for the following:  

1. For paper testing: 

a. Order tests on behalf of Governmental Entity based on provided 

list of testers and   test content area(s) needed. Pearson requires 

test administrators to schedule paper tests at least 14 days in 

advance.  

b. Pick up and transport test booklets and other materials from official 

Department delivery site to Government Entity.  

c. Provide testing services according to Pearson Vue guidelines. 

  d. Collect and ship test booklets and other materials to Pearson Vue.  

e. Retrieve scores through GED Manager and report scores to 

Governmental Entity, as necessary. 

f. Provide invoice from Pearson Vue for tests ordered for 

reimbursement to the Department.  

2. For computer testing: 

a. Order tests on behalf of Governmental Entity based on provided 

list of testers and test content area(s) needed. Computer tests can 

be scheduled at any time, including while on site. 

b. Transport test administrator laptop, testing laptops, and any 

required cords to the location of the Governmental Entity on the 

day of testing.  

c. Provide testing services according to Pearson Vue guidelines. 

d. Retrieve scores through GED Manager and report scores to 

Governmental Entity, as necessary. 

e. Provide invoice from Pearson Vue for tests ordered for 

reimbursement to the Department.  

46

Item IX. 2.



11 
  

FY24 IGAStateGovt 

Exhibit “B” 

Compensation Schedule 

 

For Paper Testing, the Governmental Entity agrees to reimburse the Department for the 

cost of paper GED testing at the rate of Forty Six Dollars ($46.00) per content section. The 

Governmental Entity will reimburse the Department within thirty (30) days of receipt of 

the invoice.  

Paper tests will be purchased per the roster submitted to the Department by the 

Governmental Entity as needed. Testing dates will be scheduled as needed at the 

convenience of both Parties and at no additional charge to the Governmental Entity.  

 

For  Computer Testing, the Governmental Entity agrees to reimburse the Department for 

the cost of computer GED testing at the rate of Forty Six Dollars ($46.00) for the first time 

an individual takes a test. If the individual does not pass, the retake will be at a rate of $26 

per content area. The reimbursable amount will continue in that same pattern for 

subsequent retakes ($46, $26, $46, $26, etc.). The Governmental Entity will reimburse the 

Department within thirty (30) days of receipt of the invoice.  

 

 

47

Item IX. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement  

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director 

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 07/18/2023 

Item Description: Consideration to Ratify a Facility Lease Agreement with the City of 

Rincon for the Ebenezer Fire Station 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends ratifying a facility lease agreement with the 

City of Rincon for the Ebenezer Fire Station. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

On July 1, 2023, Effingham County Fire Rescue became the primary fire service provider for all 

the unincorporated areas that were formerly served by the City of Rincon. As Effingham County 

is in the process of acquiring the Ebenezer Fire Station, and it is currently being used as an 

Effingham County fire station, a temporary facility lease agreement is needed until the real estate 

closing. 

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Approval to ratify a facility lease agreement with the City of Rincon for the 

Ebenezer Fire Station. 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Fire-Rescue, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: $10 per month 

 

Attachments: Facility Lease Agreement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

48

Item IX. 3.



49

Item IX. 3.



50

Item IX. 3.



51

Item IX. 3.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   GEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 

Author: Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to ratify and approve the submission of a grant pre-application to 

GEMA’s Hazard Mitigation Grant Program. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting to ratify and approve the submission of a grant pre-application to GEMA’s Hazard 

Mitigation Grant Program. 

 

Executive Summary: 

Section 404 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster and Emergency Assistance Act of 1988 

established the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP). The purpose of HMGP is to provide 

funds to State agencies and local governments in the aftermath of a disaster for projects that 

reduce or eliminate the long-term risk to human life and property from the effects of natural 

hazards. The program enables mitigation measures identified in State and local mitigation plans 

to be implemented during the recovery from a disaster.  

 

Effingham County is requesting funding for ten generators; 8 fixed and 2 portable generators to 

be placed at various locations as described below.     

 

 

 

 Location Generator
Fuel for 

Testing

Concrete 

Pad for 

Generator 

Total 

Project 

Costs 

FEMA Share
Local 

Share

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#2 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#15 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#4 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#6 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $86,516 $64,887 $21,629

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#17 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#13 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#3 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

Effingham County Fire and Rescue Station 

#11 Fixed 40 KW $86,416 $100 $500 $87,016 $65,262 $21,754

804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 

Portable  60 KW $103,991 $100 $104,091 $78,068 $26,023

1171 GA-119, Springfield, GA 31329 

Portable 60 KW $103,991 $100 $104,091 $78,068 $26,023

$903,809 $677,857 $225,952 52

Item IX. 4.



 

 

Background: 

1. There is a 25% cost share requirement. 
2. The total project cost is $903,809. 

  
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

1. Ratify and approve the submission of a grant pre-application to GEMA’s Hazard Mitigation 

Grant Program. 

2. Do not ratify and approve the submission of a grant pre-application to GEMA’s Hazard 

Mitigation Grant Program. 

3. Provide Staff with Direction 
 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Ratify and approve the submission of a grant pre-

application to GEMA’s Hazard Mitigation Grant Program. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, Effingham EMA 

 

Funding Source: 

Cost share requirement of $225,952. 

 

Attachments: 

GEMA’s Hazard Mitigation Grant Program Information 
 

 

 

 

53

Item IX. 4.



7/7/23, 12:22 PM Hazard Mitigation Grant Program | Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

https://gema.georgia.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program 1/5

Hazard Mitigation Grant Program

Section 404 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster and

Emergency Assistance Act of 1988 established the Hazard

Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP). The purpose of HMGP is

to provide funds to State agencies and local governments in

the aftermath of a disaster for projects that reduce or

eliminate the long-term risk to human life and property

from the effects of natural hazards. The program enables

mitigation measures identified in State and local mitigation

plans to be implemented during the recovery from a

disaster. HMGP funding is allocated based on a formula

percentage of the Stafford Act Assistance received.

Georgia's Enhanced Plan approval allows for the State to

receive 20% of the estimated aggregate amounts of disaster

assistance. This is one-third more than States without

Enhanced Plan status.

Project Funding

The Federal share of HMGP funding cannot exceed 75% of

the total eligible project cost. The remaining non-federal

share may be met with cash, contributions, certain other

grants such as Community Development Block Grants, or

with in-kind services.

54

Item IX. 4.



7/7/23, 12:22 PM Hazard Mitigation Grant Program | Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

https://gema.georgia.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program 2/5

HMGP Application Process

Within the State of Georgia, HMGP is administered by the

Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security

Agency (GEMA/HS). GEMA/HS Hazard Mitigation staff offer

technical assistance to local governments for project

identification and application preparation. All applications

start with the completion of a pre-applications, which are

available by project type as shown on the HMPG Pre-

Applications (https://gema.georgia.gov/documents/hma-

pre-applications) page. GEMA/HS is also responsible for the

review, prioritization, and funding recommendation of

eligible projects to the Federal Emergency Management

Agency (FEMA). FEMA is responsible for making all final

funding decisions on eligible projects.

Following a presidential disaster declaration, GEMA/HS

advertises for HMGP grant applications.

Current Grant Information

Pre-applications for the HMGP are accepted by the

GEMA/HS Hazard Mitigation Department on a rolling basis.

Please contact (404) 635-7522 or gema-

hazmitpoc@gema.ga.gov (mailto:gema-

hazmitpoc@gema.ga.gov) for more information.

Eligible Applicants

Applicants who are eligible to apply for HMGP Grants are:

Public agencies, including State and local governments

55

Item IX. 4.

https://gema.georgia.gov/documents/hma-pre-applications
mailto:gema-hazmitpoc@gema.ga.gov


7/7/23, 12:22 PM Hazard Mitigation Grant Program | Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

https://gema.georgia.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program 3/5

Certain private non-profit organizations or institutions

that provide essential services to the general public.

Applicants must have a federally approved mitigation plan

to be eligible for HMGP funds. The plan must include

mitigation actions that support the proposed project.

Additionally, a letter of support from the County Emergency

Management Agency (EMA) Director is needed for each

application.

Eligible Project Criteria

To be eligible for funding, a project must meet the following

minimum standards:

Conform to the State's Hazard Mitigation Plan;

Conform to the requirements of Floodplain Management

and Protection of Wetlands (44CFR Part 9, and Executive

Orders 11988 and 11990);

Conform to environmental regulations (44CFR part 10)

and to the requirements of the National Environmental

Policy Act and all other Federal, State, and local

environmental regulations;

Address a repetitive hazard in the project area, or one

that poses a significant risk to life and property, and

provides a long term or permanent solution to reducing

the threat from the hazard;

Be cost-effective (the reduced future damages

discounted to present value should exceed the initial

project cost);

56

Item IX. 4.



7/7/23, 12:22 PM Hazard Mitigation Grant Program | Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

https://gema.georgia.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program 4/5

Be the most practical and environmentally sound

alternative after considering a range of options;

Projects must be located in communities that are in good

standing in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).

Information about participating NFIP Communities is

available at http://www.fema.gov/cis/GA.pdf

(http://www.fema.gov/cis/GA.pdf).

Eligible Projects

Projects may be of any nature that result in protection of life

and property All proposed projects meeting the above

criteria will be considered. Projects that merely identify

problems are not eligible. Although hazard mitigation

encompasses every aspect of emergency management

from preparedness to response to recovery, Congress’s

intent in creating this program was to fund projects that

eliminate the need to prepare, respond, and recover from

natural disasters, thereby reducing Federal expenditures on

future disaster events.

Examples of eligible projects include, but are not limited to:

�. Warning systems with mitigation as an essential

component.

�. Projects to promote the use of safe room designs in

tornado prone areas.

�. Retrofitting methods such as elevation in place, structure

relocation, structural reinforcement (wind and seismic),

57

Item IX. 4.

http://www.fema.gov/cis/GA.pdf


7/7/23, 12:22 PM Hazard Mitigation Grant Program | Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

https://gema.georgia.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program 5/5

strapping of utilities, installation of storm shutters, tie

downs, etc.;

�. Acquisition of property and/or relocation of homes,

businesses, and public facilities;

�. Development of State or local standards with

implementation as an essential component;

�. Structural hazard control or protection measures such as

flood walls, detention basins and other storm drainage

upgrades; and

�. Generators that protect a critical facility.

Other Eligible Project Types

Development of State or local plans that meet the

requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000.

Additional information about the HMGP is available on

FEMA’s website at:

http://www.fema.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program

(http://www.fema.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-

program)

58

Item IX. 4.

http://www.fema.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program


Staff Report 

 
Subject:    Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Grant 

Author: Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes, 

Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs 

Public Safety Foundation 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public 

Safety Foundation. 

 

Executive Summary: 

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation was founded in 2005 in the aftermath of 

Hurricane Katrina. Firehouse Subs founders, Chris Sorensen and Robin Sorensen, 

traveled to Mississippi where they fed first responders as well as survivors. As they 

traveled back to Florida exhausted and exhilarated, they knew more was needed and 

the Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation was born. Chris and Robin are generous 

visionaries and the Foundation’s largest individual donors, and, as members of the 

Foundation's board of directors, they approve donations for lifesaving equipment and 

funding for first responders on a quarterly basis. They continue to advance the 

Foundation's mission, and have awarded millions of dollars’ worth of lifesaving 

equipment and resources to fire, police and public safety organizations across the 

country.   

 

Background: 

1. The grant process is competitive. 
2. There is no cost share requirement. 
3. The requested amount is $11,529.00 to fund an Airworx Go-Command OG 

Ultrabright Thermal Drone. 
  

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation.  
2. Do not approve to submit a grant application to Firehouse Subs Public Safety 

Foundation. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

59

Item IX. 5.



Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to submit a grant application to 

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance Department, Effingham County Fire Rescue 

 

Funding Source: 

There is no cost share requirement. 

 

Attachments: 

1. Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Grant Application Information 
2. Fire Rescue Equipment quote 

 

 

 

 

60

Item IX. 5.



61

Item IX. 5.



62

Item IX. 5.



7/7/23, 10:54 AM Firehouse Grants Application

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq 1/4

The Portal is Closed Until 7/13/2023

GRANT
APPLICATION

FAQs

APPLICATION
CHECKLIST

START AN
APPLICATION

SIGN IN

Frequently Asked Questions & Tips

Please Apply Early. A maximum of 600 applications are accepted on a quarterly basis.

Please do not contact area restaurants or Firehouse Subs Care center with grant questions.

What does the Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation support?

Our Mission is to impact the lifesaving capabilities, and the lives of local heroes and their communities by providing lifesaving equipment and prevention education tools to �rst

responders, non-pro�ts and public safety organizations. All requests must fall within our funding guidelines via �rehousesubsfoundation.org/about-us/funding-areas.

If approved, how are the Foundation’s grant awards funded?

The Foundation procures grant awards in one of two ways, to be determined by the Foundation team.

·         Method 1: Direct Purchase made by the Foundation

·         Method 2: Memo of Understanding in which funds will be transferred via ACH to the granted organization

Are there items that your Foundation does not support?

All requests must fall within our funding guidelines found on our website via �rehousesubsfoundation.org/about-us/funding-areas. Examples of items that are not supported by

our board of directors include:

·        body cameras

·        building exhaust removal systems

·        crash data boxes

·        dash cams

·        drones and drone accessories

·        exercise equipment

·        guns/�rearms/use of force equipment, riot gear, laser pointers (designators) & tasers

·        in�atable bounce houses

·        license plate readers

·        Narcan & TruNar analyzers

·        Cardiac Science Powerheart G3 AEDs & Philips FR3 AEDs

·        Polar Breeze thermal rehabilitation systems

·        portable message signs

·        power load stretchers

·        promotional items including apparel, costumes & Pluggie the �re plug/Sparky the Fire Dog robots

·        radar detectors

·        recording devices
63

Item IX. 5.

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/
https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq
https://grants.firehousesubs.com/CHECKLIST_ONLY_12-2021.pdf
http://firehousesubsfoundation.org/about-us/funding-areas
http://firehousesubsfoundation.org/about-us/funding-areas


7/7/23, 10:54 AM Firehouse Grants Application

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq 2/4

·         refurbished equipment

·        security systems & surveillance equipment

·        stop sticks

·        throw bots

·        tra�c road barriers

Who can apply for this grant?

Fire Departments, law enforcement, EMS, municipal & state organizations, public safety organizations, non-pro�ts and schools are encouraged to apply for lifesaving equipment.

 

If my organization has received a grant award from Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation in the past, when can we reapply?

We ask that grant recipients wait a minimum of two years from the date of approval before reapplying.

 

If approved, how are the Foundation’s grant awards funded?

The Foundation procures grant awards in one of two ways. The procurement method is up to the discretion of the Foundation team.

·        Method 1: Direct Purchase made by the Foundation

·        Method 2: Memo of Understanding in which funds will be transferred via ACH to the granted organization

Does the Foundation provide reimbursements for purchased equipment?

No. If your organization has already purchased the equipment and is seeking reimbursement, please do not apply.

 

What are the most common reasons a grant application is marked incomplete?

Quote is missing the required contact information and/or is not itemized
Financials are outdated and/or do not include both revenues and expenses
Alternate contact information is the same contact information as the main contact information
The name of the organization is missing on the �nancials
W9 form is missing the required information

 

Can my organization submit multiple grant applications?

The Foundation does not accept more than one grant request per organization each quarter. If your organization receives a grant, please wait a minimum of two years from the

date of approval to apply again.

 

Is the Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation grant a matching grant?

There are no matching funds involved in our organization’s grants program.

 

What is the Foundation’s average funding range?

$15,000-$35,000 is a guideline. Requests exceeding $50,000 will be denied.

 

What �nancial information should we provide?

Financials must show revenue and expenses and list the name of your organization, city or county. One of the following options must be submitted:

o   A recent - within one month - Balance Sheet which consists of Assets and Liabilities

o   A recent - within one month - Pro�t & Loss Statement also called an Income Statement

o   A current year annual budget showing projected income and expenses

o   A previous year audit or 990

What is needed for the required vendor quote/bid attachment?
64

Item IX. 5.



7/7/23, 10:54 AM Firehouse Grants Application

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq 3/4

You must provide an o�cial vendor quote with the following information for your grant request to be considered. Submitted quotes MUST meet the requirements below, please

read carefully:

 

o   Only one vendor quote must be submitted for related items only, within one equipment category

o   Vendor sales representative �rst and last name must be included on quote

o   Vendor email address must be included on quote

o   The name & physical address of your organization must be included

o   The �rst & last name of a contact person from your organization must be included

o   Only one vendor quote can be submitted. Your application will be marked incomplete if more than one quote is submitted.

o   Quote must be itemized

o   Online quotes will not be accepted

o   Must be dated within six months of the application deadline

o   Must contain only the item(s) pertaining to your grant request

o   The total dollar amount and equipment quantities in the vendor quote MUST MATCH the total that your department is requesting on the application

o   Include sales tax if applicable and freight charges, if applicable. Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation will not be responsible for additional shipping costs or sales tax not

included in the submitted quote.

o   The cost of maintenance plans and extended warranties are not permissible

o   Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation will not be responsible for restocking fees or costs related to errors within your quote

Important: Only one vendor quote may be submitted for related items only, within one equipment category. Unrelated equipment cannot be combined into one quote. Examples

of unacceptable requests include quotes for un-related equipment:

· Cutter, Spreader and Fire Hoses* 

· AEDs and gas monitors*

· Requests with more than one quote

* these items do not belong in the same equipment category

Your application will be marked incomplete if multiple quotes are submitted or if a quote containing multiple types of equipment is submitted.

 

Note: When requesting a quote/bid from a vendor, please share our quote requirements and notify the vendor that you are applying for a grant from our Foundation.

 

What inventory information should I provide?

Equipment inventory is required for �rst responder organizations only. If your organization does not have apparatus, vehicles or specialized equipment, please attach a document

noting that the organization does not have any applicable inventory, and include the name of your organization on the document.

 

For �rst responders: Please include a list of apparatus, vehicles and other specialized equipment, if applicable. The lists we receive vary in length depending on the size and

type of organization. (For example, include items such as vehicles, extrication equipment, breathing devices, and personal protective equipment/PPE).

 

If my department is located more than 60 miles from a Firehouse Subs restaurant, should I still apply?

Our Foundation focuses its resources in areas served by Firehouse Subs restaurants, however, we recognize the need of rural and volunteer departments throughout the country,

and will consider applications outside of the 60-mile guideline.

 

When can we expect to �nd out if our grant has been approved or denied?

Grant award noti�cations will be emailed to ALL applicants within three months after the grant deadline. Please do not contact the Foundation, restaurants or the Firehouse Subs

Care Center with questions regarding your grant status.

Does Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation fund requests for "use of force"? 

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation does not accept grant requests for "use of force" items such as guns, tasers, riot gear, or �rearm simulators.

65

Item IX. 5.



7/7/23, 10:54 AM Firehouse Grants Application

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq 4/4

GRANT APPLICATION FAQS LEGAL DISCLAIMER PRIVACY POLICY ADMIN LOGIN

© 2023 Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation

Does the Foundation only work with speci�c equipment vendors?

No, the Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation does not endorse any speci�c equipment vendor or brand. Our goal is to provide the equipment that best �ts the needs of our

recipients, at the best possible price, to enable us to help more organizations.

Does the Foundation fund requests for refurbished equipment?

We do not accept grant requests for refurbished or pre-owned equipment.

Does the Foundation fund requests for patent-pending equipment?

We do not accept grant requests for patent-pending products.

Does the Foundation accept requests for partial funding? 

We will consider requests for partial funding, however, the balance of funds must be secured and outlined within your grant request. Documentation of partial funding must be

included as part of your background/history attachment.

We are unable to provide any additional assistance due to the volume of applications received
daily. For technical questions, please email Foundation@FirehouseSubs.com.

Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation Scholarships Program FAQs
How can an individual apply for a Firehouse Subs Public Safety Foundation scholarship?

The scholarship program is open to community members as well as Firehouse Subs employees planning to enroll in a part-time or full-time �re�ghter, law enforcement or

emergency medical (paramedic or EMT) program at an accredited two- or four-year college, university or vocational-technical school for the upcoming academic year. Click here

to learn more.

How can accredited schools apply for scholarship funding?

Accredited schools can apply for scholarship funding in support of �re�ghter, law enforcement or emergency medical (paramedic or EMT) programs by completing the online

grant applications via grants.�rehousesubs.com.

We are unable to respond to general inquiries. For assistance
related to grant portal technical errors, please
email foundation@�rehousesubs.com.

66

Item IX. 5.

https://grants.firehousesubs.com/faq
https://grants.firehousesubs.com/legal
https://grants.firehousesubs.com/privacy
https://grants.firehousesubs.com/login
mailto:Foundation@FirehouseSubs.com
https://learnmore.scholarsapply.org/firehousesubsfoundation
mailto:foundation@firehousesubs.com


Staff Report 

 
Subject:   GEMA Local Emergency Management Performance Grants 

Program (EMPG) 

Author: Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark Barnes, 

Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department, Effingham EMA 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to accept a grant award from GEMA Local 
Emergency Management Performance Grants (EMPG) Program. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting consideration to accept a grant award from Georgia Local 

Emergency Management Performance Grants (EMPG) Program. 

 

Executive Summary: 

GEMA/HS EMPG provides local qualified EMAs with funding opportunities to 

enhance the local emergency management (EM) program by providing funds 

for administration, preparedness activities and exercise and training. An all-

hazards approach in the development of a comprehensive program of 

planning, training, and exercises provides for an effective and consistent 

response and recovery to disasters or emergencies, regardless of the cause. 

Effingham County receives this grant each year to help offset salary cost for 

the EMA Director. In addition to the salary supplement in this grant round, the 

new application will include equipment purchases for the Effingham County 

Emergency Management Agency (EMA) as per the following: 

 

Item GEMA 
EC 
Match Total 

Personnel - EMA Director $7,258.00  $7,258.00  $14,516.00  

Equip - AEST Fire & Safety Aquaeye hand 
held sonar drone $2,800.00  $2,800.00  $5,600.00  

Equip/Supplies- Plum Case Portable 
Broadband Kit  $4,050.00  $4,050.00  $8,100.00  

Grand Total $14,108.00  14,108.00  $28,216.00  

 

 

 Background: 
1. Funding was cut by the state 10% from $15,675.00 in previous years to $14,108.00. 
2. There is a 50% cost share requirement.  

 

 

67

Item IX. 6.



 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to accept the GEMA EMPG Program grant award.  
2. Do not approve to accept GEMA EMPG Program grant award. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to accept the GEMA EMPG 

Program grant award. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, Effingham EMA 

 

Funding Source: 

Cost share requirement of $14,108.00 

 

Attachments: 

GMA EMPG grant award 
 

 

 

 

68

Item IX. 6.



Subject:  EMPG Award Notification 
 
Sent By:  Thomas Moore 
 
Item:  Application – Effingham County OEM22-053 
 
Dear Clinton Hodges, 
It is my pleasure to announce that your FY 2022 Local Emergency Management Performance Grant (EMPG) Base Award application has been successfully processed and 
approved. As a result, your organization has been awarded $14,108.00 in federal funds, and your advance payment is currently being processed by our Preparedness 
Grants and Programs Department. Upon completion of the payment process, your check will be forwarded to your organization. 
This Base Award is funded by the Department of Homeland Security/Federal Emergency Management Agency (DHS/FEMA) and includes a minimum 50 percent (cash 
and/or in-kind) match requirement. Please review and adhere to the 2022 Local EMPG Program Guidance, which is available in the Georgia EMGrants Pro system. In 
addition, this notification is to serve as your organization’s official Statement of Award. Please keep a copy of this information with your grant records. To view/download the 
EMPG Program Guidance, please click on this link. 
Thank you for your commitment to Georgia’s citizens and assets. I appreciate your efforts to ensure Georgia remains a safe place for us to live and raise our families. By 
working together, we can continue to be prepared for the challenges that may face us. 
Sincerely, 
 
James C. Stallings 
Director 
Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency (GEMA/HS) 
 
 
This is an automated email generated by https://ga.emgrants.com/, please do not reply. 

 

69

Item IX. 6.

https://ga.emgrants.com/app/#54609
https://ga.emgrants.com/app/#210384
https://ga.emgrants.com/site/EMPG_Resources_2022.cfm


Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget (OPB) Water / Sewer 

Infrastructure Grant Program 

Author: Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator presented by Mark W. Barnes, 

Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to ratify and approve a contingency amendment from 

the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget (OPB) Water / Sewer 

Infrastructure Grant Program 

 
Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends the ratification and approval of a contingency amendment from the  

OPB Water / Sewer Infrastructure Grant Program. 

 
Executive Summary: 

The Office of Planning and Budget is pleased to announce its implementation of a 

contingency budget line for your grant award program. Therefore, your award budget 

will be amended to include a 10% contingency line item for approved cost overruns in 

the event that the actual costs of your project exceed the planned approved budget. To 

utilize this contingency line for cost overruns, your organization will be required to 

submit a budget adjustment request with a narrative and supporting documentation to 

demonstrate the cost overrun. Additionally, to receive the contingency budget line, your 

organization will be required to sign an amendment to the terms and conditions 

agreement between OPB and your organization. Failure to sign this amendment will 

result in a rejection of any budget request(s) for contingency funds. If your organization 

already has an approved final budget in OPB’s grant system, a new final budget and 

score card will be sent to you by Monday, May 15, 2023. If your organization does not 

already have an approved final award budget, the contingency budget line will be added 

during the budgeting process. 

 
Background: 
1. The Board accepted this award on 5/2/2023. 
2. The funds will be used to help construct Effingham County’s new Waste Water 

Treatment Plant. 
3. The contingency amount is $4,724,235.00. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Ratify and approve the contingency amendment for the OPB Water / Sewer  

70

Item IX. 7.



           Infrastructure Grant Program. 

2. Do not ratify and approve the contingency amendment for the OPB Water / 

Sewer Infrastructure Grant Program 

1. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Ratify and approve the contingency  

amendment for the OPB Water / Sewer Infrastructure Grant Program. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

 

 

Attachments: 

Contingency Amendment  

 

71

Item IX. 7.



72

Item IX. 7.



73

Item IX. 7.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    Effingham County Senior Center Donation  

Author: Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes, 

Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to accept a donation given to the Effingham County 

Senior Center. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval to accept a very generous donation in the amount of 

$25,000 by an anonymous individual (hereafter referred to as Ms. Doe) to the Effingham 

County Senior Center. 

 

Executive Summary: 

It was stated that Ms. Doe feels so much love by everyone and that she was impressed 

by Mrs. Teresa Johnson’s leadership therefore she made said donation in order to help 

make a difference for the County.  The individual requested to remain anonymous and 

so out of respect for their wishes, staff has not included their name in these documents.   

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to accept the $25,000 donation from Ms. Doe.  
2. Do not approve to accept the $25,000 donation from Ms. Doe. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to accept the $25,000 donation from 
Ms. Doe.  
 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance Department, Effingham Count Senior Center 

 

Funding Source: 

 

Attachments: 

Donation Acceptance Form 

74

Item IX. 8.



 

 

Effingham County Gift or Donation Acceptance Form 
 
 
 

Received Date:    6/9/23  
 

Donation Amount:   $25,000 
 

Organization/Individual Name:   Ms. Doe 
 

Address:   _____________________ 
 

Phone Number:  N/A 
 

Purpose of Donation:   Gift for the Senior Center to be used as they see fit. 
 

Staff Member Name submitting:  Jody Jones 
 

Department#:  111 
 

Deposit date & Notes 
    6/9/2023 – Ms. Doe requested to remain anonymous to the public. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

(For Office Use Only) 
 

 
Finance Directors approval    

 

Administrator’s approval                                                           
 

Date Sent to Clerk and listing for Board:  7/18/23 

75

Item IX. 8.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: ACCG- Group Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation Fund- Employee Safety 
Grant Application 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration for Effingham County Board of Commissioners to 
approve a grant application to ACCG-Group Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation 
Fund- Employee Safety Grant Application 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff requests Effingham County Board of Commissioners to approve submitting a grant 
application to ACCG-Group Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation Fund- Employee 
Safety Grant Application. Grant money must be used on items that will promote the safety 
and health of our employees. We have previously purchased sanitizing, defogging 
machines, fire protection; spill/first aid kits; slips/falls; flagger equipment, and PPE for 
multiple departments. This year we are looking to provide AED devices requested in the 
Admin Building, CEM Sports Complex, Sandhill Sports Complex, and the Historic 
Courthouse.  
 
Executive Summary 
ACCG awards grants each year to recognize Counties participating in Safety programs, 
providing positive impacts on safety expenses and employee productivity.  
 
Background 

 The grant application deadline is July 31, 2023. 

 No cost share requirement 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1. Approve grant application to ACCG-Group Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation 
Fund- Employee Safety Grant Application submittal. 
2. Do not approve the grant application to ACCG- Group Self-Insurance Workers’ 
Compensation Fund- Employee Safety Grant Application submittal. 
3. Provide Staff with direction. 
 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives: 
None 
 
Department Review:  County Manager, Human Resources 
 
Funding Source:  No impact on funding, no cost share required. 
 

76

Item IX. 9.



Attachments:  ACCG- Group Self-Insurance Workers’ Compensation Fund- Employee 
Safety Grant Application and supporting documentation.  

77

Item IX. 9.



78

Item IX. 9.



79

Item IX. 9.



80

Item IX. 9.



81

Item IX. 9.



82

Item IX. 9.



83

Item IX. 9.



84

Item IX. 9.



85

Item IX. 9.



86

Item IX. 9.



87

Item IX. 9.



88

Item IX. 9.



89

Item IX. 9.



90

Item IX. 9.



91

Item IX. 9.



92

Item IX. 9.



93

Item IX. 9.



94

Item IX. 9.



95

Item IX. 9.



96

Item IX. 9.



97

Item IX. 9.



98

Item IX. 9.



99

Item IX. 9.



100

Item IX. 9.



101

Item IX. 9.



102

Item IX. 9.



103

Item IX. 9.



104

Item IX. 9.



105

Item IX. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Amendment #2 to the Food Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and Summit Food Service 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Prison/Jail/Senior Center 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Approval of Amendment #2 to the Food Services Agreement 

between Effingham County and Summit Food Service 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Amendment with 

Summit Food Services.  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has an agreement in place with Summit Food 

Services to provide meals to the Prison and Senior Center.  

 Amendment #2 extends the current agreement with Summit Food Services 

through August 31, 2023. Staff is currently in the process of re-bidding these 

services and this amendment allows coverage in the event that a new vendor is 

chosen.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Amendment #2 to the Food Services Agreement between Effingham 

County and Summit Food Service 

2. Do not approve Amendment 2 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, Prison, Senior Center, Finance 

Funding Source: appropriate operating budgets 

Attachments: 

1. Summit Food Service Agreement – 2018 

2. Amendment 1 to the Food Services Agreement 

3. Amendment 2 to the Food Services Agreement 

 

 

 

 

106

Item IX. 10.



107

Item IX. 10.



108

Item IX. 10.



109

Item IX. 10.



110

Item IX. 10.



111

Item IX. 10.



112

Item IX. 10.



113

Item IX. 10.



114

Item IX. 10.



115

Item IX. 10.



116

Item IX. 10.



117

Item IX. 10.



118

Item IX. 10.



119

Item IX. 10.

Sjohnson
Typewritten Text

Sjohnson
Typewritten Text
This agreement was approved by the BOC02/20/2018

Sjohnson
Typewritten Text



DocuSign Envelope ID: 46CD1EBD-0F68-43C7-976B-F52F2BFD5721

President and CEO

Marlin C. Sejnoha, Jr.

6/14/2022

120

Item IX. 10.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 46CD1EBD-0F68-43C7-976B-F52F2BFD5721

121

Item IX. 10.



AMENDMENT #2 TO THE FOOD SERVICE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT  

 

This Amendment is made and entered into by and between  Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
(“Client”), and Summit Food Service, LLC (“Company”) (collectively “the Parties”).  

 WHEREAS, The Parties have entered into a certain Food Service Partnership Agreement (the 
“Agreement”), effective March 9, 2018 

WHEREAS, The Parties have agreed to extend the partnership; and 

 WHEREAS, The Parties now desire to amend said Agreement upon the terms and conditions 
stated herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties, intending to be legally bound hereby, mutually agree as follows: 

 

1. Term. This Agreement shall be extended for two (2) additional months beginning July 1, 2023 
and ending August 31, 2023.  

2. Future Pricing. Pricing adjustments shall be made on an annual basis and shall be agreed upon 
by the parties at a rate no less than the greater of: five percent (5%), the most recently released 
U.S. Department of Labor Consumer Price Index, All Urban Consumers, National Average 
Unadjusted, Food Away From Home, or the changes in the Market Basket of Products. Up to 
ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary of the Commencement Date, Company shall provide 
Client notification of the adjustment.  On the anniversary date, Company proposed adjustments 
shall go into effect, unless the Parties have entered into a written agreement with an alternative 
cost adjustment. 

 
 
This Amendment is effective as of July 1, 2023. All other terms and conditions of the original Agreement 
(as modified from time to time) shall remain in full force and effect unless otherwise amended as 
provided in the Agreement.   

 

CLIENT: Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners 

 COMPANY: Summit Food Service, LLC 

   

Signature:   Signature:  

Name:   Name:  

Title:   Title: President  

Date:   Date:  

 

 

 

122

Item IX. 10.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #3 to Task Order 21-25-004 with Roberts Civil Engineering 

for the FDRE for Ash Roads Design and Construction Management (tabled May 2, and May 16, 

2023, and removed June 6, 2023) 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #3 to Task Order 21-25-004 with Roberts Civil Engineering for 

the FDRE for Ash Roads Design and Construction Management 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #3 to Task Order 

21-25-004 with Roberts Civil Engineering for the FDRE for Ash Roads Design and Construction 

Management 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The original agreement with RCE for the FDRE of Ash Roads included 13 different 

roads/areas. Six (6) of the roads were moved from the FDRE project and moved to the 

LMIG 2022 project.  

 Change Order 1 reflected the engineering costs of those six roads and moved them to 

the LMIG 2022 Agreement with RCE, which will result in a deduction of (-$65,000).  

 Change Order 2 reflected a partial adjustment to this task order fee to cover the 

additional fees incurred within the February and March 2023 invoices in the amount of 

$16,000.00. 

 Change Order 3 is being requested to close out the agreement for LMIG 2022. 

$1,594.50 will be reimbursed to Effingham County by Roberts Civil Engineering due to a 

billing error for the March 2023 invoice, and the $10,151.35 request will bring the 

contract total to match the amount paid for services and closeout the project.    

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #3 to Task Order 21-25-004 with Roberts Civil Engineering 

for the FDRE for Ash Roads Design and Construction Management  

2. Deny Change Order #3 

3. Take no action. 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments: 

1. Change Order #3  

2. Request from Roberts Civil Engineering 

123

Item X. 1.



Change Order # 3

 
 

Project: 21-25-004 – Engineering for FDRE for Ash Roads - TSPLOST 

Contract Date: June 15, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: July 18, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Total 

1 Additional Work Incurred –  $10,151.35 $10,151.35 

 TOTAL  $10,151.35 

 

Original Contract Total $449,285.00 

Change Order 1 ($65,000.00) 

Change Order 2 $16,000.00 

Contract Total $400,285.00 

Payment Total $412,030.85 

To be Reimbursed by RCE ($1,594.50) 

Final CO3 Amount $10,151.35 

Final Contract Total $410,436.35 
 

 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

124

Item X. 1.



 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

 

Additional Work Authorization and Project Closeout 

FDRE TSPLOST Roads 

Effingham County, GA 

 
On this     day of  , 2023 the services below are proposed in addition to the executed Contract 

Agreement between Effingham County and Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC dated June 15, 2021. 

All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement shall remain in effect for all work. 

 
1. Amended Contract Request 

 
Original Contract Amount $400,285.00 

Additional Work Incurred $ 11,006.50 

Contract Received Amount $412,030.85 

Amended Contract Amount $410,436.35 

 

*Overage due to the following: 

Coordination with Quality Control and solutions on chip seal roads 

Processing Ranger Change order #3 

Review and define logging damage and solution 

Time extension and remobilization due to logging 

delay  

 
Final Contract Closeout Adjustment: $-1,594.50 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written. 

ENGINEER: 
 

By: Johnathan Roberts 

For: Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC 

Its: Professional Engineer 

  
 

 

 
CLIENT: 

 

By:    

For:    

Its:    

 

125

Item X. 1.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #2 to LMIG 2022 Support and CM Services Agreement with 

Roberts Civil Engineering (tabled May 2, and May 16, 2023, and removed June 6, 2023) 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #2 to LMIG 2022 Support and CM Services Agreement with 

Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #2 to LMIG 2022 

Support and CM Services Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Change Order 1 for this project contained two requests: 

o Request 1 was for the design and construction management for improvements to 

the Sandhill Complex entrance to assist with school traffic in the amount of 

$13,200.00.  

o Request 2 was the $65,000 that was deducted from the FDRE Design/CM 

Agreement. Six (6) of the roads from the FDRE project were moved to the LMIG 

2022 project.  

o The total for this change order 1 was $78,200.00 bringing the overall agreement 

total to $136,227.00. 

 Change Order 2 is being requested to close out the agreement for LMIG 2022. 

$1,481.50 will be reimbursed to Effingham County by Roberts Civil Engineering due to a 

billing error for the March 2023 invoice, and the $10,347.50 request will bring the 

contract total to match the amount paid for services and closeout the project  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #2 to LMIG 2022 Support and CM Services Agreement with 

Roberts Civil Engineering  

2. Deny Change Order #2 

3. Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Public Works 

Funding Source: SPLOST/TSPLOST 

Attachments: 

1. Change Order 

2. RCE Request 

 

 

 

126

Item X. 2.



Change Order # 2

 
 

Project: 2022 LMIG Support and CM Services 

Contract Date: December 15, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: May 16, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Total 

1 Additional Work Incurred $10,347.50 $10,347.50 

 TOTAL $10,347.50 $10,347.50 

 

Original Contract Total $58,027.00 

Change Order 1 $78,200.00  

Contract Total $136,227.00 

Payment Total $148,056.00 

To be Reimbursed by RCE ($1,481.50) 

Final CO3 Amount $10,347.50 

Final Contract Total $146,574.50 

 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

127

Item X. 2.



 
 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

                                                              

Additional Work Authorization and Project Closeout 

2022 Effingham County LMIG 

 Effingham County, GA 

 
On this __ day of ______, 2023 the services below are proposed in addition to the executed Contract 

Agreement between Effingham County and Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC dated December 15, 

2021.  All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement shall remain in effect for all work.    

 

1. Amended Contract Request 

 

Original Contract Amount   $136,227.00 

Additional Work Incurred   $  10,489.00 

Contract Received Amount               $148,056.00 

Amended Contract Amount  $146,574.50 

 

*Overage due to the following: 

Added Scope of work for the Sandhill Creek Sports Complex 

Corinth Church Road Paving  

 

Final Contract Closeout Adjustment: $-1,481.50 

 

 

 

 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written.   

ENGINEER:            

CLIENT:            

 

 

          By:  Johnathan Roberts   

          For:  Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC          

           Its:  Professional Engineer   

                 

  

           

 
 

 

          By:  ____________________________   

          For:  ____________________________            

           Its:  ____________________________   

128

Item X. 2.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #2 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 

Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 

(tabled from May 2, 2023 and May 16, 2023, removed June 6, 2023) 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works  

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #2 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 

Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval for Change Order #2 for 

Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections Design and Construction 

Management with Roberts Civil Engineering in the amount of $437,560.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Change Order 1 was approved for the design and construction management of 

two additional intersections: 

o Hodgeville Road @ Scuffletown Road - $74,242 

o Hodgeville Road @ Forest Haven Road - $74,242 

 Change Order 2 has been requested to add Right Of Way Acquisition Services 

and Lighting Design to the scope for a NTE total of $437,560.00.  

 The original contract amount is $742,423.00 

 Change Order 1: $148,484.00 

 Change Order 2: $437,560.00 

 The new contract total is $1,149,767.00 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval for Change Order #2 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 

Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil 

Engineering in the amount of $437,560.00 

2. Deny Change Order #2 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing, Finance  

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments:  

1. Change Order #2 

2. RCE Request 

129

Item X. 3.



Change Order # 2

 
 

Project: 22-25-006 – Engineering/Design of TSPLOST Intersections 

Contract Date: December 7, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: July 18, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Quantity Total 

1 Roberts – Senior Project Manager $190/hour 276 hours $52,440 

2 Roberts – Administrative Assistant $75/hour 72 hours $5,400 

3 Mr. Ronnie Lewis $190/hour 368 hours $69,920 

4 Mr. Tim Wilson $190/hour 690 hours $131,100 

     

5 Lighting – Additional Work Requested   $178,700 

     

     

     

 TOTAL   $437,560 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 742,423.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 148,484.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 890,907.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 437,560.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 1,328,467.00 

 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

130

Item X. 3.



 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

 

Additional Work Authorization TSPLOST 

Intersections Lighting Design 

Effingham County, GA 

 
On this     day of  , 2023 the services below are proposed in addition to the executed Contract 

Agreement between Effingham County and Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC dated December 7th, 

2021. All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement shall remain in effect for all work. 

 
1. Lighting Design Task Order 

 
Additional Work Requested $ 178,700.00 

 

*Delivery of Work requested as follows: 

We understand that currently there are a total of eight (8) roundabouts/intersections which are 

requested to include lighting, most of which are local but two (2) of which are along State Routes and 

will require the full GDOT PDP, review, etc. 

 

Per our conversation, we can provide the lighting design for the roundabouts to include the 

following services: 

- Project management and coordination with other design aspects (throughout design process) 

- Identify potential utility conflicts and necessary clearances related to lighting(throughout 

design process) 
- Set up AGI32 files (lighting calculation software) 

- Develop photometric calculations for three luminaire alternatives, including 

roundabout, vertical illuminance at each crosswalk and approach lighting as 

necessary. 

- Set up and develop lighting sheets for delivery to County (and GDOT, if necessary) 
- Finalize and submit final photometric calculations for review and approval 

- Work with local utility company to determine electrical service point 

- Develop conduit and cable plan 

- Perform voltage drop calculations 

- Develop preliminary plans 

- Incorporate plan revisions as necessary 

- Develop final plan sheets 

- Develop construction details, including foundation details, single line diagrams, etc. 

- Develop special provisions as necessary 

 

For these services, we respectfully request a lump sum fee of $140,000.00 for the design and delivery of 

a biddable set of plans for all eight (8) roundabouts/intersections with an HNTE fee estimated of 

$38,700. For any roundabout which is removed from the scope of work, or lighting design not needed 

we can expect to reduce the fee lump sum fee by $15,000 per roundabout. We understand that time is of 

the essence on these roundabout designs and will work with your team to ensure any deadlines are met 

as quickly and reasonably as possible. 

 

**Note:  Proposed NTE Fee encompasses the Civil Engineering Services through the duration of 
the project.  Hourly Services budgeted under this contract but not performed will not be charged. 

 

 
                                                                                                     Contract Budget not to Exceed: $178,700 

 

 

131

Item X. 3.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written. 

ENGINEER: 
 

By: Johnathan Roberts 

For: Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC 

Its: Professional Engineer 

  
 

 

 
CLIENT: 

 

By:    

For:    

Its:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

132

Item X. 3.



P a g e  | 3 

 

 

   Add Service Proposal #2 TSPLOST Intersections Design and CM Services Project 

 

Ms. Angela Stanley 

Effingham County  

804 South Laurel Street 

Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
Re: Add Service Proposal #2 to Intersections Project 
 

Dear Ms. Stanley,  

 

As requested, we herewith submit our proposed Add Service Proposal to add Right of Way (ROW) 

Acquisitions Services to the scope of our existing Effingham County Intersections Project. As directed by 

Mr. Callanan, we propose to add Mr. Ronnie Lewis and Mr. Tim Wilson to our Roberts Civil Engineering 

Municipal Division Team. Generally, Mr. Lewis and Mr. Wilson will provide ROW Negotiation and ROW 

Appraisal services in support of the Legal services to be provided your Mr. Lee Newberry, County Attorney. 

Originally included within the scope of our Project, RCE will also provide ROW Layouts and Plat Surveys in 

support of your ROW Acquisition effort.  

Subject to the final coordination of Utilities with our 90% Road Designs, the exact ROW and Property Lines 

are not yet final and may change. That said, we preliminarily anticipate that there might be 23 Effingham 

County Neighbor Parcels involved in a ROW Negotiation and Acquisition, or in a Construction Easement 

Negotiation, across all 8 of the Intersections currently moving forward.  

The actual time that will be involved in successfully settling with each Neighbor cannot be exactly 

calculated at this time. That said, we have attempted to base this Not to Exceed Add Service Proposal on 

a theoretically “average” Neighbor, involving some “normal” amount of negotiation effort, and some 

“normal” amount of complexity probably requiring a 388-N Appraisal Report. Some Neighbors will require 

less effort. We anticipate that your Effingham County Neighbors will be favorably disposed to fair County 

settlement offers in support of these important TSPLOST Intersection improvements, and so we have not 

included time for settlements that might require effort that substantially exceeds the “average.”  

Thank you again for this expanded opportunity to serve Effingham County.  

Sincerely, 

 

R. M. “Rip” Graham 

Senior Project Manager 

133

Item X. 3.

Rip Graham
Rip's Signature



P a g e  | 4 

 

 

   Add Service Proposal #2 TSPLOST Intersections Design and CM Services Project 

 

FEE PROPOSAL 

 

Roberts Civil Engineering 
Senior Project Manager 

12 Hours per “Average” Parcel x $ 190.00 per Hour x 23 Parcels:   $  52,440.  
 
Administrative Assistant 

12 Hours per Month x $ 75.00 per Hour x 6 Months:    $    5,400.  
 
Mr. Ronnie Lewis 

16 Hours per “Average” Parcel x $ 190.00 per Hour x 23 Parcels:    $   69,920.  
 
Mr. Tim Wilson  

30 Hours per “Average” Parcel x $ 190.00 per Hour x 23 Parcels:   $ 131,100. 
 

Total Not to Exceed Fee:         $ 258,860. 

 

The Hourly Billable Rates we have used in this Proposal to project our Not to Exceed Fees are tied to our 

existing May 11, 2021 Indefinite Delivery Contract with Effingham County, as modified by our March 7, 

2023 Amendment #1. In accordance with the Terms and Conditions of this agreement, we will only invoice 

for Hours actually worked. RCE believes that the Hours allowed for within this Proposal are sufficiently 

ample to support most of the County’s ROW Acquisition and Construction Easement requirements. 

Parcels requiring substantially more effort than “average” will be reviewed on a case by case basis, if 

necessary. 

134

Item X. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Ordinance Revision 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code: 
Chapter 30 – Articles VIII – Timber Operations of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, responding 
to the changes of Title 12 of the Official Code of Georgia, Conservation and Natural Resources.  
 
Summary Recommendation 
In order to conform to Title 12 of the Official Code of Georgia, Conservation and Natural Resources, Staff 
recommends approval of an ordinance revision which will comply with State Law.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The ordinance revisions include definition change, notice requirements change, addition of a timber 

operations bond, posting notices, and additions to violations. 
  

Alternatives  
3. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article III – 

General Provisions: 
4. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article III – 

General Provisions. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Draft of Part II – Official Code: Chapter 30 – Article VIII – Timber Operations   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
135

Item X. 4.



136

Item X. 4.



137

Item X. 4.



138

Item X. 4.



139

Item X. 4.



140

Item X. 4.



141

Item X. 4.



142

Item X. 4.



143

Item X. 4.



144

Item X. 4.



145

Item X. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Ordinance Revision 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code: 
Appendix C – Articles I - X of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, responding to the changes of Title 
36 of the Official Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law. 
 
Summary Recommendation 
In order to conform with Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law, Staff recommends 
approval of the ordinance revision which will comply with State law.   
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• House Bill 1405 is an amendment Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia that revised provisions related 

to judicial review of zoning decisions, definitions, requirements for zoning decisions by boards or 
agencies using delegate powers, additional notice and hearing provisions, judicial review of zoning 
decisions, appeals of quasi-judicial decisions, provide for related matters, to provide an effective date 
and applicability, repeal conflicting laws, and other purposes.  

• The definitions for Legislative Zoning Actions and Quasi-judicial officers, boards, or agencies has been 
added.  

• Additions to 7.1.4 Review Authority that gives the Planning Board the ability to hear and render 
decisions on applications for variances, special administrative permits, special exceptions, plat 
procedures and processes, and other processes not considered a zoning action. 

• 7.1.8.3 under Variances explains that financial hardship is not considered by State Law as grounds for 
granting a variance.  

• The addition to 7.2 Administration complies with the State regulations for a property owner to appeal 
administrative, quasi-judicial, and zoning decisions. 

• There is a change to the public notice timeline for quasi-judicial decisions; and a change in the 
responsibilities of the Zoning Administrator.     

Alternatives  
1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article I-X: 

2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Articles I-X. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Draft of Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code: Appendix C – Articles I - X 

Ordinance   
  

146

Item X. 5.



 

                     Page 1 of 2                      
                         Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article II, Defintions_07182023 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

 AMENDMENT TO PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE II,  

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE II, OF THE EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 
 

Add new section, is inserted, as follows: 

2.46A Local government. Any county or municipality which exercises zoning power within its territorial 

boundaries. 

 

Is inserted, as follows: 

 

2.65 Public use. 

 

Quasi-judicial officers, boards, or agencies. An officer, board, or agency appointed by a local government 

to exercise delegated, quasi-judicial zoning powers including hearing appeals of administrative decisions 

by such officers, boards, or agencies and hearing and rendering decisions on applications for variances, 

special administrative permits, special exceptions, conditional use permits, or other similar permits not 

enumerated herein as a zoning decision, pursuant to standards for the exercise of such quasi-judicial 

authority adopted by a local government. 

 

2.80A Territorial boundaries.  

The unincorporated areas thereof and any area defined in paragraph (5.1) of Code Section 36-70-2 

 

2.90 Zoning.  

The power of local governments to provide within their respective territorial boundaries for the zoning 

or districting of property for various uses and the prohibition of other or different uses within such zones 

or districts and for the regulation of development and the improvement of real estate within such zones 

or districts in accordance with the uses of property for which such zones or districts were established. 

 

2.91 Zoning administrator. That person hired by the county commissioners to enforce the zoning 

ordinance, subdivision regulations, and any other land use ordinances adopted by the county 

commissioners.  

 

2.92 Zoning decision. A final legislative action by a local government which results in:  

(A) The adoption or repeal of a zoning ordinance;  

(B) The adoption of an amendment to a zoning ordinance which changes the text of the zoning ordinance; 

(C) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance to rezone property from one zoning   

classification to another;  

(D) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance by a municipal local government to 

zone property to be annexed into the municipality;  

147

Item X. 5.



 

                     Page 2 of 2                      
                         Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article II, Defintions_07182023 

 

(E) The grant or denial of a permit relating to a special use of property; or  

(F) The grant or denial of a variance or conditions concurrent and in conjunction with a decision pursuant 

to subparagraphs (C) or (E) of this paragraph.  

 

2.92.1 Zoning ordinance. An ordinance or resolution of a local government establishing procedures and 

zones or districts within its respective territorial boundaries which regulate the uses and development 

standards of property within such zones or districts. The term also includes the zoning map adopted in 

conjunction with a zoning ordinance which shows the zones and districts and zoning classifications of 

property therein.  

 

Delete the following text: 

2.92 Zoning ordinance or ordinance. The zoning ordinance of the county. 

 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 This         day of                            20__. 

 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
         

BY: ______________________________   

CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

 

 

 

FIRST READING: _________________ 

 

 

SECOND READING: _______________ 

148

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 11 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of the administration and enforcement of this ordinance, and unless otherwise stated in this 
ordinance, the following words shall have a meaning as indicated herein.  

Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense; words used in the singular number shall 
include the plural number; words used in the plural number shall include the singular number; the word "shall" is 
mandatory, not directory.  

2.1 Accessory buildings. A secondary residence, garage, or other building or structure subordinated to and not 
forming an integral part of the main or principal building on a lot or parcel but pertaining to the use of the 
main building.  

2.2 Advertising signs. A surface whereon advertising material is set in public view, including reference to any use of 
premises whereon it is displayed or posted.  

2.3 Alley. A narrow thoroughfare dedicated or used for public passageway up to 20 feet in width, which usually 
abuts the rear of the premises, or upon which service entrances or buildings abut, and which is not generally 
used as a thoroughfare by both pedestrians and vehicles, is not used for general traffic, and is not otherwise 
officially designated as a street. A way which affords only a secondary means of access to abutting property.  

2.4 Alteration. Any change in the arrangement of a building, including any work affecting the structural parts of a 
building; or an enlargement; or any change in wiring, plumbing, heating, or cooling system; and includes the 
words "to alter" and "alter."  

2.5 Apartment building. A building which is used or intended to be used as a home or residence for more than two 
families living in separate quarters.  

2.6 Automotive sales, services, and storage. The sale, service, or storage of new or used automobiles, including 
paint and body repair shops. Any business that stores automobiles shall only store automobiles that will be 
put back in use on the roadways of the United States.  

2.6.5 Bed and breakfast lodging facility. A transient accommodation with on-site staff that provides no more than 
nine guestrooms. At least one meal shall be offered and served on the premises to registered evening guests. 
The facility must meet all requirements of the county health department parking requirements shall be the 
same as for hotels and motels.  

2.7 Boat house. A house or shed for sheltering one or more boats.  

2.8 Boundary of district. The centerline of a street or right-of-way or the centerline of an alleyway between the 
rear or side property lines, or, where no alley or passageway exists, the rear or side property lines or all lots 
bordering on any zoning district limits or any zoning district boundary shown on the maps adopted by section 
4.2.  

2.9 Buildable area. That portion of any lot which may be used or built upon in accordance with the regulations 
governing the given zoning district within which the particular lot is located, once the various front, side, and 
rear yard requirements required for the district have been subtracted from the total lot area.  

2.10 Building. Any structure having a roof entirely separated from any other structure by space or by walls, having 
no communicating doors or windows or similar opening, and being erected for the purpose of providing 
support of shelter for persons, animals, things, or property of any kind, and having a foundation to which it is 
anchored.  

149

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 2 of 11 

2.11 Building height. The height of a building with a gabled or hip roof shall be the vertical distance measured from 
the average elevation of the finished building site to the top of the roof of the uppermost story or to the 
deck line of a mansard roof. The height of a building with a flat or nearly flat roof, less than seven degrees 
from the horizontal, shall be measured from the footing as stated above to the highest point of the roof.  

2.12 Building line. A line delineating the minimum allowable distance between the street right-of-way and nearest 
extreme projection of a building (including all areas covered by any vertical projections to the ground or 
overhang, walls, roof, or any other part of the structure).  

2.13 Building site. The ground area of a building or buildings together with all open spaces surrounded by said 
building or buildings.  

2.14 Building inspector. Any person hired by the county commissioners to inspect, determine compliance with, and 
render minor decisions concerning the compliance of structures and lots within the county.  

2.15 Camper. A motor home, tent, trailer, or other self-contained vehicle designated for recreational purposes.  

2.16 Care homes. Includes rest and nursing homes, convalescent homes, and boarding homes for the aged 
established to render nursing care for chronic or convalescent patients, but excludes facilities for care of 
active or violent patients such as feebleminded or mental patients, epileptics, alcoholics, senile psychotics, or 
drug addicts.  

2.17 Centerline, highway. The line running parallel with the highway right-of-way which is halfway the distance 
between the extreme edges of the official right-of-way width as shown on maps approved by the county tax 
assessor.  

2.18 Certified survey. A survey, sketch, plat, map, or other exhibit is said to be certified when a written statement 
regarding its accuracy or conformity to specified standards is signed by the specified professional engineer, 
registered surveyor, architect, or other legally recognized person.  

2.19 Church. A legally approved structure and its accessory buildings used and approved on a permanent basis, 
primarily for the public worship of God.  

2.20 Club, private. An organization or association of persons for some common purpose, such as, but not 
necessarily limited to, a fraternal, social, educational, or recreational purpose, but not including clubs 
organized primarily for profit or to render a service, which is customarily carried on as a business. Such 
organizations and associations must be incorporated under the laws of Georgia as nonprofit corporations 
and such corporations' major purpose shall not be for the purpose of serving alcoholic beverages to its 
members or others. This may not be located on, or in connection with any commercial activity.  

2.21 Commissioners. The board of commissioners of the county, which is the local governing authority for the 
county.  

2.21.1 Common outdoor open space. areas accessible from all parts of the development. Common open space can 
include passive or active recreation area, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating. 
Ponds, lakes, buffers or other spaces that are not usable by the residents of a development for recreational 
purposes shall not be included in common outdoor open space.  

2.22 Conditional use. Those uses allowed within a district, only after specific requirements are met. The 
commissioners at their discretion may require additional restraints, restrictions, qualifications, or limiting 
factors upon a specific use so that it becomes acceptable. A public hearing shall be required with regard to all 
proposed conditional uses.  

2.22A Culvert. A sewer or drain crossing under a road, driveway, or embankment.  

150

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 3 of 11 

2.23 Density. The number of units or buildings per acre, or the number of people per unit, building, acre, or mile; 
the quantity of people, structures, or units within a specified area.  

2.24 Depth of lot. The depth of lot is the depth between its mean front street line and its mean rear line, measured 
along the median between the two side lot lines.  

2.25 Dwelling. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living quarters for one or more 
families on a permanent or long-term basis.  

2.25.1 Condominium. A building or series of buildings on the same lot or portions thereof containing more 
than one dwelling unit under separate ownership with joint ownership of common open spaces.  

2.25.2 Duplex. A residential building designed for, or used as, the separate homes or residences of two 
separate and distinct families, but having the appearance of a single-family dwelling unit. Each 
individual unit in the duplex shall comply with the definition of single-family detached dwelling.  

2.25.3 Single-family detached dwelling. A building or structure designed for and occupied as a residence 
exclusively by one family.  

2.25.4 Site-built single-family detached dwelling. A single-family detached dwelling constructed on the 
building site from basic materials delivered to the site and constructed in accordance with all 
requirements of the building codes as adopted by the county.  

2.25.5 Class A single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that meets or exceeds the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.25.6 Class B single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that does not meet the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.25.7 Garden apartment community. A low intensity, low-rise, apartment community comprised of two- or 
three-story buildings, each containing attached dwelling units typically characterized by a garden-like 
setting, surrounded by lawns, trees, shrubbery, and gardens and/or interior courtyards.  

2.25.8 Multifamily. A building or collection of buildings that are designed for and occupied by three or more 
families and located on a single parcel.  

2.25.9 Mixed-use residential. The mixing of principal residential uses with nonresidential uses. Mixed use 
residential may occur by the following:  

(a) Nonresidential and multifamily in the same building (e.g., retail on ground floor, multifamily 
above), or  

(b) Multifamily and another primary nonresidential use located in different buildings sited on the 
same lot or parcel (e.g., multifamily located on the same parcel as an office building).  

(c) Both options shall be designed, located, and oriented on the site so that nonresidential uses are 
directly accessible to residents of the development. For the purposes of this section, "directly 
accessible" shall mean pedestrian access by way of improved sidewalks or paths and streets that 
do not involve leaving the development or using a major thoroughfare. "Directly accessible" does 
not necessarily mean that nonresidential uses need to be located in a particular location, but that 
the siting of such uses considers the accessibility of the residential component of the 
development to the nonresidential use. Parking areas shall be designed to minimize distances 
between uses.  

151

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 4 of 11 

2.25.10 Townhouse. A unit in a building with multiple dwelling units, where each unit is on an individual lot, 
shares a common sidewall, and is one to three stories in height.  

2.26 Dwelling unit. A structure or a portion of any structure designed, arranged and used for living quarters for one 
or more persons living as a single housekeeping unit with cooking facilities, but not including units in hotels, 
motels, boarding houses, or like uses.  

2.27 Dwelling, group. A building or portion of a building occupied or intended for occupancy by several unrelated 
persons or families, but in which separate cooking facilities are not provided for such resident persons or 
families. The term "group dwelling" includes, but is not limited to, roominghouses, apartment hotels, 
fraternity houses or sorority houses, YMCA, or YWCA. A hotel, motel, or tourist home shall not be deemed to 
be a group dwelling as herein defined.  

2.28 Reserved. 

2.29 Engineer. Any person having an acceptable degree from a recognized institution of higher learning who is 
capable of determining the correct manner in which to construct roads, streets, highways, water and 
sewerage systems, drainage system, structures, or other technically related areas. The person to be county 
engineer must be recognized by the State of Georgia as one.  

2.30 Estate. Any residential site comprising five acres or more shall come within the meaning of the word "estate."  

2.31 Reserved. 

2.32 Family. One person, or a group of two or more persons, living together and interrelated by bond or 
consanguinity, marriage, or legal adoption, occupying a dwelling unit as a single-family unit, with a single set 
of kitchen facilities.  

2.33 Floodprone areas. That land adjacent to a creek, stream, river, channel, canal, or other body of water that is 
designated as a floodplain or flood prone area by a governmental agency.  

2.34 Floor area. The sum of the gross floor area for each of the several stories under roof, measured from the 
interior limits or faces of a building or structure.  

2.35 Floor area ratio. Floor area of building or buildings on any lot divided by the area of the lot.  

2.36 Frontage. The distance or width of a parcel of land abutting a public right-of-way and as measured upon such 
right-of-way.  

2.37 Garage, community. A structure or series of structures under one roof, and under one ownership, for the 
storage of vehicles by three or more owners or occupants of property in the vicinity, where said structure 
has no public shop nor mechanical services in connection therewith.  

2.38 Garage, private. A structure for the private use of the owner or occupant of a principal building, situated on 
the same lot as the principal building for the storage of motor vehicles, with no facilities for mechanical 
service or repair of a commercial or public nature for profit.  

2.39 Garage, public. A structure for the storage, care, repair, or refinishing of motor vehicles, or a structure 
containing a public shop, or where automotive mechanical service is provided.  

2.40 Gas station. A structure designated or used for the retail sale or supply of fuel, lubricants, air, water, and 
other operating commodities for motor vehicles and including the customary spacing and facilities for the 
installation of such commodities on or in such vehicles, but not including space or facilities for the storage, 
painting, repair, refinishing, body work, or other servicing of motor vehicles.  

152

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 5 of 11 

2.41 Highway. Any public thoroughfare of paving 22 feet or wider, including a street, which affords primary access 
to abutting property, and any thoroughfare of less width which is not classified as an alley (street).  

2.41A Historic structure. A structure that is at least 50 years old and meets one of the following requirements:  

2.41A.1 Listed on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places;  

2.41A.2 Eligible for listing on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places; or  

2.41A.3 Currently receiving or eligible to receive tax credits for rehabilitation of historic properties.  

2.42 Hospital. An institution providing health services, primarily for in-patients, and medical and surgical care of 
the sick or injured, including as an integral part of the institution such related facilities as laboratories, out-
patient departments, training facilities, central service facilities, and staff offices.  

2.43 Hotel. A building occupied as the more or less temporary residence of individuals who are lodged, with or 
without meals, and in which there are ten or more sleeping rooms with entrances through a common lobby 
or office.  

2.44 Junk. Old and dilapidated automobiles, trucks, tractors, and other such vehicles and parts thereof, wagons 
and other kinds of vehicles and parts thereof, scrap building material, scrap piping, bottles, glass, old iron, 
machinery, rags, paper, excelsior, hair, mattresses, beds or bedding, or any other kind of scrap or waste 
materials which is stored, kept, handled, or displayed within the county limits.  

2.44A Industrialized home. A dwelling manufactured in accordance with the Georgia Industrialized Building Act 
(O.C.G.A. title 8, chapter 2, article 2, part 1) and the rules of the commissioner of the state department of 
community affairs issued pursuant thereto, bearing an insignia of approval issued by the commissioner.  

2.45 Junkyard. Any land or building used for commercial storage and/or sale of paper, rags, scrap metals, other 
scrap, or discarded materials, or for the dismantling, storage, or salvaging of automobiles or other vehicles 
not in running condition, or of machinery or parts thereof, but not to be used as a dump. A "junk yard" also 
includes any outdoor area that is used exclusively for the temporary storage of wrecked automobiles, which 
are automobiles that do not get repaired and put back in use on the roadways of the United States, provided 
that no work shall be performed on any wrecked automobile while it is in storage.  

2.46 Local government.  Any county or municipality which exercises zoning power 

within its territorial boundaries. 

2.46 Lot. Parcel of land shown on a recorded plat or on the zoning map, or any piece of land described by a legally 
recorded deed.  

2.47 Lot, corner. Any lot situated at the junction of and abutting on two or more intersections or intercepting 
streets or public highways. If the angle or intersection of the direction lines of two highways is more than 135 
degrees, the lot fronting on said intersection is not a corner lot.  

2.48 Lot, interior. Any lot which is not a corner lot that has frontage only on one street other than an alley.  

2.49 Lot lines, front. In the case of a lot abutting upon only one street, the front lot line is the line separating such 
lot from such street. In the case of a corner lot, that part of the lot having the narrowest frontage on any 
street shall be considered the front lot line. In the case of any other lot, one such line shall be elected to be 
the front lot line for the purpose of this article, provided it is so designated by the building plans which meet 
the approval of the building and zoning inspector.  

153

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 6 of 11 

2.50 Lot lines, rear. The rear lot line is that boundary which is opposite and most distant from the front lot line. In 
the case of a lot pointed at the rear, or any odd-shaped lot, the rear lot line shall be determined by the 
building and zoning inspector.  

2.51 Lot lines, side. A side lot line is any lot boundary line not a front lot line or a rear lot line. A side lot line 
separating a lot from a street is an exterior side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot or 
lots is an interior side lot line.  

2.52 Lot, through. Any lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets or other thoroughfares.  

2.52A Manufactured home. A dwelling fabricated in an off-site facility for installation or assembly at the building 
site, bearing a label certifying that it is constructed in compliance with the National Manufactured Housing 
Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. § 5401 et seq.).  

2.52A.1 Manufactured home site. A parcel of land designed and designated for the location of one 
manufactured home, its accessory buildings or structures, and accessory equipment for exclusive use 
of the home.  

2.52A.2 Manufactured home stand. That area of a manufactured home site which has been reserved for 
placement of a manufactured home.  

2.53 Mapped streets. A mapped street is any approved street shown on an official map or the projection of any 
existing street through an unsubdivided parcel of land, whether the street is dedicated or in existence or not.  

2.54 Marshland. All land subject to tidal action which is comprised of generally unstable soil materials commonly 
known as "hard or soft" marsh, which in its natural state is vegetated with marsh grass, reeds, and similar 
growth and is usually characterized by poor load-bearing capacity. Marshland lies below an elevation of six 
feet above mean sea level.  

2.55 Mobile home. A dwelling manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which is transportable in one or more sections; 
in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or 40 body feet or more in length, or when erected on 
site, is 320 or more square feet in floor area; is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling 
with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities; and includes the plumbing, 
heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein. All mobile homes must be installed in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160, et. seq. Mobile homes must meet the construction standards specified in ANSI 
A119.1. Compliance with ANSI A119.1 shall be determined by the following procedures:  

2.55.1 For mobile homes that are proposed to be relocated within the county, the county building inspector 
or designee must inspect the unit to determine if the unit meets the standards of ANSI A119.1 
standards and all other applicable county ordinances are met, after which the county administrator or 
designee may issue the building permit for placement of the mobile home on site. An inspection fee 
determined from time to time by the board of commissioners shall be charged for each individual 
inspection of a mobile home.  

2.56 Reserved. 

2.57 Motel or motor hotel. A building or group of two or more buildings designed to provide sleeping 
accommodations for transient or overnight guests with no common entrance or lobby. Each building shall 
contain a minimum of ten residential units or rooms which generally have direct, private openings to a 
street, drive, or patio, etc.  

2.58 Nonconforming lot. Any lot that is smaller than the minimum dimensions, area, or other regulations of the 
district in which the lot is located.  

154

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 7 of 11 

2.59 Nonconforming use. Use of any property or premises in any manner that does not comply with the 
regulations provided for the district in which the property or premises is situated, if such use was originally 
legally established at the effective date of this ordinance or any amendment thereof.  

2.60 Parking space. That area required for the parking or storage of one automobile, including necessary aisle or 
driveway space providing access thereto.  

2.60A Planned manufactured home community. A tract used or intended for use as a residential area occupied by 
manufactured homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and adequate 
community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the developer; and in 
which the resident owns or rents the manufactured home and rents the manufactured home space. All 
manufactured homes located within a manufactured home community must be installed in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160 et seq.  

2.60B Planned single-family home community. A subdivision used or intended for use as a residential area 
occupied by single-family homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and 
adequate community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the 
developer; and in which the subdivision is under single ownership or control.  

2.61 Planning board. The county planning board, which is a body of people appointed by the commissioners whose 
responsibilities include the guidance of growth and development within the county.  

2.61A Pond. A manmade depression designed to hold water that is less than one acre in size. These include 
retention, detention, and borrow pits less than one acre.  

2.62 Principal building. The building situated or to be placed nearest the front property line and the use of which 
conforms to the primary use permitted by the zoning classification in which it is located.  

2.63 Professional buildings. Structures used for the conduct of business in any of the following or related 
categories: law; architecture; accounting; engineering; medicine; dentistry; optometry; osteopathy; 
chiropractors; optician; planning, or consulting of the nature of the aforestated categories, not including 
outside storage space for business vehicles or equipment.  

2.64 Public body. Any government or governmental agency in Effingham County, the State of Georgia, or the 
United States Government.  

2.65 Public use. Use of any land, water, or buildings by municipality, public body, or board, commission, or any 
county, state, or the federal government, or any agency thereof for a public service or purpose.  

 

 Quasi-judicial officers, boards, or agencies. An officer, board, or agency 
appointed by a local government to exercise delegated, quasi-judicial zoning 
powers including hearing appeals of administrative decisions by such officers, 

boards, or agencies and hearing and rendering decisions on applications for 

variances, special administrative permits, special exceptions, conditional use 

permits, or other similar permits not enumerated herein as a zoning decision, 
pursuant to standards for the exercise of such quasi-judicial authority adopted 

by a local government. 

155

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 8 of 11 

2.66 Repairs. Restoration of portions of a building to its condition as before decay, wear, or damage, but not the 
alteration of the shape or size of any portion.  

2.67 Residential. The term "residential" or "residence" applies herein to any lot, plot, parcel, tract, area, piece of 
land, and/or any building used or intended to be used exclusively for family dwelling purposes, including 
concomitant uses specified herein.  

2.68 Restaurant. A building, room, or rooms where food is prepared and served to a group of families, a club, or to 
the public for consumption within the enclosed structure.  

2.69 Right-of-way line. The outside boundaries of a highway right-of-way, whether such right-of-way be 
established by usage, dedication, or by the official right-of-way.  

2.70 Roominghouse. (The terms roominghouse, boardinghouse, tourist home, cooperative house, and 
lodginghouse are used synonymously in this ordinance.) A building, other than a hotel or dormitory, where, 
for compensation and by arrangement for definite periods, lodging or lodging meals are provided for more 
than three persons unrelated to the owners of the structure.  

2.71 Rooming unit. Any room or group of rooms, forming a habitable unit used for living and sleeping, but which 
does not contain cooking or eating facilities.  

2.72 Setback. The minimum horizontal distance between the right-of-way line, rear, or side lines of the lot, and the 
front, rear, or side lines of the building. When two or more lots under one ownership are used, the exterior 
property line so grouped shall be used in determining offsets.  

2.72A Shipping container. A receptacle designed for intermodal transport of cargo aboard ship, truck trailer, or rail 
car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of containerized cargo, including but 
not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, size dimensions of eight feet wide by eight or ten 
feet high by 20, 35, or 40 feet in length, and which is otherwise designed and constructed in conformance 
with standards for shipping containers as set forth by the international standards organization.  

2.72B Shipping container facility. A facility that provides storage for shipping containers awaiting transport or next 
use.  

2.73 Site. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel of land on a legally recorded subdivision plat or in a 
legally recorded subdivision plat or in a legally recorded deed.  

2.74 Special exception. A use, specifically designated in this ordinance, that would not be appropriate for location 
generally or without restriction throughout a given zoning district but which, if controlled as to number, area, 
location, or relation to the neighborhood, would, in the opinion of the county commissioners, promote the 
public health, safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general 
welfare.  

2.75 Story. That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next 
above it; or if there be no floor above it, then the space between the floor and ceiling next above it.  

2.76 Street. A dedicated and accepted public right-of-way for vehicular traffic which affords the principal means of 
access to abutting properties.  

2.77 Structural alteration. Any change in the shape or size of any portion of a building or structure such as walls, 
columns, beams, arches, girders, floor joists, or roof joists.  

2.78 Surveyor. A person who determines or delineates the form, extent, position, distance, or shape of a tract of 
land by taking linear and angular measurements, and by applying the principles of geometry and 
trigonometry.  

156

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 9 of 11 

2.79 Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires rigid location on the ground or 
attachment to something having a permanent location on the ground; provided, however, that utility poles, 
fences, and walls (other than building walls) shall not be considered to be structures.  

2.80 Subdivision. "Subdivision" means all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites, 
or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building development, and 
includes all division of land involving a new street or change in existing streets, and includes resubdivision and, 
where appropriate, the process of subdividing or the land or area subdivided; provided, however, that the 
following exceptions are included within this definition only for the purpose of requiring that the planning board 
be informed and have record of such subdivisions:  

Exceptions:  

(a) The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total number of lots 
is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standard of the governing authority;  

(b) The immediate transfer of property necessitated by death of the property owner to the said property 
owner's legal heirs, provided that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning 
district where that property is located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a 
cumulative total of not more than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(c) The transfer of property between family members within the third degree of consanguinity, provided 
that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning district where that property is 
located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a cumulative total of not more 
than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(d) The division of land into parcels of ten acres or more where no new street is involved.  

Plats of such exceptions shall be received as information by the zoning administrator who shall indicate such 
fact on the plats.  

Conditional exemptions: In order to provide property owners with an expeditious method for subdividing a 
portion of a tract of land, conditional exemptions from the provisions of this ordinance are authorized and 
may be granted by the county zoning administrator provided such requests for conditional exemptions 
comply with the following:  

(a) The division of land into two parcels when the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the 
zoning district where that property is located and when divided for residential purposes meets health 
department requirements and where no new street is involved; provided that the same tract cannot be 
divided using this conditional exemption more than one time in any 12-month period beginning on the 
date of recording.  

Plats requesting conditional exemption will be received by the county zoning administrator's office for 
review. Plats meeting the requirements stated above can be approved by the zoning administrator who shall 
indicate such fact on the plats. If, in the determination of the zoning administrator, a plat requesting 
conditional exemption does not comply with the above requirements, or other factors peculiar to the 
individual circumstance of the property in question, the zoning administrator is required to deny the 
conditional exemption and forward the plat to the planning board for processing as a subdivision.  

 

 

157

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 10 of 11 

Territorial boundaries.  The unincorporated areas thereof and any area defined 

in paragraph (5.1) of Code Section 36-70-2 

2.81  Trailer. A non-self-propelled vehicle or conveyance permanently equipped to travel upon the public highways 
that provides temporary use as a residence or living quarters or office; serves as a carrier of people, new or used 
goods, products, or equipment; or is used as a selling, advertising, or display device whether or not the wheels 
have been removed and whether or not set on jacks, skirts, masonry blocks, or other foundation.  

2.82 Trash. Cuttings from vegetation, refuse, paper, bottles, and rags.  

2.83 Use. The purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed, or intended, or for which either land or a 
building is or may be occupied or maintained.  

2.83A Utilities, government-owned. Any government-owned water and sewer utilities and appurtenances, 
including publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the state, wells, water distribution lines, sewage 
collection lines, re-use water distribution lines, pump stations, water storage facilities, meter stations, and 
fire hydrant.  

2.83B Vacant. A structure in which the principle use has been abandoned. This shall not include structures for sale 
or rent or temporarily unoccupied.  

2.84 Variance. A modification of the strict terms of this ordinance granted by the county commission where such 
modification will not be contrary to the public interest; and where, owing to conditions peculiar to the 
property and not as a result of any action on the part of the property owner, a literal enforcement of the 
ordinance would result in unnecessary and undue hardship; and where such modification will not authorize a 
principal or accessory use of the property which is not permitted within the zoning district in which the 
property is located.  

2.85 Vehicle. A conveyance for persons or materials.  

2.86 Waterfront. Any site shall be considered as waterfront property provided any or all of its lot lines abut on or 
are contiguous to any body of water including creek, canal, river, or any other body of water natural or 
artificial, including marshland, not including a swimming pool, whether said lot line is front, rear, or side.  

2.87 Yard. An open space on the same lot with a building; said space lies between the building and nearest lot or 
street line.  

2.88 Yard, front. That area of open space to the front of the platted lot, the area immediately adjacent to the 
street side of the lot. If streets are bound on two sides of the lot, the narrower portion fronting on a street 
shall be declared the front. See "Lot lines, front."  

2.89 Yard, rear. That area of open space that is opposite the area delineated as the front. That area of greatest 
distance from the street. See "Lot lines, rear."  

2.90 Yard, side. That area of open space that is immediately adjacent to the side lot lines. See "Lot lines, side."  

Zoning.  The power of local governments to provide within their respective 

territorial boundaries for the zoning or districting of property for various uses 
and the prohibition of other or different uses within such zones or districts and 
for the regulation of development and the improvement of real estate within 

158

Item X. 5.

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000468&cite=GAST36-70-2&originatingDoc=N988F2860E62511EC995BA24757C42921&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=9e6737d028c44419bcf60f8386b61b0b&contextData=(sc.Category)


PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 11 of 11 

such zones or districts in accordance with the uses of property for which such 

zones or districts were established. 

2.91 Zoning administrator. That person hired by the county commissioners to enforce the zoning ordinance, 
subdivision regulations, and any other land use ordinances adopted by the county commissioners.  

Zoning decision.  A final legislative action by a local government which results in: 

(A) The adoption or repeal of a zoning ordinance; 

(B) The adoption of an amendment to a zoning ordinance which changes the text 
of the zoning ordinance; 

(C) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance to rezone 
property from one zoning classification to another; 

(D) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance by a municipal 
local government to zone property to be annexed into the municipality; 

(E) The grant or denial of a permit relating to a special use of property; or 

(F) The grant or denial of a variance or conditions concurrent and in conjunction 
with a decision pursuant to subparagraphs (C) or (E) of this paragraph. 

 

Zoning ordinance.  An ordinance or resolution of a local government establishing 
procedures and zones or districts within its respective territorial boundaries which 
regulate the uses and development standards of property within such zones or 

districts. The term also includes the zoning map adopted in conjunction with a 
zoning ordinance which shows the zones and districts and zoning classifications of 
property therein. 
 

2.92 Zoning ordinance or ordinance. The zoning ordinance of the county.  

2.93 Zoning map. The official map of the County.  

(Amend. of 4-4-00(20); Amend. of 4-4-00(21); Amend. of 4-4-00(22); Ord. of 10-21-04, § 1; Ord. of 9-54-07, § 1(a); 
Ord. of 8-5-08; Ord. of 1-3-11, § 1; Ord. of 7-17-12, § 1; Ord. of 11-5-19 ; Ord. of 3-1-22(1) ; Ord. of 11-15-22(1) ; 
Ord. of 1-3-23(2) ) 

 

159

Item X. 5.



 

Page 1 of 4                      
                   Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article IX_07182023 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

 AMENDMENT TO PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE IX,   

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE IX, OF THE 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES 

IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 
 

 

Add/Delete, as follows: 

 

9.4 Procedure for conducting a public hearing.  

All public hearings on zoning amendments matters that require a public hearing included but not limited 

to rezonings, text amendments, conditional uses, sketch plans, and variances shall be chaired by either 

the chairman of the planning board or the county commission chairman or their designees (hereinafter 

referred to as the “presiding officer”).  

The public hearing shall be called to order by the presiding officer.  

 

The county zoning officer shall be recognized by the presiding officer first and shall be permitted to give 

a summary of the zoning request.  

 

The zoning applicant or the applicant’s agent, shall be recognized by the presiding officer second and 

shall be permitted to present and explain the zoning request. Thereafter, all individuals who so desire and 

if time allows, shall be permitted to speak in favor of the zoning request. After the individuals have had 

an opportunity to speak, those individuals present at the public hearing who wish to speak in opposition 

to the zoning request shall have an opportunity to speak. Those speaking for or against the zoning request 

shall be subject to the time constraints stated below.  

 

When any person wishes to speak at a public hearing, that person shall raise his or her hand and after 

being recognized by the presiding officer, shall stand and state his or her name, and make any comment 

appropriate to the proposed zoning request.  

 

The zoning applicant shall have an opportunity, after all comments in opposition have been made, to 

make summary remarks concerning the proposed zoning request.  

 

A time limit of fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed upon the total number of people who wish to speak 

in favor of the zoning request, including the initial presentation of the zoning applicant. Thereafter, a 

time limit of fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed on the total number of persons who wish to speak in 

opposition to the zoning application. Summary remarks by the zoning applicant shall be limited to five 

160

Item X. 5.



 

Page 2 of 4                      
                   Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article IX_07182023 

 

(5) minutes. These time limits may be extended at the discretion of the presiding officer upon a showing 

of good cause by the person so requesting. 

 

Each speaker shall speak only to the merits of the proposed zoning request under consideration and shall 

address his or her remarks only to the board conducting the hearing. Each speaker shall refrain from 

personal attacks on other speakers, board members, or county staff and from discussing facts or opinions 

irrelevant to the proposed zoning request under consideration. The presiding officer may limit or refuse 

a speaker the right to continue if the speaker, after being first cautioned, continues to violate this 

paragraph. The presiding officer shall have the right to ask an attendee or speaker to leave the building 

for unruly behavior.  

 

Thereafter, the presiding officer shall announce that no further comments from the public or zoning 

applicant concerning the requested zoning request shall be received and the presiding officer shall close 

that particular public hearing. Next, the board shall deliberate on the proposed zoning request and then 

take any action that the board is authorized to take.  

 

A secretary shall record the proceedings of the public hearing. Verbatim Transcripts of the public hearing 

can be provided if requested and paid for in advance by the requesting party.  

 

The record of the public hearing and all evidence submitted at the public hearing shall be recorded as 

such and become a permanent part of the particular zoning amendment's file. 

 

Delete the following text: 

 

The chairman of the planning board or county commission chairman shall preside at the public hearing 

and shall identify speakers, maintain order, and conduct the public hearing.  

 

The process to be followed in conducting these hearings shall be as follows:  

 

The presiding officer shall open the hearing by stating the specific zoning amendment being considered 

at the public hearing. 

 

Where there are a large number of individuals wishing to testify at a hearing, the presiding officer may 

invoke time limits on individual speakers. In such cases, these time limits shall apply to all speakers. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in no event shall the aggregate time afforded to those in favor 

or those opposed to a zoning amendment be less than ten minutes.  

 

The presiding officer shall recognize the individual parties wishing to testify or present evidence and 

allow them to present this information.  

 

Once all parties have concluded their testimony, the presiding officer shall adjourn the public hearing. 

 

 

161

Item X. 5.



 

Page 3 of 4                      
                   Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article IX_07182023 

 

 

New section is inserted, as follows: 

 

9.6 Standards and Criteria for zoning decisions.  

As appropriate, the following factors may be considered for rezoning, text amendments, and conditional 

use applications:  

(i) Land development plans, including projected densities;  

(ii) Existing uses and zoning of nearby property:  

(a) Use and classifications of other property;  

(b) Effect upon residents of adjoining property 

(iii)       Land values:  

(a) Impact of change on values of adjacent and nearby properties;  

(b) Opinions as to most advantageous use.  

(iv)       Roads and traffic:  

(a) Character of adjacent and boundary roads;  

(b) Intersections;  

(c) Planned development by public agencies;  

(d) Planned private developments;  

(e) Effect of increased traffic on safety.  

       (v)      Rivers, streams and drainage:  

      (a) Flood plains;  

      (b) Soil erosion and sedimentation;  

      (c) Protected areas;  

      (d) Pollution of surface and sub-surface water.  

       (vi)     Utilities:  

                  (a) Sewage disposal;  

                  (b) Water supply;  

      (c) Whether the proposed method of sewage treatment is consistent with the county sewer 

master plan;  

(d) Whether the proposed rezoning and proposed water usage is consistent with the county      

water master plan; Page 3 of 3  

(e) Whether the proposed rezoning is consistent with any and all regional agreements, e.g.,        

regional water agreements and regional sewer agreements.  

(vii)   Other special considerations:  

      (a) Buffer zones;  

      (b) Noise;  

      (c) Odor;  

      (d) Fire protection;  

      (e) Terrain or topography;  

      (f) Schools;  

      (g) Animals;  

      (h) Visual intrusions on neighbors;  

      (i) Aesthetics;  

      (j) Site plans and plats;  

      (k) Lighting;  

      (l) Hours of operation 

 

 

 

162

Item X. 5.



 

Page 4 of 4                      
                   Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article IX_07182023 

 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 This         day of                            20__. 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

         
 

BY: ______________________________   

CHAIRMAN 
 

 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIRST READING: _________________ 

 

 

SECOND READING: _______________ 

163

Item X. 5.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 1 of 3 

9.4 Procedure for conducting a public hearing. 

All public hearings on zoning amendments matters that require a public hearing included but not limited to 
rezonings, text amendments, conditional uses, sketch plans, and variances shall be chaired by either the chairman 
of the planning board or the county commission chairman or their designees (hereinafter referred to as the 
“presiding officer”).  

The public hearing shall be called to order by the presiding officer. 

The county zoning officer shall be recognized by the presiding officer first and shall be permitted to give a 
summary of the zoning request. 

The zoning applicant or the applicant’s agent, shall be recognized by the presiding officer second and shall be 
permitted to present and explain the zoning request.  Thereafter, all individuals who so desire and if time allows, 
shall be permitted to speak in favor of the zoning request.  After the individuals have had an opportunity to speak, 
those individuals present at the public hearing who wish to speak in opposition to the zoning request shall have an 
opportunity to speak.  Those speaking for or against the zoning request shall be subject to the time constraints 
stated below. 

When any person wishes to speak at a public hearing, that person shall raise his or her hand and after being 
recognized by the presiding officer, shall stand and state his or her name, and make any comment appropriate to 
the proposed zoning request. 

The zoning applicant shall have an opportunity, after all comments in opposition have been made, to make 
summary remarks concerning the proposed zoning request. 

A time limit of fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed upon the total number of people who wish to speak in 
favor of the zoning request, including the initial presentation of the zoning applicant.  Thereafter, a time limit of 
fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed on the total number of persons who wish to speak in opposition to the 
zoning application.  Summary remarks by the zoning applicant shall be limited to five (5) minutes.  These time 
limits may be extended at the discretion of the presiding officer upon a showing of good cause by the person so 
requesting. 

Each speaker shall speak only to the merits of the proposed zoning request under consideration and shall 
address his or her remarks only to the board conducting the hearing.  Each speaker shall refrain from personal 
attacks on other speakers, board members, or county staff and from discussing facts or opinions irrelevant to the 
proposed zoning request under consideration.  The presiding officer may limit or refuse a speaker the right to 
continue if the speaker, after being first cautioned, continues to violate this paragraph.  The presiding officer shall 
have the right to ask an attendee or speaker to leave the building for unruly behavior. 

Thereafter, the presiding officer shall announce that no further comments from the public or zoning 
applicant concerning the requested zoning request shall be received and the presiding officer shall close that 
particular public hearing.  Next, the board shall deliberate on the proposed zoning request and then take any 
action that the board is authorized to take.  

A secretary shall record the proceedings of the public hearing. Verbatim Transcripts of the public hearing can 
be provided if requested and paid for in advance by the requesting party.  

The record of the public hearing and all evidence submitted at the public hearing shall be recorded as such 
and become a permanent part of the particular zoning amendment's file.  

The chairman of the planning board or county commission chairman shall preside at the public hearing and 
shall identify speakers, maintain order, and conduct the public hearing.  

The process to be followed in conducting these hearings shall be as follows:  

164

Item X. 5.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 2 of 3 

The presiding officer shall open the hearing by stating the specific zoning amendment being considered at 
the public hearing.  

Where there are a large number of individuals wishing to testify at a hearing, the presiding officer may 
invoke time limits on individual speakers. In such cases, these time limits shall apply to all speakers. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in no event shall the aggregate time afforded to those in favor or 
those opposed to a zoning amendment be less than ten minutes.  

The presiding officer shall recognize the individual parties wishing to testify or present evidence and allow 
them to present this information.  

Once all parties have concluded their testimony, the presiding officer shall adjourn the public hearing.  

9.5 Standards and Criteria for zoning decisions. 

As appropriate, the following factors may be considered for rezoning, text amendments, and 
conditional use applications:  

(i)  Land development plans, including projected densities;  

(ii)  Existing uses and zoning of nearby property:  

(a)  Use and classifications of other property;  

(b)  Effect upon residents of adjoining property.  

(iii)  Land values:  

(a)  Impact of change on values of adjacent and nearby properties;  

(b)  Opinions as to most advantageous use.  

(iv)  Roads and traffic:  

(a)  Character of adjacent and boundary roads;  

(b)  Intersections;  

(c)  Planned development by public agencies;  

(d)  Planned private developments;  

(e)  Effect of increased traffic on safety.  

(v)  Rivers, streams and drainage:  

(a)  Flood plains;  

(b)  Soil erosion and sedimentation;  

(c)  Protected areas;  

(d)  Pollution of surface and sub-surface water.  

(vi)  Utilities:  

(a)  Sewage disposal;  

(b)  Water supply;  

(c)  Whether the proposed method of sewage treatment is consistent with the 
county sewer master plan;  

(d)  Whether the proposed rezoning and proposed water usage is consistent with 
the county water master plan;  

165

Item X. 5.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 3 of 3 

(e)  Whether the proposed rezoning is consistent with any and all regional 
agreements, e.g., regional water agreements and regional sewer 
agreements.  

(vii)  Other special considerations:  

(a)  Buffer zones;  

(b)  Noise;  

(c)  Odor;  

(d)  Fire protection;  

(e)  Terrain or topography;  

(f)  Schools;  

(g)  Animals;  

(h)  Visual intrusions on neighbors;  

(i)  Aesthetics;  

(j)  Site plans and plats;  

(k)  Lighting;  

(l)  Hours of operation.  

 

 

Change existing 9.5 to 9.6. 

 

166

Item X. 5.



 

                   Page 1 of 1                      
                                          Effingham County Code of Ordinance amendment, Article XI_07182023 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

 AMENDMENT TO PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE XI,   

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II, APPENDIX C, ARTICLE XI, OF THE 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES 

IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 

 

New sections are inserted, as follows: 

 

ARTICLE XI – ZONING APPEALS  
 

11.1 – Appeal of Zoning Decisions. Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved by a 

final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(1) and within the time 

frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b).  

 

11.2 – Appeal of Quasi-Judicial Decisions. Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved 

by a final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(2) and within the 

time frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b). The County Clerk is authorized to accept 

service of process on behalf of the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County. 

 

 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

        This         day of                            20__. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

        FIRST READING: _________________ 
 

BY: ______________________________  SECOND READING: _______________ 

CHAIRMAN 
 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

 

 

 

 

167

Item X. 5.



ARTICLE XI – ZONING APPEALS 

11.1 – Appeal of Zoning Decisions.  Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved by a 

final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(1) and within the time 

frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b). 

11.2 – Appeal of Quasi-Judicial Decisions. Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved 

by a final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(2) and within the time 

frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b).  The County Clerk is authorized to accept service of 

process on behalf of the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County.    

168

Item X. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Effingham County Parks Master Plan 

Author: Angela Stanley, Capital Project Manager 

Department: Parks & Landscaping 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Effingham County Parks Master Plan by POND  

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Parks and Recreation 

Master Plan 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Pond & Company was awarded Effingham County Parks Master Plan.  

 10-year update to the County’s Parks and Recreation system comprehensive 

plan. 

 Added scope to develop concepts for the Atlas site and phase 1 construction 

documents.  

 Staff has reviewed the master plan and recommends approval.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve 

2. Take no action.  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Effingham County Parks Master Plan, County Manager, 

Purchasing 

Funding Source: 

Attachments: Effingham County Parks Master Plan 

 

 

 

 

169

Item XI. 1.



Effingham County 
Parks & Recreation Master Plan 2022

July 6, 2023 170

Item XI. 1.



171

Item XI. 1.



3

Table of contents: 
Purpose of the plan update  Pg. # 04

Pg. # 12

Pg. # 16

Pg. # 24

Pg. # 34

Pg. # 37

Pg. # 72

Pg. # 77

Pg. # 112

Population growth in Effingham County 

Needs Assessment 
Gap Analysis  
Existing Parks and Facilities 
Existing Site and Park Information  

Public Input

Park Improvements and Recommendations 

Staffing and Budget

Appendices Pg. # 116

Pg. # 06Other Relevant Plans Summary

In order to optimally view this document please utilize a PDF viewer such as 
Adobe Acrobat or BlueBeam Revu and select “two-page view” under View/
Page Display when in Acrobat or “side by side” under the View dropdown 
when in BlueBeam Revu. Besure to check ‘Show cover page in two page view’ 
in Acrobat or ‘Show cover page in side-by-side’ in Revu.  Viewing in a web 
browser such a Microsoft Edge, Google Chrome, Firefox, or other may not 
provide a proper side by side page view by default or at all. If using a web 
browser to view, please refer to the Help section or look for guidance via a 
web search, for how to create a side by side page view.

172

Item XI. 1.



4

Purpose of the Plan Update

173

Item XI. 1.



5

Purpose of the Plan Update: 
In January of 2015, Effingham County adopted a 15-year Comprehensive Recreation and Parks Plan to 
“ensure that the County’s facilities continue to meet the residents needs over the next 15 years.”. 
In the intervening, nearly 8 years since that plan was adopted, the county has achieved a number 
of the recommendations, the most significant being the development of a “New Centralized Park”, 
that being the first phase of the Clarence E Morgan Recreational Complex and Gym. Additional 
improvements at the 119 Recreation Complex and Sand Hill were also achieved. 

In the time since adoption of the 2015 plan, the County has seen rapid population growth, on par 
with what was forecasted in the plan. This growth has been concentrated in the southern portions 
of the county, adding pressure for more facilities to be implemented. The world also experienced 
the Covid19 pandemic that sent waves of change through organized recreation programs and how 
people view and use parks. The recreation programs participation levels have rebounded to near or 
better than pre-pandemic numbers, and demand remains high for quality parks, recreation facilities, 
and programs, to maintain Effingham County as an attractive place to live and work. Parks remain 
important to the overall health and wellbeing of the residents of Effingham County, and they are an 
important factor in the attractiveness of the County to potential new residents. 

This purpose of this 2022 plan update is to provide new recommendations to continue the 
momentum of parks and recreation offerings in the County. The planning team looked at each existing 
park for ongoing maintenance and capital improvement needs, engaged the citizens of Effingham 
County to understand the needs and wants of the residents as it relates to parks, recreation facilities, 
and programs, and benchmarked the county against NRPA (National Recreation and Park Association) 
data for jurisdictions of similar size. Combined, this data informs the recommendations presented in 
this master plan update. 

Parks are important to people. NRPA released their 2022 Engagement with Parks Report which 
provides useful insight on the perception of parks within the American public. Key findings of the 
report include:
• 275 million people in the United States visited a local park or recreation facility at least once during 

the past year, that’s better than 80% of the US population. 
• Nearly three in four U.S. residents have at least one local park, playground, open space, or 

recreation center within walking distance of their homes; nearly 20% of the US population live in 
rural areas.

• 84 percent U.S. adults seek high-quality parks and recreation when choosing a place to live
• Nine in 10 people agree that parks and recreation is an important service provided by their local 

government.
• Nearly three in four people agree that equity should in an extremely or very important goal for their 

local park and recreation agency.

The report goes into depth and the data can be drilled down to a number of demographic qualifiers. 
There is a lot of consistency in the data across the different regions of the United States and across 
the various demographics. Readers of this Effingham County Parks and Recreation Master Plan update 
should also consider reading the NRPA 2022 Engagement with Parks Report for additional detail.  
The report can be found online:
https://www.nrpa.org/publications-research/research-papers/engagement/ 

The intent of this plan is to be transparent and concise, so that the process leading to the 
recommendations is clear and the recommendations are logical and easily identified for 
implementation in the next 10 years. 174

Item XI. 1.



6

Other Relevant Plans Summary

175

Item XI. 1.



7

Other Relevant Plans Summary: 
Planning is a constant process where other county or regional plans are developed and may have 
some relationship to one another. For this project the County’s 2020-2040 Joint Comprehensive 
Plan, the County’s 2021 Transportation Master Plan, the 2022–2026 Georgia Statewide 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, and the previous 2015 Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan were reviewed.  The following summarizes items related to parks and recreation in each of the 
County non-parks and recreation plans and the SCORP. Generally, the plans are in concurrence with 
one another and supportive of similar concepts and goals.

2020-2040 Effingham County Joint Comprehensive Plan:

• Identified need to invest in infrastructure that improves quality of life for residents (sidewalks, 
street lighting, parks, etc.).

• Land use goals included: Support and expand the network of pedestrian and bicycle path 
connections to residential areas, public parks, natural features, surrounding communities and 
recreation facilities.

• General Recommendations included:
 o Expand and improve greenspace and parkland by providing requirements for areas to   
  be set aside for active and passive recreation when new (private) development occurs.
 o Re-use the Atlas Sand property as a water resource and recreation area.
 o The Cities of Guyton, Springfield, and Rincon each have general recommendations and   
  goals for expanding greenspace and parkland, and accommodating the community’s   
  recreational needs, including a recommendation for collaboration between Guyton   
  and Springfield for a joint parks project. 
 o Improve planning and communication efforts with adjacent communities and    
  pursue opportunities for joint decision-making with regard to recreational services,   
  public facilities, and other cultural amenities.
 o Work with Effingham County and the City of Springfield on developing a greenway
  and interconnecting bike and pedestrian paths. (This cross-references with    
  recommendations in the 2021 Effingham County Transportation Master Plan.)

The SWOT analysis for the 2020-2040 Joint Comp Plan identified the following as relates to parks 
and recreation:

Effingham County:
• Strength: Active recreation facilities and programs
• Weakness: Direct access to nature and passive recreation
• Opportunities: Market recreational facilities (park complex)
• Atlas water reservoir

Guyton:
• Strength: Walking Trails; proximity to natural resources
• Weakness: Lack of recreation/sports
• Opportunities: Trail from Guyton to Springfield; Greenway and US Bike Route 1

176

Item XI. 1.



8

Springfield:
• Strength: Greenspace/Streetscape; Recreation Complex
• Weakness: Connectivity / pedestrian connections
• Opportunities: Ebeneezer Trail Development

Rincon: no parks and recreation specific SWOTs were noted

Active Recreation Facilities
and Programs

Access to Nature 
and Passive Recreation

Multi-use Trails

177

Item XI. 1.



9

The following is the proposed work program from the 2020-2040 Joint Comp Plan, for Recreation in 
Effingham County 2020-2024:

Brief
Description

Timeframe Responsible
Party

Estimated
Cost

Funding 
Source

Status

Construct new 
gym at CEM 
Recreation 
Complex on HWY 
21, phase I

2020-2024 County $4.2 million SPLOST COMPLETE

Construct CEM 
Recreation 
Complex on HWY 
21, phase II & III

2020-2024 County
$10 million SPLOST IN PROGRESS

Remodel gym at 
Central Learning 2020 County $65,000 SPLOST COMPLETE
Construct Sand 
Hill playground

2020 County $37,000 SPLOST ???

Construct Sand 
Hill batting cages 2020 County $25,000 SPLOST COMPLETE

Purchase soccer 
goals for Sand Hill

2020 County $7,000 SPLOST COMPLETE

Purchase pitching 
machines (6) for 
Sand Hill

2020 County $10,000 SPLOST COMPLETE

Construct McCall 
Rd batting cages

2020 County $25,000 SPLOST PARK 

COMPLETELY 

RENOVATED

Evaluate Atlas 
Mine site for 
reservoir; Planning

2020 County $500,000 SPLOST COMPLETE

Atlas Mine site 
reclamation; 
additional land 
purchase as 
needed

2020-2024 County TBD SPLOST COMPLETE

Review/revise 
ordinances 
as necessary 
to ensure 
recreation areas 
accommodate 
community needs, 
e.g. dog park

2020-2024 County TBD General Fund ???

178

Item XI. 1.



10

2021 Effingham County Transportation Master Plan: 

• Minimal Feedback from residents regarding Bicycle or Pedestrian needs and commonly 
comments or citizen rankings placed a lower priority on bicycle and pedestrian facilities.

• Plan does recommend key countywide bicycle and pedestrian facilities connecting the Cities of 
Guyton, Springfield, and Rincon, improving quality of life and providing alternative ways to move 
around the county. 

• 5 Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities projects were recommended including multi-use trails which 
provide recreational services.

2022–2026 Georgia Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP):

The 2022–2026 Georgia Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) serves as 
Georgia’s five-year comprehensive plan for outdoor recreation. The mission of the plan is to provide 
a roadmap for policymakers, practitioners, and citizens as they make important decisions about 
the future of outdoor recreation and conservation in Georgia. Priority opportunities and challenges 
were identified through the SCORP planning processes, including an assessment of the supply 
and demand of recreation resources and facilities. This plan is crafted for two primary reasons: to 
fulfill Georgia law mandating the development of a state policy on outdoor recreation in Georgia 
(Georgia Code 12-3-1); and to keep Georgia eligible to receive and disseminate federal Land and 
Water Conservation Funds to government recreation agencies for acquisition of park lands or the 
development and rehabilitation of outdoor recreation facilities.

The 2022-2026 SCORP can be found here for detailed review: https://gastateparks.org/SCORP 

The SCORP Demand Summary stated the following: 

The surveys illuminated several interesting items about Georgians’ demand for outdoor recreation. 
The vast majority of survey respondents visit outdoor recreation areas here in Georgia. While the 
individuals in the focused surveys have unique experiences, they generally enjoy being outdoors 
and indicate that they engage in outdoor recreation for similar reasons to those in the statewide 
survey. People participate in outdoor recreation for a variety of reasons, but more than half cite 
fun, relaxation, to be with family and friends, health, and experiencing nature as important to them. 
Demand for outdoor recreation has increased since 2016, and the types of activities that people are 
engaging with have changed. Hiking, camping, and biking have all become more popular.

There are challenges facing parks and outdoor recreation areas. These include challenges with 
crowding, safety, parking, accessibility, and restrooms, though this year’s survey suggests significant 
progress made towards alleviating some of these challenges. There remains broad public support for 
increased public funding for outdoor recreation. Georgians love being engaged in the outdoors, and 
local, state, and federal facilities provide invaluable spaces for their outdoor recreation needs.

 

179

Item XI. 1.



11

The plan identified four pillars of outdoor recreation:
 1. Conserve natural resources.
 2. Enhance economic vitality.
 3. Promote health, fitness, and livability of communities.
 4. Improve awareness, accessibility, and inclusion.

These pillars have an overarching correlation to the community feedback received throughout the 
Effingham County Parks and Recreation Master Plan Update planning process. 

2015 Effingham County 15-Year Comprehensive Recreation and Parks Plan

The 2015 plan was created to identify parks and recreation needs within the County’s purview and 
to make recommendations for addressing those needs. Though it was stated as a 15 year plan, and 
just short of 8 years have elapsed since the adoption of the plan, much of the plan recommendations 
have been achieved and it is advisable to update plans such as this on an approximately 5-year basis 
to ensure the goals are being met and adjustments are made to continue success for the County with 
regard to providing parks and recreations facilities and programs. 

The 2015 plan identified four guiding principles by which the parks and recreation system 
improvements should be measured, including safety, accessibility, sustainability, and appropriateness. 
These guiding principles provide long term value to the County and its citizens when fully integrated 
into capital improvements within the park system.

Specific recommendations of the plan included:

 1. A general and overarching recommendation for adding trails, bicycle paths, multi-use   
  trails, and sidewalks to improve mobility and increased recreational opportunity    
  in the county. No specific projects were identified. 
 2. It was recommended that a branding and wayfinding sign system for the park system   
  be developed and implemented. This item has not yet been completed and remains a   
  valid recommendation. 
 3. Section 5.3 recommended renovations and improvements to some of the existing park  
  facilities in the County., including the 119 Rec Complex, Sand Hill, the Central Gym, and   
  Ulmer Park. Some but not all of these recommendations were completed.    
  Ulmer Park was deferred as the City of Springfield is taking over the park and leading   
  redevelopment of the park. 
 4. Section 5.4 recommended the development of a “new centralized park” which came to   
  be the Clarence E Morgan Complex (CEM). To date the first phase of the park and the   
  gym have come to reality. Future phases are still to come. 

 

180

Item XI. 1.



12

Population growth in Effingham County

181

Item XI. 1.



13

Population growth in Effingham County: 
While the previous plan was completed in 2014 and finalized in January of 2015, the population data 
utilized at the time, estimated the County’s population in 2013 to be approximately 54,500 residents, 
and projected the 2025 population to reach over 71,300 residents. 

This current plan update has the benefit of the recent 2020 census data which resulted in the 
following estimates and forecasts:

Forecasted growth is on track with that which was predicted in the 2015 plan. At this pace, there will 
be a nearly 20% increase in the number of residents in Effingham County between 2020 and 2030. 
A 20% increase in people means that existing public facilities and services will be in greater demand, 
and additional facilities and services will be needed to continue to meet the needs of the growing 
population in the next 10 years and beyond. The census data anticipates a continued upward 
trajectory of population growth for decades to come. 

The current population distribution by age can be seen in Figure 1. Population distribution can show 
important trends such as aging population and loss of younger residents or exodus of the older 
generations and a younger base population. These trends also help to inform the recreational needs 
of a community of people. 

Effingham County 64,769

2020 Census

71,397

2025 Forecast

77,515

2030 Forecast

83,945

2035 Forecast

Employment and Housing densities within Effingham County.

182

Item XI. 1.



14

Figure 1 - Current population Distribution by Age

 In comparison the 2030 projected population distribution by age is shown in Figure 2. The notable 
difference is the county is projected to have more older resident of retirement age and beyond, 
while the distribution of younger age groups only reduces by 1 to 3% to compensate for the growing 
older resident population.

Figure 2 - 2030 Projected Population Distribution by Age

183

Item XI. 1.



15

This page intentionally left blank

184

Item XI. 1.



16

Needs Assesment

185

Item XI. 1.



17

Needs Assessment: 
As was stated in the 2015 plan, The National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) was formed in 
1965 and continues to serve as the leading advocacy organization dedicated to the advancement 
of public parks, recreation, and conservation.  In 1983 the NRPA and its Director of Research, Roger 
A. Lancaster, first published the Recreation, Park and Open Space Standards and Guidelines.  The 
publication became the standard for park and recreation planning throughout the country. While it 
served a purpose and guided planners and parks professionals for a couple of decades, it was last 
updated in the late 1990s and a new, more equitable benchmarking practice has evolved through 
NRPA.   

NRPA now collects data from jurisdictions about their staffing, facilities, programs, and budgets.  This 
information is collected via voluntary surveys and the data is entered into the NRPA’s Park Metrics 
database which is the most comprehensive source of data and insights for park and recreation 
agencies. The database was launched in 2009 and continues to improve with additional data being 
provided annually by agencies around the country. NRPA also issues an annual Agency Performance 
Review Report that updates the data and trends in the metrics. 

The database allows parks and recreation departments, agencies, and consults to benchmark 
comparable jurisdictions by size, rather than national averages that would skew results from the 
very smallest to the very biggest of city and county parks departments. The data is grouped into 5 
major categories:

•  Jurisdictions less than 20,000 residents
• 20,000 to 49,999
• 50,000 to 99,999
• 100,000 t0 250,000
• Greater than 250,000 residents

At more than 65,000 residents in 2022, Effingham County falls squarely in the 50,000 to 99,999 
population range for benchmarking purposes.  Based on population we can assess how Effingham 
County compares on several categories. These are data points for comparison, there are no 
hard and fast answers. Collectively this data is used to help guide the County on future capital 
improvements, land acquisition for additional parks, programming, staffing and budgeting. 

NRPA examines the quantity of parks within a jurisdiction in two ways – Residents per Park and 
Acres of Park Land per 1,000 Residents. In the table that follows, we can see how Effingham County 
currently compares within the jurisdiction population range. It should be noted, we also looked at 
the numbers to include facilities in the City of Rincon, as they are parks and acres of parkland that 
residents of Effingham County have access to. If we were to ignore Rincon’s parks, we would skew 
the true offerings available to all residents. It is appropriate to consider the results of Effingham 
alone and in concert with Rincon. 

186

Item XI. 1.



18

Re
sid

en
ts

 p
er

 P
ar

k

Based on a 2020 population of approximately 65,000 residents, 
Effingham County alone has a ratio of 4,063 residents per park 
(16 total parks currently). Adding the 6 Rincon Park sites the 
number eases to 2,955 residents per park. 

By 2030 if the Atlas site is the only park added, the County ratio 
will be 4,559 residents per park based on a projected population 
of more than 77,000 residents. Including the Rincon parks, the 
ratio eases to 3,370 residents per park. 

These numbers trend toward the high average. Ideally the 
county would like to trend toward the median of approximately 
2,500 residents per park. For reference the median number of 
residents per park for jurisdictions with population of 100-250k 
is 3,170. Collectively the County, including Rincon facilities, is 
hovering around the median ratio, especially when population 
growth is taken into account. 

Ac
re

s o
f  

Pa
rk

 L
an

d 
pe

r 1
,0

00
 R

es
id

en
ts

Effingham Co. currently offers 355 acres of parks, open to the 
public. When the Atlas site opens as a passive park, that number 
will increase to 669 acres. When the City of Rincon parks acreage 
is included, the number of acres further increases to 747 acres. 

Therefore based on 2020 population there are 6.60 acres 
of parkland per 1,000 residents in the County, and once the 
Atlas site opens the number will jump to 11.50 acres per 1000 
residents. 

This puts the county reasonably in median standing currently 
and as relates to 2030 population projections. For reference 
the acres of land per 1000 residents is nearly identical for 
jurisdictions with population of 100-250k at 4.6/8.9/16.3ac 
respectively. 

187

Item XI. 1.



19

In summary, the County is within the range when compared to the offerings of jurisdictions with 
similar populations. However, the County has a desire to remain an attractive destination for new 
residents, and based on population projections, it is recommended the County continue to add 
parks and parkland acreage to maintain at least the median offerings. 

NRPA provides data on the prevalence of recreation facilities and the number of residents per 
facility, again broken down by the same jurisdictional population categories as noted previously. 
While every type of recreation facility is not represented in the NRPA data, the major, and commonly 
expected facilities are present. Table 1 that follows provides detail of the facilities offered by 
Effingham County, as well as those offered in the City of Rincon, and the benchmark comparison 
is calculated to show where the county meets the median, is deficient, or shows a surplus of 
facilities based on this benchmarking data. Again, these are not the answers alone. Recreational 
programming demand is a key component of determining what Effingham County’s actual needs are 
for specific facilities. 

For example, looking solely at Effingham County youth baseball/softball programs, the total count 
of baseball/softball fields in the county is 22. However, we know that the lights at Pineora do not 
currently work and fields are not viable for evening practices and games. The same can be said for 
the Meldrim field, and the Clyo Community Park field is strictly used as a community field without 
programming. That reduces the number of available fields to 16. Also looking at the mix of field sizes 
in the County there are currently 8 functional 200-250’ fields and 8 functional 300’ fields. 

The reasonable carrying capacity of any one field is approximately 96 players. One field can be 
scheduled for 2 practices per day 4 days a week, plus 4 two-hour games on a Saturday or Sunday 
and 8 one-hour practices on the Saturday or Sunday when games are not played, and this leaves 
one day per week available for make-up games. This is a typical maximum programming of field 
time. 

With 1032 players in the spring 2022 baseball/softball season in County recreation leagues alone, 
11 fields are needed to support the approximately 86 teams across all age groups. There are an 
additional 25 travel league baseball and softball teams vying for field time, which adds 4 more fields 
to the needs to support all teams. 

Well maintained athletic 
complexes that provide a range 

of field sizes and support the full 
age ranges form youth through 

adult leagues are important 
assets for Parks and Recreation 

Departments to maintain a 
quality level of service.

188

Item XI. 1.



20

The county has 16 functional fields and current demand indicates 15 fields are needed. Due to the 
lack of rectangular rec fields for soccer, lacrosse, and football, there is competition for space as 
many baseball outfields are used for soccer in the fall season. As soccer and baseball both grow 
in popularity and both continue to have spring and fall leagues, demand for field space that is 
functional in all seasons, as well as day and night (meaning lights are imperative) will only increase as 
population increases. 

Soccer is in demand as can be seen from the participation numbers in both recreation and travel 
leagues in the county, as well as responses from the community survey. Recent recreation program 
soccer participation data shows that there were over 600 children playing rec soccer in Effingham 
County, and more than 80 teams in need of field time. There were at least 13 other travel program 
soccer teams also seeking field time in County parks. Like baseball and softball, field demand can be 
calculated for soccer in a similar manner.

The older the age group the larger the field needed for games and practice. The younger the age 
group, the fewer players per team, and the less time needed for practices and game times. These 
number work together because not all field demands are created equal. 

Soccer field dimensions are variable, so for every age group there is a range of size that is 
acceptable. Without proper facilities teams can be forced to play on sub-standard sized fields. The 
following are typical field sizes needed for soccer by age groups:

Age Yards Feet
6U 25-30 x 15-20 75-90 x 45-60
8U 30-40 x 20-25 90-120 x 60-75

10U 60-70 x 40-50 180-210 x 120-150
12U 80-100 x 40-55 240-300 x 120-165
14U 100-110 x 50-60 300-330 x 150-180

Examining the field dimensions in Table 2, we can understand that 12U and 14U teams essentially 
need the surface area of a “full size” field for practice and games. Younger age groups utilize field 
space with much greater efficiency. A typical full-size field can be divided into two 10U fields or four 
8U fields. A regulation full-size field can be divided into as many as nine 6U or younger fields, and 
demand for field time is less at each age group. 

189

Item XI. 1.



21

Based on the number and mix of teams most recently active in the County recreational soccer 
program, and maximizing field space the County’s current recreational soccer program needs could 
be met with 3 regulation full-size fields. Adding in demand from 13 additional travel programs and 
future population and therefore anticipated program growth, more fields are certainly needed 
to reduce maximum pressure on field usage and to allow for program growth.  Lighted fields are 
necessary to maximize field availability for all teams and age groups. We must also take into account 
football and lacrosse needs for these same rectangle athletic fields. Ultimate, originally known as 
Ultimate Frisbee, is also a growing sport that uses rectangle athletic fields. Effingham County needs 
additional rectangle athletic fields to be able to accommodate the many growing sports programs 
that require such spaces.

Baseball, Softball, and Soccer, are the 3 sports that demand the most field space and time in 
Effingham County. In reviewing the benchmarking data in Table 1 general deficiencies and surpluses 
of recreation facilities can be seen, as simple comparisons to other similar sized jurisdictions. When 
compared to actual recreation program participation and facility demands a truer expression of 
deficiency or surplus is realized. Looking in further detail it can also be seen that in comparison to 
other jurisdictions of similar population size, the county is considered deficient in outdoor basketball 
courts, pickleball courts, aquatic centers or pools, skateparks, nature centers, and walking trails. 
These facilities also appeared in the community survey as facilities in demand, so the benchmark 
data and the community data support one another in identifying the need to add such facilities to 
Effingham county parks.

Figure 3: Full-size soccer fields that support play of older children and adults can easily be 
subdivided into many smaller fields for young age play.

190

Item XI. 1.



22

Units CEM
119 Rec 
Complex Sandhill Pineora

Tommy 
Long

Long 
Bridge Abercorn

Tuckasee 
King

Steel 
Bridge

Meldrim 
Park

Meldrim 
Field

Baseball 200+ ea 4 1 1 2
Baseball 300+ ea 2 2 4 2 1
Baseball Stadium ea 1
Youth Baseball General ea 7 3 5 4 1
Playground ea 2 1 2 2 1 1
Walking Trail mi 0.57 0.49 0.5
Gym / Rec Center ea 1 1
Rectangle Sport Field ea 1 2
Basketball court (outdoor) ea 1 1
Off-leash dog park ea 1
Tennis Court ea 1
Pickleball Courts ea
Community Center ea
Multi-purpose synthetic rect field ea
Community Garden ea
Rect. Fields dedicated to soccer ea
Aquatics Center ea
Swimming Pool ea
Skate Park ea
Nature Center ea
Restrooms ea 6 2 4 2 2 2 2 2 2
Concession Stand ea 1 1 1 1 1 1
Pavilions ea 2 1 4 2 1 1 1
Batting Cages ea 4 1 2 2 1
Parking
Maintenance Bldg ea 1 1 1
Boat Ramp ea 1 1 1 1 1
Fishing Dock ea 1
Picninc Grove ea 1
Lake / Pond ea
Plaza ea

Memorial ea
Acres of land ac 113 19.28 69.83 61.43 10.25 2.12 0.39 18.11 2.15 1.35 4.13

Units CEM
119 Rec 
Complex Sandhill Pineora

Tommy 
Long

Long 
Bridge Abercorn

Tuckasee 
King

Steel 
Bridge

Meldrim 
Park

Meldrim 
Field

Baseball 200+ ea 4 1 1 2
Baseball 300+ ea 2 2 4 2 1
Baseball Stadium ea 1
Youth Baseball General ea 7 3 5 4 1
Playground ea 2 1 2 2 1 1
Walking Trail mi 0.57 0.49 0.5
Gym / Rec Center ea 1 1
Rectangle Sport Field ea 1 2
Basketball court (outdoor) ea 1 1
Off-leash dog park ea 1
Tennis Court ea 1
Pickleball Courts ea
Community Center ea
Multi-purpose synthetic rect field ea
Community Garden ea
Rect. Fields dedicated to soccer ea
Aquatics Center ea
Swimming Pool ea
Skate Park ea
Nature Center ea
Restrooms ea 6 2 4 2 2 2 2 2 2
Concession Stand ea 1 1 1 1 1 1
Pavilions ea 2 1 4 2 1 1 1
Batting Cages ea 4 1 2 2 1
Parking
Maintenance Bldg ea 1 1 1
Boat Ramp ea 1 1 1 1 1
Fishing Dock ea 1
Picninc Grove ea 1
Lake / Pond ea
Plaza ea

Memorial ea
Acres of land ac 113 19.28 69.83 61.43 10.25 2.12 0.39 18.11 2.15 1.35 4.13

Table 1: This matrix represents the total quantity of recreation facilities in Effingham County, 
and compares the county’s offerings to the benchmark data of similar jurisdictions in the 50,000 
to 99,999 population bracket. Surplus or deficiency are relative compared to benchmark data, 
but actual surplus and deficiency depend on actual county recreation demands as described 
previously in this document. Rincon data is also added to see how the data changes when these 
facilities are included in the calculations. 

191

Item XI. 1.



23

McCall 
Park Clyo

Baker 
Lake

Central 
Gym

Veterans 
Park

Atlas  
Site

COUNTY 
TOTAL

Rincon 
Total

EffCo 
and 

Rincon

NRPA 
Benchmark, 
1 per XXXX 
residents

How Effingham 
compares based 

on 2020 pop. 
(65k)

Effingham Co. 
Defficiency 

based on 2030 
pop (77.5k)

How 
EffCo+Rincon 

compares based 
on 2020 pop. 

(65k)

EffCo+Rincon 
Defficiency 
based on 
2030 pop 

(77.5k)
1 1 10 10 20 9892 3.4 2.2 13.4 12.2

11 2 13 21162 7.9 7.3 9.9 9.3
1 0 1 62944 0.0 -0.2 0.0 -0.2

1 1 22 12 34 9892 15.4 14.2 27.4 26.2
1 1 11 3 14 3807 -6.1 -9.4 -3.1 -6.4

0.3 0.97 2.83 0 2.83 14 -11.2 -11.2 -4640.0 -5532.9
1 3 0 3 40817 1.4 1.1 1.4 1.1

1 4 2 6 12505 -1.2 -2.2 0.8 -0.2
1 1 4 2 6 8477 -3.7 -5.1 -1.7 -3.1
1 2 0 2 56084 0.8 0.6 0.8 0.6

6 7 5 12 6413 -3.1 -5.1 1.9 -0.1
0 0 0 12000 -5.4 -6.5 -5.4 -6.5

1 1 1 2 44933 -0.4 -0.7 0.6 0.3
0 0 0 34104 -1.9 -2.3 -1.9 -2.3
0 0 0 49351 -1.3 -1.6 -1.3 -1.6
0 0 0 12228 -5.3 -6.3 -5.3 -6.3
0 0 0 60495 -1.1 -1.3 -1.1 -1.3
0 0 0 40264 -1.6 -1.9 -1.6 -1.9
0 0 0 65000 -1.0 -1.2 -1.0 -1.2
0 0 0 72210 -0.9 -1.1 -0.9 -1.1

2 2 2 30 2 32
6 1 7

1 1 2 1 17 2 19
10 8 18
0 0 0
3 0 3

1 6 0 6
1 0 1
1 0 1

1 1 2 0 2
1 1 0 1 Median

1 1 1 2
AC / 1000 

res AC / 1000 res AC / 1000 res AC / 1000 res AC / 1000 res
5.6 8 30.8 0 8.59 314.3 669.33 77.85 747.18 9.2 10.30 8.64 11.50 9.64

Excluding 
Atlas: 5.46 4.58 6.66 5.59

NRPA 
Acreage

Low 4.7
Median 9.2

High 15.9

Values in this column represent the Values in this column represent the 
average population per one facility, based average population per one facility, based 

on NRPA benchmark data.on NRPA benchmark data.

Data for deficiency or surplus is not 
calculated because NRPA does not 

currently quantify data for these particular 
facilities in parks. The information is shown 

for informational purposes related to 
Effingham County Parks.

Once the Atlas Site opens to the public, 
the park acreage per 1000 residents 
in the county will be at or above 
the comparable median value for 
jurisdictions of similar size. The County 
should continue to add park acreage, 
especially passive parkland to stay ahead 
of the median value / provide more 
benefit to County residents.

192

Item XI. 1.



24

Gap Analysis

193

Item XI. 1.



25

Gap Analysis: 
The location of parks in the county in relationship to where people live, and work is an important 
consideration. As a county grows denser, without forethought and action, viable park land gets 
developed into homes and businesses, if it is not bought and preserved for future development, 
or otherwise required to be provided by developers as a condition of their land development 
approvals. Rural counties are different than urban cities when it comes to considering access to 
parks. A common refrain is  “everyone should be within a 10-minute walk of a park, greenspace, 
rec center, or recreational trail”. This makes a lot of sense in denser cities but is less viable on a 
countywide scale. As a Point of reference, the pie chart below shows the distance to recreation areas 
for respondents to the 2022-2026 Georgia SCORP Recreation Survey. While 50% of respondents 
statewide indicated they are living between walking distance and a 10 minute drive, the other 50%  
of respondents are further, to much further, due to distance or traffic congestion.

Source: 2022-2026 Georgia Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP)

When considering the accessibility of parks and gaps in service on a countywide scale, we look for 
even distribution of parks and the facilities offered. Parks should be reasonably accessible by car, 
bike, or foot, within the population centers in the county. While it may never be a perfect distribution 
the county should seek to build parks spread throughout the county and predict where future 
growth will demand parkland and facilities.

194

Item XI. 1.



26

Parks and recreation programming are local. While there are similarities across different cities and 
counties of comparable size and location, the variety in parks and recreation programs is extensive 
from city to city, or county to county, and certainly from region to region. 

There are numerous metrics by which parks can be measured in terms of providing a level of 
service to the communities they serve. At the most basic, there is a desire to ensure everyone 
has reasonable access to a park from their home. Since 2017 the Trust for Public Land (TPL) has 
promoted the 10-Minute Walk Program, who’s mission is “Everyone in U.S. cities should have access 
to a quality park within a 10-minute walk of their home.” With actions implemented in concert with 
land development, this goal is reasonably achievable, because more than 80% of the US population 
lives in urban areas, however we know it’s not fully achievable for the 20% of the population that live 
in rural areas.

In years past, park classifications have often referenced service radii that indicate the typical draw of 
residents to a particular type of park. For example, ‘Neighborhood Parks’ have often been prescribed 
a ½ to 1 mile service radius, and ‘Community Parks’ a 1-to-3-mile service radius. As parks grow in size 
and complexity the radius grows or becomes described in terms of drive time rather than physical 
distance. 

In Effingham County the park inventory ranges from specialty sites such as the boat landings to 
large recreation complexes (CEM, Sand Hill) to a few smaller Community Parks (Meldrim, McCall, 
Baker Lake). Neighborhood parks are lacking or exist as community greenspaces within private 
developments and are not inventoried as a county resource. Most of the County parks are by 
their very nature not within walking distance of many county residents and are by default driving 
destinations. 

For Effingham County we can consider community access to the various parks based on the 
distances people will drive to use a particular park’s amenities. Most people will reasonably drive 5 
to 15 minutes to any park that meets some recreational need, be it open space for kids to play, a 
playground, a place to walk or recreation programming. The 5-to-15-minute drive easily translates 
into less than a mile to possibly as far as 10 miles that people are willing to drive to enjoy a park. 

When recreational programs are added to the mix, parents become more willing to drive 15 to 30 
minutes or more to get to the complexes that provide the proper facilities for competitive organized 
sports. This translated into people regularly driving 5 to 25 or more miles to a park with the facilities 
and programs they need. 

People will drive even greater distances to use boat ramps, but these parks in Effingham County 
offer little more than water access, so to represent their coverage of the community in terms of a 
service area radius provides a skewed look at the actual service are of a particular park. 

195

Item XI. 1.



27

For the purposes of delineating service are of the County’s parks the following classifications and 
service radii are used, to give a general view of access to parks and recreation programs in the 
county:

Park Classification Service Radius Drive Time
Clarence E Morgan Complex Regional Park 5-25 miles 15-30 min

Sand Hill Complex Regional Park 5-25 miles
Pineora Community Park 0-10 miles 5-15 min

119 Complex Community Park 0-10 miles
Baker Lake Community Park 0-10 miles

Meldrim Community Park Community Park 0-10 miles
Meldrim Ball Field Community Park 0-10 miles

McCall Park Community Park 0-10 miles
Veterans Park Community Park 0-10 miles

Clyo Community Park Community Park 0-10 miles
Tuckasee King Landing Community Park 0-10 miles
Tommy Long Landing Special Facility Varies Varies
Long Bridge Landing Special Facility Varies

Abercorn Landing Special Facility Varies
Steel Bridge Landing Special Facility Varies

The above list represents just the County provided parks. The City of Rincon and Springfield have 
additional parks of their own that provide access to county residents.

Park Classification Service Radius Drive Time
Macomber Park Complex Regional Park 5-25 miles

Freedom Park Community Park 0-10 miles
Giles Community Park Community Park 0-10 miles

Patriots Park Community Park 0-10 miles
Ulmer Park Neighborhood Park 0-1 mile <5 min or walk

Veterans Park Neighborhood Park 0-1 mile
Highland-Guyton Park Neighborhood Park 0-1 mile

Guyton Old School Park Neighborhood Park 0-1 mile
Vernon Hinely Center Special Facility Varies

196

Item XI. 1.



28

Figure 4: Service Area map for non-county owned Neighborhood and Community Parks and 
Specialty facilities.

197

Item XI. 1.



29

Figure 5: Service Area map for non-county owned Regional Parks and Specialty facilities.

198

Item XI. 1.



30

Figure 6: Service Area map for Effingham County owned Neighborhood and Community Parks 
and Specialty facilities.

199

Item XI. 1.



31

Figure 7: Service Area map for Effingham County owned Regional Parks and Specialty 
facilities.

200

Item XI. 1.



32

Figure 8: Combined Service Area map for Effingham County and non-county owned parks and 
recreation facilities.

201

Item XI. 1.



33

Figure 9: This map correlates the proximity of parks and recreation facilities to population density within 
the county. It confirms that parks are located in areas of higher population concentration, however the 
county should seek opportunities to add parkland in the growing southern region of the county to create 
more equal distribution of facililties. Private greenspaces in communities are not included.  

202

Item XI. 1.



34

This page intentionally left blank

203

Item XI. 1.



35

Existing Parks and Facilities

204

Item XI. 1.



36

Exisiting Parks and Facilities
The 16 parks identified are the shown on the map to the right, and listed below.

•Abercorn Landing
•Baker Lake Park
•Clarence E. Morgan Complex
•Clyo Community Center
•Effingham County Rec Center
•Long Bridge Landing
•McCall Park
•Meldrim Ball Park
•Pineora Park
•Lawton Park
•Sand Hill Complex
•Steel Bridge  Landing
•Tommy Long Landing
•Tuckasee King Landing
•Veterans park
•Central Gym

Land Holdings
•Atlas Sand Mine Site- future park

205

Item XI. 1.



37
206

Item XI. 1.



38

This page intentionally left blank

207

Item XI. 1.



39

Existing Site and Parks Information

208

Item XI. 1.



40

Abercorn Landing Address

Abercorn Landing Rd, GA 31326

1

2

3

6

5
4

Boat ramp

Property boundary

209

Item XI. 1.



41

Site information

Existing conditions photos

Abercorn Landing is located on the west side of the county. This site is primarily used for its 
river access and boat ramp launch and reload area. 
• US Fish & Wildlife Service / Savannah National Wildlife Refuge willing to partner on dock 
• Brackish water/ tidal water levels 
• Recently repaved road & parking circle (no parking lot) 
• Information kiosk/ signs and waste receptacles present on site 

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

210

Item XI. 1.



42

Baker Lake Park Address

224 Courthouse Road, Springfield , GA 31329

Property boundary

Tennis courts

Pavilion

1

2

3

6

5
4

211

Item XI. 1.



43

Site information
Baker Lake Park is located in the center of the county. This is a popular park known for its 
sizable lake, tennis courts, playground and walking trail. This park has opportunities for 
enhancements.
• Unpaved parking area with no lights
• Popular walking trail
• Existing tennis courts with potential to convert some to pickle-ball or setup for tennis and 
pickle-ball
• Mens restroom has been updated
• Women’s restroom needs updating or replace restroom entirely 

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

212

Item XI. 1.



44

Property boundary

Gymnasium

Clarence E Morgan 
Complex

Address

1750 GA-21 S, Springfield, GA 31329

1
236

5
4

213

Item XI. 1.



45

Site information
Clarence E Morgan complex is located in the middle of the county. This is the newest park in the 
County. Thus far, only the first phase of the overall master plan has been implemented. Per the 
Clarence E Morgan facility master plan, future phases consist of parking lot extension, secondary 
turf baseball field, additional baseball fields, 2 multi-use turf rec fields, and a RV campground site. 
• 5 baseball fields, gymnasium/ rec center
• 1 turf baseball field ( the Josh Reddick Field) Designed for ADA accessibility, and competition level
• Host tournaments and games for baseball, basketball and volleyball
• Concessions and restrooms are in good condition
• Batting cages and playground on site

• 6’ wide stone dust walking trail
• Dog park
• Splash pad
• Skate park
• Community center with large meeting hall and kitchen, and 4 smaller meeting rooms
• Formalize parking areas with edging and gravel pavement
• Upgrade one rectangular field to a multi-use synthetic turf field
• Upgrade one or more baseball fields to synthetic turf

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 

214

Item XI. 1.



46

Property boundary

Clyo building

Basketball courts

Clyo Community Center Address

545 Fair St, Clyo, GA 31303

1
2

3

6

5
4

215

Item XI. 1.



47

Site information
Clyo Community Center is located in the northern part of the county. This park provides a baseball 
field, 
basketball court, playground, and a community building available to be rented out. Amenities on 
site are in need of upgrades. 
• Rented on average 1x per month ($300 per day)
• Building mostly used for county voting 
• Not used by rec or travel ball 
• Church groups use the site the most 
• Lights for field don’t work
• Basketball courts need upgrading/ repairs 
• Bathrooms need upgrades/ repairs
• There are problems with the septic

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

216

Item XI. 1.



48

Property boundary

Multi-use field

Gymnasium

Parks-Rec 
office

Field parking

Pavilion/ 
concession

Effingham County Rec 
Complex

Address

808 Hwy. 119 S. Springfield, GA 31329

1

2
3

6

5

4

217

Item XI. 1.



49

Site information

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 

Effingham County Rec Center is located in the center of the county. This park is current location of the 
Parks and Rec dept. office. This site is mainly utilized as practice fields fro baseball as well as soccer fields 
during the fall. This park has opportunities for enhancements/ renovations. 
• New playground structures needed
• Parking and lights are the main issue for site (parking is unorganized and most lights need replacement) 
• Football press box needs renovations/ replaced
• Baseball bleacher roofs have been removed but not replaced
• Football scoreboard is the only one that works
• Goal post have not been replaced in decades 
• Restrooms have been recently renovated
• Remove baseball scoreboards (do not work) 
• Only field in the county with LED lights (new Musco lights) 
• Site has concession/ pavilion/ coaches’ office
• Gym/ indoor basketball court needs AC upgrades (gym used to be used as a roller skate arena) 

• Renovate restrooms/ concession building
• Renovate existing gym/ expand and include additional court 

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

218

Item XI. 1.



50

Property boundary

Boat ramp

Restroom

Long Bridge Landing Address

Long Bridge Rd Springfield, GA 31329

1
2

3

6

5
4

219

Item XI. 1.



51

Site information
Long Bridge Landing is located in the middle of the county. This site is utilized for its boat ramp.
• Outfitters drop off canoe and kayakers 
• Vault restrooms
• Boat ramp
• Undefined parking 

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

220

Item XI. 1.



52

Property boundary

McCall Park Address

5450 McCall Rd Rincon, GA 31326

Rec Field

Renovated baseball field

Parking
Dog Park

Playground

Basketball 
court

1

2

3

6

5

4

221

Item XI. 1.



53

Site information
McCall Park is located on the lower east side of the county. This park is newly upgraded. 
Renovations include new parking lot, dog park, multi-use field, basketball court, restroom, and 
renovated baseball field. 
• Used as practice baseball field 
• Multi use rec field 
• Two wells on site, no city sewer or water
 • Irrigation
 • Drinking (chlorinated) 
• Dog park
• Picnic pavilion

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

222

Item XI. 1.



54

Property boundary

Meldrim Ball Park Address

2nd St Guyton, GA 31312

1
2

3

6

5

4

223

Item XI. 1.



55

Site information
Meldrim Ball Park is located on the south end of the county. This parks is primarily used as a prac-
tice   baseball field. This park has opportunities for enhancements/ renovations. 
• Combat baseball team uses the baseball field 
• County maintains site
• Electric and water are turned off 
• Dilapidated concession/ storage building
• Small covered viewing/ seating area behind home plate
• Small unpaved, undefined parking area
• Batting cage in poor condition

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

224

Item XI. 1.



56

Property boundary

Basketball 
court Tennis 

court

Pavilion

Playground

Meldrim Community Park Address

Meldrim Rd Guyton, GA 31312

1

2

3

6

5

4

225

Item XI. 1.



57

Site information
Meldrim Community Park is located on the south end of the county. This park offers a playground, 
basketball and tennis court, and picnic areas. This park has opportunities for enhancements/ renova-
tions. 
• $1 100 year lease to Meldrim Civic Club
• Parks and Rec picks up trash
• No maintenance, electric, water 
• Well might be broken 
• A mix of out dated and newer playground elements
• Basketball and tennis court on site (tennis court of substandard quality, tree overgrowing court, 
tennis net is currently a chain-link fence) 
• Pavilion and restrooms on site

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

226

Item XI. 1.



58

Property boundary

Pineora Park/ 
Lawton Park

Address

310 Honey Ridge Rd, Guyton GA, 31312

Lawton Park

Pineora Park

1 2
3

6

5
4

227

Item XI. 1.



59

Site information
Pineora Park/ Lawton Park is located in the mid-west part of the county. This park is mainly used as 
practice fields for open teams. This park has opportunities for enhancements/ renovations. 
• Lights don’t work on large fields 
• Most lights work on small field 
• Restrooms need upgrades
• Need storage and restrooms 
• Concession option no longer needed
• One field has been turned into dog park
• Undefined, unpaved parking areas
• Picnic pavilions and minimal paved walking trails
• Undeveloped parcels that can be enhanced with walking/ biking trails

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

228

Item XI. 1.



60

Property boundary

Multi-use fields

Sand Hill 
Elementary School

Sand Hill Complex Address

300 Stagecoach Ave, Guyton GA, 31312

1

2

3
6

5

4

229

Item XI. 1.



61

Site information
Sand Hill Complex is located in the lower west side of the county. This site is primarily used for rec 
baseball.
• Experience vandalism outside of fields, mostly bikes/ trucks doing turns in grass
• Baseball fields are in good shape
•Musco lights on site
• Soccer field lights need to be replaced in 4-5 years
• Soccer field needs restrooms/ concession
• Soccer is operated by another organization 
• A/c is broken in press box
• Concession stand needs upgrades

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Repair septic system
• Add netting to backstops for (5) baseball/softball fields
• Replace dirt infields and irrigation on (5) baseball/softball fields
• Install (3) new lighted and covered batting cages
• Install new 30’ x 50’ maintenance building
• Widen concrete plaza around the scoring tower to 30’
• Install new landscaping and signage
• Enlarge women’s restroom into existing storage room(s) to add 3-4 new stalls

230

Item XI. 1.



62

Property boundary

Steel Bridge Landing Address

4220-5999 GA-119, Guyton GA 31312

1

2

3

6
5

4

231

Item XI. 1.



63

Site information
Steel Bridge Landing is located on the west est of the county boarder. This site is primarily used for its 
river access and boat ramp launch and reload area, as well as recreational swimming/ fishing. 
• Parking is narrow
• Boat ramp
• Popular swimming hole/ beach
• Adjacent rental housing and park blend together making the distinction of public versus private land 
uncertain for visitors 
• Existing picnic pavilion near road. 

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

232

Item XI. 1.



64

Property boundary

Tommy Long Landing Address

158 Tommy Long Rd, Rincon, GA 31326

1
2 3

6
5

4

233

Item XI. 1.



65

Site information
Tommy Long Landing is located on the mid-east part of the county. This site is primarily used for its 
river access and boat ramp launch and reload area.
• Very small boat ramp (usually underwater) 
• In partnership with Georgia DNR
• Can easily paddle to Long Bridge Park
• Slab around elevated restrooms is cracking/ needs repairs
• Large unpaved/ ill-defined parking area

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

234

Item XI. 1.



66

Property boundary

Boat ramp

Tuckasee King Landing Address

372 Morgan Cemetery Rd, Clyo GA, 31303

1
2

3

6

5
4

235

Item XI. 1.



67

Site information
Tuckasee King Landing is located on the northeast border of the county. This site is primarily used 
for its river access and boat ramp launch and reload area.
• Bass club runs an annual event at this park 
• Large paved parking area for cars and boat trailers (site rarely reaches capacity for parking needs) 
• Boat ramp
• Restrooms, 
• Playground
• Parking
• Pavilion, shady upland picnic/ passive park area
• Wooden stairs from upper parking create shortcut to lower parking/ dock/ boat ramp

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Provide ADA-compliant playgrounds
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

236

Item XI. 1.



68

Property boundary

Effingham hospital

Parking

Veterans Park Address

W First St, Springfield GA, 31329

1

2

3

6

54

237

Item XI. 1.



69

Site information
Veterans Park is located in the center of the county. This park is a memorial park for fallen veterans. 
This park has natural wooded surroundings, open lawns, paved walkways, pond/ water fountain memorial           
features, and well maintained appearance make this a popular park for visitors. 
• Eternal flame previously damaged (needs to be replaced with new/ better design)
• Benches
• Pavilions
• Small paved parking area
• Paved walkways/ plaza
• Small pond surrounded by open woodland
• Steep slope along road
• No trail/ sidewalk from hospital to entrance of park
• A few sections of the memorial wall have damages
• Potential for trail loop around park and potential boardwalk through the woodland area for nature path

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
• Install entry signage and add directional signage as needed
• Improve maintenance of park
• Multi-use path/ trail system throughout park, and allow connectivity to other nearby parks

238

Item XI. 1.



70

Atlas Site Address

Shady Oaks Dr, GA, 31312

1

6

3

4

2

5

239

Item XI. 1.



71

Site information
The Atlas site is a former sand mine that the county has acquired and intends to develop as a park. 
The total land area of the property is over 360 acres, of which more than 130 acres is open water, and 
more than 100 acres floodplain/wetlands/swamp. The property is currently accessed from Shady Oaks 
Road. Upon entering the property, more than 50 acres of land, a mix of open fields, and forested land is 
available for recreation programming and needs. The property is an ideal location to develop a passive 
park that will help the county meet these needs in providing access to nature, hiking trails, and other 
passive recreation activities.  

Existing conditions photos

1 2 3

654

2015 Master Plan Recommendations 
There were no 2015 plan recommendations for the site. 

240

Item XI. 1.



72

Public Input

241

Item XI. 1.



73

Public Input: 
A countywide survey was conducted to gather input from the community. This survey is not 
considered a statistically valid survey, rather a sample of more than 600 individuals who voluntarily 
responded to the survey providing valuable insight into the collective mind of the community. 
Full results can be found in the appendix; the following is a summary of the key data points that 
resulted from the survey. This information coupled with the benchmarking data from NRPA metrics, 
recreational program participation data, input from the Parks and Recreation leadership, and input 
from the Steering Committee collectively leads to the parks and recreation recommendations that 
follow. 

Respondents ranged in age from 10 and under to over 70 years old. While the survey did receive 
responses from all age groups, the majority of respondents were between the ages of 31 and 50 
years old. 

The survey tells us that based on the responses the two most visited parks that the County owns are 
Clarence E Morgan and Sand Hill. Baker Lake ranked third with over 200 respondents noting it as a 
park they frequently use. The Effingham 119 Rec Complex also had 200 respondents indicate it as a 
frequently visited park. 

242

Item XI. 1.



74

52% of respondents indicated they visit one or more of the county parks on a weekly basis, another 
25% visit the parks at least monthly. 

The survey asked respondents to indicate their preference for the need of different types of facilities 
in the county, Table 3 shows the basic breakdown of responses. These results reflect the personal 
opinions of the respondents. While many of the preferences support other data gleaned in this 
process, some of the results are incongruent with actual recreation trends. 

Table 2 - Survey respondent preferences for recreational facilities

For example, a Disc Golf Course appears as a strong ‘not needed’ result. However, we know disc 
golf is a popular sport and low impact facility to implement. It is also more of a niche sport so we 
can expect the majority of respondents to either not play, or possibly know little to nothing about 
the sport, so the default answer to those individuals is ‘not needed’. Disc Golf is an example of a 
recreational facility that survey alone would suggest is unnecessary, but other industry knowledge 
supports the inclusion of Disc golf within a park system, to provide residents a wide variety of 
recreational opportunities.

Strong/needed

• Splashpads/
spraygrounds
• Swimming pools
• Restrooms
• Paved multi-use 
trails
• Playgrounds
• Soccer fields
• Unpaved walking 
trails

• Indoor facilities/ 
gyms
• Pavilions
• Passive greenspaces
• Community Centers
• Fitness & exercise     
  facilities
• Basketball courts

• Unpaved biking 
trails
• River access
• Art/cultural facilities
• Tennis courts
• Batting cages
• Football fields
• Skate park
• off-leash dog park
• Lacrosse fields

• Disc-golf
• Baseball fields
• Art installation
• Pickleball courts

Strong neutral Lean not needed Strong not needed

243

Item XI. 1.



75

Similar to asking survey respondents to rank their perceived need for a particular type of 
recreational facility, the survey also asked respondents what facilities they wished the County offered 
or provided. The top 4 most mentioned facilities were 1. Pools, 2. Trails/paths, 3. Splashpads, and 4. 
Soccer facilities. Pools and splashpads do not exist in the County’s inventory of recreational facilities. 
Trails are limited. NRPA benchmarking data indicates the County could provide these facilities to be 
on par with other similar sized jurisdictions. Soccer fields are limited in the county, and based on 
program participation, existing field counts and community preference, the data supports the need 
for more rectangle athlectic fields that can be used for soccer, football, lacrosse, ultimate, etc.

The survey asked respondents to assign a numerical rating of their overall satisfaction with County 
park facilities. The single highest number of responses assigned a 75% satisfaction rate. While more 
people in total assigned a rating lower than 75, the majority of respondents assigned a rating of 60 
or better. Simply put, the public is generally satisfied with the park system facilities, but there’s a 
strong indicator of room for improvement to meet their needs and expectations. 

244

Item XI. 1.



76

63% of respondents indicated they use park and recreation facilities outside of Effingham County 
to meet their recreational needs. Soccer was the number one reason people use facilities outside 
of the county. Again, this response is supported by the various data points collected throughout 
this planning process, including the pervalence of travel soccer teams. Of the top five mentions 
for reasons why people seek recreational options outside of Effingham County, trails / paths and 
playgrounds were the 2nd and 4th most mentioned. The 3rd and 5th most mentioned comments 
were variations on the notion that “more” and “better” facilities are offered outside of Effingham 
County, and this is what drew respondents to travel outside to meet their needs. 

When asked about program participation, the top 3 responses were 1. Soccer, 2. Baseball. 3. 
Basketball, which matches the top 3 programs in terms of participation numbers, though baseball 
is the program with the highest county recreational league participation, followed by soccer, then 
basketball. This would indicate there was a slight skew toward respondents with a preference for 
soccer. 23% of total responses indicated soccer participation while 18% indicated baseball; this is 
only a 5% difference, within a reasonable margin of correlation to actual participation rates in the 
county. 

245

Item XI. 1.



77

When asked which programs respondents wished the County offered, ‘swimming programs’ was 
by far the number one mentioned. Soccer came in at number 2, however the County already offers 
soccer programs. This could indicate a desire for expansion of the existing program. Rounding out 
the top 5 mentions for programs were programs for adults/older residents, Tennis, and Art/Cultural 
programming. 

The survey asked respondents to indicate activities they have participated in, in an Effingham County 
park in the last year. Walking and visiting a playground were the top 2 responses with more than 
50% of respondents indicating each. Socializing with friends, soccer, and baseball rounded out the 
top 5. 

Finally, the survey asked respondents to assign a numerical value to their overall satisfaction with 
county recreation programs. Again, much like the satisfaction with facilities, the single highest 
response was a 75. Still there were respondents that indicated lower levels of satisfaction, but the 
majority of respondents ranked their satisfaction as 60 or higher. While the distribution of responses 
are similar, more people indicated a higher level of satisfaction with programs than with facilities. 

246

Item XI. 1.



78

This page intentionally left blank

247

Item XI. 1.



79

Park Improvements
and Recommendations

248

Item XI. 1.



80

Recommendations/Priorities
The following pages represent the recommend conceptual improvements at the existing County-
owned park and recreation properties. These plans are based upon the data collected and community 
input. The following recommendations are notable priorities the County should make in the near 
term through implementation or planning for implementation with the next SPLOST or other funding 
opportunities, including public partnerships with the many businesses and industries moving into the 
county that wish to have modern and quality amenities to attract a quality workforce. 

Rectangle athletic fields – Effingham County currently has 3 lighted fields, two at Sand Hill and one at 
the 119 complex. A minimum of three are needed at maximum utilization just to serve the current 
recreation program needs for soccer. The County should prioritize construction of lighted rectangle 
fields – a minimum of three in the near term, at Sand Hill and/or CEM to begin to provide more 
capacity for field demands across all sports that utilize these fields. 

Effingham County lacks a comparable number of playgrounds when compared to other jurisdictions 
of similar size. The County should install playgrounds and find opportunities near concentrations of 
residential development to create small pocket parks and/or require new residential and mixed-use 
developments to provide public greenspace and playgrounds. 

The County has a significant lack of walking trails in parks - paved or soft surface, both are lacking. The 
County should prioritize installing paved walking trails in larger parks and advance the development of 
the Atlas site into a passive park to quickly provide access to passive space / nature and walking trails. 

Example Synthetic Turf Football Field

249

Item XI. 1.



81

Baseball/softball fields are currently at capacity with 
little buffer. Upgrades at Pineora Park will bring 4 
fields online and immediately provide additional 
capacity in the near term. Adding future phases of 
fields at CEM will provide growth to keep up with 
growing population and rec program as well as travel 
ball demands. 

Outdoor basketball courts are lacking when 
compared to jurisdictions of comparable populations. 
While basketball courts may be desired by some 
and equally undesirable to others, they are in fact a 
common and sought after recreational amenity that 
should be prioritized for adding to the County’s parks, 
where shown. 

The County should add a skate park or plaza within the park system. This plan recommends adding a 
skate park within the Sand Hill complex. Skate parks are common among good parks programs that 
provide a range of services and facilities to meet the needs of a diverse population. 

Example Skate Plaza

Example Outdoor Half-court Basketball Court

Pickleball is growing in popularity and can be dual purposed with tennis courts. Data shows the 
County should consider adding both tennis and pickleball courts to serve a growing and diverse 
population seeking these racket sports. 

Effingham County does not currently provide a swimming pool, aquatics center, nor a splashpad. As 
time goes by the deficiency based on population will only increase. While a pool or aquatics center is a 
significant investment, one such facility should be provided, as is common among cities and counties 
of similar population size. The county can explore partnerships with organizations such as the YMCA 
to provide a facility for recreational and competitive swimming.  A splashpad could be implemented as 
a near term recreational water-play amenity, however the county would benefit from a swim facility to 
serve the growing population. 

The County should continue to add park acreage to keep up with population growth and to stay 
ahead of the median value while striving to achieve the high acres per 1000 residents value in Table 
1 on pages 21 and 22. To reach the high value for park acres per 1000 residents by 2030, the cities 
and county collectively need to add more than 400 acres of new parkland that is accessible to county 
residents. Passive / natural parkland should be prioritized to meet community needs. 250

Item XI. 1.



82

Park improvements & recommendations: 
Abercorn Landing:

Steel Bridge Landing:

The following improvements are recommend:

• A small pavilion that will accommodate at least 2                                                 
picnic  tables
•  A playground / play area: swings, climbing          
structure(s) in a natural aesthetic. 
• Restroom
• Paved parking area to accommodate 6-10 vehicles 
and boat trailers. 
• Additional land acquisition or access to add trails 
through partnership with USFW and the Savannah 
National Wildlife Refuge
• Add dock(s)

The following improvements are recommend:

• Provide restroom facilities
• Renovate the existing pavilion; add second pavilion
• Add a fishing dock
• Design improvements to separate / buffer the 
residential properties from the county park land
• Study opportunity for additional land to expand park 
amenities

Long Bridge Landing:
The following improvements are recommend:

• Renovate the existing restroom facilities
• Landscape Maintenance to improve visibility/   
   promote safety within the site
• Improve the parking ares to include parking stalls for 
   vehicles and trailers
• Widen and improve existing boat ramp
• Study addition of acceleration lane leaving property

251

Item XI. 1.



83

Park improvements & recommendations: 

Meldrim Ball Park:

Tuckassee Landing:

The following improvements are recommend:

• Remove the concessions building
• remove the field lights
• convert field to a community baseball / softball field 
for free play
• Repair / refurbish covered spectator area behind 
home plate.
• Maintain fences to protect field.
• Gravel the parking lot, add wheel stops to organized
   parking.

The following improvements are recommend:

• Renovate the restrooms
• Replace playground with new equipment
• Add an overlook off of the upper parking lot / include 
   interpretive signs about birds / bird watching

Tommy Long Landing:
The following improvements are recommend:

• Renovate the restrooms and repair the elevated 
platform around the restroom buildings
• Ad one or more pavilions with picnic tables
• Make boat ramp / put-in improvements to better 
serve trailer and canoe/kayak launch. 
• Develop plan for more organized parking
• All improvements must consider flooding

252

Item XI. 1.



84

Cost Estimate
Abercorn Landing

Units Description Quantity Price Amount
EA Pavilion (20’ SQ metal frame and metal roof) 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
EA Playground (approx 40x30 use zone; plus 

mulch surface)
1.00 $70,000.00 $70,000.00

EA Restroom (pre fab, 2 toilet rooms) 1.00 $110,000.00
SF Paved Parking (6” GAB base, 2” asphalt) 3,500.00 $6.00 $21,000.00

Design and Engineering $19,635.00
Contingency (20%) $46,200.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/Profit/
Bonds/Insurance

$57,750.00

Subtotal $354,585.00
Long Bridge Landing

Units Description Quantity Price Amount
SF Renovate Existing Rest Rooms 200.00 $65.00 $13,000.00
EA Site/Landscape Maintenance Improvements 1.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00
SF Parking Improvements 6,500.00 $6.00 $39,000.00
SF Widen boat ramp 1,500.00 $20.00 $30,000.00

Design and Engineering $13,800.00
Contingency (20%) $21,160.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/Profit/
Bonds/Insurance

$23,000.00

Subtotal $149,960.00
Steel Bridge Landing

Units Description Quantity Price Amount
EA Restroom (pre fab, 2 toilet rooms) 1.00 $110,000.00
EA Renovate or Replace Existing Pavilion 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
EA Add new Pavilion 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
LF Buffer adjacent property 300.00 $100.00 $30,000.00

Design and Engineering $20,000.00
Contingency (20%) $44,000.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/Profit/
Bonds/Insurance

$50,000.00

Subtotal $314,000.00

253

Item XI. 1.



85

Tommy Long Landing
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
EA Renovate Restrooms / repair platform 1.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00
EA Pavilion 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
EA Improve boat ramp / kayak launch 1.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00

Design and Engineering $21,750.00
Contingency (20%) $33,350.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$36,250.00

Subtotal $236,350.00
Tuckasee King Landing

Units Description Quantity Price Amount
SF Renovate Restrooms 150.00 $65.00 $9,750.00
EA Playground (approx 40x30 use zone; 

plus mulch surface)
1.00 $70,000.00 $70,000.00

EA Add overlook + interpretive signage 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
Design and Engineering $16,462.50
Contingency (20%) $25,242.50
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$27,437.50

Subtotal $178,892.50
Meldrim Ball Field

Units Description Quantity Price Amount
LS Demo Concession bldg; field lights 1.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00
EA Refurbish spectator area 1.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00
SF Gravel the parking lot 12,000.00 $3.50 $42,000.00

Design and Engineering $8,000.00
Contingency (20%) $13,000.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$14,250.00

Subtotal $92,250.00

254

Item XI. 1.



86

0

SCALE: 

250

1" = 250'

NORTH

Baker Lake Park- proposed concept

Property boundary

Proposed walking trail

Tennis courts

Gazebo

Additional parking

Repaved parking

Proposed pickleball

Proposed outdoor fitness

Proposed fishing dock

Dog Park

Playground

255

Item XI. 1.



87

Park improvements & recommendations
In the Fall of 2022 Effingham County proceeded with a project to make improvements at Baker Lake Park, 
as follows: 

• Paving and possible extension of the parking area, including improving drainage for the parking area as 
   needed, including ditching and/or piping. 
• Resurfacing/repairing the sidewalk around Baker’s Pond, with asphalt and concrete options 
• Addition/construction of two pickleball courts next to the current tennis courts 
• Addition/Construction of a dock for fishing/kayaking 
• Upgrading the boat launch area 
• Renovation of the bathrooms and gazebo area, including fixtures, wall surfaces, electrical, and door 
   hardware for remote access. 
• Evaluation of the current well and septic. Add chlorination to the well for potable use. Investigate the 
   feasibility of connection to City of Springfield water and sewer and needed extensions. 
• Coordination with Parks and Landscapes staff for planning the reconstruction and upgrade of the 
   playground equipment and safety (rubberized) surface.

Additional future recommendations include: 

• Paving and possible extension of the parking area, including improving drainage for the parking area as 
needed, including ditching and/or piping. 
• Resurfacing/repairing the sidewalk around Baker’s Pond, with asphalt and concrete options
• Addition/Construction of two pickleball courts next to the current tennis courts
• Addition/Construction of a dock for fishing/kayaking
• Updating the boat launch area
• Renovation of the bathrooms and gazebo area, including fixtures, wall surfaces, electrical, and door 
hardware for remote access. 
• Evaluation of the current well and septic. Add chlorination to the well for portable use. Investigate the 
feasibility of connection of City of Springfield water and sewer and needed extensions.
• Planning for the reconstruction and upgrade of the playground equipment and safety (rubber) surface.
• Plant additional trees to provide shade along trails and to shade paved areas/reduce heat island impacts 
from pavements. 
• Add native landscape plantings to reduce areas of lawn, resulting in lower maintenance and to provide 
biotic benefit.

256

Item XI. 1.



88

Property boundary

Gymnasium

Clarence E Morgan Complex- 
proposed concept

© 2023 Microsoft Corporation © 2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus DS 

DROP OFF

Proposed baseball fields

Proposed walking trail

Proposed multi-use fields

Indoor/ outdoor pool 
& splash pad area

Accessible parking adjacent to
Reddick Stadium 

Proposed outdoor full 
basketball courts

Expanding 
park 

maintenance

Dog Park
RV sites/

Food truck 
pads/Event 

space

Property boundary

Playground
Expansion

Pavilion

257

Item XI. 1.



89

Park improvements & recommendations
The CEM complex is the newest and arguably most popular park in the county, and thus far only the first 
phase of development have been completed. The future phase(s) of the CEM complex provide opportunity 
for the county to add the types of facilities necessary to keep up with population growth and program 
demand for organized sports, especially those that require rectangular athletic fields for soccer, football, 
and lacrosse. 

In the Fall of 2022 the County proceeded with a project to complete a major addition to the Gym at 
CEM. The proposed addition of the building is for the use by the Recreation Department for staff offices 
(relocating from the 119 site) and Effingham Emergency Management Agency. The addition is proposed 
to have a slab foundation, masonry construction and flat roof. A multi-purpose room will serve as the 
Emergency Operations Center, complete with restrooms, showers, and sleeping quarters. 

The following improvements are recommended in future phases of development at CEM. 

• Seven multipurpose athletic fields - minimum 3 made of synthetic turf, all lighted. 
• Three 250’ baseball/softball fields
• One 330’ baseball/softball fields
• Three 150’ T-ball fields
• Concessions and restrooms to support the additional rectangular and baseball/softball fields 
• Accessible parking lot close to Reddick Stadium
• Additional covered batting cages with timer lights 
• Add light timers to existing batting cages 
• Additional pavilions and picnic areas - large pavilion by multi-purpose fields can double as farmers market 
pavilion as well as server large soccer, etc., tournaments
• Large equipment storage building / expand park maintenance facility
• Information boards / kiosks and wayfinding signage throughout the park
• RV overnight camping area for tournament attendees (6-10 spaces) that doubles as an event space and 
food truck pads
• Indoor and/or outdoor pool
• Splashpad
• Add minimum 2 full-size outdoor basketball courts
• Add fenced, off-leash dog park, separate spaces for large and small dogs
• Paved walking trails with measured distances
• Enhance edges of existing pond, add boardwalk/overlook/dock
• Add a one-way road through phase 2 expansion, provide pods of head-in, angled parking; keep cars on 
pavement by design/capture stormwater runoff for water quality/irrigation
• Picnic pavillions with grills and tables
• Plant additional trees to provide shade along trails and to shade paved areas/reduce heat island impacts 
from pavements. 
• Add native landscape plantings to reduce areas of lawn; this will result in lower maintenance needs and  
provide biotic benefit.

CEM Gym:
• Reception area inside gymnasium for hosting open gym sessions
• Add locker room doors 
• Add Sounds dampeners inside gymnasium

258

Item XI. 1.



90

Clarence E Morgan Complex
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
EA Multi-purpose rectangle athletic fields 

(turf grass)
4.00 $300,000.00 $1,200,000.00

EA Multi-purpose rectangle athletic fields 
(Synthetic turf)

3.00 $1,000,000.00 $3,000,000.00

EA 150’ Baseball Fields (skinned clay 
infield, grass outfield, irrigated)

3.00 $150,000.00 $450,000.00

EA 250’ Baseball Fields (skinned clay 
infield, grass outfield, irrigated)

3.00 $200,000.00 $600,000.00

EA 300’ Baseball Fields (skinned clay 
infield, grass outfield, irrigated)

1.00 $350,000.00 $350,000.00

EA Sports Field Lighting 13.00 $200,000.00 $2,600,000.00
SF Baseball complex plaza 95,000.00 $6.00 $570,000.00
EA Outdoor Basketball courts 2.00 $25,000.00 $50,000.00
SF Paved Parking / Park roads 300,000.00 $12.00 $3,600,000.00
SF Concession / Restroom Building 3,000.00 $300.00 $900,000.00
EA Reddick Stadium accessible Parking 26,000.00 $12.00 $312,000.00
EA Covered Batting Cages 1.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00
EA Pavilions (50’ diameter) 1.00 $90,000.00 $90,000.00
EA Pavilions (30’ diameter) 9.00 $60,000.00 $540,000.00
EA Storage building 3,000.00 $150.00 $450,000.00
LS RV / Food Truck Sites and Event Area 1.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00
SF Aquatic complex 25,000.00 $500.00 $12,500,000.00
EA Splashpad 1.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00
LF Paved walking trails 7,500.00 $60.00 $450,000.00
LS Dog Park 1.00 $80,000.00 $80,000.00
LS Pond Enhancements 1.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00
LS CEM Gym improvements 1.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00
LS Wayfinding 1.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00

Design and Engineering $2,919,200.00
Contingency (20%) $6,422,240.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$7,298,000.00

Subtotal $45,831,440.00

259

Item XI. 1.



91

This page intentionally left blank

260

Item XI. 1.



92

0

SCALE: 

100

1" = 100'

NORTH

Property boundary

Clyo building

Basketball courts

Playground

Proposed walking trail

Clyo Community Center- 
proposed concept

261

Item XI. 1.



93

Park improvements & recommendations
The Clyo Community Center and Park serves the surrounding Clyo community, but is in need of 
improvements to be on par with the quality of similar facilities throughout the county. Basic organization of 
the parking area and replacement and/or refurbishment of the existing basketball courts, playground, and 
park pavilion will greatly improve the experience of visiting the park. 

• Maintain baseball/softball field as a community field for pick-up games
• Modify fence lines of the ball field to accommodate a walking trail loop around the perimeter of the park. 
Upgrade all field fencing to Black Vinyl Coated fence.
• Repair doors to exterior restrooms.
• Update / renovate building interiors as needed
• Upgrade / renovate bathrooms both interior to community center and those accessible from the exterior
• Upgrade playground with new play structures / elements
• Renovate pavilion/ picnic areas
• Restore basketball court / upgrade hoops

Clyo Community Center
Description Quantity Price Amount

LF Modify Ball field fence lines 400.00 $15.00 $6,000.00
LF Paved walking trails 1,600.00 $45.00 $72,000.00
SF Repair restrooms 200.00 $40.00 $8,000.00
SF Building updates / renovations 1,000.00 $60.00 $60,000.00
EA Playground 1.00 $120,000.00
EA Picnic Pavilion renovation (new roof, electrical, paint, 

physical repairs, picnic tables)
1.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00

SF Renovate basketball court 5,000.00 $4.00 $20,000.00
SF Parking lot pavement 11,500.00 $6.00 $69,000.00

Design and Engineering $33,750.00
Contingency (20%) $81,750.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/Profit/Bonds/
Insurance

$93,750.00

Subtotal $584,250.00

262

Item XI. 1.



94

0

SCALE: 

200

1" = 200'

NORTH

Property boundary

Multi-use field

Gymnasium

Pavilion/ 
concession

Effingham County Rec Complex- 
proposed concept

Unpaved organized parking

Batting cages

Upgrade playground

Effingham Navigators 
Programming Space

All-inclusive 
Playground

263

Item XI. 1.



95

Park improvements & recommendations
The Effingham County 119 Rec Complex shares land with other county administration and services 
buildings including a library, Health Dept. and County Annex services. The park is in the rear half of the 
complex, and aside from a small sign at the front of the property on 119, the park is not obvious to 
the first time visitor. In addition to the recommended improvements within the park and the parking 
improvements that will serve all visitors to the county buildings, improvements should be made to 
enhance the arrival experience for park visitors.

• Renovate concession building 
• Repair / replace dugout roofs
• Upgrade pavilion and picnic area
• Upgrade batting cage, add roof and timer operated lights 
• Add wayfinding internal to park
• Upgrade remaining fields to new LED sports field lighting 
• Upgrade gymnasium lighting 
• Refresh the multi-use athletic field sod
• Renovate and upgrade multi-use field scoreboard/scorers’ booth 
• Pave and organize parking lot, remove horseshoe driveway, maintain secondary driveway entrance/exit
• Reorient main entrance of gymnasium to face main parking lot
• Renovate gymnasium bathrooms
• Relocate equipment storage room 
• Upgrade playground structures at primary playground location - add shade sails for shade and 
protective cover from foul balls
• All-inclusive ADA accessible playground
• Replace small playground with sensory garden/play space
• Relocate Parks and Recreation offices to CEM Complex / CEM gym addition; re-purpose former Parks 
offices for new county purpose.
• Rename the park

264

Item XI. 1.



96

119 Effingham Co. Rec Complex
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
SF Renovate Concession Building 1,400.00 $60.00 $84,000.00
SF Replace Dugout Roofs 2,400.00 $10.00 $24,000.00
SF Pavilion/Picnic upgrades 1,200.00 $30.00 $36,000.00
EA Batting Cage upgrades, addition 3.00 $10,000.00 $30,000.00
LS Park Wayfinding 1.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00
EA Upgrade remaining field lights to LED 3.00 $600,000.00
LS Upgrade gymnasium lighting 1.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00
SF Convert multi-use field to synthetic turf 80,000.00 $14.00 $1,120,000.00
LS Renovate Scorer’s box / new scoreboard 1.00 $65.00 $30,000.00
SF Paved parking $12.00 $1,200,000.00
SF Organized overflow parking 55,000.00 $1.00 $55,000.00
LS Gym renovations 1.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00
EA Playground upgrades 1.00 $150,000.00
EA All-inclusive Playground 1.00 $400,000.00

Design and Engineering $344,900.00
Contingency (20%) $838,780.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$862,250.00

Subtotal $5,894,930.00

265

Item XI. 1.



97

This page intentionally left blank

266

Item XI. 1.



98

0

SCALE: 

50

1" = 50'

NORTH

Property boundary

Basketball
court

Tennis 
court

Pavilion

Playground

Meldrim Community Park- proposed concept

Perimeter walking trail

267

Item XI. 1.



99

Park improvements & recommendations
Meldrim Community Park needs included addressing deferred maintenance and upgrades to existing park 
amenities to provide nearby residents and visitors facilities of equal quality to the rest of the county parks. 
With the addition of more trees to provide shade and mix the age of existing trees to ensure tree canopy 
increases over time combined with the recommend improvements Meldrim Park will provide continued 
recreation service and value to the local community. 

• Upgrade playground - replace dated equipment with new equipment and safety surfaces that meet 
current standards for fall height and fall zones. 
• Renovate restroom building and make accessible to the public on daily basis
• Renovated and upgrade pavilion and picnic areas
• Restore tennis court to modern standards - stripe for tennis and pickle ball; trim tree branched hanging 
over court to accommodate game play 
• Restore basketball court, size appropriately for full court play or develop two distinct half courts. 
• Add trees throughout park to increase and diversify species and age of tree canopy to ensure natural 
shade within  the park.

Meldrim Community Park
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
LS Playground upgrades 1.00 $140,000.00
SF Renovate restroom building 1,000.00 $65.00 $65,000.00
SF Renovate pavilion / picnic area 2,000.00 $10.00 $20,000.00
SF New Tennis court 7,200.00 $8.50 $61,200.00
SF Renovate basketball court 4,500.00 $6.00 $27,000.00
LF Loop Pathway 1,200.00 $50.00 $60,000.00
LS Landscape improvements 1.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00

Design and Engineering $47,184.00
Contingency (20%) $88,076.80
Construction Mobilization/Over-
head/Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$98,300.00

Subtotal $626,760.80

268

Item XI. 1.



100

Property boundary

Pineora Park/ Lawton Park- proposed concept

Lawton Park

Pineora Park

0

SCALE: 

300

1" = 300'

NORTH

Disc Golf course

Walking trail

Pump-tracks

Paved parking

Property boundary

Playground

Picnic Pavilions 
with Grills and 

Tables

269

Item XI. 1.



101

Park improvements & recommendations
Pineora Park is much larger than it appears based on the currently developed and accessible land. 
Immediately to the west is Lawton Park which provides shaded walking paths and picnic areas and shelter. 
To the north and east are additional undeveloped wooded county owned parcels. The northern parcel 
is nearly 20 acres and the eastern parcel is over 16 acres. This additional land is prime opportunity for 
the county to provide more walking trails and a disc golf course, while other open areas in the park can 
be utilized to provide playgrounds and pump trucks for cyclists and skateboarders. While the county 
may currently have enough baseball fields to meet needs and growth within the baseball and softball 
programs, some fields aren’t fully viable because they lack functioning lights. Improvements here at 
Pineora will make these fields viable for upwards of 400 youth baseball or softball players and reduce 
pressure on other fields within the park system. This park also includes a popular dog park.

• Upgrade lighting on the existing baseball fields - these field will then be available for use for rec leagues 
or travel ball rentals for practices and games.
• Renovate restrooms
• Renovate pavilion and picnic areas
• Add 18-hole disc golf course in the undeveloped parcels or throughout the entire park.
• Add walking trail around park that connects to Lawton park trail 
• Add storage building 
• Pave and organize parking areas, which will be imperative once fields are viable for practices and games.
• Add a new large playground that provides access and challenges for kids of all abilities. 
• Enhance the dog park with additional amenities.
• Add new restroom to serve trailhead/disc golf/playground
• Renovate the ball field dugouts
• Upgrade the ball field irrigation system
• Add beginner and intermediate/advanced skill pump tracks
• Picnic pavillions with grills and tables

Pineora Park
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
EA Upgrade lighting on 4 baseball fields to LED 4.00 $200,000.00 $800,000.00
SF Renovate restrooms 1,200.00 $65.00 $78,000.00
SF Renovate pavilion/picnic areas 1,000.00 $20.00 $20,000.00
EA Add 18 hole disc golf course 1.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00
LF Add paved walking trail around park 3,500.00 $45.00 $157,500.00
LF Add Hiking / biking Trail around park 7,000.00 $8.00 $56,000.00
SF Add storage building 2,000.00 $150.00 $300,000.00
SF Pave and organize parking areas 135,000.00 $12.00 $1,620,000.00
LS Add new large playground 1.00 $300,000.00 $300,000.00
LS Add Trailhead / Playground restroom 1.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00
LS Dog park enhancements 1.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00
EA Pump Tracks 2.00 $150,000.00 $300,000.00
EA Pavilions (30’ diameter) 9.00 $60,000.00 $540,000.00

Design and Engineering $377,650.00
Contingency (20%) $938,830.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/Profit/
Bonds/Insurance

$944,125.00

Subtotal $6,577,105.00
270

Item XI. 1.



102

Property boundary

Multi-use fields

Sand Hill 
Elementary School

Sand Hill Complex- proposed concept

0

SCALE: 

300

1" = 300'

NORTH

Proposed soccer fields
(210, x 340’)

2 synthetic turf

Proposed 
walking trail

Batting cages

Paved parking

Gymnasium

Proposed pickleball and 
tennis courts

Playground

Skate Park

Proposed fishing dock

Proposed
basketball courts

Control
tower

Drone helipad

Unpaved overflow 
parking

Airstrip

Pavilion

Maintenance
Building

271

Item XI. 1.



103

Park improvements & recommendations
The Sand Hill Complex provides ample opportunity to significantly increase the amount of available 
rectangular multi-use athletic fields for soccer, football, and lacrosse in Effingham County, and in the 
southern portion of the county where demand will remain strong due to increased development and new 
residents. The park can accommodate at least 5 full size rectangle fields of at least 210 x 340 feet which 
can further be subdivided for younger age groups providing greater flexibility for peewee football and 
youth soccer. 

Parking can be organized in the park to provide ample primary and overflow parking to accommodate the 
busiest of days in the park when all fields are operating at high demand. Sand Hill is a good location on 
existing County property, in an existing county park to add another gym or rec center similar to the gym at 
CEM, in order to provide these same services to residents in the southern portion of the county. 

• Organize parking areas into primary paved and overflow; unpaved lots to accommodate a range of 
parking demands in the renovated park
• Rearrange and add multi-use fields to provide playing surfaces for soccer, football, lacrosse, ultimate, etc. 
• Recommend making at least 2 fields synthetic turf with a goal of converting all to synthetic turf over time.
•  Add restroom facility to serve expanded rectangle athletic fields.
•  Expand and cover batting cages, include timer lights
• Two court gymnasium w/ concession, reception and staff offices 
• Paved loop walking trail to circumnavigate the park with measured distances
• Renovate concession within the baseball complex
• Information boards / kiosks and wayfinding signage throughout the park
• Baseball clubhouse / Scorers room renovations / AC repairs 
• Add pickleball, tennis, and basketball courts
• Add Pavilions 
• Upgrade playground
• Repave entry road and add roundabout to help with traffic flow / parent staging for adjacent elementary 
school pick-up and drop-off
• Reshape and enhance the edges of the pond with native landscape; add/or overlook(s)
• Upgrade and expand the irrigation system to accommodate new fields
• Create new RC airfield strip; add Drone helipad; add pavilion and “Control Tower” for RC field; Add RC 
care race course.
• Light all soccer/multi-use fields; lighting controls to be inside an enclosed building/electrical room.
• Replace ball field fences with black vinyl coated chain link
• Parks Maintenance Facility
• Plant additional trees to provide shade along trails and to shade paved areas/reduce heat island impacts 
from pavements. 
• Add native landscape plantings to reduce areas of lawn; this will result in lower maintenance needs and  
provide biotic benefit.

272

Item XI. 1.



104

Sand Hill Complex
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
SF Paved Parking 180,000.00 $12.00 $2,160,000.00
EA Multi-use rectangle athletic fields 

- grass
3.00 $300,000.00 $900,000.00

EA Synthetic turf Multi-use rectangle 
athletic fields

2.00 $1,000,000.00 $2,000,000.00

SF Restroom /Concession bldg for 
soccer fields

2,000.00 $300.00 $600,000.00

EA Lights for soccer fields 5.00 $200,000.00 $1,000,000.00
LS Expand and cover batting cages 1.00 $160,000.00 $160,000.00
SF Recreation Center 25,000.00 $425.00 $10,625,000.00
LF Paved Loop walking trail 10,560.00 $45.00 $475,200.00
SF Renovated baseball concessions / 

restrooms / clubhouse
2,500.00 $65.00 $162,500.00

LS Wayfinding 1.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00
LS RC Airstrip improvements 1.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00
SF Pickleball courts 10,000.00 $8.50 $85,000.00
SF Tennis Court 7,200.00 $8.50 $61,200.00
SF Basketball court 4,500.00 $6.00 $27,000.00
SF Skate Park 20,000.00 $55.00 $1,100,000.00
EA Pavilions (50’ diameter) 3.00 $90,000.00 $270,000.00
EA Pavilions (30’ diameter) 7.00 $40,000.00 $280,000.00
LS Upgrade playground 1.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00
LS Pond Enhancements 1.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00
LS Parks maintainance facility 1.00 $250,000.00 $250,000.00

Design and Engineering $2,021,590.00
Contingency (20%) $4,512,498.00
Construction Mobilization/Over-
head/Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$5,053,975.00

Subtotal $32,128,963.00

273

Item XI. 1.



105

This page intentionally left blank

274

Item XI. 1.



106

0

SCALE: 

100

1" = 100'

NORTH

Property boundary

Walking trail

Board walk

Buffer plantings

Buffer plantings

Effingham hospital

Parking

Veterans Park- proposed concept

275

Item XI. 1.



107

Park improvements & recommendations
Veteran’s Park is a place of respite and contemplation for visitors of the memorials within the park, but it 
also serves the same purpose for visitors and patients of the adjacent hospital, however currently ease 
of access to the park for hospital visitors and patients is lacking. A few basic improvements would make 
the park much more accessible and enhance the experience for all visitors. The County is currently in the 
process of adding a standalone restroom at the existing parking lot. 

• Install a paved loop trail around the park pond, the trail shall be universally accessible and connect 
logically to the hospital campus to provide access to hospital patients and visitors. 
• Address maintenance needs throughout the park - damaged or broken memorial walls and pavements 
should be a high priority
• Add buffer plantings at the end of the memorial wall / SE corner of the park to enclose the park and 
provide visual separation from vehicles on the road above. Additional understory plantings of native 
shrubs and understory trees should be added along the eastern boundary of the park to help enclose the 
park and add visual buffer to the vehicular activity along Hwy 21. 

Veteran’s Park
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
LF Paved loop trail 1,000.00 $45.00 $45,000.00
LF Boardwalk on Loop Trail 300.00 $200.00 $60,000.00
LS Address maintenance needs in park 1.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00
LS Add buffer plantings 1.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

Design and Engineering $15,000.00
Contingency (20%) $33,000.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$37,500.00

Subtotal $235,500.00

276

Item XI. 1.



108

Atlas Site- proposed concept 

ACQUIRE PARCEL #301-32
FOR ENTRY PARKING, OPEN SPACE
RECREATION AND TRAILHEAD ENTRY

#301-32

#301-31

ACQUIRE PARCEL #301-31
FOR MAINTENANCE EXPANSION,
TRAILHEAD ACCESS AND PARKING

PIPE OUTFALL
TO WETLANDS

NWL @ 30

WETLANDS

US HWY 80

US HWY 80
C

ELM STREET

KE
NN

ED
Y 

RO
AD

J

D

E

F H

E

I

J

K

K

LOW/WET

L

L

L

L

M

L

L

WETLANDS

WETLANDS

WETLANDS

WETLANDS

LOW/WET

LOW/WET

LOW/WET

OUTLOOK AT
ELEVATION 62

OUTLOOK AT
ELEVATION 46

OUTLOOK AT
ELEVATION 46

0

SCALE: 

250

1" = 250'

NORTH

Property boundary

277

Item XI. 1.



109

#301-14

ACQUIRE PARCEL #301-14
FOR SUBSTANTIAL CAMPGROUND
DEVELOPMENT AND OPEN
SPACE  RECREATION

G
N

ACQUIRE PARCEL #302-140
FOR ENTRY SIGN

SA
ND

 H
IL

L 
RO

AD

SA
ND

 H
IL

L 
RO

AD

SHADY OAKS ROAD

A

B

G

K

K

L

L

#302-140

GL

LOW/WET

OUTLOOK AT
ELEVATION 54

6

D

A

B
OPEN SPACE / RECREATION
299,336 S.F. (6.8 AC.)C

TWO MULTI-USE BRIDGE CROSSINGS
(15'X190'), (15'X160') FINAL SIZE TBD.

D

OUTLOOKS AT ELEVATIONS 62,46,46, & 54

E

F NATURE THEMED PLAYGROUND
150,284 S.F. (3.4 AC.)

G PARKING
173,816 S.F. (3.9 AC.)

H GROUP SHELTER/PAVILION
58,272 S.F. (1.3 AC.)

I MAINTENANCE

J

K
PICNIC /SHELTER/RESTROOML
40 PRIMITIVE CAMPING TENT SITES
173,690 S.F. (3.9 AC.)M

MAIN ROAD ACCESS
7,309 L.F. (1.3 MILES)

LEGEND

4' NATURAL SURFACE HIKING TRAIL
11,128 L.F. (2.1 MILES)

POTENTIAL PARCEL ACQUISITION

#302-140 (5,343 S.F.)
ENTRY SIGNAGE/WAYFINDING

SITE FEATURES

#301-14 (71.87 AC.)
SUBSTANTIAL CAMPGROUND DEVELOPMENT
AND OPEN SPACE RECREATION

#301-31 (5.2 AC.)
MAINTENANCE, TRAILHEAD ACCESS
AND PARKING
#301-32 (3.8 AC.)
PARKING, OPEN SPACE RECREATION
AND TRAILHEAD ENTRY

SAND HILL ROAD ENTRY
WITH GATED ENTRY AND RANGER STATION

SHADY OAKS ROAD ENTRY
WITH GATED ENTRY AND RANGER STATION

DISC GOLF COURSE (ROUTING TBD)
325,954 S.F. (7.4 AC.)

BOAT LAUNCH/TRAILER PARKING
62,554 S.F. (1.4 AC.)

10' UN-PAVED MULTI-USE  TRAIL (HIKE-BIKE-RUN)
WITH SELECTIVE CLEARING TO VIEWS OF LAKE
23,268 L.F. (4.4 MILES)

10' PAVED MULTI-USE TRAIL (HIKE-BIKE-RUN)
WITH SELECTIVE CLEARING TO VIEWS OF LAKE
9,146 L.F. (1.73 MILES)

BEACH AREA
52,341 S.F. (1.2 AC.)N

278

Item XI. 1.



110

Atlas Site
Units Description Quantity Price Amount
LF Sand Hill Road improvements for entry 400.00  $135.00 $54,000.00
LF 2-lane pave park roads 7,500.00  $300.00 $2,250,000.00
EA Gated Entry / Ranger Station 1.00  $80,000.00 $80,000.00
SF Parking Lots  $6.00 $840,000.00
SF Boat Trailer parking  $6.00 $720,000.00
EA Boat launch 2.00  $10,000.00 $20,000.00
SF Open play field  $1.50 $300,000.00
EA Add new large playground 1.00  $300,000.00
EA Add disc golf course 1.00  $25,000.00 $25,000.00
LF Paved multi-use trails 9000.00  $60.00 $540,000.00
LF Un-paved multi-use trails 25,000.00  $8.00 $200,000.00
LF 4’ Natural surface hiking trail 7,000.00  $8.00 $56,000.00
LF Boardwalk  4,000.00  $350.00 $1,400,000.00
EA Pedestrian Bridges 2.00  $300,000.00
EA Overlook towers/structures 4.00  $30,000.00 $120,000.00
LS Wayfinding and interpretive signage 1.00  $50,000.00 $50,000.00
LS Furnishings: benches, trash cans, bench 

swings, bike racks
1.00  $100,000.00

EA Picnic Shelters 9.00  $20,000.00 $180,000.00
EA Group Shelter 1.00  $200,000.00
LS Primitive Campground 1.00  $20,000.00 $20,000.00
LS Beach Area 1.00  $40,000.00 $40,000.00
EA Restroom Building 2.00  $500,000.00
EA Maintenance facility 1.00  $200,000.00

Design and Engineering $533,100.00
Contingency (20%) $1,794,820.00
Construction Mobilization/Overhead/
Profit/Bonds/Insurance

$1,332,750.00

Subtotal $12,101,670.00

279

Item XI. 1.



111

Park improvements & recommendations
At 360 acres, the Atlas site is an ideal location for Effingham County to provide a large passive park to 
fulfill the needs gap for trails, nature and passive green spaces identified in the park system offerings. The 
proposed conceptual design for the Atlas Site includes miles of walking trails, a nature center, playground 
and access to nature, water access, boat launches, open spaces and other passive park amenities. The 
park fills a need and is in the southern portion of the county where growth is residential concentrated. The 
park provides the opportunity for the county to offer overnight camping in the form of RV and tent sites, 
a possible revenue generating park service. Adjacent parcels of land should be explored for improving/
adding multiple access points to the site for both function and safety as well as potential for expanding 
the park to offer more amenities, or to preserve more land in passive park form.

•Shady Oaks Road shall be a secondary entrance or maintenance only access point to the park.
•Add gated entries with ranger stations to manage access to the property; primary entrance off of Shady 
Oaks Road.
•Organize parking areas into primary paved and overflow; create parking for boat launches and trailers.
•Create an open space lawns for unprogrammed recreational use; create open meadows to enhance 
wildlife and maintain openness of areas of the park. 
•Disc golf course 
•Nature themed playground.
•Picnic shelters 
•Restrooms
•Group shelter / pavilion
•Bridges to allow trails to easily circumnavigate the site and provide options for movement within the sit 
e- bridges should support small maintenance vehicles. 
•Outlook / overlook platforms and towers are key vantage points around the property for land and wildlife 
viewing
•Primitive camping tent sites
•Beach area – on the eastern shore of the lakes, as note din the plan, there is an area that could be 
developed as a beach-like edge to the water. Swimming policy to be determined.
•Paved and un-paved multi-use trails circumnavigate the park with selective clearing to views of the lakes.
•Boardwalks through some wetland areas to provide access to all the different habitats present on site
•Employ a trail blazing system as well as park wayfinding signage and educational signage
•Add native landscape plantings / avoid developing areas of manicured lawn; this will result in lower 
maintenance and provide biotic benefit.

280

Item XI. 1.



112

Staffing and Budget

281

Item XI. 1.



113

Staffing and Budget: 
The NRPA Park Metrics also provide insight into the staffing and budget of parks and recreation 
departments, by the same jurisdiction population breakdowns. Again, Effingham County falls within 
the 50,000 to 99,999 population bracket and all of the following data points are based on this unless 
otherwise noted. 

The following compares Effingham County’s parks staffing (Full time Equivalent (FTE)) to similarly 
sized jurisdictions:

Jurisdiction Population 
50,000 to 99,999 FTE

Effingham County FTE

Low Quartile 38.7 29.9
Median 64.1
Upper Quartile 117.3

Number of FTE Staff per 
10,000 residents

Low Quartile 5.3 4.6
Median 9.6
Upper Quartile 14.4

Effingham County Parks and Recreation are supported by full time staff in both the Parks and 
Landscape Department as well as the Recreation Department. Both departments also benefit from 
part time labor. Parks and Landscape have the equivalent of 10.9 full time employees (FTE) while 
Recreation benefits from 19 FTE. In total between the two departments, the county can count 29.9 
FTE as providing service to Parks and Recreation annually. These numbers put the County in the low 
quartile as compared to jurisdictions of similar size. It is reasonable to expect both departments 
could benefit from an increase in full and/or part time employees to meet their needs. As parks and 
recreation grow in the county through adding more parks, more facilities, and more programs, or as 
programs simply increase in size due to growing population, there will be a need to continually add 
more staff resources to support and maintain the parks and programs in the county.

282

Item XI. 1.



114

The following compares Effingham County’s parks and recreation funding to similarly sized 
jurisdictions: 

Jurisdiction Population 
50,000 to 99,999 Effingham County

Annual Operating 
Expenditures

Effingham County 2023 Budget

Low Quartile $4.33M Recreation 
& Sports 

Management:

$1.794M

Median $7.33M Parks and 
Landscapes:

$0.808M

Upper Quartile $11.82M
SPLOST 

Recreation: $1.638M

Subtotal: $4.240M

Additional 
SPLOST 

appropriations:
$5.979M

Total 2023: $10.219M

Operating Expenditures per 
Capita

Effingham 
Expenditures 

per Capita
Low Quartile $61 at $4.24M = $62
Median $104 at $10.22M = $150
Upper Quartile $180

283

Item XI. 1.



115

For all Parks and Recreation agencies nationally, more than 60% of operating expenditures are 
funded by General Fund Tax Support, while another 23% comes from Earned/Generated Revenue. 
The remaining 16% of funding comes from dedicated levies, other dedicated taxes, grants, 
sponsorships, or other unspecified sources. The percentage breakdown by funding source is 
extremely stable across all jurisdictional populations, with only minor variation.

Across all Parks and Recreation agencies, nationally, 56% of capital expenditures are aimed at 
renovation projects. 30% goes towards new development, 7% towards land acquisition, and the 
balance to other unspecified expenses. 

Effingham County expenditures are on par with jurisdictions of similar population size when taking 
into account annual operating expenditures and expenditures per capita. SPLOST is an important 
part of ensuring the County is spending at a comparable level. Without SPLOST the County’s 
expenditures would very likely remain below the average of the lower quartile without another 
source of funding to replace some or all of SPLOST. 

284

Item XI. 1.



116

Appendices

285

Item XI. 1.



117

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

286

Item XI. 1.



118

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

287

Item XI. 1.



119

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

288

Item XI. 1.



120

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

289

Item XI. 1.



121

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

290

Item XI. 1.



122

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

291

Item XI. 1.



123

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

292

Item XI. 1.



124

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

293

Item XI. 1.



125

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

294

Item XI. 1.



126

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

295

Item XI. 1.



127

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

296

Item XI. 1.



128

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

297

Item XI. 1.



129

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

298

Item XI. 1.



130

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

299

Item XI. 1.



131

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

300

Item XI. 1.



132

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

301

Item XI. 1.



133

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

302

Item XI. 1.



134

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

303

Item XI. 1.



135

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

304

Item XI. 1.



136

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

305

Item XI. 1.



137

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

306

Item XI. 1.



138

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

307

Item XI. 1.



139

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

308

Item XI. 1.



140

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

309

Item XI. 1.



141

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

310

Item XI. 1.



142

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

311

Item XI. 1.



143

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

312

Item XI. 1.



144

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

313

Item XI. 1.



145

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

314

Item XI. 1.



146

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

315

Item XI. 1.



147

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

316

Item XI. 1.



148

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

317

Item XI. 1.



149

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

318

Item XI. 1.



150

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

319

Item XI. 1.



151

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

wish

320

Item XI. 1.



152

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

321

Item XI. 1.



153

Appendix A 
Survey Results Graphics

322

Item XI. 1.



154

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

General comments
1. This dot is for the entire map, since dots cannot be placed in the appropriate areas now 
without examining numerous factors. Dots are needed throughout the county for acquisition of 
areas to make greenspace, that are connected by greenspace corridors. These should include 
rivers and creeks, woods, native ecosystems and a mix of environments. They should be in 
areas experiencing urban and suburban growth as well as other areas and have no to limited 
development (trails, green parking).
2. At this location everyone needs to be included. Children and adults from 0-150 years old, to 
include ADA compliance for all disabilities. Using green and organic practices and conservation of 
the natural fauna when developing the site. Here we should also have cool shaded areas with native 
plants and other foliage. A walking space and therapeutic gardens. (this particular comment was 
cut and pasted all over the Social Pinpoint map and will not be repeated in these notes for every 
instance on the map)
3. Noted on the Savannah River “Some type of safe river access for kayakers.”
4. put in a local skatepark! Our kids need recreational spots in the county where they can get 
out and have fun and get some exercise while at it. Today we are raising indoor kids who sit on their 
iPads and melt their brains with technology! They need more places to go outside!
5. If you put a skatepark, please make it a true park. Surround the concrete with a large area of 
greenspace, native plants, trees, and walking trails.
6. The parks we do have, other than Clarence Morgan are not kept up. The playgrounds Are old 
and the walking areas around bakers pond need a lot of improvement. We need to put money into 
better play areas and trails. Also, a splash pad would be nice and just more parks in general.
7. Biking trail that allows access to subdivisions & shopping plazas
8. Need a much larger community pool for over 500 houses and more being built. Poor 
approval from county with this many houses being approved.
9. Could definitely use more designated greenspace in this area. (BlueJay Rd at Hodgeville Rd)
10. This county, based on its size, doesn’t have enough recreational areas. More focus is put on 
Industrial zoning than the well-being of our residence.
11. The fastest growing area in the County needs things down here for residents to do outdoor 
things at. Common area greenspaces, large pond/lakes for fishing or sailing, ballfields, walking 
trails, paved trails, bike trails, etc need to be constructed down here. Instead of the County rubber 
stamping Industrial, how about something we can actually use instead of going to neighboring 
Counties to use. (noted in the southern most portions of the county)
12. Parks with playgrounds for kids to play and ride bikes, walking trails. We just moved here from 
NC and there is basically nothing here compared to there.
13. With the influx of people and new housing and apartment developments in this area around 
hwy 17 and hwy 30, this area will definitely need more retail/groceries stores and a nice public park 
and pond with walking trails.
14. We need something in the southern tip of the county. I would love yo see greenspace, walking 
trails, picnic areas, playground, etc. Shady would be great!

323

Item XI. 1.



155

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

General comments
15. If you expand rec facilities throughout the county, please do it in an environmentally 
friendly fashion so that it not only helps the environment, but serves people better, too. (Ie-tree-
shaded parking lots, stadium lights that don’t stay on when no one is using the facility, greenspace 
throughout the areas with nature trails and native ecosystems rather than barren green fields 
surrounded by hot parking lots.
16. Outdoor volleyball nets would be nice for the kids who sign up each year to have the option 
of being able to practice somewhere on off season
17. Remember when developing new spaces to include all people. This includes people with 
all disabilities. Please use green structural materials and organic pesticides and fertilizers when 
developing the site. Create a quiet space for people to practice mindfulness therapy. Develop a walk 
through meadow garden. And cool spaces for people to cool off. Use conservation strategies and 
save as many native plants in the area when developing the land as possible.
18. Ulmer Pak has been great for teams to use for practice for years, not to mention that it 
honors the legacy of Mr. George Upmer.
19. Why not surround all the recreation facilities in the county with true parks - natural areas 
that contain low maintenance native plants, greenspaces, trees and trails? Would cost much less in 
maintenance than “facility-based” recreation areas and would be good for people who currently use 
the recreation areas as well while attracting people who don’t play soccer or tennis or football. Oh, 
yeah, and also good for the environment!

324

Item XI. 1.



156

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

Tuckasee King Landing = 0
Tommy Long Landing = 0
Long Bridge Landing = 0
Abercorn Landing = 0
Steel Bridge Landing = 0
Meldrim Park = 0
Meldrim Ball field = 0

Clyo Community center/Park = 1
1. Need more awareness that this park is up here.
McCall Park = 1
1. This would be an ideal place to add more soccer fields, so our kids do not have to travel 
all the way to Savannah’s Jennifer Ross complex. This sport is really taking off and the number of 
players is exploding.

119 Rec Complex = 2
1. Hopefully you are using organic practices when spraying insecticides, and fertilizers. This will 
ensure a healthier outcome for our athletes and families. perhaps use the football teams to help get 
it in order and give each student credits for their labor. (Sweat equity)
2. Football facilities need upgrading/updated. Not enough care/grounds maintenance is being 
conducted for the football field. If no new fields are going to be built luke rumor states, this football 
field needs a drastic renovation conducted. With the talent that has been coming to the county and 
growing up through the programs, more fields need to be constructed.

Veteran’s Park = 4
1. When working on the grounds use organic practices for weed control and fertilizer. This will 
ensure better to the healing process for staff, patients, visitors and families.
2. This would be a great location for some therapeutic gardens. These gardens would be all 
inclusive for everyone. Accessibility for wheelchairs, stretchers, walkers, the deaf, the blind and 
persons with cognitive impairments would provide a restful peaceful place outside of the hospital. 
These would include some pavilions for families to rest and gather while at the hospital.
3. A pollinator garden would be good for not only environmental health, but a good respite for 
people’s physical, emotional, and mental health.
4. In this location, a therapeutic art area would be nice, with peaceful music.

325

Item XI. 1.



157

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

Baker Lake = 5
1. Could use some more native trees, flowers, and plants here along the path. Maybe install 
restroom facilities on the north side of walking path for convenience, it’s a long way to the 
bathrooms when you are trekking around the pond on nature calls. Maybe put up a little cottage for 
art classes, yoga, and ecology and environmental sciences classes. (Using green building techniques 
and solar.) This would be a great place for a therapeutic garden.
2. Baker Lake has one of the only decent walking trails in the county, but it is not really suited for 
birdwatching. Effingham County would benefit from having more wooded or wetland trails (similar to 
Cay Creek in Liberty County). Multi-use trails could be great for birding, biking, jogging, etc.
3. Could a couple of the courts be converted to pickle ball courts? Just remarking court and 
adding the net.
4. Would love to be able to walk dogs (on leash) here.
5. Would love to have a resource like this on the South end of the county. There is no 
recreational areas on or near HWY 30. There are a lot of residents on HWY 30 and nowhere safe to 
walk. I see numerous people walking HWY 30, which is very dangerous.

Pineora Park = 6
1. When doing repairs please consider green techniques and when maintaining the fields 
organic best practices should be exercised. Could utilize cub scouts, boy scouts, girl scouts and 
other clubs and even Lowes to get things done.
2. Fields need to be maintained. Clay on the diamonds and holes in outfield repaired. Restroom 
facilities need repair and lighting system properly fixed, locks cut on power boxes.
3. The bench at the Pineora playground is rusting terribly. It’s in an area that can easily cut or 
injure someone, and if it can’t be replaced it need to be removed in the very least.
4. A splash pad or similar attraction would be really nice to have in the summertime! Doesn’t 
require supervision from Lifeguards but it would be a great addition to the county for keeping kids 
active even in the hot summer months.
5. Why not add nature trails, natural native plant and animal greenspaces? Would be great for 
everyone and educational for scouts, students, and adults.
6. Adding new walking/biking trails

326

Item XI. 1.



158

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

Sandhill Park = 9
1. The parking lot at the Sand Hill Complex is terrible and is 10x worse when it rains. Please 
consider repairing the lot.
2. A rain garden, with sensory gardens and native shade trees. Use the rain drainage to water 
the foliage in and around the gardens. Need to create more native green spaces, with shade.
3. We are in need of a basketball gym on the south end of the county! A playground would be 
nice too!
4. Soccer facilities need significant improvements to meet increased demand!!! There is never 
enough room for al the teams and sport continue to grow faster than any other sport in the area. 
Parking lot area also needs A LOT of work there!
5. The soccer facilities at Sandhill are outdated and in need of upgrading. This sport has grown 
tremendously and continues to grow year after year. Our kids have to travel all the way to Jennifer 
Ross in savannah to play at quality fields.
6. Wouldn’t it be nice to return to a cool car after a 95-degree summer practice or game? Clearly 
the current parking lot has issues according to the comments. Please consider redoing it green by 
having a parking lot with large shade trees and a pervious surface where rain goes into the ground 
instead of becoming polluted run-off.
7. A two-court gym like CEM Gym
8. Soccer improvements at Sand Hill are needed.
9. The expansion of soccer facilities in Effingham County and the Sand Hill Complex is 
desperately needed. The county is not keeping up with the demand and has the SPLOST funds to 
do so. Major improvements needed for the sport of soccer. Look at the Jennifer Ross Complex in 
Savannah for ideas.

Clarence E Morgan Complex = 20
1. Contact the conservation dept for guidance and help. Native plant societies can help you 
decide what plants should be saved. There is always a work around. The mindfulness area can be 
used for yoga, tai chi and other restful open air art practices.
2. Perfect location for a skatepark or pump track! If you build it, they will come! If you need 
sponsors, I can get in touch with friends at Vans and other industry based companies.
3. I would like to see an indoor pool. There are a lot of residents in Effingham County and 
surrounding areas that have swimmers, but they can only participate in the summer. The closest 
pools are in Statesboro, Savannah, and Blufton.
4. The county is overloaded with soccer players without places to play. Every year soccer is 
played in baseball outfields. Unacceptable for a county this size. Soccer facilities in surrounding 
areas put Effingham to shame.
5. Where are the “Phase 2” multi-purpose soccer/football fields? I’m still holding my breath that 
commissioners will spend the SPLOST funds as they promised years before its passing.
6. How about an indoor or outdoor pickle ball court? It’s fast becoming a popular game that 
anyone can play. Also, would like to see a longer “walking trail” than the short trek around the ball 
fields.

327

Item XI. 1.



159

Appendix B 
Effingham County Parks and Rec Master Plan
Update Social Pinpoint Mapping comments

7. Currently there are no soccer fields at CEM. The number of soccer fields at this location 
should match the number of baseball fields. The ability to host soccer tournaments here would 
bring revenue to the county and its businesses. Effingham is not providing for its soccer players, 
as was originally promised in a “phase 2 design”, but it is also missing out on the ability for the 
community to capitalize financially.
8. An indoor pool is a must. YMCA 6 weeks swim team is not enough. Lots of Effingham 
residents are doing the commute to Statesboro, Savannah, and Bluffton to swim all year long with 
swim teams. Many can’t afford all the driving or match the training hours. Not only kids would 
benefit but water therapy sessions or adult water exercise classes for instance. Build and they will 
come :-)
9. We have tennis courts at Bakers pond and the YMCA...We could use nice Soccer fields, 
basketball courts and a community pool. An indoor aquatic center would be super nice and so 
beneficial for the entire county.
10. Take that same energy, the love for baseball energy, and apply it to new soccer/football fields.
11. Where are the soccer fields shown in the design for phase 2?
12. An Auditorium that can be shared by the schools county-wide. Our children in the arts 
deserve an actual stage, ample seating for audience and professional sound system to present 
talent. Working hours on end and performing in a cafeteria with a shotty sound system is 
disheartening. Allot some money towards the arts, it is much needed.
13. Please!! We need a community pool with lanes to accommodate local swim teams. Chatham 
is full of school teams and opportunities for young and adult athletes alike. Bryan County is as well. 
No one likes having to drive to the Aquatic Center 45 minutes away. Plenty of people here to join a 
community indoor pool. not only will this enhance the physical and mental fitness of our community, 
it can provide jobs as well. I’d be interested in helping to get this going if needed.
14. A lot of property left undeveloped to just utilize this for baseball and basketball alone. Would 
like to see multi-purpose fields. Example, football/soccer/lacrosse.
15. And special Olympics training. Therapeutic swimming classes.
16. Our county has a noble reputation in the performing arts sector, and these kids deserve a 
performing arts facility for their concerts, not a school gym/ lunch room. Not only would this benefit 
the students, it would benefit the county as a whole by bringing in revenue in many other ways.
17. Volleyball is exploding in the region and county. Some sand courts could provide a fantastic 
conditioning venue with lower joint stress. Keep it close to water to hose off the sand and hit courts 
and we could host leagues.
18. Need a community pool
19. Baseball/Basket facilities are top of the line. Parking is better than most if not all other county 
facilities.
20. Why is this building (CEM gym) locked. It should be open to the public during business hours 
at least so that our children can get some exercise playing basketball or doing arts and crafts. We 
could use this space to teach about our environment and the sciences of ecology. Please staff this 
place.

328

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #1 for the 2023 LMIG Support and CM Services 

Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #1 for the 2023 LMIG Support and CM Services 

Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #1 for the 

2023 LMIG Support and CM Services Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has an agreement in place with Roberts Civil 

Engineering for the 2023 LMIG Support and Construction Management Services. 

Staff requested a proposal from Roberts Civil for the 2024 Support and CM 

services as well so the construction of both LMIG projects can be bid together. 

 Change Order 1 has been requested to add the 2024 LMIG scope to the current 

agreement for 2023 LMIG.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #1 for the 2023 LMIG Support and CM Services 

Agreement with Roberts Civil Engineering 

2. Deny Change Order #1 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: LMIG 

Attachments: Change Order 1 Request 

 

 

 

 

329

Item XI. 2.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: 2023 LMIG Support and CM Services 

Contract Date: December 15, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: July 18, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Total 

1 Addition of 2024 LMIG Engineering/CM $102,553.00 $102,553.00 

 TOTAL $102,553.00 $102,553.00 

 
 

 

The original Contract Sum was...........................................................................$ 79,653.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 79,653.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 102,553.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 182,206.00 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

330

Item XI. 2.



 
 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

                                                              

Additional Work Authorization  

2023 and 2024 LMIG Roads 

 Effingham County, GA 

 
On this __ day of ______, 2023 the services below are proposed in addition to the executed Contract 

Agreement between Effingham County and Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC dated August 16, 

2022.  All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement shall remain in effect for all work.    

 

1. Amended Contract Request 

 

Original Contract Amount                  $  79,653.00 

Additional Work     2024 LMIG                 $102,553.00 

Amended Contract Amount Not to Exceed  $182,206.00 

 

*Additional work due to the following: 

2023 Effingham County LMIG Change Order for Added Service for the Management and 

Oversight of the 2024 LMIG Projects:  To Include general engineering consulting, specifications, 

bidding and construction oversight for resurfacing and assorted improvements to the 10 roadways 

identified in the scope of work.  Fee proposal identifies a ‘Not to Exceed’ total based upon the 

contract rates for Indefinite Delivery of A&E Services dated April 20, 2021, and the associated 

rate adjustment in Amendment No. 1, dated March 7, 2023.    

 

**Note:  Proposed NTE Fee encompasses the Civil Engineering Services through the duration of 

the project. Hourly Services budgeted under this contract but not performed will not be charged. 
 

             Final Contract Adjustment:     $102,553.00  

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written.   

ENGINEER:            

CLIENT:            

          By:  Johnathan Roberts   

          For:  Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC          

           Its:  Professional Engineer   

                 

  

           

 
 

 

          By:  ____________________________   

          For:  ____________________________            

           Its:  ____________________________   

331

Item XI. 2.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


 

R
o

ad
 N

am
e

 
B

eg
in

n
in

g 
En

d
in

g 
Le

n
gt

h
 

(M
ile

s)
 

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
 o

f 
W

o
rk

 
P

ro
je

ct
 C

o
st

 
P

ro
je

ct
 L

et
 

D
at

e
 

A
n

ti
q

u
a

 P
la

c
e

 
C

a
ri
b

e
a

n
 

V
ill

a
g

e
 

C
a
ri
b

e
a

n
 

V
ill

a
g

e
 

0
.4

6
3
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

, 
M

ill
in

g
 a

n
d

 

R
e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
9

8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u

m
m

e
r 

2
0

2
3
 

A
rc

h
e

r 
S

R
 1

1
9
 

B
ri
tt

in
g

h
a

m
 

R
o
a

d
 

1
.0

3
 

L
e

v
e

lin
g
 a

n
d

 R
e

s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
1

7
8

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

B
ri
tt

a
n

y
 L

a
n
e

 
H

e
s
te

r 
R

o
a
d
 

C
u
l-
D

e
-S

a
c
 

0
.5

3
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

, 
L

e
v
e

lin
g

 a
n

d
 

R
e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
1

4
9

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

C
a
m

b
ri
d

g
e

 R
o
a

d
 

C
u
l-
D

e
-S

a
c
 

C
u
l-
D

e
 S

a
c
 

0
.6

8
9
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

, 
M

ill
in

g
 a

n
d

 

R
e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
1

2
4

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

F
a

ir
m

o
n

t 
R

o
a
d

 
B

ri
d

g
e

 E
n

d
 

C
a
m

b
ri
d

g
e
 

0
.1

5
0
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

 a
n

d
 R

e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
4

8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u

m
m

e
r 

2
0

2
3
 

K
a

te
s
 C

o
v
e

 R
o
a

d
 

L
e

x
in

g
to

n
 

A
v
e

. 
E

x
t 

C
a
m

b
ri
d

g
e
 

0
.1

2
1
 

M
ill

in
g

 a
n

d
 R

e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
3

2
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u

m
m

e
r 

2
0

2
3
 

L
it
tl
e

 M
c
C

a
ll 

R
o

a
d
 

A
b

b
y
 L

a
n
e

 
C

o
u

rt
h

o
u

s
e

 

R
o
a

d
 

2
.0

0
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

, 
L

e
v
e

lin
g

 a
n

d
 

R
e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
4

8
8

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

O
ld

 A
u
g

u
s
ta

 R
o

a
d

 
E

O
P

 
T

a
y
lo

r 
C

h
a

p
e

l 

R
o
a

d
 

0
.5

0
 

L
e

v
e

lin
g
 a

n
d

 R
e

s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
1

0
1

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

A
n

ti
q

u
a

 D
ri
v
e
 

A
n

ti
q

u
a

 P
la

c
e

 
A

n
ti
q

u
a

 P
la

c
e

 
0

.0
8
 

P
a

tc
h

in
g

 M
ill

in
g

 a
n

d
 

R
e
s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
2

7
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u

m
m

e
r 

2
0

2
3
 

O
ld

 A
u
g

u
s
ta

 /
M

t.
 

P
le

a
s
a
n

t 
R

d
 

C
ly

o
 K

ild
a

re
 

R
d

 

O
ld

 A
u
g

u
s
ta

 

R
o
a

d
 

2
.4

0
 

L
e

v
e

lin
g
 a

n
d

 R
e

s
u

rf
a

c
in

g
 

$
4

6
0

,0
0
0

.0
0

 
S

u
m

m
e

r 

2
0

2
3
 

 332

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement  

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director 

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 07/18/2023 

Item Description: Consideration to Approve an Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement 

between Effingham County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire 

Department 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the Automatic and Mutual Aid 

Agreement between Effingham County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire Department. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

On July 1, 2023, Effingham County Fire Rescue became the primary fire service provider for all 

the unincorporated areas that were formerly served by the City of Rincon. It is the desire of both 

agencies to continue reciprocal Automatic and Mutual Aid, with the Automatic Aid limited to areas 

within the City Limits and a small area around it. 

No funding is required. 

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Approval of an Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement between Effingham 

County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire Department 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Fire-Rescue, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: N/A 

 

Attachments: Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

333

Item XI. 3.



AGREEMENT OF AUTOMATIC AND MUTUAL AID 

Effingham County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire Department 

 

 

This agreement (referred to herein as "Agreement") is entered into by and between 

Effingham County Fire Rescue (ECFR), under the authority of the Effingham County Board 

of Commissioners, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia, acting by and through its 

duly elected Chairman and Commissioners, and Rincon Fire Department (RFD), under the 

authority of the Rincon City Council, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia acting 

by and through its duly elected Mayor and Councilmembers (the parties collectively referred 

to herein as the "Parties.") 

 

 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Effingham County and the City of Rincon are contiguous; 

WHEREAS, Effingham County and Rincon each maintain and staff a fire department for 

fire prevention, fire suppression, emergency medical, hazardous material, technical rescue, 

and support services; 

 

WHEREAS, Effingham County and Rincon have determined that it is to the mutual 

advantage and benefit of each of the Parties hereto that they render supplemental fire 

suppression, and to take part in joint training exercises; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Parties hereto to enter into this Agreement for both 

Automatic and Mutual Aid pursuant to the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia, Article 

IX, Section 3, Paragraph 3 and the Official Code of Georgia Annotated O.C.G.A. 

§36-69-1 et seq.- "The Georgia Mutual Aid Act." 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration, of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for 

other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereunto agree as follows: 

 

 

ARTICLE 1: AUTOMATIC AND MUTUAL AID 

The Parties shall establish a mutually beneficial response district (referred to herein as the 

"Automatic Aid Response District") which shall exist within and up to certain feasible 

boundary limits as designated and agreed upon by the Effingham County Fire Rescue Chief 

and Rincon Fire Chief. Said agreed upon bounds will be recorded in a document written and 

signed by both the Effingham County Fire Rescue Chief and the Rincon Fire Chief.  

 

Subsequently, that document shall be attached and incorporated into this Agreement as 

"Addendum A." The Response District may be changed to reflect additions or deletions of 

response areas with the written approval of both parties. 

 

In the event of a fire emergency in the Automatic Aid Response District, ECFR and RFD 

shall furnish such fire resources as defined in addendum B to cope with the fire emergency, 

but subject to the limitations herein as set forth in this Agreement. 

334

Item XI. 3.



 

The level of Automatic Aid shall exist at a level mutually agreed upon by the Effingham 

Count Fire Rescue Chief and the Rincon Fire Chief. Said agreement shall be written and 

signed by the Effingham County Fire Rescue Chief and Rincon Fire Chief. Subsequently, the 

document shall  be attached to this Agreement as Addendum B. 

In the event of an emergency not initially dispatched as part of the Automatic Aid portion of this 

Agreement, either Party may request mutual aid from the other, with the same terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

Itis further agreed that the Fire Chiefs of both Effingham County and Rincon, or their 

designees, will ensure training is scheduled between Effingham County Fire Rescue and 

Rincon Fire Department annually. This will insure the operational efficiency of this automatic 

aid agreement. 

 

 

ARTICLE 2 :  LIABILITY 

There is no special duty imposed by this Agreement on either Party and/or its respective 

personnel to respond to fire, rescue, or any other calls and/or requests pursuant to this 

Agreement as per O.C.G.A. 25-6-5-(a) and other applicable laws. 

No employee of a Party shall be deemed to be an employee and/or agent of the other party 

because of any action or incident arising pursuant of this Agreement, as per O.C.G.A.25-6-5-

(b) and other applicable laws. 

All damages or repairs to any equipment or apparatus shall be the responsibility of the 

owner jurisdiction as per O.C.G.A.25-6-5-(c) and other applicable laws. 

Equipment, personnel, and/or services provided pursuant to the Agreement as Automatic 

Aid, for periods or durations not exceeding 24 hours, shall be provided at no charge to the 

party requesting aid, unless an expendable item such as foam was provided. These 

expendable items shall be replaced by the party requesting aid. However, any expenses 

recoverable from third Parties shall be equitably distributed among responding parties. 

Nothing herein shall operate to bar recovery of funds from any state or federal agency under 

any existing statute, regulation or law. 

 

 

ARTICLE 3: CONSIDERATIONS 

No party under this Agreement will be required to pay any compensation to any other party 

under this Agreement for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement. 

It is expressly agreed that the mutual advantage and protection afforded by this Agreement 

is adequate consideration to both Parties for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement. 

Each party to this Agreement shall comply with the Workers Compensation laws of the State 

of Georgia at no cost to the other party. 

Each Party shall pay the salaries, benefits, and all other compensation of its own personnel 

at no cost to the other party. 

 

ARTICLE 4: RELEASE OF CLAIMS 

Each Party agrees to release the other party from all liabilities, claims, judgements, costs, or 

demands for damage to its own property, whether directly or indirectly arising out of the use 

335

Item XI. 3.



of any vehicle, equipment, or apparatus by the party to which said property does not, belong 

during the provision of service pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

 

ARTICLE 5: INJURIES TO PERSONNEL 

Any damage or other compensation which is required to be paid to any employee by reason 

of an injury occurring while their services are being utilized by the responding and/or 

receiving jurisdictions, pursuant to this Agreement, shall be the sole liability and 

responsibility of the party regularly employing that employee. 

 

 

ARTICLE 6: THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

This Agreement shall not be construed as, or deemed to be, an Agreement for the benefit of 

any third party, and no third party shall have any right of action hereunder, for any cause 

whatsoever. 

 

 

ARTICLE 7: TERM OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall commence upon its approval and appropriate recording in the minutes 

by the respective governing bodies of the Parties. This Agreement shall stand automatically 

renewed by the Parties on January 1, and each year thereafter on January 1, unless and until 

such time as written notice of termination by either Party at least ninety (90) days prior to 

the expiration of the first term or any renewal term thereafter. 

 

 

ARTICLE 8: DISPATCHING OF ALARM AUTOMATIC AID 

Effingham County E-911will dispatch all first responder units as per this Agreement. 

 

 

ARTICLE 9: ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall constitute the entire Agreement between the Parties and no 

modification thereof shall be binding unless evidenced by a subsequent signed written 

agreement. 

 

 

ARTICLE 10: TERMINATION 

Either Party to this Agreement may terminate the Agreement, for any cause, by giving not 

less than ninety (90) days advance written notice to the other party. 

 

 

ARTICLE 11: SEVERABILITY OF TERMS 

In the event any part or provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, the remainder of 

this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

ARTICLE 12: NOTICES 

336

Item XI. 3.



All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given under this 

Agreement shall be in writing. 

All notices shall be deemed to have been duly delivered to the party intended to receive said 

notice or communication when delivered personally, in hand, or when mailed by certified or 

registered mail, return receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid and addressed to the 

appropriate party at the appropriate address as identified below: 

 

 

To Effingham County: Effingham County 

Attn: County Manager 

804 South Laurel St 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

To City of Rincon: City of Rincon 

Attn: City Manager 

302 South Columbia Ave 

Rincon, GA 31326 

 

 

ARTICLE 13: GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Georgia. 

Should any litigation arise unde1·the provisions of the Agreement or related to this 

Agreement, proper venue shall lie in a court of competent jurisdiction in Effingham County. 

 

 

ARTICLE 14: ADEQUATE COVERAGE FOR OWN JURSIDCITION 

Each Party is responsible for providing adequate coverage for its own jurisdiction. Each 

Party’s foremost responsibility is to its own citizens. The provisions of this Agreement shall 

not be construed to impose any responsibility or unconditional obligation on any Party to 

this Agreement to provide aid and assistance pursuant to a request from another Party. 

When a Party is unable to honor a request for aid or assistance, the Party will immediately 

inform the Party requesting aid that it will not be able to provide mutual or automatic aid. 

 

 

ARTICLE 15: INSURANCE 

Each party to this Agreement shall procure and maintain such insurance as is required by 

applicable federal and state law to cover its personnel, equipment, vehicles, property, and 

obligations hereunder, including but not limited to liability insurance, workers' 

compensation insurance, automobile liability insurance and property insurance. Each Party 

may self-fund its insurance obligation. 

 

 

IN WITESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 

their authorized representatives below. 

 

 

337

Item XI. 3.



 

 

BY EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GA: 

 

 

___________________________________ __________________________________ 

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman Attest: Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

  

  

___________________________________  

Clinton Hodges, Fire Chief  

 

 

 

BY THE CITY OF RINCON, GA: 

 

___________________________________ __________________________________ 

Ken Lee, Mayor Attest: Dulcia King, City Clerk 

  

  

___________________________________  

Lou Reed, Fire Chief  

  

338

Item XI. 3.



Addendum A 
The 'Response District' for the 'Automatic Aid Response' Agreement between the Effingham 

County Fire Rescue and Rincon Fire Department is defined in the image below. Mutual Aid 

Response shall apply to the Corporate Boundaries of both parties. The assistance that will be 

furnished to each other in the 'Response District' is addressed in Addendum B. This 

'Response District' is mutually beneficial to both Effingham County and the City of Rincon 

in responding to fire related emergencies. The 'Response District' may be modified through a 

written agreement of both the Fire Chiefs of Effingham County and the City of Rincon, or 

their designees, as staffing, equipment, and local conditions within both municipalities 

evolve. 

 

339

Item XI. 3.



 
 

 

340

Item XI. 3.



Addendum B 

The 'Automatic Response' that may normally be expected within the ' Automatic Response 

District' for structure fire responses only will be provided as such: 

 

Effingham County Fire Rescue: One Class A Fire Engine w/ 2 FF 

 

Rincon Fire Department: One Vehicle w/ 2 FF 

 

Mutual Aid Response will be based upon the request of a Senior Officer and/or the 

Incident Commander. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

341

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Ebenezer Fire Station 

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director 

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 07/18/2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve the purchase of the Ebenezer Fire Station 

building from the City of Rincon. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the purchase of the Ebenezer Fire 

Station building. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

On July 1, 2023, Effingham County Fire Rescue became the primary fire service provider for all 

the unincorporated areas that were formerly served by the City of Rincon. As the City of Rincon 

owns the building, but Effingham County owns the property, it is necessary for the building to be 

purchased from the City.  

After negotiations, the recommended purchase price was determined by being splitting the 

difference between two of the appraisals. Staff are recommending a sale price of $250,000. 

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Approval to purchase the Ebenezer Fire Station building. 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Fire-Rescue, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: $250,000 

 

Attachments:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

342

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Local Emergency Operations Plan Update 

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director 

Department:  20-EMA 

Meeting Date: 07/18/2023 

Item Description: Consideration to Approve the Local Emergency Operations Plan 

Update 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the updated Local Emergency 

Operations Plan. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

Effingham County EMA maintains and updates the Local Emergency Operations Plan, to be 

activated during emergencies by the Board of Commissioners. 

The plan is organized by Emergency Support Functions (ESFs), with any partner agency falling 

within one or more ESFs.  

As there have been some changes at both the local and State level as to what agencies are 

primary vs support ESFs, staff hosted collaboration meetings for all ESF partners.  

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Approval of the Local Emergency Operations Plan Update 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Emergency Management 

 

Funding Source: N/A 

 

Attachments: Updated LEOP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

343

Item XI. 5.



 

 

 

Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency 

 

Emergency Operations Plan 

 

 

 

 
Plan Approved:  

July 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
344

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM C O U N T Y  

ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 
AN ORDI NANCE TO AMMED THE OFFICIAL CODE OF EFFI NGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, CHAPTER 
EIGHTEEN, CIVI L EMERGENCI ES 

 

BE IT ORDAI NED by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof, as follows: 

 
The Official Code of Effingham County, Georgia, is amended by replacing Chapter 18 with the 
following 

 

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 
Sec. 18-1.-Pu rpose. 
Sec.18-2 - 18-35. - Reserved 

 

Sec. 18-1.- Purpose 
It is the purpose of this ordinance to protect the health. safety, and general welfare of 

Effingham County citizens during times of a locally declared emergency or state declared 
emergency. It is the intent of the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County that the 
provisions of this ordinance be put into effect only in the event of an emergency which 

causes imminent threat to life or property. 
 

ARTICLE II. - EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Sec. 18-36. - Definitions 

Sec. 18-37. - Emergency Management and response powers 

Sec. 18-38. - Enforcement and Remedies 

Sec. 18-39. - Authority to Waive Procedures and Fee Structures. 

Sec. 18-40. - Registration of Building and Repair Services 

Sec. 18-41. - Closed or Restricted Areas and Curfews during Emergency. 

Sec. 18-42. - Regulation Continued in Effect 

Appendix - A Declaration of Local Emergency 

Appendix - B General Release Agreement 

Appendix - C Right of Entry and Agreement to Allow Use of Property as a Result of State of 
Emergency 

 

Sec.18-43.-18-102. - Reserved 
 

Sec. 18-36. - Definitions. 
The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning: 

 

1. Emergency management means the preparation for and the carrying out of all emergency 
and disaster functions other than those functions for which military forces or state and 
federal agencies are primarily responsible, to prevent, minimize, and repair injury and damage 
resulting from emergencies or disasters, or the imminent threat thereof, of a technological or 
natu ral origin. Emergency functions are listed in the Effingham County Emergency 
Operations Plan. 

1 

345

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
 

2. Locally Declared Emergencies as used in this ordinance. a "locally declared emergency" or a 

"declaration of local emergency" shall mean a declaration by the chair of the board of 

commissioners enacting some or all of the local emergency powers addressed in the 
ordinance. 

 

3. State Declared Emergencies as used in this ordinance. a "State declared emergency" or 
"State of Emergency'' shall mean a declaration by the Governor of an actual or impending 
emergency or disaster of natural or manmade origin, or a pandemic influenza emergency. or 
impending or actual enemy attack. or a public health emergency. within or affecting Georgia 
or against the United States. A declaration of emergency by the Governor may enact some or 
all of the emergency powers. local or otherwise, addressed in this ordinance. 

 

Sec. 18-37. - Emergency Management and response powers 
 

1. Office of the County Emergency Management Director 
The Chair of the Board of Commissioners, with concurrence of the Mayors of cities within 
the county, shall nominate for appointment by the governor a director of emergency 

management for the entire county. When appointed, the emergency management director is 

charged with the following duties: 

A. To represent the governing officials of the county and cities in the county on matters 
pertaining to emergency management. 

B. To assist county and city officials in organizing county and city departments for 

emergency operations. 

C. To develop, in conjunction with county and city departments, the county plan for 
emergency functions set forth in the Effingham County Emergency Operations Plan. 

Such plan will be in consonance with the state emergency operations plan and shall be 

submitted to the governing officials of the county and the cities in the county for 

approval, and thence to the state emergency management agency for approval. 

D. To maintain the emergency management agency and carry out the day-to-day 
administration of the county emergency management program, including the submission 
of required reports to the state emergency management agency. 

E. To submit reports as required by governing officials in keeping with good management 
practices, e.g., financial, daily activity, etc. 

F. To obtain, with the authority of governing officials, a facility to be used as the county 
emergency operating center. 

G. To coordinate the activities of the county emergency operating center staff during periods 

of an emergency, and under the supervision of county governing officials. 
 

2. County Emergency Management Agency 

The County Emergency management Agency shall be established around existing county and 

city departments, the emergency functions listed in the Effingham County Emergency 

Operations Plan are assigned to heads of departments which are responsible for developing 

appropriate annexes to the local Emergency Management Director. Such annexes will be 

submitted to the local Emergency Management Director for inclusion in the local emergency 

operations plan and approval by appropriate local officials. 

 

 

 

2 

346

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 

3. Declaration of Local Emergency 
A. Grant of authority. 

In the event of an actual or threatened occurrence of a disaster or emergency, which 
may result in the large-scale loss of life, injury, property damage or destruction or in the 
major disruption of routine community affairs, business or governmental operations in 
the county and which is of sufficient severity and magnitude to warrant extraordinary 
assistance by federal, state and local departments and agencies to supplement  the efforts 
of available public and private resources, the Chair of the Board of Commissioners may 
declare a local emergency for County. The form of the declaration is provided in Appendix 
A. 

B. Request for state assistance. Consistent with a declaration of local emergency. the Chair 

may request the Governor to provide assistance. provided that the disaster or emergency 
is beyond the capacity of the county to meet adequately and state assistance is necessary 
to supplement local efforts to save lives and protect property. public health and safety, or 
to avert or lessen the threat of a disaster. 

C. Continuance. The declaration of local emergency shall continue until the Chair finds that 
emergency conditions no longer exist, at which time, the Chair shall execute and file 
with the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners a document marking the end of the 
emergency. No state of local emergency shall continue for longer than 30 days, unless 

renewed by the Chair. The Board of Commissioners may, by resolution, end a state of 
local emergency at any time. 

D. Effect of declaration of emergency: Activation of emergency operations plan. 

A declaration of emergency by the Governor or a declaration of local emergency by the 

Chair shall automatically activate the county emergency operations plan and shall be 

the authority for deployment of personnel and use of any forces to which the plan 

applies and for use or distribution of any supplies. equipment. materials. and facilities 

assembled. stockpiled or arranged to be made available pursuant to the Georgia 

Emergency Management Act or any other laws applicable to emergencies or disasters. 

i. The Effingham County Emergency Management Agency ("EEMA") Director shall 

have the legal authority to exercise the powers and discharge the duties conferred 

upon the emergency management agency, including the implementation of the 

emergency operations plan. coordination of the emergency responses of public 

and private agencies and organizations. coordination of recovery efforts with state 

and federal officials, and inspection of emergency or disaster sites. 

ii. In responding to the emergency and conducting necessary and appropriate survey 

of the damages caused by the emergency. the Director or his/her designee is 

authorized to enter at a reasonable time upon any property. public or private. 

for the purpose of evaluating sites involved with emergency management 

functions to protect the public's health, safety or welfare. 

iii. The Director is authorized to execute a right of entry and/or agreement to use 

property for these purposes on behalf of the County; however, any such 

document shall be later presented for ratification at a meeting of the Board of 

Commissioners. 

iv.  No person shall refuse entry or access to any authorized representative or agent of 

the county who requests entry for purposes of evaluating sites involved with 

3 

347

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM C O U N T Y  
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
emergency management functions to protect the public's health. safety. or 

welfare. and who presents appropriate credentials. Nor shall any person 

obstruct, hamper, or interfere with any such representative while that 

individual is in the process of carrying out his or her official duties. 

4. Emergency powers. Following a declaration of emergency and during the continuance of 

such state of emergency, the Chair is authorized to implement local emergency measures to 

protect life and property or to bring the emergency situation under control. 

A. State Declared State of Emergency. If the Governor declares a state of emergency for the 

County, the Chair, jointly with the Mayors of the affected areas may cause the following 

provisions of this ordinance to become effective: 

i. Section 18-39.  Authority to Waive Procedures and Fee Structures: 

ii. Section 18-40.  Registration of Building and Repair Services: and/or 

iii. Section 18-41. Closed or Restricted Areas and Curfews during Emergency. 

B. Locally Declared State of Emergency. If the Chair declares a local emergency for the 

County, the Chair, jointly with the Mayors of the affected areas may cause the following 

provisions of this ordinance to become effective: 

i. Section 18-39. Authority to Waive Procedures and Fee Structures: and/or 

ii. Section 18-41. Closed or Restricted Areas and Curfews during Emergency. 
 

If   any of these sections are included in a declaration of local emergency, the same shall 

be filed in the office of the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners and shall be in effect 

until the declaration of local emergency has terminated. 

5. Authority to waive procedures and fees. Pursuant to a declaration of emergency, the Chair of 
the Board of Commissioners is authorized to cause to be effective any of the subsections of 
Section 18-39 of this chapter as appropriate. The implementation of such subsections shall 
be filed in the office of the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

6. Additional emergency powers. The Chair of the Board of Commissioners, jointly with the 

Mayors of the affected areas shall have and may exercise for such period as the declared 

emergency exists or continues. the following additional emergency powers: 

A. To direct and compel the evacuation of all or part of the population from any stricken or 

threatened area. for the preservation of life or other disaster mitigation, response or 

recovery: 

B. To prescribe routes. modes of transportation and destinations in connection with 
evacuation: 

C. To make provision for the availability and use of temporary emergency housing. 

emergency shelters and/or emergency medical shelters: 
D. To transfer the direction. personnel or functions of any county departments for the 

purpose of performing or facilitating emergency services: 
E. To utilize all available resources of the county and subordinate agencies over which the 

county has budgetary control as reasonably necessary to cope with the emergency or 
disaster: 

F. To utilize public property when necessary to cope with the emergency or disaster or 
when there is compelling necessity for the protection of lives, health, and welfare, 
and/or the property of citizens; 

4 
348

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
G. To suspend any ordinance. resolution. order. rules or regulation prescribing the 

procedures for conduct of county business. or the orders, rules or regulations of any 
county department. if strict compliance with any ordinance, resolution, order, rule or 
regulation would in any way prevent, hinder or delay necessary action in coping with 
the emergency or disaster. provided that such suspension shall provide for the minimum 
deviation from the requirements under the circumstances and further provided that. 
when practicable. specialists shall be assigned to avoid adverse effects resulting from 
such suspension: 

H. To provide benefits to citizens upon execution of an intergovernmental agreement for 
grants to meet disaster-related necessary expenses or serious needs of individuals or 
families adversely affected by an emergency or disaster in cases where the individuals 
or families are u nable to meet the expenses or needs from other means. provided that 
such grants are authorized only when matching state or federal funds are available for 
such purposes: 

I. To perform and exercise such other functions, powers, and duties as may be deemed 
necessary to promote and secure the safety and protection of the civilian population, 
including individuals with household pets and service animals prior to, during, and 
following a major disaster or emergency. 

 

7. Form of Declaration of Local Emergency. Upon the declaration of local emergency, an official 

"Declaration of Local Emergency," in substantially the same form set forth below, shall be 
signed and filed in the office of the County Clerk and shall be communicated to the citizens 
of the affected area using the most effective and efficient means available. The declaration 

shall state the nature of the emergency or disaster, the conditions that require the declaration 
and any sections of this chapter that shall be in effect. See Appendix A 

 

8. Contracts with Municipalities . In addition to the normal agreements embodied in the 

county's emergency operations plan for mutual emergency assistance. the Board of 

Commissioners may contract with any munici pality for the administration of an emergency 
response program. 

 

Sec. 18-38.- Enforcement and Remedies. 
 

1. Law Enforcement 
In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-4, the Effingham County Sheriff s Office jointly with the 

Municipality Police Department of the affected areas and the EEMA Director shall be 
authorized to enforce the orders, rules and regulations contained in this ordinance and/or 
implemented by the Chair or Board of Commissioners jointly with the Mayors of the 
affected areas during a declared emergency. 

 

2. Penalties 
Failure to comply with any of the requirements or provisions of the regulations contained in 
this ordinance, or with any code section, order, rule or regulation made effective by the 
Chair or Board of Commissioners upon or at the declaration of an emergency shall 
constitute a violation of the provisions of this ordinance. Any person who violates any 
provision in this ordinance shall, upon conviction thereof, be guilty of a misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine not exceeding $1,000, imprisonment for a term not exceeding 60 days, 
or both such fine and imprisonment, for each violation. Each person assisting in the 
commission of a violation shall be guilty of separate offenses. Each day during which a 
violation or failure to comply continues shall constitute a separate violation. 

5 

349

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 

3. Injunctive Relief 
In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-5. in addition to the remedies prescribed in this section, 
the EMA Director is authorized to obtain an injunction to restrain violation of laws. code 
sections. orders. rules and regulations that are contained in the Georgia Emergency 
Management Act and/or this ordinance. and/or are implemented by the Board of 
Commissioners during a declared emergency. 

 

4. Enforcement 
Except as otherwise provided in this chapter. this ordinance may be enforced by the 
Effingham County Sheriff’s Office jointly with the Municipality Police Department of the 

affected areas and the EEMA Director. 
 

Sec. 18-39. - Authority to Waive Procedures and Fee Structures. 
 

1. County Business. 
Upon declaration of an emergency or disaster by the Governor or Chair of the Board of 

Commissioners, the affairs and business of the county may be conducted at places other 
than the regular or usual location, within or outside of the county, when it is not prudent, 
expedient or possible to conduct business at the regular location. When such meetings occur 
outside of the county, all actions taken by the Board of Commissioners shall be as valid 

and binding as if performed within the county. Such meetings may be called by the presiding 
officer or any two members of the Board of Commissioners without regard to or compliance 

with time-consuming procedures and formalities otherwise required by law. 

 

2. Public Works Contracts 
Upon declaration  of an emergency or disaster by the Governor or Chair of the Board of 
Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners may contract for public works without letting 
such contract out to the lowest, responsible bidder and without  advertising and posting 
notification of such contract for four weeks; provided, however, that the emergency must be 
of such natu re that immediate action is required and that the action  is necessary for the 
protection of the public health, safety and welfare. Any public works contract entered into 
pursuant to this subsection shall be entered on the minutes of the county as soon as practical 
and the nature of the emergency described therein in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 36-91-
22(e). Any E-Verify or Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements ("SAVE") affidavit 

shall be obtained from any contractor if otherwise required by law. 

 

3. Purchasing 
Upon declaration of an emergency or disaster by the Governor or Chairman of the Board of 

Commissioners, the purchasing ordinances, regulations or policies may be suspended. County 

officials shall continue to seek to obtain the best prices during the state of local emergency. 
 

4. Code Enforcement 
Upon declaration of a state of emergency or disaster by the Governor or the Chair of the 
Board of Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners may temporarily suspend the 

6 

350

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
enforcement of the ordinances of the county, or any portion thereof, where the emergency 
is of such nature that immediate action outside the code is required, such suspension is 
consistent with the protection of the public health, safety and welfare, and such suspension 
is not inconsistent with any federal or state statutes or regulations. 

 
5. Fees 

Upon declaration of a state of emergency or disaster by the Governor or the Chair of the 
Board of Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners may temporarily reduce or suspend 
any permit fees, application fees or other rate structures as necessary to encourage the 
rebuilding of the areas impacted by the disaster or emergency, unless Section 18-40 is 
enacted. The term "fees" include fees or rates charged by the county for building permits, 

land disturbance permits, zoning applications, special land use permits, temporary land use 
permits and other fees relating to the reconstruction, repair and cleanup of areas impacted 
by the disaster or emergency. The term "fees" does not include fees collected by the county 
on behalf of the state or federal government or fees charged by the county pursuant to a 
state or federal statute or regulation. 

 
6. Temporary Dwellings 

Upon the declaration of a state of emergency or disaster by the Governor or Chair of the 
Board of Commissioners, the Board of Commissioners or its designees may issue temporary 
permits for mobile homes, trailers, recreational vehicles or other temporary dwelling 
structures or parks in any zoning district, even though not otherwise permitted by 
development code, while the primary dwelling is being repaired, provided that such 

temporary dwellings or parks are designed by an engineer and the plans are approved by 
the county Health Department and Development Services. The temporary permit shall not 
exceed six months in duration. In the case of a continuing hardship, and in the discretion of 
the Board of Commissioners or its designee, the permit may be extended for a period of up 
to an additional six months. U pon expiration of the temporary permit and/or extension, the 
temporary dwelling must be removed. 

 

Sec. 18-40. - Registration of Building and Repair Services 

 

1. In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-56, before building. constructing. repairing. renovating 
or making improvements to any real property. including dwellings. homes. buildings. 
structures or fixtures within an area in the u nincorporated area of the county located in a 
declared emergency or disaster zone, any person. firm. partnership. corporation or other 
entity not actively licensed through Effingham County must register with the Effingham 
County Development Services. All persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or any other 
entities must secure an emergency building permit that is posted at the work site. Each day 
any such entity does business in the county without complying with this ordinance 
constitutes a separate offense. 

 
2. The cost of registration fees in a declared emergency or disaster is fixed at $50.00 per 

annum. Registration is nontransferable. The cost of the emergency building permit shall be 
equal to the cost for a building permit under existing regulations. The permit shall only be 
authorized for repairs. 

 

3. When registering, any person, partnership, corporation or other entity making application 
must, under oath, complete an application. providing the following information: 
A. Name of applicant: 

7 

351

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM C O U N T Y  
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
B. Permanent address and phone number of applicant: 

C. Applicant's Social Security number or federal Employer Identification number: 

D. If applicant is a corporation. the state and date of incorporation: 
E. Tag registration information for each vehicle to be used in the business: 

F. List of cities and/or counties where the applicant has conducted business within the 
past 12 months: 

G. Georgia sales tax number or authorization: 
H. Georgia business license number, if required. 
I. Copy of license from the Secretary of State if required. 
J. A signed and sworn affidavit verifying the applicant's legal presence in the United States 

as required by O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1. 

K.  At least one secure and verifiable document as defined in O.C.G.A. § 50-36-2. 
 

4. Effective date. This section shall become effective only upon the signing of a declaration of 
emergency by the Governor and a local declaration stating this section is in effect. Unless 
otherwise specified in the declaration of emergency or otherwise extended by the Board of 
Commissioners. the provisions of this Code section shall remain in effect during the state of 
emergency and for a subsequent recovery period of three months. 

 

Sec. 18-41.- Closed or Restricted Areas and Curfews during Emergency. 
 

1. To preserve, protect or sustain the life, health, welfare or safety of persons, or their property, 

within a designated area under a declaration of emergency, it shall be unlawful for any person 
to travel, loiter, wander or stroll in or upon the public streets, highways, roads, lanes, parks 
or other public grounds, public places, public buildings, places of amusement, eating places, 
vacant lots or any other place  during a declared emergency between the hours specified 
by the Chair until the curfew is lifted. 

 
2. To promote order. protect lives. minimize the potential for looting and other crimes. and 

facilitate recovery operations during an emergency. the Chair shall have discretion to  impose 
reentry restrictions on certain areas. The Chair shall exercise such discretion in accordance 
with the local emergency operations plan, which shall be followed during emergencies. 

 

3. The provisions of this section shall not apply to persons acting in the following capacities: 

A. Authorized and essential law enforcement personnel; 

B.   Authorized and essential health care providers; 

C. Authorized and essential personnel of the county; 

D. Authorized National Guard or federal military personnel; 

E. Authorized and essential firefighters; 

F. Authorized and essential emergency response personnel; 

G. Authorized and essential personnel or volunteers working with or through the 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency (EEMA);  

H. Authorized and essential utility repair crews; 

I. Citizens seeking to restore order to their homes or businesses while on their own 

property or place of business; 

J. Other authorized and essential persons as designated on a list compiled by the EEMA 

Director. 

 

 
8 

352

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
4. Enforceability. This section shall be enforced by the Effingham County Sheriff’s Office jointly 

with the Municipality Police Department of the affected areas and the EEMA Director 

 

 

5. Effective date. This section shall become effective only upon the signing of a declaration of 

emergency, stating this section is in effect 
 
 

Sec. 18-42. - Regulation Continued in Effect 
All ordinances, resolutions. motions and orders pertaining to civil defense, homeland security, 

emergency management and disaster relief that are not in conflict with th is  chapter are 

continued in full force and effect. Such ordinances. etc., are on file in the office of the County 

Clerk. 
 

 

Sec.18-43.- 18-102.- Reserved 

ARTICLE III. - RESERVED. 

ARTICLE IV. - RESERVED. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
9 

353

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
APPENDIX A 

DECLARATION OF LOCAL EMERGENCY 
 

WHEREAS, Effingham County, Georgia has experienced an event of critical significance as a result of 
[description of event] on [date]; 

 

WHEREAS, the Governor has/ has not declared a state of emergency for Effingham County; 

 

WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Chair of the Effingham County Board of Commissioners, with 
advice from the Effingham Emergency Management Agency, there exist emergency circumstances 

located in [describe geographic location] requiring extraordinary and immediate corrective actions 
for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Effingham County, including 
individuals with household pets and service animals; and 

 

WHEREAS, to prevent or minimize injury to people and damage to property resulting from this 
event, certain actions are required. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the authority vested in me by local and state law; 

 

IT IS H EREBY DECLARED that a local state of emergency exists and shall continue until the 
conditions requiring this declaration are abated. 

 

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED: 

 

(1) That the Effingham County Emergency Management Agency activates the Emergency 
Operations Plan; 

 

(2) That the following sections of the Effingham County Code be implemented [If deemed 
appropriate, choose from the following]: 

 

Section 18-39- Authority to Waive Procedures and Fee Structures 

Section18-40- Registration of Building and Repair Services (to be effective only if the 

Governor declares a state of emergency) 
Section 18-41- Closed or Restricted Areas and Curfews during Emergency. 

Section {Any other emergency management ordinances, such as an emergency 
purchasing ordinance, etc.] 

 

(3) That the following measures also be implemented: 

[If deemed appropriate, select items from Section 18-37(3.D.ii}, (iii) or (iv) or such 
other measures as appropriate.) 
ENTERED at [time] on [date]. 

 

{Signed] 
 

Chair, Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

 

 

 

 

10 

354

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 

 

 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF EFFI NGHAM 

APPENDIX B 

General Release Agreement 

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF work performed by Effingham County on subject property 
located at  I/we, the owners of subject property acknowledge and do 
forever release, acquit, discharge and covenant to hold harmless Effingham County and any of its 
officers, agents, and employees from any and all action, causes of action, claims, demands, damages, 
costs, loss of services, compensation, and losses and expenses of whatsoever kind or nature in law 
or equity, for and on account of, or in any way growing out of, any and all known and unknown 
personal injuries and/or property damages that the undersigned may now or hereafter have as 
owners of the subject property resulting from work being performed on the subject property on or 
about 20_. 
It is further understood and agreed that this Release Agreement extends to and includes 
indemnification for the negligence, if any, of the county, its officers, agents, servants and 
employees either direct or vicarious, or for its or their own act or omission that would or 
may constitute negligence of which would or may constitute the creation or maintenance 
of a nuisance. I/we have carefully read the foregoing and fully understand and agree to the same 
and have executed the same freely and voluntarily. Furthermore, I/we have consulted or been given 
the opportunity to consult with an attorney of my/our own choosing prior to the execution of this 
document. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the u ndersigned has/have here unto set his/her/their hand and seal this 
         day of 20_. 

 

Owner: _ 
 

 

Owner: _ 

 
Signed, Sealed and Sworn to and Subscribed 
before the undersigned unofficial witness and notary public 

Witness 

Notary Public, State of Georgia 

My Commission Expires: _______________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11 355

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

ORDINANCE REGARDING EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
 

 

 

 

 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFI NGHAM COUNTY 

APPENDIX C 
Right of Entry and Agreement to Allow Use of 

Property as a Result of State of Emergency 

This Right of Entry and Agreement to Allow Use of Property as a Result of State of Emergency is 

entered into between the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

("County"), 601 North Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 and [print the name and address 
of property owner[s)] ("Property Owner(s)"). I n consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR 

($1.00), the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the parties, we 

agree as follows: 

 

WH EREAS, as a result of [insert a description of the emergency], a state of emergency has been 

declared for the County; and 

 
WHEREAS, certain real property is needed by the County Emergency Management Agency to be 
used for    

 

NOW THEREFORE IT IS AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES THAT [print the name of property 
owner(s)] am/are the owner(s) of property located at Map # _, and Parcel #  of 

Effingham County and shown on the map filed in the Effingham County Tax Offices. I/we agree to allow 

the Effingham County Board of Commissioners ("County"), their employees and agents to enter the 

above referenced property for purposes of establishing  for a 

period up to days, 

unless otherwise extended by mutual agreement. 

 
County: Property Owner: 

 
Effingham 

 
DATE: DATE: 

 

 

 

 
Property Owner: 

 

 

 

 

DATE: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12 356

Item XI. 5.



EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

ORDINANCE REGARDING EM ERGENCY MAN AGEMENT 
 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

BE IT FU RTHER ORDAI NE D that this ordinance shall become effective upon its 

approval. 

So ordained this day of      

Board of Commissioners of Effingham Cou nty, Georgia 

 

13 

357

Item XI. 5.



DISTRIBUTION LIST 
 

Agency Number of Copies 

Amateur Radio Emergency Service 1 

American Red Cross  Savannah Chapter 1 

City of Guyton 1 

City of Rincon 1 

City of Springfield 1 

Effingham 911 1 

Effingham Animal Control 1 

Effingham Board of Commissioners 1 

Effingham Board of Education 1 

Effingham Building and Zoning 1 

Effingham Coroner 1 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency  

Effingham County Prison 1 

Effingham County Sheriff's Office 1 

Effingham County Water and Sewer 1 

Effingham Emergency Medical Service 1 

Effingham Environmental Services 1 

Effingham Fire Rescue 1 

Effingham Health Department 1 

Effingham Hospital 1 

Effingham Public Works 1 

Extension Service 1 

G.S.P. Post 42 1 

GA DHR  DFCS 1 

GA DOT 1 

Georgia Forestry Commission 1 

Georgia Power 1 

Guyton Police 1 

Recreation Department 1 

Rincon Fire Department 1 

Rincon Police Department 1 

Springfield Police Department 1 

358

Item XI. 5.



PREFACE 

This Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) describes the management and coordination of resources and 
personnel during periods of major emergency. This comprehensive local emergency operations plan is 
developed to ensure mitigation and preparedness, appropriate response and timely recovery from natural and 
manmade hazards which may affect residents of Effingham County. 

 

This plan supersedes the Emergency Operations Plan dated from old LEOP. It incorporates guidance from 
the Georgia Emergency Management Agency (GEMA) as well as lessons learned from disasters and 
emergencies that have threatened Effingham County. The plan: 

 

Defines emergency response in compliance with the State mandated Emergency Operations Plan 
process. 

 

Establishes emergency response policies that provide Departments and Agencies with guidance for the 
coordination and direction of municipal plans and procedures. 

 

Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises. 
 

The plan consists of the following components: 
 

The Basic Plan describes the structure and processes comprising a county approach to incident 
management designed to integrate the efforts of municipal governments, the private sector, and 
nongovernmental organizations. The Basic Plan includes the: purpose, situation, assumptions, concept 
of operations, organization, assignment of responsibilities, administration, logistics, planning and 
operational activities. 

 

Appendices provide other relevant supporting information, including terms, definitions, and authorities. 
 

Emergency Support Function Annexes detail the missions, policies, structures, and responsibilities of 
County agencies for coordinating resource and programmatic support to municipalities during Incidents 
of Critical Significance. 

 

Support Annexes prescribe guidance and describe functional processes and administrative requirements 
necessary to ensure efficient and effective implementation of incident management objectives. 

 

Incident Annexes address contingency or hazard situations requiring specialized application of the 
EOP. The Incident Annexes describe the missions, policies, responsibilities, and coordination 
processes that govern the interaction of public and private entities engaged in incident management 
and emergency response operations across a spectrum of potential hazards. Due to security 
precautions and changing nature of their operational procedures, 
these Annexes, their supporting plans, and operational supplements are published separately. 

 

The following is a summary of the 15 Emergency Support Functions: 
 

1. Transportation: Support and assist municipal, county, private sector, and voluntary 
organizations requiring transportation for an actual or potential Incident of Critical 
Significance. 

 

2. Communications: Ensures the provision of communications support to municipal, county, and private 
sector response efforts during an Incident of Critical Significance. 

359

Item XI. 5.



3. Public Works and Engineering: Coordinates and organizes the capabilities and resources of the 
municipal and county governments to facilitate the delivery of services, technical assistance, 
engineering expertise, construction management, and other support to prevent, prepare for, respond 
to, and/or recover from an Incident of Critical Significance. 

 

4. Firefighting: Enable the detection and suppression of wildland, rural, and urban fires resulting from, 
or occurring coincidentally with an Incident of Critical Significance. 

 

5. Emergency Management Services: Responsible for supporting overall activities of the County 
Government for County incident management. 

 

6. Mass Care, Housing and Human Services: Supports Countywide, municipal, and 
nongovernmental organization efforts to address nonmedical mass care, housing, and human 
services needs of individuals and/or families impacted by Incidents of Critical Significance. 

 

7. Resource Support: Supports volunteer services, County agencies, and municipal 

governments tracking, providing, and/or requiring resource support before, during, and/or after 
Incidents of Critical Significance. 

 

8. Public Health and Medical Services: Provide the mechanism for coordinated County assistance to 
supplement municipal resources in response to public health and medical care needs (to include 
veterinary and/or animal health issues when appropriate) for potential or actual Incidents of Critical 
Significance and/or during a developing potential health and medical situation. 

 

9. Search and Rescue: Rapidly deploy components of the National US Response System to provide 
specialized lifesaving assistance to municipal authorities during an Incident of Critical Significance. 

 

10. Hazardous Materials: Coordinate County support in response to an actual or potential discharge and/or 
uncontrolled release of oil or hazardous materials during Incidents of Critical Significance. 

 

11. Agriculture and Natural Resources: supports County and authorities and other agency efforts to 
address: Provision of nutrition assistance; control and eradication of an outbreak of a highly contagious 
or economically devastating animal/zoonotic disease; assurance of food safety and food security and; 
protection of natural and cultural resources and historic properties. 

 

12. Energy: Restore damaged energy systems and components during a potential of actual Incident 
of Critical Significance. 

 

13. Public Safety and Security Services: Integrates County public safety and security capabilities and 
resources to support the full range of incident management activities associated with potential or 
actual Incidents of Critical Significance. 

 

14. Long Term Recovery and Mitigation: Provides a framework for County Government support to 
municipal governments, nongovernmental organizations, and the private sector designed to enable 
community recovery from the long-term consequences of an Incident of Critical Significance. 

 

15. External Affairs: Ensures that sufficient County assets are deployed to the field during a potential or 
actual Incident of Critical Significance to provide accurate, coordinated, and timely information to 
affected audiences, including governments, media, the private sector, and the populace. 

360

Item XI. 5.



BASIC PLAN 

 

I. Introduction____________________________________________________________________ 

Summary 
 

This plan establishes a framework for emergency management planning and response to: prevent emergency 
situations; reduce vulnerability during disasters; establish capabilities to protect residents from effects of 
crisis; respond effectively and efficiently to actual emergencies; and provide for rapid recovery from any 
emergency or disaster affecting the local jurisdiction and Effingham County. 

 

This Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) is predicated on the National Incident Management System (NIMS) 
which integrates the capabilities and resources of various municipal jurisdictions, incident management and 
emergency response disciplines, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), and the private sector into a 
cohesive, coordinated, and seamless framework for incident management. The EOP, using the NIMS, is an all 
hazards plan that provides the structure and mechanisms for policy and operational coordination for incident 
management. Consistent with the model provided in the NIMS, the EOP can be partially or fully implemented 
in the context of a threat, anticipation of a significant event, or the response to a significant event. Selective 
implementation through the activation of one or more of the systems components allows maximum flexibility 
in meeting the unique operational and information sharing requirements of the situation at hand and enabling 
effective interaction between various entities. The EOP, as the core operational plan for incident management, 
establishes county level coordinating structures, processes, and protocols that will be incorporated into certain 
existing interagency incident or hazard specific plans (such as the Hurricane Plan) that is designed to 
implement specific statutory authorities and responsibilities of various departments and agencies in particular 
contingency. 

 

Purpose 
 

The purpose of the EOP is to establish a comprehensive, countywide, all hazards approach to incident 
management across a spectrum of activities including prevention, preparedness, response, and recovery. The 
EOP incorporates best practices and procedures from various incident management disciplines  homeland 
security, emergency management, law enforcement, firefighting, hazardous materials response, public works, 
public health, emergency medical services, and responder and recovery worker health and safety  and 
integrates them into a unified coordinating structure. The EOP provides the framework for interaction with 
municipal governments; the private sector; and NGOs in the context of incident prevention, preparedness, 
response, and recovery activities. It describes capabilities and resources and establishes responsibilities, 
operational processes, and protocols to help protect from natural and manmade hazards; save 
lives; protect public health, safety, property, and the environment; and reduce adverse psychological 
consequences and disruptions. Finally, the EOP serves as the foundation for the development of detailed 
supplemental plans and procedures to effectively and efficiently implement incident management activities 
and assistance in the context of specific types of incidents. 

 

The EOP, using the NIMS, establishes mechanisms to: 
 

Maximize the integration of incident related prevention, preparedness, response, and recovery 
activities; 

 

Improve coordination and integration of County, municipal, private sector, and nongovernmental 
organization partners; 

361

Item XI. 5.



Maximize efficient utilization of resources needed for effective incident management and Critical 
Infrastructure/Key Resources protection and restoration; 

 

Improve incident management communications and increase situational awareness across jurisdictions 
and between the public and private sectors; 

 

Facilitate emergency mutual aid and emergency support to municipal governments; 
 

Provide a proactive and integrated response to catastrophic events; and 
 

Address linkages to other incident management and emergency response plans developed for specific 
types of incidents or hazards. 

 

A number of plans are linked to the EOP in the context of disasters or emergencies, but remain as 
standalone documents in that they also provide detailed protocols for responding to routine incidents that 
normally are managed by County agencies without the need for supplemental coordination. The EOP also 
incorporates other existing emergency response and incident management plans (with appropriate 
modifications and revisions) as integrated components, operational supplements, or supporting tactical plans. 

 

This plan consists of the following components: Scope and 

Applicability 

The EOP covers the full range of complex and constantly changing requirements in anticipation of or in 
response to threats or acts of terrorism, major disasters, and other emergencies. The EOP also provides the 
basis to initiate long-term community recovery and mitigation activities. 

 

The EOP establishes interagency and multijurisdictional mechanisms for involvement in and coordination 
of, incident management operations. 

 

This plan distinguishes between incidents that require County coordination, termed disasters or emergencies, 
and the majority of incidents that are handled by responsible jurisdictions or agencies through other 
established authorities and existing plans. 

 

In addition, the EOP: 
 

Recognizes and incorporates the various jurisdictional and functional authorities of departments and 
agencies; municipal governments; and private sector organizations in incident management. 

 

Details the specific incident management roles and responsibilities of the departments and agencies 
involved in incident management as defined in relevant statutes and directives. 

 

Establishes the multiagency organizational structures and processes required to implement the 
authorities, roles, and responsibilities for incident management. 

 

This plan is applicable to all departments and agencies that may be requested to provide assistance or 
conduct operations in the context of actual or potential disasters or emergencies. 

 

Disasters or emergencies are high impact events that require a coordinated and effective response by an 
appropriate combination of County, municipal, private sector, and nongovernmental entities in order to save 
lives, minimize damage, and provide the basis for long-term community recovery and mitigation activities. 

 

Key Concepts 

 

362

Item XI. 5.



II.   Planning Assumptions and Considerations __________________________________________ 
 

The EOP is based on the planning assumptions and considerations presented in this section. 
 

Incidents are typically managed at the lowest possible organizational and jurisdictional level. 
 

Incident management activities will be initiated and conducted using the principles contained in the 
NIMS and the ICS. 

 

The combined expertise and capabilities of government at all levels, the private sector, and 
nongovernmental organizations will be required to prevent, prepare for, respond to, and recover from 
disasters and emergencies. 

 

Disasters and emergencies require the Effingham County Emergency Management Agency to 
coordinate operations and/or resources, and may: 

 

Occur at any time with little or no warning in the context of a general or specific threat or hazard; 
 

Require significant information sharing at the unclassified and classified levels across multiple 
jurisdictions and between the public and private sectors; 

 

Involve single or multiple jurisdictions; 
 

Have significant regional impact and/or require significant regional information sharing, 
resource coordination, and/or assistance; 

 

Span the spectrum of incident management to include prevention, preparedness, response, and 
recovery; 

 

Involve multiple, highly varied hazards or threats on a regional scale; 
 

Result in numerous casualties; fatalities; displaced people; property loss; disruption of normal 
life support systems, essential public services, and basic infrastructure; and significant damage 
to the environment; 

 

Impact critical infrastructures across sectors; 
 

Overwhelm capabilities of municipal governments, and private sector infrastructure owners and 
operators; 

 

Attract a sizeable influx of independent, spontaneous volunteers and supplies; 
 

Require extremely short notice asset coordination and response timelines; and 
 

Require prolonged, sustained incident management operations and support activities. 
 

Top priorities for incident management are to: 
 

Save lives and protect the health and safety of the public, responders, and recovery workers; 
 

Ensure security of the county; 
 

Prevent an imminent incident, including acts of terrorism, from occurring; 

363

Item XI. 5.



Protect and restore critical infrastructure and key resources; 
 

Conduct law enforcement investigations to resolve the incident, apprehend the 
perpetrators, and collect and preserve evidence for prosecution and/or attribution; 

 

Protect property and mitigate the damage and impact to individuals, communities, and the 
environment; and 

 

Facilitate recovery of individuals, families, businesses, governments, and the environment. 
 

Deployment of resources and incident management actions during an actual or potential terrorist 
incident are conducted in coordination with the Georgia Bureau of Investigation (GBI) and 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). 

 

Departments and agencies at all levels of government and certain NGOs, such as the American 
Red Cross, may be required to deploy to disaster areas or emergency events on short notice to 
provide timely and effective mutual aid and/or intergovernmental assistance. 

 

The degree of County involvement in incident operations depends largely upon the specific 
authority or jurisdiction. Other factors that may be considered include: 

 

The municipal needs and/or requests for external support, or ability to manage the incident; 
 

The economic ability of the affected entity to recover from the incident; 
 

The type or location of the incident; 
 

The severity and magnitude of the incident; and 
 

The need to protect the public health or welfare or the environment. 
 

Departments and agencies support these mission in accordance with authorities and 
guidance and are expected to provide: 

 

Initial and/or ongoing response, when warranted, under their own authorities and 
funding; 

 

Alert, notification, prepositioning, and timely delivery of resources to enable the 
management of potential and actual disasters or emergencies; and 

 

Proactive support for catastrophic or potentially catastrophic incidents using 
protocols for expedited delivery of resources. 

 

For disasters or emergencies that are Presidentially declared, state and/or Federal support is 
delivered in accordance with relevant provisions of the Stafford Act. (Note that while all 
Presidentially declared disasters and emergencies under the Stafford Act are considered 
incidents of critical significance, not all incidents necessarily result in disaster or 
emergency declarations under the Stafford Act.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
364

Item XI. 5.



 

 

Emergency Declaration Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMERGENCY or DISASTER 
OCCURS 

 
County assesses the damage 

The highest elected official of 
jurisdiction having authority reviews 

damage reports and determines if local 
resources and mutual aid assets have 

been exhausted 

Once signed, a copy is sent to 
 GEMA 

 
EMA Director sends damage reports to 

GEMA Area Field Coordinator 

Damage reports collected by EMA Director and 
forwarded to the highest elected official of 

jurisdiction having authority 

If appropriate, local State of 
Emergency Declaration is prepared 

A copy of County’s declaration is sent 
to the affected cities within the County 

It is anticipated and expected that if the emergency or disaster is obviously widespread and all local resources mutual 
aid assets have already been exhausted, the highest elected official of jurisdiction having authority can make a 

declaration without waiting for a report regarding damages. 
 

365

Item XI. 5.



This section summarizes key concepts that are reflected throughout the EOP. 
 

Systematic and coordinated incident management, including protocols for: 
 

Coordinated action; 
 

Alert and notification; 
 

Mobilization of County resources to augment existing municipal capabilities; 
 

Operating under differing threats or threat levels; and 
 

Integration of crisis and consequence management functions. 
 

Proactive notification and deployment of resources in anticipation of or in response to catastrophic 
events in coordination and collaboration with municipal governments and private entities when 
possible. 

 

Organizing interagency efforts to minimize damage, restore impacted areas to pre incident conditions 
if feasible, and/or implement programs to mitigate vulnerability to future events. 

 

Coordinating worker safety and health, private sector involvement, and other activities that are common 
to the majority of incidents (see Support Annexes). 

 

Organizing ESFs to facilitate the delivery of critical resources, assets, and assistance. Departments and 
agencies are assigned to lead or support ESFs based on authorities, resources, and capabilities. 

 

Providing mechanisms for vertical and horizontal coordination, communications, and information 
sharing in response to threats or incidents. These mechanisms facilitate coordination among municipal 
entities and the County Government, as well as between the public and private sectors. 

 

Facilitating support to County departments and agencies acting under the requesting department or 
agency’s own authorities. 

 

Developing detailed supplemental operations, tactical, and hazard specific contingency plans and 
procedures. 

 

Providing the basis for coordination of interdepartmental and municipal planning, training, exercising, 
assessment, coordination, and information exchange. 

366

Item XI. 5.



 III.   Roles and Responsibilities ________________________________________________________ 

Local Government Responsibilities 

 
Police, fire, public health and medical, emergency management, public works, environmental response, and 
other personnel are often the first to arrive and the last to leave an incident site. In some instances, a County 
agency in the area may act as a first responder, and the assets of County agencies may be used to advise or 
assist municipal officials in accordance with agency authorities and procedures. Mutual aid agreements 
provide mechanisms to mobilize and employ resources from neighboring jurisdictions to support the incident 
command. When resources and capabilities are overwhelmed, the County may request State assistance under 
a Governors disaster or emergency declaration. 
 
Summarized below are the responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer. 

 
A municipal mayor or city or County Chairman or their designee, as a jurisdictions chief executive, is 
responsible for the public safety and welfare of the people of that jurisdiction. The Chief Executive Officer: 

 

Is responsible for coordinating resources to address the full spectrum of actions to prevent, prepare for, 
respond to, and recover from incidents involving all hazards including terrorism, natural disasters, 
accidents, and other contingencies; 

 

Dependent upon law, has extraordinary powers to suspend laws and ordinances, such as to establish a 
curfew, direct evacuations, and, in coordination with the health authority, to order a quarantine; 

 

Provides leadership and plays a key role in communicating to the public, and in helping people, 
businesses, and organizations cope with the consequences of any type of incident within the 
jurisdiction; 

 

Negotiates and enters into mutual aid agreements with other jurisdictions to facilitate resource sharing; 

and 

 

Requests State and, if necessary, Federal assistance through the Governor of the State when the 
jurisdictions capabilities have been exceeded or exhausted. 

 

Emergency Support Functions 

 
The EOP applies a functional approach that groups the capabilities of municipal and county departments and 
some volunteer and nongovernment organizations into ESFs to provide the planning, support, resources, 
program implementation, and emergency services that are most likely to be needed during disaster or 
emergency incidents. The County response to actual or potential disasters or emergencies is typically 
provided through the full or partial activation of the ESF structure as necessary. The ESFs serve as the 
coordination mechanism to provide assistance to municipal governments or to County departments and 
agencies conducting missions of primary County responsibility. 

 
Each ESF is comprised of primary and support agencies. The EOP identifies primary agencies on the basis of 
authorities, resources, and capabilities. Support agencies are assigned based on resources and capabilities in a 
given functional area. The resources provided by the ESFs reflect categories identified in the NIMS. ESFs 
are expected to support one another in carrying out their respective roles and responsibilities. Additional 
discussion on roles and responsibilities of ESF primary agencies, and support agencies can be found in the 
introduction to the ESF Annexes. 

 
Note that not all disaster or emergency incidents result in the activation of all ESFs. It is possible that an incident 
can be adequately addressed by agencies through activation of certain EOP elements without the activation of 
ESFs. Similarly, operational security considerations may dictate that activation of EOP elements be kept to a 
minimum, particularly in the context of certain terrorism prevention activities.  
 
Nongovernmental and Volunteer Organizations 
 
Nongovernmental and volunteer organizations collaborate with first responders, governments at all levels, and 
other agencies and organizations providing relief services to sustain life, reduce physical and emotional 

367

Item XI. 5.



distress, and promote recovery of disaster victims when assistance is not available from other sources. For 
example, the American Red Cross is an NGO that provides relief at the local level and also supports the Mass 
Care element of ESF 6. Community based organizations receive government funding to provide essential 
public health services. 

 
The Voluntary Organizations Active in Disaster (VOAD) is a consortium of approximately 30 recognized 
organizations of volunteers active in disaster relief. Such entities provide significant capabilities to incident 
management and response efforts at all levels. For example, the wildlife rescue and rehabilitation activities 
conducted during a pollution emergency are often carried out by private, nonprofit organizations working 
with natural resource trustee agencies. 

 

Private Sector  

 

EOP primary and support agencies coordinate with the private sector to effectively share information, form 

courses of action, and incorporate available resources to prevent, prepare for, respond to, and recover from 

disasters and emergencies. 

 

Roles 

 
The roles, responsibilities, and participation of the private sector during a disaster or emergency incident vary 
based on the nature of the organization and the type and impact of the incident. The roles of private sector 
organizations are summarized below. 

 

Impacted Organization or Infrastructure 

 
Private sector organizations may be affected by direct or indirect consequences of the incident, including 
privately owned critical infrastructure, key resources, and those main private sector organizations that 
are significant to regional economic recovery from the incident. Examples of privately owned 
infrastructure include transportation, telecommunications, private utilities, financial institutions, and 
hospitals. 

 

Response Resource 

 
Private sector organizations provide response resources (donated or compensated) during an incident  
including specialized teams, equipment, and advanced technologies  through public private emergency 
plans, mutual aid agreements, or incident specific requests from government and private sector volunteer 
initiatives. 

 

Regulated and/or Responsible Party 

 
Owners/operators of certain regulated facilities or hazardous operations may bear responsibilities under 
the law for preparing for and preventing incidents from occurring, and responding to an incident once it 
occurs. For example, some activities are required by law or regulation to maintain emergency (incident) 
preparedness plans, procedures, and facilities and to perform assessments, prompt notifications, and 
training for a response to an incident. 

 

State/Emergency Organization Member 

 

Private sector organizations may serve as active partners in emergency preparedness and response 
organizations and activities. 

 

Responsibilities 

 
Private sector organizations support the EOP (voluntarily or to comply with applicable laws and regulations) 
by sharing information with the government, identifying risks, performing vulnerability assessments, 
developing emergency response and business continuity plans, enhancing their overall readiness, 
implementing appropriate prevention and protection programs, and donating or otherwise providing goods 

368

Item XI. 5.



and services through contractual arrangement or government purchases to assist in response to and recovery 
from an incident. 

 
Certain organizations are required by existing law and regulation to bear the cost of planning and response to 
incidents, regardless of cause. In the case of an Incident of Critical Significance, these private sector 
organizations are expected to mobilize and employ the resources necessary and available in accordance with 
their plans to address the consequences of incidents at their own facilities or incidents for which they are 
otherwise responsible. 

 

Response Resources 

 
Unless the response role is inherently governmental (e.g., law enforcement, etc.), private sector organizations 
are encouraged to develop and maintain capabilities to respond to and manage a complete spectrum of 
incidents and emergencies. The County Government maintains ongoing interaction with the critical 
infrastructure and key resource industries to provide coordination for prevention, preparedness, response, and 
recovery activities. When practical, or when required under law, private sector representatives should be 
included in planning and exercises. In some cases, the government may direct private sector response 
resources when they have contractual relationships, using government funds. 

 

Functional Coordination 

 
The primary agency/agencies for each ESF maintain(s) working relations with its associated private sector 
counterparts through partnership committees or other means (e.g., ESF 2, Communications  
telecommunications industry; ESF 10, Hazardous Materials  oil and hazardous materials industries; etc.). 

 

Citizen Involvement 

 
Strong partnerships with citizen groups and organizations provide support for incident management 
prevention, preparedness, response, recovery, and mitigation. 

 
The US Citizen Corps brings these groups together and focuses efforts of individuals through education, 
training, and volunteer service to help make communities safer, stronger, and better prepared to address the 
threats of terrorism, crime, public health issues, and disasters of all kinds. 

 
Citizen Corps Councils Implement Citizen Corps programs, which include Community Emergency Response 
Teams (CERTs), Medical Reserve Corps, Neighborhood Watch, Volunteers in Police Service, and the affiliate 
programs; provide opportunities for special skills and interests; develop targeted outreach for special needs 
groups; and organize special projects and community events. 

 
Citizen Corps Affiliate Programs expand the resources and materials available to communities through 
partnerships with programs and organizations that offer resources for public education, outreach, and training; 
represent volunteers interested in helping to make their communities safer; or offer volunteer service 
opportunities to support first responders, disaster relief activities, and community safety efforts. 

 
Other programs unaffiliated with Citizen Corps also provide organized citizen involvement opportunities in 
support of response to major disasters and events of Critical Significance. 

 

Citizen Corps 

 
The Citizen Corps works through a Citizen Corps Council that brings together leaders from law enforcement, 
fire, emergency medical and other emergency management, volunteer organizations, elected officials, the 
private sector, and other community stakeholders. 

 
 

 

IV. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS _______________________________________________________ 
 

 

Phases of Emergency Management 
369

Item XI. 5.



 
Mitigation 

 
Activities designed to reduce or eliminate risks to persons or property or to lessen the actual or potential 
effects or consequences of an incident. Mitigation measures implemented prior to, during, or after an 
incident are intended to prevent the occurrence of an emergency, reduce the community's vulnerability 
and/or minimize the adverse impact of disasters or emergencies. A preventable measure, for instance, is the 
enforcement of building codes to minimize such situations. 

 
Preparedness 

 
Actions taken to avoid an incident or to intervene to stop an incident from occurring. Preparedness involves 
actions taken prior to an emergency to protect lives and property and to support and enhance disaster response. 
Planning, training, exercises, community awareness and education are among such activities. 

 
Response 

 
Activities that address the short-term, direct effects of an incident. These activities include immediate actions 
to preserve life, property, and the environment; meet basic human needs; and maintain the social, economic, 
and political structure of the affected community. Also included are direction and coordination, warning, 
evacuation, and similar operations that help reduce casualties and damage, and speed recovery. 

 
Recovery 

 
The development, coordination, and execution of service and site restoration plans and the reconstitution of 
government operations and services through individual, private sector, nongovernmental, and public 
assistance programs. Short-term recovery includes damage assessment and the return of vital functions, such 
as utilities and emergency services, to minimum operating standards. When rebuilding and relocating is due 
to damaged property, long-term recovery activities may continue for years. 

 
General 

 

A basic premise of the EOP is that incidents are generally handled at the lowest jurisdictional level 
possible. Police, fire, public health, medical, emergency management, and other personnel are 
responsible for incident management at that level. Accordingly, in order to protect life and property 
from the effects of emergencies, government is responsible for all emergency management activities. 
When operating under such conditions, Effingham Emergency Management Agency will utilize all 
available resources from within the County, including voluntary and private assets, before requesting 
other assistance. After an emergency exceeds local capacity to respond, assistance will be requested 
from other jurisdictions and the state through GEMA. Upon a Presidential declaration, assistance as 
requested by the state may be provided through Federal ESFs and/or other resources. 

 

Consistent with the commitment to comprehensive emergency management, this plan addresses major 
emergency situations that may develop in the county. It outlines activities that address mitigation, 
preparedness, response and recovery. The plan emphasizes the capacity of Effingham Emergency 
Management Agency.  

 

In coordination with the county and municipal governments, Effingham Emergency Management 
Agency will implement interagency coordination for emergency operations. 

 

In coordination with the county and municipal governments, Effingham Emergency Management 
370

Item XI. 5.



Agency, via the public information designee, will release all emergency information. 
 

If an agency requests functional support from another agency or organization, assigned personnel and 
resources will be coordinated by the agency responsible for the ESF. 

 

All agencies will inform Effingham Emergency Management Agency of personnel assigned to work in 
the Emergency Operations Center (EOC.) 

 

 

V. DIRECTION AND CONTROL   
 

Continuity of Government/Continuity of Operations (COG/COOP) 
 

Local governments and jurisdictions must be prepared to continue their minimum essential functions 
throughout the spectrum of possible threats from natural disasters through acts of terrorism. COG/COOP 
planning facilitates the performance of State and local government and services during an emergency that 
may disrupt normal operations. 

 

Government continuity planning facilitates the performance government and services during an 
emergency that may disrupt normal operations. Contingency plans for the continuity of operations of 
vital government functions and jurisdictions will allow agencies to continue their minimum essential 
operations and maintain authority. These plans include the spectrum of possible threats from natural 
disasters through acts of terrorism. 

 

Continuity of Government (COG) and Continuity of Operations (COOP) measures will establish lines 
of personnel succession, ensuring that authority is delegated to appropriate personnel prior to an 
emergency. Executive office personnel and agency managers will identify, notify, and train the 
individuals next in line. In addition, personnel will be familiar with alert, notification and deployment 
procedures to provide for command and control of response and recovery operations. 

 

Preservation of Records addresses the protection of essential records (e.g., vital statistics, deeds, 
corporation papers, operational plans, resource data, personnel and payroll records, inventory lists, 
laws, charters, and financial documents) by the appropriate agency following an emergency or disaster. 
Governments will plan for preservation of succession and delegation of authority and records necessary 
for carrying out governments legal and financial functions and the protection of legal and financial 
rights of citizens. 

 

The EMA director, under the direction of the local government, is responsible for the following, but not 
limited to: 

 

Determine who is responsible for direction and control at the executive level; 
 

Describe the decision process for implementing COG/COOP plans and procedures, including 
reliable, effective, and timely notification; 

 

Establish measures for the protection of vital records; 
 

Identify the agencies and personnel (including lines of succession) responsible for providing 
water, electricity, natural gas, sewer, and sanitation services in affected areas; 

 

Identify the location of and contact points for Emergency Management Assistance 
Compacts (EMACs), Memoranda of Understanding (MOU), and other cooperative 
agreements 

 

 
371

Item XI. 5.



COG/COOP succession of authority plans are outlined in the Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency Emergency Operations Plan Annex. 

 

 

VI. INCIDENT MANAGEMENT ACTIONS   
 

Services and Resources 
 

An emergency or disaster may place great demands on services and resources. Priority will be based on 
essential needs, such as food, water, and medical assistance. Other services and resources will be acquired 
after establishing the need. 

 

Commitment of Services and Resources 
 

Local governments will commit services and resources in order to save lives and protect property. 
Response agencies will first utilize services and resources available through their agency or 
organization. Additional needs may be met from other governments, agencies and/or organizations 
through mutual-aid or Memorandums of Understanding (MOU). After these sources have been 
exhausted, additional state resources may be requested from GEMA through the EOC. Effingham 
County Emergency Management Agency maintains an extensive service and resource directory that is 
maintained by ESF 7. 

 

Detailed records of expenditures are required by all agencies and organizations responding to a disaster 
for possible reimbursement, such as through an authorized Federal disaster declaration. 

 

Local Involvement 
 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will coordinate the efforts of agencies and organizations 
responsible for plan development of ESFs and major revisions. It is strongly recommended that the agencies 
involved in an ESF conduct coordination meetings and develop an ESF plan for their response to each level of 
activation. The plan will be reviewed annually and major revisions completed, as necessary.  

 

State Involvement 
 

Coordination of emergency management planning and operations and service and resource sharing across 
jurisdictional boundaries is necessary. Consequently, the state may be able to assist in the planning process 
(e.g., radiological, hurricane planning). Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will coordinate 
the type and level of assistance. Agencies and organizations with ESF responsibilities will be involved in such 
planning. This assistance should be interpreted as supporting agencies with ESF responsibilities and 
enhancing emergency capabilities. 

 

Standard Operating Procedures 
 

Most agencies and organizations within Effingham County and its municipalities have emergency functions 
to perform in addition to their other duties. Each agency and/or organization with primary ESF 
responsibilities, in conjunction with support agencies and organizations, will develop and maintain Standard 
Operating Procedures (SOPs). These procedures provide detailed direction and coordination of ESF 
responsibilities and critical emergency tasks. 

 

Emergency Operations 
 

Organizational responsibilities are included in each ESF. 

372

Item XI. 5.



Local Responsibilities  

 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency is responsible for the following: 
 

Assist and advise all agencies and/or organizations in the development and coordination of ESFs to 
ensure necessary planning; 

 

Brief and train EOC personnel and volunteers as well as conduct periodic exercises to evaluate support 
function responsibilities; 

 

Manage the EOC for operational readiness; 
 

Coordinate with other emergency management agencies, GEMA, and other emergency response 
organizations; 

 

Maintain a list of all agency contacts including telephone and email addresses (Refer to Effingham 
County Emergency Management Agency EOC Telephone Directory) ; 

 

Update, maintain and distribute the plan and all major revisions to agencies and organizations contained 
on the distribution list; 

 

Advise Effingham County Emergency Management Agency officials, municipalities and agencies with 
ESF responsibilities on the nature, magnitude, and effects of an emergency; and 

 

Coordinate with public information officials to provide emergency information for the public. 
 

Agencies and organizations with ESF responsibilities will: 
 

Develop and maintain the ESF and SOPs, in conjunction with Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency and other supporting agencies; 

 

Designate agency and organization personnel with emergency authority to work on planning, 
mitigation, preparedness and response issues and commit resources. Staff assignments should include 
personnel who are trained to work in the EOC; 

 

Maintain an internal emergency management personnel list with telephone numbers and email 
addresses; 

 

Provide for procurement and management of resources for emergency operations and maintain a list of 
such resources; 

 

Participate in training and exercises to evaluate and enhance ESF capabilities; 
 

Negotiate and prepare MOUs that impact the specific ESF, in conjunction with Effingham County 
Emergency Management Agency ; and 

 

Establish procedures for the maintenance of records, including personnel, travel, operations and 
maintenance expenditures and receipts. 

373

Item XI. 5.



Effingham County Emergency Management Agency is responsible for the following: 
 

Assist and advise all agencies and/or organizations in the development and coordination of ESFs to 
ensure necessary planning; 

 

Brief and train EOC personnel and volunteers as well as conduct periodic exercises to evaluate support 
function responsibilities; 

 

Manage the EOC for operational readiness; 
 

Coordinate with other emergency management agencies, GEMA, and other emergency response 
organizations; 

 

Maintain a list of all agency contacts including telephone and email addresses (Refer to Effingham 
County Emergency Management Agency EOC Telephone Directory) ; 

 

Update, maintain and distribute the plan and all major revisions to agencies and organizations contained 
on the distribution list; 

 

Advise Effingham County Emergency Management Agency officials, municipalities and agencies 
with ESF responsibilities on the nature, magnitude, and effects of an emergency; and 

 

Coordinate with public information officials to provide emergency information for the public. 
 

Agencies and organizations with ESF responsibilities will: 
 

Develop and maintain the ESF and SOPs, in conjunction with Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency and other supporting agencies; 

 

Designate agency and organization personnel with emergency authority to work on planning, 
mitigation, preparedness and response issues and commit resources. Staff assignments should include 
personnel who are trained to work in the EOC; 

 

Maintain an internal emergency management personnel list with telephone numbers and email 
addresses; 

 

Provide for procurement and management of resources for emergency operations and maintain a list of 
such resources; 

 

Participate in training and exercises to evaluate and enhance ESF capabilities; 
 

Negotiate and prepare MOUs that impact the specific ESF, in conjunction with Effingham County 
Emergency Management Agency ; and 

 

Establish procedures for the maintenance of records, including personnel, travel, operations and 
maintenance expenditures and receipts. 

374

Item XI. 5.



VII. PLAN DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE   
 

Plan Maintenance 
 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency is the executive agent for EOP management and 
maintenance. The EOP will be updated periodically as required to incorporate new directives and changes 
based on lessons learned from exercises and actual events. This section establishes procedures for interim 
changes and full updates of the EOP. 

 

Types of Changes 
 

Changes include additions of new or supplementary material and deletions. No proposed change 
should contradict or SIGN authorities or other plans contained in statute, order, or regulation. 

 

Coordination and Approval 
 

Any department or agency with assigned responsibilities under the EOP may propose a change to the 
plan. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency is responsible for coordinating all proposed 
modifications to the EOP with primary and support agencies and other stakeholders, as required. 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will coordinate review and approval for 
proposed modifications as required. 

 

Notice of Change 
 

After coordination has been accomplished, including receipt of the necessary signed approval supporting 
the final change language, Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will issue an official 
Notice of Change. Once published, the modifications will be considered part of the EOP for operational 
purposes pending a formal revision and redistribution of the entire document.  

 

Distribution 
 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will distribute Notices of Change to all 
participating agencies. Notices of Change to other organizations will be provided upon request. 

 

Redistribution of the EOP 
 

Working toward continuous improvement, Effingham County Emergency Management Agency is 
responsible for an annual review and updates of the EOP. The review and update will consider lessons 
learned and best practices identified during exercises and responses to actual events, and incorporate 
new information technologies. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency will distribute 
revised EOP documents for the purpose of interagency review and concurrence. 

 

EOPSupporting Documents and Standards for Other Emergency Plans 

 

As the core plan for domestic incident management, the EOP provides the structures and processes for 
coordinating incident management activities for terrorist attacks, natural disasters, 
and other emergencies. Following the guidance provided, the EOP incorporates existing emergency and 
incident management plans (with appropriate modifications and revisions) as integrated components of the 
EOP, as supplements, or as supporting operational plans. Accordingly, departments and agencies must 
incorporate key EOP concepts and procedures for working with EOP organizational elements when 
developing or updating incident management and emergency response plans. When an agency develops an 
interagency plan that involves events within the scope of disaster and emergency incidents, these plans are 
coordinated with Effingham County Emergency Management Agency to ensure consistency with the EOP, 
and are incorporated into the EOP, either by reference or as a whole. Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency will maintain a complete set of current local interagency plans. Incident management 
and emergency response plans must include, to the extent authorized by law: 

 

375

Item XI. 5.



Principles and terminology of the NIMS; 
 

Reporting requirements of the EOP; 
 

Linkages to key EOP organizational elements such as the EOC; and 
 

Procedures for transitioning from localized incidents to incidents that require state or federal assistance. 
The broader range of EOPsupporting documents includes strategic, operational, tactical, and incident 
specific or hazard specific contingency plans and procedures. Strategic plans are developed based on 
long-range goals, objectives, and priorities. Operational-level plans merge the on scene tactical 
concerns with overall strategic objectives. Tactical plans include detailed, specific actions and 
descriptions of resources required to manage an actual or potential incident. Contingency plans are 
based on specific scenarios and planning assumptions related to a geographic area or the projected 
impacts of an individual hazard. 
The following is a brief description of EOPrelated documents. 

 

National Incident Management System 
 

The NIMS provides a core set of doctrine, concepts, terminology, and organizational processes to enable 
effective, efficient, and collaborative incident management at all levels. 

 

State and Local Emergency Operations Plans 
 

State and local emergency operations plans are created to address a variety of hazards. Examples include: 
 

State emergency operations plans designed to support State emergency management functions. 
 

Emergency operations plans created at the municipal level to complement State emergency operations 
plans. 

 

Hazard Mitigation Plans 
 

Hazard mitigation plans are developed by States and communities to provide a framework for understanding 
vulnerability to and risk from hazards, and identifying the predisaster and post disaster mitigation measures 
to reduce the risk from those hazards. Multihazard mitigation planning requirements were established by 
Congress through the Stafford Act, as amended by the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000. 

 

Private Sector Plans  

Private sector plans are developed by privately owned companies/corporations. Some planning efforts are 
mandated by statute (e.g., nuclear power plant operations), while others are developed to ensure business 
continuity. 

 

Nongovernmental and Volunteer Organization Plans 
 

Volunteer and nongovernmental organization plans are plans created to support State and Federal emergency 
preparedness, response, and recovery operations. Plans include a continuous process of assessment, evaluation, 
and preparation to ensure that the necessary authorities, organization, resources, coordination, and operation 
procedures exist to provide effective delivery of services to disaster clients as well as provide integration into 
planning efforts at all government levels. 

 

Planning and Operations Procedures 
 

Procedures provide operational guidance for use by emergency teams and other personnel involved in 
conducting or supporting incident management operations. 

 

These documents fall into five basic categories: 
 

376

Item XI. 5.



Overviews that provide a brief concept summary of an incident management function, team, or 
capability; 

 

Standard operating procedures (SOPs) or operations manuals that provide a complete reference 
document, detailing the procedures for performing a single function (i.e., SOP) or a number of 
interdependent functions (i.e., operations manual) ; 

 

Field operations guides or handbooks that are produced as a durable pocket or desk guide, containing 
essential tactical information needed to perform specific assignments or functions; 

 

Point of contact lists; and 
 

Job aids such as checklists or other tools for job performance or job training.

377

Item XI. 5.



 

 

EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 1 

TRANSPORTATION 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of transportation services involves direction and coordination, 
operations, and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
i. Purpose 

 
1. To support and assist municipal, county, private sector, and 

voluntary organizations requiring transportation for an actual or 
potential disaster or emergency. 

2. To assist city and county agencies and other ESFs with the emergency 
efforts to transport people. The priorities for allocation of these assets will 
be: 

 
a. Evacuating persons from immediate peril. 
b. Transporting personnel for the support of emergency activities. 

c. Transporting relief personnel necessary for recovery from the 

emergency. 
 

 
ii. Scope 

 

The emergency operations necessary for the performance of this function include but are not 
limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Maintain current inventories of local government transportation 

facilities, supplies, and equipment by mode. 
b. Maintain current resource directories of all commercial and 

industrial transportation assets, facilities, and supplies within the 
County, to include maintaining points of contact, their 
geographic locations, territories, and operating areas. 

c. Establish and maintain liaison with the state and 
adjacent county transportation officials. 

d. Plan for supporting all types of evacuation(s) to include lock down 
of draw bridges, suspension of highway construction and 
maintenance, lane reversal on evacuation routes, and state traffic 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Board of Education 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham County Prison 
Effingham Public Works 

378

Item XI. 5.



management plans and operations. 

e. Estimate logistical requirements (e.g., personnel, supplies and 
equipment, facilities, and communications) during the planning 
process and through exercises. Develop appropriate 
transportation packages to support likely scenarios. 

f. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and 
supporting SOPs. 

g. Ensure all ESF 1 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS 
principles in all planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Identify transportation needs required to respond to the emergency. 
b. Coordinate with GEMA for use of state transportation assets. 
c. Identify, obtain, prioritize and allocate available transportation resources. 

d. Report the locations of damage to transportation infrastructure, degree of 
damage, and other available information to ESF 5. 

e. Assist local governments in determining the most viable, available transportation 
networks to, from, and within the disaster area, and regulate the use of such 
networks as appropriate. 

f. Coordinate emergency information for public release through ESF 15. 

g. Plan for transportation support of mobilization sites, staging areas, and 
distribution points. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Continue to render transportation support when and where required as long as 

emergency conditions exist. 
b. Coordinate the repair and restoration of transportation infrastructure with the 

assistance of ESF 3. 
c. Evaluate and task the transportation support requests for impacted areas. 

d. Anticipate, plan for, and ready the necessary notification systems to support 
damage assessment teams, establishment of staging areas, distribution sites, and 
other local, state, and federal recovery facilities in the impacted area. 

e. Anticipate, plan for, and ready the necessary notification systems to support the 
deployment of mutual aid teams, and work teams and activities in the impacted 
area. 

f. Ensure that ESF 1 team members or their agencies maintain appropriate records 
of costs incurred during the event. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the County Commission 
concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in briefings, situation 
reports and action plans. 

 

II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 
 

 

i. Strategy 
379

Item XI. 5.



Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the 
agency or organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation 
with the EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support 
agencies and organizations. 

 

The emergency transportation function is the primary responsibility of Effingham 
Board of Education and support for this function is the responsibility of Effingham 
County Prison and Effingham Public Works. 

 

ii. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Plan and coordinate with support agencies and organizations. 
b. Maintain a current inventory of transportation resources. 

c. Establish policies, procedures, plans, and programs to effectively 
address transportation needs. 

d. Recruit, designate, and maintain a list of emergency personnel. 

e. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate transportation capabilities. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Staff the EOC when notified by the EMA director. 

b. Establish and maintain a working relationship with support 
agencies, transportation industries, and private transportation 
providers. 

c. Provide transportation resources, equipment, and vehicles, upon request. 

d. Channel transportation information for public release, through the EOC 
and continue providing information and support upon reentry. 

e. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

iii. Effingham Board of Education 
 

Make school buses, resources, personnel, equipment, vehicles and fuel available as 
needed to assist in fulfilling transportation needs. 

 

iv. Effingham County Prison 
 

Immediately following an incident of critical significance, assess the overall status of 
the transportation system within the county and begin determination of potential needs 
and resources. 

 

v. Effingham Public Works 
 

Coordinate with the support agencies in directing transportation resources and 
prioritizing the needs for transportation services as well as providing temporary signs 
and assisting with refueling needs.

380

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 2 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of communications and warning involves direction and coordination, 
operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF has been established to assure the provision of communications support to municipal, 
county, and private sector response efforts during a disaster or emergency. 

 
1. ESF 2 will identify communications facilities, equipment and personnel that could be 

made available to support disaster recovery efforts. 
2. ESF 2 will identify planned actions of telecommunications companies to restore 

services. 
3. ESF 2 will coordinate the acquisition and deployment of communications 

equipment, personnel and resources to establish temporary communications 
capabilities following a disaster. 

 
B. Scope 

 
1. Communications is information transfer and involves the technology associated with the 

representation, transfer, interpretation, and processing of data among persons, places, and 
machines. It includes transmission, emission, or reception of signs, signals, writing, 
images, and sounds or intelligence of any nature by wire, radio, optical, or other 
electromagnetic systems. 

2. ESF 2 plans, coordinates and assists with the provision of communications support to 
county disaster response elements. This ESF will coordinate emergency warnings and 
communications equipment and services from local, county and state agencies, voluntary 
groups, the telecommunications industry and the military. 

3. ESF 2 will serve as the focal point of contingency response communications 
activity in Effingham County before, during and after activation of the EOC. 

4. Operations necessary for the performance of this function include but are not limited 
to: 

Primary Agency 
Effingham 911 

 

Support Agencies 
Amateur Radio Emergency Service 
Effingham Board of Education 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 
Effingham County Sheriff's Office 
Effingham Fire Rescue 
Georgia Forestry Commission 

381

Item XI. 5.



a. Preparedness 

 
i. Identify public and private communications facilities, equipment, and 

personnel located throughout Effingham County including emergency 
communications vehicles or mobile command posts. 

ii. Identify actual and planned actions of commercial telecommunications 
companies to restore services. 

iii. Coordinate the acquisition and deployment of communications 
equipment, personnel, and resources to establish temporary 
communications capabilities. 

iv. Develop and coordinate frequency management plans, including talk 
groups and trunked radio for use in disaster areas. 

v. Develop a long distance communications strategy for implementation 
during disasters. 

vi. Assess preevent needs and develop plans to prestage assets for rapid 
deployment into disaster areas. 

vii. Develop plans to prioritize the deployment of services based on 
available resources and critical needs. 

viii. Plan for operations involving coordination with the state to coordinate 
communications assets beyond County capability. 

ix. Provide reliable links and maintain available support services for 
disaster communications with local, county, and state, agencies. 

x. Ensure all ESF 2 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

xi. Participate in tests and exercises to evaluate the county emergency 
response capability. 

 
b. Response 

 
i. Conduct communications needs assessments (to include determining status 

of all communications systems), prioritize requirements, and make 
recommendations to deploy equipment and personnel to affected area, as 
required. 

ii. Identify actual actions of commercial telecommunications companies to 
restore services. 

iii. Maintain constant two-way communication with all appropriate 
emergency operating services of county and local governments. 

iv. Implement frequency management plan in the disaster area, including talk 
groups and trunked radio, as required. 

v. Provide capability for responsible officials to receive emergency 
information and communicate decisions. 

vi. Establish communications with GEMA SOC to coordinate 
communications assets, personnel, and resources and mobile 
command vehicles as needed. 

 
c. Recovery 

 
i. Arrange for alternate communication systems to replace systems that are 

inoperative due to damage from disasters. 
ii. Maintain or restore contact with the other EOCs (state, cities, and county 

emergency management/preparedness organizations), as capabilities 
allow. 

382

Item XI. 5.



iii. Make communications channels available to provide appropriate 
information to the public concerning safety and resources required for 
disaster recovery. 

iv. Maintain or restore contact with all appropriate emergency operations 
services of county government. 

v. Gather communications damage assessment information from public and 
private organizations (including telephone outages) and report to ESF 5. 

vi. Assess the need for and obtain telecommunications industry support as 
needed. 

vii. Prioritize the deployment of services based on available resources and critical 
needs. 

viii. Anticipate and plan for arrival of, and coordination with, GEMA ESF 2 
personnel in the SOC and other established facilities. 

ix. Ensure ESF 2 team members or their agencies, maintain appropriate records 
of costs incurred during the event. 

 
d. Mitigation 

 
i. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

ii. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 

II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. This 
function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

 

The emergency communications and warning function is the primary responsibility of 
Effingham 911 and support for this function is the responsibility of Amateur Radio 
Emergency Service, Effingham Board of Education, Effingham County Emergency 
Management Agency, Effingham County Sheriff's Office, Effingham Fire Rescue and Georgia 
Forestry Commission. 

 

B. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Establish methods of communications and warning for probable situations 

including type of emergency, projected time, area to be affected, anticipate 
severity, forthcoming warnings, and actions necessary. 

b. Ensure that primary and alternate communications systems are operational. 

c. Recruit, train, and designate communications and warning operators for the EOC. 
d. Establish warning systems for critical facilities; 

383

Item XI. 5.



e. Provide communications systems for the affected emergency or disaster area. 
f. Develop maintenance and protection arrangements for disabled 

communications equipment. 
g. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications and 

warning response capabilities. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Verify information with proper officials. 

b. Establish communication capability, between and among EOC, agencies and 
organizations with ESF responsibilities, other jurisdictions, and SOC. 

c. Coordinate communications with response operations, shelters, lodging, and food 
facilities. 

d. Provide a system for designated officials to communicate with the public including 
people with special needs, such as hearing impairments and nonEnglish speaking. 

e. Warn critical facilities. 

f. Continue coordinated communications to achieve rapid recovery and 
contact with the SOC. 

g. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 
recovery. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham 911 

 
1. Coordinate with each support agency through regularly scheduled meetings to ensure 

planning functions are implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Oversee the coordination and management of communications resources, facilities 

and equipment and initiate alternate and backup systems as needed. 
3. Develop maintenance and protection arrangements for inoperative 

communications equipment. 
4. Coordinate communications with response operations, shelters, lodging, and food 

facilities. 
5. Continue coordinated communications to achieve rapid recovery and contact with the 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 

response and recovery efforts. 
7. Coordinate the various types of communications within the county, including landline 

telephones, cellular telephones, 800 MHz, VHF, marine band, amateur radio, citizens 
band radios and emergency response agencies in affected areas. 

 
B. Amateur Radio Emergency Service 

 

Amateur radio is prepared to provide point to point communications when all other 
communications methods are overloaded or nonfunctional. The group of volunteers typically 
provide and operate their own radio equipment. A local 2-meter repeater is provided by EMA on 
146.745 MHz using tone 97.4 the repeater, and is located at the landfill tower site.  

 

C. Effingham Board of Education 
 

The Board of Education operates a UHF radio system, primarily between the school buildings 
and busses. This system could be utilized by other agencies in support of emergency operations. 
The school buildings have facilities for taking and handling phone calls, some with 30 or more 

384

Item XI. 5.



phone lines. The school system also has equipment to distribute messages to a call list and phone 
in info lines. 

 

D. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 
 

Effingham EMA maintains satellite telephone service and has a single phone activated and 
ready. Effingham EMA is also responsible for the daily operations of the countywide trunked 
radio system. Technical support and infrastructure support is transferrable to other local radio 
systems. Effingham EMA also maintains a 5 Southern Linc phone/two-way radio devices in the 
event of a single cellular carrier outage. 

 

E. Effingham County Sheriff's Office 

 
1. Effingham Sheriff's Office maintains 24/7 dispatching service capabilities and 

provides a hub for incoming emergency calls that could be distributed to the 
appropriate emergency service, or transferred to E911. 

2. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

3. Participate in drills and exercises, in order to evaluate local communications 
capability. 

4. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery, 
in accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures, and report these 
records to the Emergency Management Agency. 

5. Coordinate communication asset information with the Emergency Management 
Agency. 

6. Attend regular coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are 
implemented in support. 

 
F. Effingham Fire Rescue 

 

Effingham Fire has a large cache of mobile and portable radios.   
 

G. Georgia Forestry Commission 
 

Ga Forestry operates its own radio system that could be utilized to pass messages to Forestry 
headquarters in Macon and other destinations. 

 

 

385

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 3 

PUBLIC WORKS AND ENGINEERING 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of public works and engineering involves direction and coordination, 
operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in public works and 
engineering services. The mission of this ESF is to remove debris from streets, eliminate 
hazards, manage storm damage, provide rapid restoration of water/sewer services, repair 
essential services, immediately provide damage assessment information and cooperate with other 
emergency agencies. 

 

B. Scope 
 

This ESF is structured to provide public works and engineering related support for the changing 
requirements of incident management to include preparedness, prevention, response, recovery, 
and mitigation actions. Functions include but are not limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. General 

 
i. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and 

supporting SOPs. 
ii. Ensure all ESF 3 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 

planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
b. Public Works and Engineering 

 
i. Assist with the provision of water (potable and non-potable) and ice into the 

disaster area if local supplies become inadequate. 
ii. In coordination with local emergency management officials, develop policy 

for conservation, distribution and use of potable and firefighting water. 
iii. Identify and locate chemicals to maintain a potable water supply. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Public Works 

 

Support Agencies 
City of Guyton 
City of Rincon 
City of Springfield 
Effingham County Water and Sewer 

386

Item XI. 5.



iv. Include in ESF 3 Standard Operating Procedures an alerting list, to include 
pointsofcontact and telephone numbers, of agencies, counties, 
municipalities and organizations supporting public works and engineering 
functions. 

v. Maintain a current inventory of equipment and supplies, to include 
pointsofcontact and telephone numbers, required to sustain emergency 
operations, including emergency power generators. 

vi. Establish operational needs for restoration of public works service 
during the emergency. 

vii. Develop and maintain listings of commercial and industrial suppliers of 
services and products, to include pointsofcontact and telephone numbers 
associated with public works and engineering functions. 

viii. Plan engineering, contracting, and procurement assistance for emergency 
debris, snow or ice clearance, demolition, public works repair, and water 
supply, and sewer missions. 

ix. In conjunction with GEMA, plan for use of state resources to support ESF 
3 operations. 

 
c. Damage Assessment: Coordinate the deployment of state damage assessment 

teams and other engineer teams into any area of the state. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Public Works and Engineering 

 
i. Identify water and sewer service restoration, debris management, 

potable water supply, and engineering requirements as soon as possible. 
ii. Evaluate status of current resources to support ESF 3 operations. 

iii. Establish priorities to clear roads, repair damaged water/sewer systems and 
coordinate the provision of temporary, alternate or interim sources of 
emergency power and water/sewer services. 

iv. As needed, recommend priorities for water and other resource 
allocations. 

v. Procure equipment, specialized labor, and transportation to repair or 
restore public works systems. 

vi. Coordinate with GEMA for use of state assets. 
vii. Coordinate with ESF 6 for shelter support requirements. 

viii. Coordinate with ESF 5, ESF 8 and ESF 11 for advice and assistance 
regarding disposal of debris containing or consisting of animal 
carcasses. 

ix. Coordinate with ESF 10 for advice and assistance regarding disposal of 
hazardous materials. 

x. Coordinate with ESF 4 for advice and assistance regarding firefighting water 
supply. 

 
b. Damage Assessment 

 
i. At the onset of an emergency or disaster, notify department/agency heads 

and local governments and volunteer organizations to have damage 
assessment and safety evaluation personnel available to deploy to affected 
area(s) and preposition as appropriate. 

387

Item XI. 5.



ii. Provide damage assessment coordinators and support for joint 
state/federal teams into the affected area, as required. 

iii. Coordinate with ESF 12 for public utility damage assessment 
information. 

iv. Collect, evaluate, and send damage assessment reports to ESF 5 and other 
appropriate agencies. 

v. Coordinate state and local damage assessment operations with related 
state and federal activities. 

vi. Prepare damage assessment documents in conjunction with GEMA where 
appropriate for a presidential emergency or major disaster declaration 
when necessary. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. General 

 
i. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordination with state and federal 

ESF 3 personnel in the EOC and/or the Joint Field Office (JFO). 
ii. Ensure that ESF 3 team members, their agencies, or other tasked 

organizations, maintain appropriate records of time and costs incurred during 
the event. 

 
b. Public Works and Engineering 

 
i. Maintain coordination with all supporting agencies and organizations on 

operational priorities for emergency repair and restoration. Coordinate, as 
needed, for debris management operations on public and private property. 

ii. Continue to monitor restoration operations when and where needed as long as 
necessary and until all services have been restored. 

 
c. Damage Assessment: In conjunction with GEMA, develop disaster project 

worksheets as required. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives from GEMA concerning mitigation and/or 
redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 

 

II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF, in 

388

Item XI. 5.



cooperation with the EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support 
agencies and organizations. 

 

Public works and engineering services is the primary responsibility of Effingham Public Works 
and support for this function is the responsibility of City of Guyton, City of Rincon, City of 
Springfield and Effingham County Water and Sewer. 
 

 

1. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Recruit, train, and designate public works and engineering personnel to 

serve in the EOC. 
ii. Develop and maintain an inventory of equipment, supplies, and 

suppliers required to sustain emergency operations. 
iii. Prioritize service restoration for emergencies. 

iv. Establish liaison with support agencies, organizations, and the private sector 
to ensure responsiveness. 

v. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate public works and 
engineering response capability. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Alert emergency personnel of the situation and obtain necessary 

resources. 
ii. Establish response operations and support personnel working in the EOC. 
iii. Maintain coordination and support among applicable agencies and 

organizations and the private sector. 
iv. Channel all pertinent emergency information through the EOC. 

v. Assist in evaluating losses, recommending measures for conservation of 
resources, and responding to needs on a priority basis. 

vi. Conduct restoration and maintenance operations until completion of repair 
services. 

vii. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham Public Works 

 
1. Serve alongside Effingham EMA as the primary coordinator for debris removal and 

related tasks. 

2. Assist with the provision of water (potable and nonpotable) and ice into the 
disaster area if local supplies become inadequate. 

3. In coordination with local emergency management officials, develop policy for 
conservation, distribution and use of potable and firefighting water. 

4. Identify and locate chemicals to maintain a potable water supply. 

389

Item XI. 5.



5. Include an alerting list in the SOP, to include pointsofcontact and telephone 
numbers, of agencies, counties, municipalities and organizations supporting public 
works and engineering functions. 

6. Maintain a current inventory of equipment and supplies. 

7. Establish operational needs for restoration of public works service during the 
emergency. 

8. Develop and maintain listings of commercial and industrial suppliers of services and 
products, to include pointsofcontact and telephone numbers associated with public 
works and engineering functions. 

9. Coordinate with other ESFs to consolidate reports of damage and focus 
assessment efforts. 

10. Maintain contact with municipal liaisons to collect and relay information. 

11. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report expenditure records 
to the primary agency. 

 
B. City of Guyton 

 
1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to develop 
procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to 
support recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 
C. City of Rincon 

 
 

1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to develop 
procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to 
support recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

390

Item XI. 5.



8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 
 

D. City of Springfield 

 
1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to develop 
procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to 
support recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 
E. Effingham County Water and Sewer 

 

Effingham County water/sewer operations are based out of the South Effingham Wastewater 
Reclamation Facility located at 805 Low Ground Road. They have the capability through 
equipment and supplies to install, repair and/or cutoff damaged water lines within Effingham 
County in the event of an emergency.  The Wastewater Reclamation Facility is a 
nondischarging, tertiary treatment plant. 

 

391

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 4 

FIREFIGHTING 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of firefighting services involves direction and coordination, 
operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides a comprehensive mechanism to ensure appropriate utilization of local fire 
resources before and after the impact of a disaster. This will include but is not limited to the 
detection and suppression of urban, rural, and wildland fires resulting from, or occurring 
coincidentally with a significant natural or manmade disaster. 

 

B. Scope 
 

ESF 4 involves the management and coordination of firefighting resources in the detection and 
suppression of fires, during rescue situations, and when mobilizing and coordinating personnel, 
equipment, and supplies in support of local entities. 

 

ESF 9, Search and Rescue and ESF10, Hazardous Materials, will be collocated with ESF 4 and 
are integral components of the function of ESF 4 support agencies. In preparation for and 
execution of its fire protection mission, ESF 4 will: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Maintain current inventories of fire service facilities, equipment, and 

personnel throughout the County. 
b. Organize and train fire service emergency teams to rapidly respond to 

requests for assistance. 
c. Monitor weather and hazardous conditions that contribute to increased fire 

danger. 
d. Maintain personnel and equipment in a state of readiness appropriate to 

existing and anticipated emergency conditions to include mobilizing resources 
and staging them at various locations. 

e. Based on hazardous conditions, conduct fire prevention and education 
activities for the public. 

f. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and supporting SOPs. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Fire Rescue 

 

Support Agencies 
Georgia Forestry Commission 
Rincon Fire Department 

392

Item XI. 5.



g. Ensure all ESF 4 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Support local fire departments and the Forestry Commission with appropriate 

resources to include mobilizing and deploying firefighting teams and resources as 
needed. 

b. Coordinate with GEMA for use of state assets to support firefighting 
operations. 

c. Monitor status of firefighting resources committed to an incident. 
d. Maintain staging area locations. 

e. Plan for and establish relief resources to replace or rotate with committed 
resources for extended operations. 

f. Support fire investigations, as requested. 

g. Obtain and submit fire situation and damage assessment reports and provide 
information to EOC. 

h. Establish communications with the State Regional Fire Coordinator, when 
activated, to coordinate fire service response beyond the capability of County. 

i. When the situation dictates, coordinate with GEMA and/or SOC to invoke 
mutual aid agreements. 

j. Once resources are requested, provide for direct liaison with fire chiefs in 
affected areas to coordinate requests for specific assistance. 

k. Require supporting agencies maintain appropriate records of cost incurred during 
an event. 

l. Document any lost or damaged equipment, any personnel or equipment 
accidents. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Maintain adequate resources to support local operations and plan for a 

reduction of resources. 
b. Conduct reviews of incident actions with teams involved to improve future 

operations. 
c. Inventory lost or damaged equipment and record any personnel injuries or 

equipment accidents. 
d. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordination with state ESF 4 

personnel in the EOC and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 
e. Inform agencies that provided resources where to send records for costs 

incurred during an event. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives from the state concerning mitigation and/or 
redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

393

Item XI. 5.



II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Fire Fighting Services 

 
1. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency 
or organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF, in cooperation 
with the EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies 
and organizations. 

 

The firefighting services function is the primary responsibility of Effingham Fire 
Rescue and support for this function is the responsibility of Georgia Forestry 
Commission, Guyton Fire Department and Rincon Fire Department. 
 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Keep abreast of fire and weather forecasting information and maintain a state 

of readiness. 
ii. Implement efficient and effective MOUs among local fire agencies. 

iii. Establish reliable communications and incident command systems 
between support agencies, for an emergency site and EOC. 

iv. Recruit, train, and designate fire service personnel to serve in the EOC. 
v. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate fire service response 

capability. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Maintain a list of current fire service agencies and resource 

capabilities. 
ii. Coordinate fire services support among and between the EOC, 

functional support agencies, organizations, and SOC. 
iii. Obtain, maintain, and provide fire situation and damage assessment 

information. 
iv. Channel fire service information for public release through EOC. 
v. Conduct firefighting operations. 

vi. Provide technical assistance and advice in the event of fires that 
involve hazardous materials. 

vii. Continue fire service operations through reentry. 

viii. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham Fire Rescue 

394

Item XI. 5.



1. Coordinate the provision of local firefighting personnel and equipment. 
2. Coordinate and assign any responding mutual aid resources. 

3. Coordinate those resources volunteered for ESF 4 (Firefighting) from other 
unidentified sources. 

4. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on 
available resources and critical needs. 

5. Assemble a complete list of available firefighting resources within their district that may 
be available for response, and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

6. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

 
B. Georgia Forestry Commission 

 
1. Georgia Forestry  Effingham Unit is responsible for controlling outdoor burning on open 

and forested lands. 
2. Provide support and assistance as required and available. 

 

 
C. Rincon Fire Department 

 
1. Forward requests for mutual aid firefighting assistance to the Emergency 

Operations Center (EOC). 
2. Coordinate during an incident of critical significance or other activation of the EOC. 
3. Attend regularly scheduled coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
4. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on 

available resources and critical needs. 
5. Assemble a complete list of available firefighting resources within their district that may 

be available for response, and coordinate this information with the EOC. 
6. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

 

395

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 5 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of emergency management services involves direction and 
coordination, operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. The 
mission of this ESF is to collect, process, and disseminate information about an actual or 
potential disaster situation, and facilitate the overall activities of response and recovery. It also is 
used to make appropriate notifications and interface with other local and state entities. 

 
1. Provide technical information on plans, SOPs, research and support. 
2. Collect, process and disseminate essential information to the EOC staff. 
3. Develop briefings, displays, and plans. 

4. Consolidate key information into reports and other materials; describe and document 
overall response activities and inform appropriate authorities of the status of the 
overall response operations. 

5. Maintain displays of key information such as maps, charts and status boards, and 
computer bulletin boards or electronic mail, as available. 

6. Establish a pattern of information flow and support of the action planning process 
initiated by the Command Staff. 

7. Provide logistical support for EOC staffing and facility needs. 
8. Establish historical records collection process and event reconstruction. 
9. Generate various reports and releases to support operations. 

10. Coordinate Incident Action Planning to support operations. 

11. Support the implementation of mutual aid agreements to ensure a seamless resource 
response to affected jurisdictions. 

12. Maintain an on call workforce of trained and skilled reserve employees to provide the 
capability to perform essential emergency management functions on short notice and for 
varied duration. 

13. May follow established protocol to request additional state or federal assistance under 
the Stafford Act; communication made through the county emergency manager and 
GEMA based on need and scope of the emergency. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 

Support Agencies 
City of Guyton 
City of Rincon 
City of Springfield 
Effingham Board of Commissioners 
Effingham Development Services 

396

Item XI. 5.



B. Scope 

 
1. This ESF is structured to coordinate overall information and planning activities from 

the EOC in support of response and recovery operations. The ESF assimilates 
incident information when the EOC is activated from municipal representatives and 
activated ESFs. 

 
2. Activities within the scope of this function include: 

 
a. Supporting ESFs across the spectrum of incident management from 

prevention to response and recovery. 
b. Facilitating information flow in the preparedness phase in order to place assets 

on alert or to preposition assets for quick response. 
c. Coordinating those functions that are critical to support and facilitate multi 

agency planning and coordination for operations involving potential and actual 
disasters and emergencies. 

d. Utilizing alert and notification measures to assist in incident action planning, 
coordination of operations, logistics and material, direction and control, information 
management, facilitation of requests for State assistance, resource acquisition and 
management (to include allocation and tracking), worker safety and health, facilities 
management, financial management, and other support as required. 

 
3. Preparedness 

 
a. Develop procedures and formats for information gathering and reporting to 

include procedures for SITREP format and submission. 
b. Train support agencies on roles and responsibilities. 
c. Develop information displays within the EOC. 
d. Ensure weather products are up to date and available for use in the SITREP. 

e. Participate in exercises and training to ensure planning functions are carried out to 
support this ESF and related SOPs. 

f. Ensure all ESF 5 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
4. Response 

 
a. Notify all ESF 5 supporting agencies upon activation. 
b. Assign duties to support agency personnel and provide training as required. 

c. Coordinate EOC effort in collecting, processing, reporting and displaying 
essential information to include development of the SITREP. 

d. Conduct planning to identify priorities, develop approaches, and devise 
recommended solutions for future response operations. 

e. Provide weather information and briefings to the EOC and others as 
required. 

f. Plan for support of mobilization sites, staging areas, and distribution points. 
g. Coordinate the reception of state personnel. 

h. Plan for transition to JFO and recovery operations. 

 
5. Recovery 

 
a. Continue information gathering and processing. 

b. Collect and process information concerning recovery activities to include 
anticipating types of recovery information the EOC and other government 397

Item XI. 5.



agencies will require. 
c. Assist in the transition of direction and control from the EOC to the JFO. 

d. Anticipate and plan for the support and establishment of staging areas, 
distribution sites in coordination with ESF 7, and other local, state and/or 
federal emergency work teams and activities in the impacted area. 

e. Operate ESF 5 cells in both the EOC and JFO, as required. 

f. Perform ESF 14 planning functions in the EOC until ESF 14 is established at the 
JFO. 

g. Ensure that ESF 5 team members or their agencies maintain appropriate records 
of costs incurred during the event. 

 
6. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives from the state concerning mitigation and/or 
redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

EMA will coordinate with appropriate agencies and organizations to ensure operational 
readiness and will develop and maintain Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs). 

 

B. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Monitor potential or developing incidents and support the efforts of 

operations. 
b. Support the implementation of mutual aid agreements. 

c. Maintains schedule for staffing and operating the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC) from activation to stand down. 

d. Coordinate with agencies to establish evacuation procedures, to include 
personnel and resources needed. 

e. Coordinate damage assessment teams; collect, record, and report 
information to the SOC. 

f. Plan for and coordinate the basic needs of emergency medical and social 
services required during and after evacuation. 

g. Identify a staging area for personnel and equipment in conjunction with ESF 6 and 
ESF 8. 

h. Establish, organize, train, equip and provide for the deployment of damage 
assessment teams into affected area. 

i. Establish procedures for agencies, organizations and local governments to 
maintain expenditures. 

j. Plan and/or attend meetings to ensure planning functions are carried out to support 
this ESF. 

k. Participate in and/or conduct exercises and tests to evaluate local capability. 

398

Item XI. 5.



l. Identify Points of Distribution (POD) locations in the county to serve the 
public; coordinate designation of these areas with GEMA. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Alert support agencies and other jurisdictions regarding potential emergency or 

disaster. 
b. Activate and staff EOC according to event magnitude. 

c. Coordinate operations and situational reporting to the State Operations Center. 
d. Request logistical assistance from supporting agencies and MOUs partners, as 

necessary. 
e. Anticipate and plan for the support of staging areas, distribution sites, opening of 

shelters (to include neighboring jurisdictions), in conjunction with ESF 6 and ESF 
8. 

f. Work with ESF 6 and ESF 8 to provide support for movement of people, 
including individuals with special needs, through coordination with appropriate 
agencies/organizations. 

g. Assign Damage Assessment Teams to survey impact to county. 
h. Compile initial damage assessments reports and forward to the SOC. 
i. Assist in coordination of state damage assessment activities. 

j. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 
recovery. 

k. Collect and process information regarding recovery activities to include 
anticipating types of recovery information the EOC and other state agencies will 
require. 

l. Coordinate and/or participate in briefings, conference calls, etc. to maintain and 
provide situational awareness. 

m. Provide updated information for ESF 15 to distribute to the public and 
media. 

n. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 
1. Coordinate with each support agency through regular meetings to ensure 

planning functions are implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Coordinate the flow of information within the Emergency Operations Center. 

3. Coordinate the efforts to collect, process, report, and display essential 
information. 

4. Facilitate support for planning response operations. 
5. Distribute plans and reports to the state and other ESFs. 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 
response and recovery efforts. 

7. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 
implemented in support. 

8. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to these activities. 

9. Request asset support from volunteer and private sector agencies. 

399

Item XI. 5.



10. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local response capabilities. 

11. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and forward records to the 
primary agencies. 

 
B. City of Guyton 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records 
to the Primary Agency. 

 
C. City of Rincon 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records 
to the Primary Agency. 

 
D. City of Springfield 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records 
to the Primary Agency. 

 
E. Effingham Board of Commissioners 

 

Support ESFs across the spectrum of incident management, from prevention to response 
and recovery. 

 

F. Effingham Development Services 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records 
to the Primary Agency. 400

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 6 

MASS CARE, HOUSING, AND HUMAN SERVICES 
 

 

 
 

 

I.  INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of mass care, housing and human services involves direction and 
coordination, operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. The 
mission of this ESF is to coordinate activities involved with the emergency provision of 
temporary nonmedical shelters, housing, and human services to include emergency mass 
feeding and disaster welfare information of individuals and/or families impacted by a disaster or 
emergency. 

 
1. Coordinate the tasking of all sheltering activities during a disaster. 

2. Coordinate with ESF 8 to establish and operate of mass feeding facilities in areas affected 
by disasters. 

3. Coordinate with relief efforts provided by volunteer organizations performing mass care 
functions. 

4. Coordinate the establishment of a system to provide shelter registration data to 
appropriate authorities. 

5. Work with ESF 8 to coordinate provision of emergency first aid in shelters and fixed 
feeding sites. 

6. Coordinate provision of medical support exceeding that required for standard first aid, for 
the prevention of communicable diseases, to include epidemiological and environmental 
health activities, as related to sheltering and feeding disaster victims. 

7. Coordinate with ESF 12 to ensure each shelter has power generation capabilities. 

 
B. Scope 

 
1. This ESF is structured to promote the delivery of services and the implementation of 

programs to assist individuals, households and families impacted by potential or actual 
disaster or emergency. This includes economic assistance and other services for 
individuals impacted by the incident. 

Primary Agency  

 American Red Cross 
 

Support Agencies 
GA DHR - DFCS 
Effingham Board of Education 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 
Effingham County Sheriff's Office 
Effingham Emergency Medical Service 
Effingham Health Department 
Recreation & Sports Management 

401

Item XI. 5.



2. Activities within the scope of this function include: 

 
a. Preparedness 

 
i. The primary agency will prepare for disasters by coordinating with 

support agencies for their participation in exercises. 
ii. ESF 8 will provide ESF 6 with regularly updated lists of planned special 

needs shelters or other special needs units in existence in each county. 
iii. ESF 6 will maintain a roster of primary contact ESF personnel. 

iv. ESF 6 will coordinate with the American Red Cross (ARC), Effingham 
County Emergency Management Agency, and GEMA to ensure an up to 
date shelter list is available. 

v. ESF 6 will procure and regularly update a list of all agencies (public and 
private) that have a mission and capability to provide mass feeding in 
times of disaster. 

vi. ESF 6 agencies will participate in exercises and training to validate this annex 
and supporting SOPs. 

vii. Ensure all ESF 6 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
b. Response 

 
i. Lead and support agencies will have and maintain appropriate listings of 

agency staff to notify for response activities. 
ii. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 5 and ESF 11 regarding mass feeding sites 

established by responding emergency management agencies. 
iii. Shelters will be opened and closed in accordance with public need as assessed 

by the appropriate volunteer organization, state and county emergency 
management agencies. 

iv. ESF 6 will monitor occupancy levels and ongoing victim’s needs, and will 
provide ESF 5 with an updated list of operational shelters. 

v. ESF 6 will coordinate with Effingham County Emergency Management 
Agency, ARC, VOAD, and ESF 8 to update lists of available shelters 
including special needs shelters. 

vi. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 8 for the provision of medical services and 
mental health services in shelters with the appropriate agencies. 

vii. ESF 6 will coordinate with appropriate agencies to ensure that each shelter 
has a working communications system and has contact with the County 
EOC and the managing agency. This may include radio, telephone, 
computer, or cellular telephone communication devices. 

viii. ESF 6 will provide a list of mass care sites requiring restoration of 
services to EOC Operations. 

ix. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 13 regarding additional security 
resources, if needed, at mass care shelters. 

 
c. Recovery 

 
i. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 5, ESF 11, and ESF 8 to establish or support 

existing mass feeding sites operated by the American Red Cross, Salvation 
Army, and other volunteer agencies. The first priority of mass feeding 
activities will be disaster victims. Emergency workers 

402

Item XI. 5.



will be encouraged to utilize established mass feeding sites in lieu of 
individual site distribution. 

ii. ESF 6 will coordinate mass feeding locations to ensure optimal access for 
public service based on emergency needs. 

iii. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 3 for garbage removal and ESF 8 for 
sanitation requirements and inspections at mass feeding sites in 
conjunction with county agencies. 

iv. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 11 and other responsible agencies for the 
provision of food and water to mass feeding sites, if needed. Liaison will be 
established with ESF 11 and 8 to ensure continued coordination for mass 
feeding. 

v. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordination with state ESF 6 
personnel in the EOC and Joint Field Office (JFO). 

 
d. Mitigation 

 
i. ESF 6 agencies will work to educate citizens on disaster preparedness and 

disaster mitigation activities. 
ii. Support requests and directives resulting from GEMA concerning 

mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 
iii. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 

state/federal briefings, situation reports, and action plans. 
 

II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Mass Care Services 

 
1. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency 
or organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF. This function 
will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

 

The mass care function is the primary responsibility of American Red Cross and support 
for this function is the responsibility of GA DHR-DFCS, Effingham Board of Education, 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency, Effingham County Sheriff's Office, 
Effingham Emergency Medical Service, Effingham Health Department and Recreation 
Dept. 
 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Coordinate MOUs with appropriate agencies and organizations for the 

provision of services to or on behalf of affected individuals and families. 
ii. Maintain, through the County Department of Family and Children Services, 

in coordination with the EMA, American Red Cross, Public Health 
Department, and Rehabilitation Services Office, an updated list 

403

Item XI. 5.



of shelters with all relevant information (e.g., location, capacity, health 
inspection status, accessibility level, pet space, contact telephone 
numbers, and pager numbers). 

iii. Request that the American Red Cross assume responsibility for 
securing shelter and feeding arrangements, train shelter workers, 
provide shelter management, prepare first aid kits, prepare media 
releases of shelter locations, operate shelters, and maintain shelter 
records. 

iv. Coordinate with the American Red Cross and EMA to establish a 
communication system between the EOC and shelters. 

v. Prepare for evacuation and care of protective service recipients during an 
emergency or disaster. 

vi. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate mass care and shelter 
response capability. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Support opening and operating American Red Cross shelter(s), at the 

request of the EMA. 
ii. Assist with the staffing of the American Red Cross shelters, in 

coordination with ESF 8 and other applicable agencies, as requested 
upon opening. 

iii. Provide staffing support for American Red Cross Services Centers and 
local Disaster Recovery Centers (DRCs), upon request. 

iv. Ensure evacuation and care of protective service recipients and 
arranging for reentry. 

v. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

A. American Red Cross  Savannah Chapter 

 

1. Open, administer and operate all shelters. 

2. Attend regular coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are 
implemented to support this ESF. 

3. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to these activities. 

4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets 
to the response effort. 

5. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to 
the primary agency. 

 
B. GA DHR - DFCS 

 

1. Coordinate with each support agency through regular meetins to ensure planning 

functions are implemented to support ESF-6. 

2. Ensure the presence of resource materials in sufficient numbers in the 
ESF locations. 

3. Provide a system of recording incoming requests for sheltering, mass 
feeding, response assignments, and actions taken. 

4. Establish a protocol for prioritizing response activities. 

404

Item XI. 5.



5. Coordinate activities with other ESF’s. 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 
response and recovery efforts. 

 
C. Effingham Board of Education 

 
1. Support sheltering activities with personnel and facilities. 
2. Attend regular meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to support 
3. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
5. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to 
the primary agency. 

 

D. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 
1. Support sheltering activities with personnel and facilities. 
2. Attend regular meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to support 
3. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
5. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to 
the primary agency. 

 
E. Effingham County Sheriff's Office 

 

Provide security and control of designated shelters and PODS 
 

F. Effingham Emergency Medical Service 
 

Supply paramedics as a substitute when there is a shortage of nurses at shelter operations. 
 

G. Effingham Health Department 
 

Coordinate, locate, supply nurses for shelter operations. Monitor food and water for 
contamination. 

 

H. Recreation Dept 

 

Operate Point of Distribution Sites (PODS) for food and water. 

 

405

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 7 

RESOURCE SUPPORT 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of resource support services involves direction and coordination of 
volunteers, operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. This 
ESF has been established to provide logistical and resource support to local entities in 
supporting emergency response and recovery efforts during an emergency or disaster. 

 
1. ESF 7 shall plan, coordinate and managing resource support and delivery in 

response to and recovery from a major disaster or catastrophe. 
2. ESF 7 shall provide supplies and equipment from county and municipal stocks, 

commercial sources and donated goods. 
3. ESF 7 support agencies will furnish resources as required. 

4. Procurement will be made in accordance with current local, state and federal laws and 
regulations that include emergency procedures under Georgia Statute and Effingham 
County policies and ordinances. 

 
B. Scope 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Develop methods and procedures for responding to and complying with 

requests for resources. 
b. Develop procedures for reimbursing private vendors for services rendered. 
c. Develop lists of private vendors and suppliers and their available resources. 

d. Establish preplanned contracts where necessary to ensure prompt support from 
vendors during emergencies. 

e. Develop and train ESF 7 personnel on County emergency procurement 
procedures for acquiring supplies, resources, and equipment. 

f. Develop resource inventories based on hazard specific studies and 
corresponding likely resource requests by ESF. 

g. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and supporting SOPs. 

Primary Agency  

 Parks and Landscaping 
 

Support Agencies 
City of Guyton 
City of Rincon 
City of Springfield 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

406

Item XI. 5.



h. Ensure all ESF 7 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Alert those agencies whose personnel, equipment, or other resources may be used. 
b. Establish a resource tracking and accounting system, including 

management reports. 
c. Assess initial reports to identify potential resource needs. 

d. Identify procurement resources and potential facility locations in the disaster area 
of operations. 

e. Provide data to the Public Information Office for dissemination to the public. 

f. Locate, procure, and issue to county agencies the resources necessary to support 
emergency operations to include coordination with General Services Real Property 
Management to identify prospective staging area warehouses available for lease to 
replace damaged or destroyed facilities. 

g. Execute countywide logistics plan and coordinate with ESF 1 to support 
logistics operations. 

h. Coordinate with the state to develop procedures for deploying state 
resources and personnel in support of emergency operations at warehousing 
facilities, staging areas, and other areas where the need exists. 

i. Coordinate with ESF 13 to evaluate warehouse security requirements. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Continue to conduct procurement activities as long as necessary and until 

procurement needs have been met. 
b. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordination with state ESF 7 

personnel in the EOC and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the state concerning 
mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. This 
function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

407

Item XI. 5.



The volunteer services function is the primary responsibility of Parks and Landscaping and 
support for this function is the responsibility of City of Guyton, City of Rincon, City of 
Springfield and Effingham County Emergency Management Agency. 
 

B. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Maintain a list of volunteers and private organizations, local businesses, and 

individuals available to provide services, resources, and donated goods. 
b. Execute MOUs between county EMA and support agencies/organizations. 

c. Notify volunteer organizations when an emergency or disaster is threatening or 
underway. 

d. Alert and request assistance, as appropriate. 

e. Participate in and/or conduct exercises and tests. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Support delivery of services to victims. 

b. Coordinate staging areas for volunteers to unload, store, or disperse 
donated goods. 

c. Assess the continuing volunteer service needs of the disaster victims. 

d. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Parks and Landscaping 

 
1. Develop methods and procedures for responding to and complying with requests for 

resources.  Coordinate staging areas for volunteers to unload, store, or disperse donated 
goods. 

 
B. City of Guyton 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 

support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 

of responsibility. 
3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 

operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 
4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management 

activities. 
5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible 

supplies stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 
6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 

available. 
7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 

accordance with Resource Support policies. 

408

Item XI. 5.



C. City of Rincon 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 

support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 

of responsibility. 
3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 

operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 
4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management 

activities. 
5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible 

supplies stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 
6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 

available. 
7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 

accordance with Resource Support policies. 
 

 
 

D. City of Springfield 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 

support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 

of responsibility. 
3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 

operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 
4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management 

activities. 
5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible 

supplies stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 
6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 

available. 
7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 

accordance with Resource Support policies. 
 

 
 

E. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 
1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 

support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 

of responsibility. 
3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 

operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 
4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management 

activities. 

409

Item XI. 5.



5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible 
supplies stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 

6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 
available. 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies. 

 

410

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 8 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND MEDICAL SERVICES 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of health and medical services involves direction and coordination, 
operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. The 
mission of this ESF is to provide the mechanism for coordinated County assistance to 
supplement municipal resources in response to public health and medical care needs for potential 
or actual disasters and emergencies and/or during a developing potential health and medical 
situation. Additionally, to delineate procedures for the identification, recording, transportation, 
sheltering and care of persons requiring special needs in anticipation of, or during an emergency 
or disaster. 

 
1. ESF 8 will coordinate all resources related to health and medical issues and shall monitor 

field deployment of medical personnel and resources. 
2. ESF 8 will not release medical information on individual patients to the general public 

to ensure patient confidentiality protection. 
3. ESF 8 will prepare reports on casualties/patients to be provided to the American Red 

Cross for inclusion in the Disaster Welfare Information System and to ESF 15 for 
informational releases. 

4. ESF 8 will establish clear lines of communication and integration of expectations will be 
established on a routine basis with the EOC. 

 
B. Scope 

 

This ESF is structured to oversee in identifying and meeting the public health and medical 
needs, to include emergency medical personnel, facilities, vehicles, equipment and supplies for 
victims, including people with special needs. The emergency operations necessary for the 
performance of this function include but are not limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. General 

 
i. Develop mutual support relationships with professional associations and 

other private services and volunteer organizations that may assist 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Health Department 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham Emergency Medical Service 
Effingham Environmental services 
Effingham Hospital 

411

Item XI. 5.



during an emergency or disaster. 

ii. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and 
supporting SOPs. 

iii. Ensure all ESF 8 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
b. Medical Care 

 
i. Coordinate the provision of medical and dental care. 

ii. Identify and coordinate the deployment of doctors, nurses, technicians and 
other medical personnel to disaster areas. 

iii. Maintain inventory lists of medical supplies, equipment, ambulance 
services, hospitals, clinics and first aid units. 

iv. Plan for establishment of staging areas for medical personnel, 
equipment, and supplies. 

v. When emergency facilities are not available, plan for establishment of 
emergency medical care centers. 

vi. Plan for requesting medical assistance teams and coordinate for their 
support while operating within the county. 

vii. Assure that health care facilities (i.e. hospitals, nursing homes, youth and 
adult medical care facilities) develop patient reduction, evacuation, and 
relocation procedures. 

 
c. Persons with Special Needs 

 
i. Identify and contact special needs populous to coordinate assistance and 

conduct needs assessments. 
ii. Consider all needs such as persons with physical disabilities, special medical 

needs, communication disabilities, elderly persons, and non-English speakers 
in the planning process. 

iii. Develop evacuation and relocation procedures for persons with special needs. 
iv. Develop procedures to monitor health information and records of 

persons being evacuated or relocated. 
v. Plan for deployment of food services or medical services to persons that 

may be mobility impaired. 
vi. Establish plans for evacuation and care of special needs in conjunction with 

state partners. 

 
d. Public Health and Sanitation 

 
i. Develop procedures to protect the public from communicable diseases and 

contamination of food, water, and drug supplies (including veterinary drugs). 
ii. Develop procedures to monitor public health information. 

iii. Develop sanitation inspection procedures and protocols to control 
unsanitary conditions. 

iv. Develop procedures for inspection of individual water supplies. 

v. Develop procedures for identification of disease, vector, and epidemic 
control. 

vi. Develop emergency immunization procedures. 

vii. Identify laboratory testing facilities. 

412

Item XI. 5.



e. Crisis Counseling 

 
i. Develop procedures for rapidly providing crisis counseling and mental 

health/substance abuse assistance to individuals and families, to include 
organizing and training crisis counseling teams. 

ii. Develop support relationships with government agencies, professional 
associations, private services, and volunteer organizations to provide mental 
health and substance abuse assistance during disasters. 

 

 
2. Response 

 
a. General 

 
i. Coordinate information releases to the public with the public 

information officer in the EOC Public Information Group. 
ii. Coordinate with State and Federal agencies as required. 

iii. Maintain records of expenditures and resources used for possible later 
reimbursement. 

 
b. Medical Care 

 
i. Coordinate the delivery of health and medical services. 

ii. Arrange for the provision of medical personnel, equipment, 
pharmaceuticals, and supplies. 

iii. Assist the coordination of patient evacuation and relocation. 

iv. Assist with hazardous materials response. 

 
c. Public Health and Sanitation 

 
i. Manage public health and sanitation services. 
ii. Determine need for health surveillance programs throughout County. 
iii. Issue Public Health notice for cleanup on private property. 

iv. Arrange for the provision of medical personnel, equipment, and 
supplies as well as special dietary and housing needs. 

v. Notify state of planning limitations regarding evacuation and core 
individuals with special needs. 

 
d. Crisis Counseling: Coordinate for the provision of mental health and 

recovery services to individuals, families, and communities. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. General 

 
i. Anticipate and plan for arrival of, and coordination with state ESF 8 

personnel in the EOC and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 
ii. Ensure ESF 8 members or their agencies maintain appropriate records of 

activities and costs incurred during the event. 

 
b. Medical Care 

413

Item XI. 5.



i. Assist with restoration of essential health and medical care systems. 

ii. Assist with restoration of permanent medical facilities to operational 
status. 

iii. Assist with restoration of pharmacy services to operational status. 

iv. Assist with emergency pharmacy and laboratory services. 

 
c. Persons with Special Needs 

 
i. Continue coordination with agencies and organizations caring for people 

with special needs for return to assisted living facilities or relocation. 
ii. Encourage and assist vulnerable populations to create and keep 

emergency preparedness and response plans. 

 
d. Public Health and Sanitation 

 
i. Monitor environmental and epidemiological surveillance. 

ii. Continue long-term emergency environmental activities. 

 
e. Crisis Counseling: Coordinate the management of continuous mental health and 

substance abuse assistance to individuals and families. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the state concerning 
mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. This 
function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

 

The health and medical services function is the primary responsibility of Effingham Health 
Department and support for this function is the responsibility of Effingham Emergency 
Medical Service, Effingham Environmental services and Effingham Hospital. 

 

B. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Coordinate MOUs with all appropriate agencies and organizations for the 

provision of services to or on behalf of affected individuals and families. 

414

Item XI. 5.



b. Plan for the continuity of health and medical services, in conjunction with the EMA, 
American Red Cross, etc. 

c. Establish a directory of health and medical resources. 

d. Work with the American Red Cross on the identification of volunteers and 
provision of training. 

e. Maintain a coordinated approach with state public health. 

f. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate health and medical services 
response capability. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Assist the EMA with health and medical resources, services, and personnel upon 

notification of an emergency or disaster. 
b. Support the American Red Cross with health and medical services during shelter 

operations, as requested upon opening. 
c. Secure, in conjunction with the EMA, American Red Cross, other agencies and 

organizations, and the private sector, mental health, rehabilitation assistance, and 
other services, when necessary. 

d. Assist EMA, American Red Cross, other community agencies and organizations, 
and the private sector with issues affecting people who have special needs. 

e. Provide informational support to emergency medical services; 

f. Channel all relevant health and medical information for public release 
through the EMA and state public health. 

g. Continue service assistance throughout reentry and until all health and 
medical issues are resolved. 

h. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during 
recovery. 

 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham Health Department 

 
1. Coordinate with each support agency through regularly scheduled meetings to ensure 

planning functions are implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Provide leadership in directing, coordinating and integrating the overall county efforts 

to provide medical and public health assistance to the affected area. 
3. Conduct initial assessment of health and medical needs. 

4. Determine need for additional personnel and resources and initiate request mutual 
aid to EOC. 

5. Coordinate and direct the activation and deployment of voluntary resources of 
health/medical personnel, supplies and equipment. 

6. Establish, as needed, active and passive surveillance systems for the protection of public 
health. 

 
B. Effingham Emergency Medical Service 

415

Item XI. 5.



1. Plan for establishment of staging areas for medical personnel, equipment, and 
supplies. 

2. Assist the coordination of patient evacuation and relocation. 
3. Coordinate Advanced Life Support, Basic Life Support, Emergency Medical 

Technicians and Paramedics. 

 
C. Effingham Environmental services 

 
1. Monitor environmental surveillance. 

2. Continue long-term emergency environmental activities. 

3. Coordinate the response for: hazardous materials, safety of food and drugs, radiological 

hazards and water systems. 

 
D. Effingham Hospital 

 
1. Assist the coordination of patient evacuation and relocation. 

 

 

416

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 9 

SEARCH AND RESCUE 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of search and rescue involves direction and coordination, operations 
and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

Rapidly deploy local search and rescue components to provide specialized lifesaving 
assistance to municipal authorities during an emergency or disaster. 

 
1. EMA will assist in coordinating county assets and augment agencies having SAR 

responsibilities and may request state and Federal SAR assistance. 
2. ESF 9 will interface with ESFs 1 and 8 to assist with medical assistance and the 

transportation of victims beyond initial collection points. 

 
B. Scope 

 

Urban SAR activities include, but are not limited to, locating, extricating, and providing 
immediate medical assistance to victims trapped in collapsed structures. Nonurban SAR 
activities include, but are not limited to, emergency incidents that involve locating missing 
persons, boats which are lost at sea, locating downed aircraft, extrication if necessary, and 
treating any victims upon their rescue. 

 

The emergency operations necessary for the performance of this function include, but are not 
limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Maintain a current inventory of resources, including trained personnel, which could 

support search and rescue operations. Maintain records reflecting local capability. 
b. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and supporting SOPs. 
c. Maintain liaison with State urban search and rescue assets and plan for 

reception of external assets. 
d. Maintain personnel and equipment in a state of readiness appropriate to 

existing and anticipated emergency conditions to include mobilizing resources 
and staging them at various locations. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Fire Rescue 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham Emergency Medical Service  
Rincon Fire Department 

417

Item XI. 5.



e. Assist local governments in training of personnel and rescue organizations for 
search and rescue operations. 

f. Ensure all ESF 9 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Support local agencies with appropriate resources, to include mobilizing and 

deploying teams and equipment as needed. 
b. Using the ICS, assume responsibility for coordinating and tracking all resources 

committed to an incident. This may include placing personnel at a forward 
command post. Establish staging areas with the requesting group. 

c. Deploy liaison teams to county EOC or incident base of operations, as 
needed. 

d. Plan for and establish relief resources to replace or rotate with committed 
resources for extended operations. 

e. Coordinate other State and Federal support for search and rescue operations 
to include planning for reception and deployment to area of operations. 

f. Coordinate with ESF 1 for use of buses to transport rescue teams or rescued 
victims or persons evacuated from an emergency area to a safe location or 
emergency shelter. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Continue to support local operations and plan for a reduction of operations. 

b. Inventory any lost or damaged equipment and record any personnel injuries or 
equipment accidents. 

c. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordinate with state ESF 9 personnel in the 
EOC and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 

d. Require ESF 9 team members and their agencies maintain appropriate records 
of costs incurred during the event. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the Governor and/or GEMA 
concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in county or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF, in cooperation with 
the EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

418

Item XI. 5.



The search and rescue function is the primary responsibility of Effingham Fire Rescue and support 
for this function is the responsibility of Effingham Emergency Medical Service, and Rincon Fire 
Department. 

 
1. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Establish and maintain uniform search and rescue procedures. 
ii. Recruit, train, and certify search and rescue personnel. 
iii. Develop an inventory of resources, equipment, and personnel. 
iv. Enter MOUs for additional assistance and/or logistical support. 
v. Conduct and/or support community education programs on survival. 
vi. Establish a record keeping system. 

vii. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate search and rescue response 
capability. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Respond to requests by the EMA. 
ii. Monitor response efforts. 
iii. Channel emergency search and rescue information to the EMAEOC. 
iv. Support request from other community agencies and/or jurisdictions. 

v. Maintain records, expenditures, and document resources utilized during 
recovery. 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

A. Effingham Fire Rescue 

 
1. Recruit train and certify search and rescue personnel. Mobilize support personnel and 

equipment. 
2. Establish and maintain uniform search and rescue procedures 

3. The designated EOC Fire Department Coordinator will coordinate provision of 
representatives on a 24-hour basis to the EOC. The composition of each SAR team shall 
be determined by the Incident Commander/ SAR Coordinator. 

 
B. Effingham Emergency Medical Service 

 

Provide immediate medical assistance to trapped victims. 
 

 
C. Rincon Fire Department 

 
1. Recruit, train and certify search and rescue personnel. Mobilize support personnel and 

equipment. 
2. Establish and maintain uniform search and rescue procedures 

3. The designated EOC Fire Department Coordinator will coordinate provision of 
representatives on a 24-hour basis to the EOC. The composition of each SAR team shall 
be determined by the Incident Commander/ SAR Coordinator. 

 

 
419

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 10 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of hazardous materials involves direction and coordination, 
operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF coordinates County support in response to an actual or potential discharge and/or 
uncontrolled release of oil or hazardous materials during disasters or emergencies. 

 

B. Scope 
 

This ESF will provide a coordinated response by local resources and initiate requests for state 
and federal resources when necessary to minimize adverse effects on the population and 
environment resulting from the release of or exposure to hazardous or radiological materials. 

 
1. The emergency operations necessary for the performance of both radiological and non-

radiological components of this function include but are not limited to: 

 
a. Preparedness 

 
i. Prepare an inventory of existing threats using SARA Title III, Tier II 

information. 
ii. Plan for response to hazardous materials incidents. 
iii. Develop plans for communications, warning, and public information. 

iv. Develop procedures for identification, control, and cleanup of 
hazardous materials. 

v. Provide, obtain, or recommend training for response personnel using courses 
made available by FEMA, Department of Energy (DOE), Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission (NRC), the Georgia Public Safety Training Center, EPA, and 
manufacturers and transporters of hazardous materials, as well as training 
based on OSHA requirements for each duty position. 

vi. Maintain a listing of private contractors capable of performing 
emergency and/or remedial actions associated with a hazardous 
materials incident. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Fire Rescue 

 

Support Agencies 
Rincon Fire Department 

420

Item XI. 5.



vii. Maintain an inventory of local assets capable of responding to a 
hazardous materials incident. 

viii. Develop plans and/or mutual aid agreements regarding hazardous 
materials incidents with local agencies, other county agencies, 
contiguous states, federal agencies, and private organizations as required. 

ix. Collect and utilize licensing, permitting, monitoring, and/or transportation 
information from the appropriate local, county, state, or federal agencies 
and/or private organizations to facilitate emergency response. 

x. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and 
supporting SOPs. 

xi. Ensure all ESF 10 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
b. Response 

 
i. ESF 10 will coordinate, with the Unified/Incident Command, all hazardous 

substance response specific efforts and provide information to the EOC for 
coordination of all other municipal efforts. 

ii. Provide 24-hour response capability and dispatch personnel to an 
incident scene as necessary. 

iii. ESF 10 will assess the situation to include: the nature, amount and location 
of real or potential releases of hazardous materials; pathways to human and 
environmental exposure; probable direction and time of travel of the 
materials; potential impact on human health, welfare, safety, and the 
environment; types, availability, and location of response resources, 
technical support, and cleanup services; and priorities for protecting human 
health, welfare and the environment. 

iv. After reviewing reports, gathering and analyzing information and 
consulting with appropriate agencies, determine and provide, as 
available, the necessary level of assistance. 

v. Provide protective action recommendations, as the incident requires. 

vi. Provide for monitoring to determine the extent of the contaminated area and 
consult with appropriate support agencies to provide access and egress 
control to contaminated areas. 

vii. Consult with appropriate local, state, or federal agencies and/or private 
organizations with regard to the need for decontamination. Coordinate with 
ESF 8 regarding decontamination of injured or deceased personnel. 

viii. Coordinate decontamination activities with appropriate local, state, and 
federal agencies. 

ix. Coordinate with appropriate local, state, and federal agencies to ensure 
the proper disposal of wastes associated with hazardous materials 
incidents; and assist in monitoring or tracking such shipments to 
appropriate disposal facilities. 

x. Coordinate with ESF 1 for the use of staging areas and air assets, and 
technical advice and assistance on regulated rail. 

xi. Coordinate with ESF 3 for technical assistance on water, wastewater, solid 
waste, and disposal. 

xii. Coordinate with ESF 12 for technical advice and assistance on intra 
County pipelines. 

xiii. Coordinate with GEMA for use of state assets. 

421

Item XI. 5.



c. Recovery 

 
i. Terminate operations when the emergency phase is over and when the 

area has been stabilized by responsible personnel. 
ii. Request and maintain documented records of all expenditures, money, and 

physical resources of the various governmental department/agencies involved 
in emergency operations. Ensure that ESF 10 team members or their agencies 
maintain appropriate records of costs incurred during the event. 

iii. Anticipate and plan for arrival of, and coordination with, state ESF 10 
personnel in the EOC and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 

 
d. Mitigation 

 
i. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

ii. Support requests and directives resulting from the Governor and/or 
GEMA concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

iii. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 

II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF, in cooperation with the 
EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

The hazardous materials services function is the primary responsibility of Effingham 
 

Fire Rescue and support for this function is the responsibility of Rincon Fire Department. 
 

B. Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Prepare a facility profile and inventory of potential hazardous materials. 

b. Identify potential contacts and resources in order to conduct a community 
vulnerability analysis to determine potential hazardous materials threats and onsite 
inspections. 

c. Plan for response to hazardous materials incidents and coordinate with the EMA 
and other first responders. 

d. Develop procedures for identification, communications, warning, public 
information, evacuation, control, and monitoring and/or supervising cleanup of 
hazardous materials. 

e. Obtain training for response personnel available through GEMA, Georgia Fire 
Academy, manufacturers and shippers of hazardous materials, and/or other 
sources. 

422

Item XI. 5.



f. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate hazardous materials response 
capabilities. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Verify incident information and notify the EMA and other applicable 

agencies. 
b. Establish a command post at a safe distance near the scene or staff the EOC, if 

the situation becomes excessive. 
c. Provide further information on the situation to the EMA and convey warnings for 

dissemination to the public. 
d. Request assistance for emergency health and medical, as well as mass care, if 

the situation warrants. 
e. Ensure availability of expertise and equipment to manage the incident. 
f. Utilize proper procedures for containment to prevent additional dangers. 

g. Support response teams, owner, shipper, state, and/or federal 
environmental personnel during cleanup. 

h. Establish area security and prohibit all unauthorized personnel from entering the 
containment area. 

i. Terminate cleanup operations after dangerous situation subsides. 

j. Maintain records, expenditures, and document resources utilized during 
recovery. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

A. Effingham Fire Rescue 
 

Provide, obtain, or recommend training for response personnel using courses made available by 
FEMA, Department of Energy (DOE), Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), the Georgia 
Public Safety Training Center, EPA, and manufacturers and transporters of hazardous materials, 
as well as training based on OSHA requirements for each duty position. Participate in drills and 
exercises to evaluate hazardous materials response capabilities. 

 

 

B. Rincon Fire Department 
 

Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate hazardous materials response capabilities. 
Maintain hazardous materials awareness training of responders. 

 

 

423

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 11 

AGRICULTURE AND NATURAL RESOURCES 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of agriculture and natural resources involves direction and 
coordination, operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work this ESF. This ESF 
has been established to support provision of nutrition assistance, management of diseases, food 
safety, and to protect significant properties. 

 
1. Actions undertaken through ESF 11 are coordinated with and conducted cooperatively 

with state and local incident management officials and with private entities. 
2. Each supporting agency is responsible for managing its respective assets and 

resources after receiving direction from the primary agency for the incident. 
3. Food Safety and Inspections are activated upon notification of the occurrence of a 

potential or actual disaster or emergency by the Department of Public Health. 
4. Actions undertaken are guided by and coordinated with County and local emergency 

preparedness and response officials and State and Federal officials and include existing 
USDA internal policies and procedures. 

5. Actions undertaken under ESF 11 to protect, conserve, rehabilitate, recover and restore 
resources are guided by the existing internal policies and procedures of the primary 
agency for each incident. 

6. The primary agency for each incident coordinates with appropriate ESFs and other 
annexes to ensure appropriate use of volunteers and their health and safety and to ensure 
appropriate measures are in place to protect the health and safety of all workers. 

7. Control and eradication of an outbreak of a highly contagious or economically 
devastating animal/zoonotic disease, highly infective exotic plant disease, or 
economically devastating plant pest infestation. 

8. Assurance of food safety and food security. 

9. Protection of natural and cultural resources and historic property resources before, 
during, and/or after a disaster or emergency. 

 
B. Scope 

Primary Agency 
Extension Service 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham Animal Control 
Effingham County Sheriff's Office 
Effingham Environmental services 
Effingham Health Department 

424

Item XI. 5.



To provide for the following functional responsibilities: 
 

Identify, secure and distribute food, bottled beverages, and supplies, and support the provision 
for sanitary food storage, distribution, and preparation during an emergency or disaster; Provide 
for mitigation, response and recovery to natural disasters, and/or acts of terrorism affecting 
animals, agriculture production, and the food sector; Assist agriculture in an outbreak of a highly 
infectious/contagious or economically devastating animal/zoonotic disease, or a highly 
ineffective or economically devastating plant pest disease or infestation; Assist with agriculture 
production, animal industry, and wildlife adversely affected by a disaster, either natural or 
manmade; and, Conserve, rehabilitate, recover and restore natural, cultural, and historic 
properties prior to, during, and after a manmade or natural disaster. 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Maintain an accurate roster of personnel assigned to perform ESF 11 duties during 

a disaster. 
b. Identify and schedule disaster response training for ESF 11 personnel. 

c. Maintain current food resource directories to include maintaining points of 
contact. 

d. Identify likely transportation needs and coordinate with ESF 1. 

e. Ensure all ESF 11 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Lead support agencies will maintain a roster of personnel assigned to 

perform ESF 11 duties during a disaster. 
b. Coordinate with ESF 6 and ESF 5, regarding mass feeding sites established by 

responding emergency management agencies. 
c. ESF 11 will coordinate with EMA and Public Health to update lists of all 

available provision of medical services with appropriate agencies. 
d. ESF 6 will provide a list of mass care sites requiring restoration of services to 

EOC Operations. 
e. ESF 6 will coordinate with ESF 13 regarding additional security resources, if 

needed, at mass care shelters. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. ESF 11 will coordinate with ESFs 5, 6, and 8 to establish or support existing mass 

feeding sites operated to ensure optimal access for public service based on 
emergency needs. 

b. ESF 11 will coordinate with State agencies for the provision of food and water 
to mass feeding sites, if necessary. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from GEMA and/or other state agencies 
and federal partners concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency, county, or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

425

Item XI. 5.



d. Work to educate citizens on disaster preparedness and disaster mitigation 
activities. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Natural Disaster and Animals, Animal Industry and Wildlife 

 
1. Strategy 

 

The agency assigned primary responsibility for ESF 11 will coordinate with appropriate 
agencies and organizations to ensure operational readiness. Agencies with responsibilities 
for this section of ESF 11 will coordinate with the Georgia Department of Agriculture 
(GDA) and the Georgia Department of Natural Resources (DNR), and the lead state 
agencies for ESF 11. The GDA will develop and maintain Standard Operating Procedures 
to include, but not limited to poultry, cattle, swine, dairy, equine, goats, sheep, and 
companion animal industries for a natural disaster. DNR will develop and maintain 
Standard Operating Procedures regarding aquaculture, seafood, wildlife, and exotic 
animals for natural disasters and the preservation of natural, cultural, and historic 
resources. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Develop mutual aid agreements with professional associations and 

private agencies/organizations. 
ii. Coordinate with ESF 6 in identifying potential pet friendly shelters near 

approved emergency American Red Cross shelters. 
iii. Participate in and/or conduct exercises or tests regularly, to validate this 

ESF and related SOPs. 
iv. Prepare, in conjunction with GEMA, public service announcements (PSAs) 

to increase public awareness regarding pet options and animal directives. 
v. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate animal and animal 

industry response capability. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Support the EMAEOC with all available resources. 
ii. Coordinate local emergency response with regional and state systems. 

iii. Request additional personnel and equipment for triage and shelter 
facilities, when necessary. 

iv. Manage and direct evacuation of animals from risk areas and provide 
technical assistance to prevent animal injury and disease dissemination. 

v. Obtain additional supplies, equipment, personnel, and technical 
assistance from support agencies and the private sector. 

vi. Provide assistance and care for livestock and other animals impacted by the 
disaster. If this assistance and care cannot be provided locally, request 
assistance from ESF 11 through the SOC. 

426

Item XI. 5.



vii. Provide information to state ESF 11 on all available animal shelter facilities 
and confinement areas identified, before, during and after the disaster. 

viii. Assist with the evacuation of animals from risk areas and provide 
technical assistance to prevent animal injury and disease dissemination. 
Request additional assistance from state ESF 11 as needed. 

ix. Support GASART(s) as necessary. 

x. Coordinate with supporting agencies and Volunteer Agencies Active in 
Disaster (VOAD) for additional animal emergency sheltering and stabling for 
both large and small animals. 

xi. Restore equipment and supplies to a normal state of operational 
readiness. 

xii. Maintain financial records on personnel, supplies, and other resources 
utilized. Report to EMA upon request. 

xiii. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
B. Nutrition Assistance and Food Safety 

 
1. Strategy 

 

The agency assigned primary responsibility for ESF 11 will coordinate with appropriate 
agencies and organizations to ensure operational readiness. Agencies with 
responsibilities for this section of the ESF, will coordinate with the EMA, GDA, and 
DNR. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Identify agencies and organizations responsible for food safety 

inspections and monitoring and coordinate MOUs with appropriate 
entities. 

ii. Maintain procedures and responsibilities for food inspection and 
response to threatened food supplies. 

iii. Establish a system for the notification process of suspected or 
adulterated food supplies. 

iv. Participate in tests and exercises to evaluate communication with other 
agencies with food safety and security duties. 

v. Coordinate with ESF 6, the response to mass food distribution from 
secured sources. 

vi. Coordinate the development of an operational plan that will ensure 
timely distribution of food and drinking water. 

vii. Assess the availability of food supplies and storage facilities capable of 
storing dry, chilled, or frozen food. 

viii. Assess the availability of handling equipment and personnel for 
support. 

ix. Develop notification procedures for mobilizing food services, 
personnel, and resources. 

427

Item XI. 5.



b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Coordinate with state and local agencies and authorities for requested 

support if county agencies are overwhelmed. 
ii. Identify proper state and federal agencies to contact in the event of 

suspicious activity contributing to adulterated food supplies. 
iii. Provide guidance for immediate local protective actions and reports, and 

establish communication with GDA and the Department of Human 
Resources (DHR). 

iv. Work with local EMA to determine critical food needs of the affected 
population in terms of numbers of people and their location. 

v. Coordinate community resources and personnel to assist with delivery 
services and/or distribution as necessary for secured food supplies. 

vi. Provide assistance in support of ESF 6 Mass Care, establishing 
distribution sites and requirements for distribution. 

vii. Establish linkages with volunteer and private agencies/organizations 
involved in congregate meal services. 

viii. Secure food, transportation, equipment, storage, and distribution 
facilities. 

ix. Initiate procurement of essential food and supplies not available from 
existing inventories. 

x. Refer victims needing additional food to volunteer and private 
agencies/organizations. 

xi. Coordinate with appropriate law enforcement in events where 
contamination of the food supply with a chemical or biological agent may 
have been suspicious or intentional. 

xii. Designate certain individuals to serve as expert points of contact for law 
enforcement. 

xiii. Provide for communication, surveillance, and response with all 
appropriate agencies in response to an act of agro terrorism. 

xiv. Coordinate public information and provide updates for ESF 15 to 
distribute to the public and media. 

xv. Maintain financial records on personnel, supplies, and resources 
utilized, and report expenditures to local EMA and GEMA upon 
request. 

xvi. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
C. Animal and Plant Diseases and Pests 

 
1. Strategy 

 

The agency assigned primary responsibility for ESF 11 will coordinate with appropriate 
agencies and organizations to ensure operational readiness. Agencies with responsibilities 
for this section of the ESF, will coordinate with the EMA, GDA, and DNR. This function 
will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

428

Item XI. 5.



i. Develop mutual aid agreements with government agencies, 
professional associations, and private agencies/organizations. 

ii. Work with GDA and DNR to train first responders, community leaders, and 
the agricultural industry at the awareness level in agro security and agro 
terrorism. 

iii. Work with GDA and DNR to provide for surveillance of foreign animal 
diseases or an animal disease, syndrome, chemical, poison, or toxin that may 
pose a substantial threat to the animal industries, aquaculture or seafood 
industries, the economy, or public health of the state. 

iv. Provide for surveillance of pests which may pose a potential or 
substantial threat to agriculture, horticulture, the economy, or the 
public health of the state. 

v. Develop local plans and resources to enhance awareness of surveillance 
for early detection of animal health emergencies and agro terrorism. 

vi. Conduct and/or participate in exercises, training sessions, and 
workshops to assist local communities and support 
agencies/organizations. 

vii. Encourage support agencies to develop emergency operations plans that 
detail their support functions for ESF 11. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Work with GDA and other appropriate state agencies to coordinate the 

collection of samples, ensure proper packaging and handling, and deliver 
them to designated laboratories for testing. 

ii. Coordinate the crisis response and the resulting consequences, as well as 
cooperate with law enforcement officials and the State of Georgia in 
criminal investigations, if a terrorist act is suspected in connection with 
an agriculture, animal, or food incident. 

iii. Work with GDA to coordinate the decontamination and/or destruction of 
animals, plants, cultured aquatic products, food, and their associated 
facilities as determined necessary. 

iv. Support GDA's efforts to quarantine, stop sale, stop movement, and place 
other restrictions under GDA authority of animals, plants, equipment, and 
products as necessary to control and eradicate diseases and pests. 

v. Secure supplies, equipment, personnel and technical assistance from support 
agencies/organizations, and other resources to carry out the response plans 
associated with animal health emergency management or any act of agro 
terrorism that may pose a substantial threat to the state. 

vi. Manage and direct evacuation of animals from risk areas and provide 
technical assistance to prevent animal injury and disease dissemination. 

vii. Support any identified County Agriculture Response Teams(CARTs) and 
other local emergency response teams with the statewide support network 
and the State Agriculture Response Teams (GASARTs). 

viii. Determine need for mutual aid assistance and implement requests for 
assistance through local mutual aid agreements or through GEMA for state 
assistance, or mutual aid assistance through agreements such as the 
Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC). 

429

Item XI. 5.



ix. Request Veterinary Medical Assistance Team (VMAT) assistance 
through the SOC if needed. 

x. Coordinate operations to assure occupational safety measures are 
followed. 

xi. Coordinate damage assessment as necessary. 

xii. Restore equipment and supplies to a normal state of operational 
readiness. 

xiii. Coordinate public information to provide updates to ESF 15. 

xiv. Maintain financial records on personnel, supplies, and other resources 
utilized and report to local EMA and GEMA upon request. 

xv. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
D. Resource Protection 

 
1. Strategy 

 

The agency assigned primary responsibility for ESF 11 will coordinate with appropriate 
agencies and organizations to ensure operational readiness. Agencies with 
responsibilities for this section of the ESF, will coordinate with the EMA, GDA, and 
DNR. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. ESF 11 agencies will coordinate with public natural, cultural, and historic 
properties and state agencies to develop Standard Operating Procedures(SOPs) for 
disaster prevention, preparedness, and recovery. On the state level, the Georgia Archives 
will manage, monitor, and assist in or conduct response and recovery actions to 
minimize damage to natural, cultural, or historic property resources, including essential 
government and historical records. ESF 11 agencies will request assistance for this 
resource through the SOC. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Participate in mutual aid agreements with government agencies, 

professional organizations, private agencies, and organizations. 
ii. Develop inventory of natural, cultural, and historic resources that will be 

covered by this plan. 
iii. Participate in and/or conduct workshops for historical and cultural 

properties to encourage developmental plans for disaster prevention, 
preparedness, and recovery. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Support the disaster recovery with all available resources. 

ii. If criminal activity is suspected, cooperate with the criminal investigation 
jointly with appropriate state and federal law enforcement agencies. 

iii. Coordinate public information and provide updates for ESF 15 to 
distribute to the public and media. 

iv. Provide technical assistance to public natural, historic and cultural 
properties in damage assessment; request needed technical 

430

Item XI. 5.



assistance and damage assessment support from the state or federal 
government through the SOC. 

v. Work with the state to reopen public natural, historic, and cultural 
properties as soon as safely possible, to the public. 

vi. Request assistance from the state for preservation, scientific/technical, and 
records and archival management advice and information for stabilization, 
security, logistics, and contracting for recovery services of damaged natural, 
historic or cultural resources pertaining to documentary and archival records 
and historic documents. 

vii. Maintain financial records on personnel, supplies, and other resources 
utilized and report to local EMA and GEMA upon request. 

viii. Resume day-to-day operations. 
 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Extension Service 

 
1. Assist with agriculture production, animal industry, and wildlife adversely affected by a 

disaster. 
2. Encourage support agencies to develop emergency operations plans that detail their 

support functions for ESF 11. 

 
B. Effingham Animal Control 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your area of responsibility. 
3. Assemble a list of assets available to support the recovery and coordinate this 

information with the EOC. 
4. Request the contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector 

businesses. 
5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 

logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 
6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

8. Work with GDA and DNR to provide for surveillance of foreign animal diseases or an 
animal disease, syndrome, chemical, poison, or toxin that may pose a substantial threat to 
the animal industries. 

 
C. Effingham County Sheriff's Office 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your area of responsibility. 

431

Item XI. 5.



3. Assemble a list of assets available to support the recovery and coordinate this 
information with the EOC. 

4. Request the contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector 
businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 
D. Effingham Environmental services 

 

Provide technical assistance to public natural, historic and cultural properties in damage 
assessment; request needed technical assistance and damage assessment support from the state or 
federal government through the SOC. 

 

E. Effingham Health Department 
 

Coordinate public information and provide updates for ESF 15 to distribute to the public and 
media. 

 

432

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 12 

ENERGY 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of energy services direction and coordination, operations and 
follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. The 
mission of this ESF is to coordinate response activities of energy and utility organizations in 
responding to and recovering from fuel shortages, power outages, and capacity shortages which 
impact or threaten to impact Effingham County citizens and visitors during and after a potential 
of actual disaster or emergency. 

 
1. This ESF will coordinate providing sufficient fuel supplies to emergency response 

organizations and areas along evacuation routes. 
2. Coordinate the provision of materials, supplies, and personnel for the support of 

emergency activities being conducted. 
3. Maintain communication with utility representatives to determine emergency 

response and recovery needs. 
4. Coordinate with schools and other critical facilities within the county to identify 

emergency shelter power generation status/needs; and coordinate with other ESFs 
with assistance in providing resources for emergency power generation. 

5. Maintain lists of energy centric critical assets and infrastructures, and continuously 
monitors those resources to identify and correct vulnerabilities to energy facilities. 

6. Addresses significant disruptions in energy supplies for any reason, whether caused by 
physical disruption of energy transmission and distribution systems, unexpected 
operational failure of such systems, or unusual economic or political events. 

 
B. Scope 

 

This ESF is structured to coordinate the provision of emergency supply and transportation of 
fuel and the provision of emergency power to support immediate response operations as well as 
restoring the normal supply of power to normalize community functioning. This ESF will work 
closely with local and state agencies, energy offices, energy suppliers and distributors. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham Public Works 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham Board of Commissioners 
Effingham Board of Education 
Georgia Power 
Planters EMC 

433

Item XI. 5.



The emergency operations necessary for the performance of this function include but are not 
limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Develop and maintain current directories of suppliers of services and 

products associated with this function. 
b. Establish liaison with support agencies and energy related organizations. 

c. In coordination with public and private utilities, ensure plans for restoring and 
repairing damaged energy systems are updated. 

d. In coordination with public and private utilities, establish priorities to repair 
damaged energy systems and coordinate the provision of temporary, alternate, or 
interim sources of natural gas supply, petroleum fuels, and electric power. 

e. Promote and assist in developing mutual assistance compacts with the 
suppliers of all power resources. 

f. Develop energy conservation protocols. 

g. Ensure all ESF 12 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Analyze affected areas to determine operational priorities and emergency repair 

procedures with utility field personnel. Provide status of energy resources to the 
EOC Operations Group as required and, when possible, provide data by county. 

b. In coordination with public and private utilities, prioritize rebuilding 
processes, if necessary, to restore power to affected areas. 

c. Locate fuel for emergency operations. 

d. Administer, as needed, statutory authorities for energy priorities and 
allocations. 

e. Apply necessary County resources, to include debris removal, in 
accordance with established priorities in response to an emergency. 

f. Provide energy emergency information, education and conservation guidance 
to the public in coordination with the EOC Public Information Group. 

g. Coordinate with ESF 1 for information regarding transport of critical energy 
supplies. 

h. Plan for and coordinate security for vital energy supplies with ESF 13. 
i. Maintain continual status of energy systems and the progress of restoration. 

j. Utility repair and restoration activities to include collecting and providing 
energy damage assessment data to ESF 3. 

k. Recommend energy conservation measures. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Maintain coordination with all supporting agencies and organizations on 

operational priorities and emergency repair and restoration. 
b. Continue to provide energy emergency information, education and 

conservation guidance to the public in coordination with ESF15. 
c. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordinate with state ESF12 personnel in the 

EOC and the Joint Field Office. 

434

Item XI. 5.



d. Continue to conduct restoration operations until all services have been 
restored. 

e. Ensure that ESF12 team members or their support agencies maintain 
appropriate records of costs incurred during the event. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Anticipate and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the Governor and/or the state 
concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF, in cooperation with the 
EMA. This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

Energy services is the primary responsibility of Effingham Public Works and support for this 
function is the responsibility of Effingham Board of Commissioners, Effingham Board of 
Education, Georgia Power and Planters EMC. 

 
1. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Establish liaison support to ensure responsiveness, in conjunction with EMA 

and the private sector. 
ii. Identify additional resources and assistance teams; 
iii. Develop emergency response support plans. 

iv. Prepare damage assessment, repair and restoration procedures, and reporting 
mechanisms. 

v. Recommend actions to conserve energy and conservation guidance. 

vi. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate energy response 
capabilities. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Determine critical energy supply needs of priority populations (e.g., 

infants, elderly, and other people with special needs). 
ii. Gather, assess, and share information on energy system damage, as well as 

estimate repair and restoration time. 
iii. Activate assistance teams and obtain necessary resources to assist in 

recovery. 
iv. Serve as the focal point for the EMA and EOC in order to protect the 

health and safety of affected persons. 

435

Item XI. 5.



v. Work with the EMA to provide public service announcements on energy 
conservation, mitigation impacts, and restoration forecasts. 

vi. Coordinate with other affected areas to maximize resources and 
information exchange. 

vii. Conduct repair and maintenance operations until restoration of all 
services. 

viii. Maintain records, expenditures, and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham Public Works 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Assemble a list of energy and utility related assets available to support recovery and 

coordinate this information with the EOC. 
4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets to 

the response effort. 
5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 

logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 
6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 

accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

7. Effingham Public Works operates a mobile fuel transport that can be task with 
deliveries of diesel. Maintains contracts for fuel. 

 
B. Effingham Board of Commissioners 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Assemble a list of energy and utility related assets available to support recovery and 

coordinate this information with the EOC. 
4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets to 

the response effort. 
5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 

logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 
6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 

accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 
C. Effingham Board of Education 

 

The School system operates a fuel dispensing station and a mobile fuel hauler that can be task 
with other deliveries. Maintains contracts for purchase of motor fuel. 

436

Item XI. 5.



D. Georgia Power 

 

Coordination of priorities and restoration status information. 

 

E. Planter’s EMC 
 

Coordination of priorities and restoration status information 

 

 

437

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 13 

PUBLIC SAFETY AND SECURITY SERVICES 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of public safety and security services involves direction and 
coordination, operations and follow-through during an emergency or disaster. 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF integrates countywide public safety and security capabilities and resources to support 
the full range of incident management activities associated with potential or actual disaster or 
emergency. 

 
1. Local, private sector, and specific State and Federal authorities have primary 

responsibility for public safety and security, and typically are the first line of 
response and support in these functional areas. 

2. In most incident situations, local jurisdictions have primary authority and 
responsibility for law enforcement activities, utilizing the Incident Command System 
on scene. In large-scale incidents, additional resources should first be obtained through 
the activation of mutual aid agreements with neighboring localities and/or State 
authorities, with incident operations managed through a Unified Command structure. 

3. Through ESF 13, State and/or Federal resources could supplement County and local 
resources when requested or required, as appropriate, and are integrated into the 
incident command structure using NIMS principals and protocols. 

4. ESF 13 primary agencies facilitate coordination among supporting agencies to ensure that 
communication and coordination processes are consistent with stated incident 
management missions and objectives. 

5. When activated, ESF 13 coordinates the implementation of authorities that are 
appropriated for the situation and may provide protection and security resources, 
planning assistance, technology support, and other technical assistance to support 
incident operations, consistent with agency authorities and resource availability. 

 
B. Scope 

 

This ESF is structured to oversee public safety to include law enforcement, victim recovery, and 
deceased identification and mortuary services. The emergency operations 

Primary Agency 
Effingham County Sheriff's Office 

 

Support Agencies 
Effingham Coroner 
G.S.P. Post 42 
Guyton Police 
Rincon Police Department 
Springfield Police Department 

438

Item XI. 5.



necessary for the performance of this function include but are not limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. ESF 13 capabilities support incident management requirements including force 

and critical infrastructure protection, security, planning and technical assistance, 
technology support, and public safety in both preincident and post incident 
situations. 

b. ESF 13 is generally activated in situations requiring extensive assistance to provide 
public safety and security and where local government resources are overwhelmed 
or are inadequate, or in preincident or post incident situations that require 
protective solutions or capabilities unique to the county. 

c. ESF 13 will procure and regularly update a list of all agencies (public and 
private) that have the capability to provide law enforcement and security 
services and victim recovery and mortuary services. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Provide warning and communications in support of the communications and 

warning plans. 
b. Staff the EOC as directed. 
c. Provide security to the EOC. 

d. Secure evacuated areas, including safeguarding critical facilities, and 
controlling entry and exit points to the disaster area as requested. 

e. ESF 13 will coordinate with ESF 5 to request additional resources, if 
needed. 

f. ESF 13 will activate existing MOUs with appropriate entities. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Continue those operations necessary to protect people and property. 
b. Assist in return of evacuees. 
c. Assist with reconstitution of law enforcement agencies as necessary. 

d. Require ESF 13 team members or their agencies maintain appropriate records 
of costs incurred during the event. 

e. Phase down operations as directed by the EOC. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. ESF 13 agencies will conduct and/or support community education 

programs on survival and safety. 
b. Support requests and directives resulting from GEMA and/or other state agencies 

and federal partners concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 
c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency, county, 

state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 
 

 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

439

Item XI. 5.



A. Law Enforcement and Security 

 
1. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency or 
organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. 
This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Analyze hazards and determine law enforcement requirements. 

ii. Identify agencies, organizations and individuals capable of providing 
support services. 

iii. Develop MOUs with adjacent and support law enforcement agencies. 

iv. Analyze hazards, critical facilities, determine law enforcement 
requirements, and develop plans to preposition assets. 

v. Train regular and support personnel in emergency duties. 
vi. Develop plans to conduct initial damage assessment. 
vii. Establish and maintain liaison with federal, state and local agencies. 

viii. Develop and maintain standard operating procedures and plans, to 
include alerting lists of personnel and agencies. 

ix. Participate in and/or conduct exercises and training to validate this ESF 
and supporting SOPs. 

x. Ensure all ESF 13 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Provide warning and communications assistance in support of ESF 2. 
ii. Staff the EOC as directed. 
iii. Coordinate security for critical facilities, as needed. 

iv. Support evacuation plans with traffic control, communications, area 
patrols and security for shelters. 

v. Control entry and exit to the emergency or disaster area. 
vi. Control vehicle and individual access to restricted areas. 
vii. Continue operations necessary to protect people and property. 
viii. Coordinate public information and provide updates for ESF 15. 
ix. Assist in return of evacuees. 

x. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

xi. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
B. Victim Recovery Services 

 
1. Strategy 

440

Item XI. 5.



Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency 
or organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. 
This function will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. This function will be coordinated with and involve other 

agencies/organizations. 
ii. Develop and maintain standard operating procedures and plans, to 

include alerting lists of personnel and agencies. 
iii. Establish and maintain standards for human remains recovery 

operations. 
iv. Establish and maintain human remains recovery support and reporting 

procedures. 
v. Recruit, train, and certify recovery personnel. 

vi. Develop an inventory of resources and establish a record keeping 
system. 

vii. Conduct or participate in exercises to evaluate recovery response 
capability. 

viii. Conduct and/or support community education programs on survival. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Respond to requests by local EMA; monitor response efforts. 

ii. Support requests from neighboring counties and MOU/EMAC 
agreements. 

iii. Maintain records, expenditures, and document resources utilized 
during response and recovery. 

 
C. Deceased Identification and Mortuary Services 

 
1. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency 
or organization that has primary responsibility for this ESF, in cooperation with the EMA. 
This function will be coordinated with ESF 5 and involve other support agencies and 
organizations. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Develop plans for location, identification, removal and disposition of the 

deceased. 
ii. Establish a system for collecting and disseminating information regarding 

victims and have the operational capability to deliver the information in a 
field environment in coordination with the EOC Public Information Group. 

441

Item XI. 5.



iii. Develop protocols and maintain liaison with Disaster Mortuary 
Operational Response Teams (DMORT). 

iv. Identify agencies, organizations and individuals capable of providing 
support services for deceased identification including the county coroner. 

v. Maintain a description of capabilities and procedures for alert, 
assembly and deployment of mortuary assistance assets. 

vi. Identify public and private agencies and organizations capable of 
providing support to victims’ families. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Initiate the notification of deceased identification teams. 
ii. Retain victim identification records. 

iii. Support evacuation plans with traffic control, communications, area 
patrols and security for shelters. 

iv. Coordinate DMORT teams and services through existing MOUs and 
EMAC agreements. 

v. Coordinate county assistance for nextofkin notification. 

vi. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during response and recovery. 

 

III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham County Sheriff's Office 

 
1. Identify agencies, organizations and individuals capable of providing support 

services for deceased identification. 

2. Maintain a description of capabilities and procedures for alert, assembly and 

deployment of mortuary assistance assets. 

3. Control entry and exit to the emergency or disaster area. 

4. Control vehicle and individual access to restricted areas. 

5. Assist with evacuation procedures 

6. Assist with search and rescue of citizens 

7. Provide security for the Critical Shelters 

 

B. Effingham Coroner 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and expertise 

as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and agencies. 

 

C. G.S.P. Post 42 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

442

Item XI. 5.



expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

 

D. Guyton Police 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

 

E. Rincon Police Department 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

 

F. Springfield Police Department 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

 

443

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 14 

LONG TERM RECOVERY AND MITIGATION 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 
A. Purpose 

 

This ESF provides operational guidance to those who are assigned to work in this ESF. The 
mission of this ESF is to provide a framework for Effingham County Emergency Management 
Agency support to municipal governments, nongovernmental organizations, and the private 
sector designed to enable community recovery from the long-term consequences of a disaster or 
emergency. 

 
1. ESF 14 recognizes the primacy of affected governments and the private sector in 

defining and addressing risk reduction and long-term community recovery priorities. 
2. Agencies continue to provide recovery assistance under independent authorities to 

municipal governments; the private sector; and individuals, while coordinating activities 
and assessments of need for additional assistance through the ESF 14 coordinator. 

3. Support is tailored based on the type, extent, and duration of the event and long term 
recovery period, and on the availability of state and federal resources. 

4. Long-term community recovery and mitigation efforts are forward looking and market 
based, focusing on permanent restoration of infrastructure, housing, and the economy, 
with attention to mitigation of future impacts of a similar nature, when feasible. 

5. The Federal Government uses the post incident environment as an opportunity to measure 
the effectiveness of previous community recovery and mitigation efforts. 

6. ESF 14 facilitates the application of loss reduction building science expertise to the 
rebuilding of critical infrastructure (e.g., in repairing hospitals or emergency operation 
centers to mitigate for future risk). 

 
B. Scope 

 

Structure: This ESF will provide coordination during largescale or catastrophic 

incidents that require assistance to address significant long-term impacts in the affected area (e.g., 
impacts on housing, businesses and employment, community infrastructure, and social services). 
Activities within the scope of this function include: 

 
1. Preparedness 

Primary Agency 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 

Support Agencies 
City of Guyton 
City of Rincon 
City of Springfield 
Effingham Development Services 

444

Item XI. 5.



a. Develop systems to use predictive modeling to determine vulnerable critical 
facilities as a basis for identifying recovery activities. 

b. Review County Hazard Mitigation Plan to identify vulnerable facilities. 
c. Analyze and evaluate long-term damage assessment data. 

d. Ensure all ESF 14 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 

Use predictive modeling to determine vulnerable critical facilities as a basis for 
identifying recovery activities. 

 

3. Recovery 

 
a. Analyze evaluate long-term damage assessment data. 

b. In coordination with the state government, assign staff to identify and document 
economic impact and losses avoided due to previous mitigation and new 
priorities for mitigation in affected areas. 

c. Review the County Hazard Mitigation Plan for affected areas to identify 
potential mitigation projects. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support requests and directives resulting from the state and/or federal 

government concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 
b. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 

state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. This ESF will assess the social and economic consequences in the impacted area and 

coordinate efforts to address long-term community recovery issues resulting from a disaster or 
emergency. 

B. Advise on the long-term recovery implications of response activities and coordinate the 
transition from response to recovery in field operations. 

C. Work with municipal governments; nongovernmental organizations; and private sector 
organizations to conduct comprehensive market disruption and loss analysis and develop a 
comprehensive long-term recovery plan for the community. 

D. Identify appropriate State and Federal programs and agencies to support implementation of 
the long-term community recovery plan, ensure coordination, and identify gaps in resources 
available. 

E. Determine/identify responsibilities for recovery activities, and provide a vehicle to maintain 
continuity in program delivery among departments and agencies, and with municipal 
governments and other involved parties, to ensure follow-through of recovery and hazard 
mitigation efforts. 

F. Develops coordination mechanisms and requirements for post incident assessments, plans, 
and activities that can be scaled to incidents of varying types and magnitudes. 

G. Establishes procedures for integration of pre incident planning and risk assessment with 
post incident recovery and mitigation efforts. 

445

Item XI. 5.



H. Facilitates recovery decision making across ESFs. Also facilitates awareness of post incident 
digital mapping and pre incident County and municipal hazard mitigation and recovery 
planning across ESFs 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

Supporting information and hazard analyses are contained in the appendix section of this plan. 
 

 

A. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

 
B. City of Guyton 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

 
C. City of Rincon 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

 
D. City of Springfield 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

446

Item XI. 5.



4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 

 
E. Effingham Development Services 

 
1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are 

implemented to support this ESF. 
2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 

resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 
3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

 

447

Item XI. 5.



EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION 15 

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS 
 

 

 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The emergency support function of external affairs includes direction, policies, responsibilities, and 
procedures for disseminating timely, accurate, and easily understood information to the public before, 
during, and after a disaster or emergency situation. Hazard specific appendices to this plan contain 
additional information for such specific emergencies. 

 
A. Purpose 

 
1. Ensures that sufficient County assets are deployed to the field during a potential or 

actual a disaster or emergency to provide accurate, coordinated, and timely information 
to affected audiences, including governments, media, the private sector, and the 
populace. 

2. This ESF includes a provision for providing information in a clear, concise and accurate 
manner on actions to be taken by local agencies and governments and actions to be 
taken by the public. Every effort shall be made to prevent and counter rumors and 
inaccurate information. 

 
B. Scope 

 

The emergency operations necessary for the performance of this function include, but are not 
limited to: 

 
1. Preparedness 

 
a. Develop a public information program to educate the public regarding the 

effects of common, emergency, and disaster situations. 
b. Develop plans to coordinate with international, national, state and local news media 

for emergency operations, before, during and after emergency situations. 
c. Develop plans to conduct a multiagency/jurisdiction coordinated public 

information program during emergencies and disasters; this includes the 
establishment of a Joint Information Center (JIC). 

d. Develop plans and programs to educate news media that ESF 15 is the primary 
information center during emergency situations. 

Primary Agency 
Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 

Support Agencies 
City of Guyton 
City of Rincon 
City of Springfield 
Effingham Board of Commissioners  

448

Item XI. 5.



e. Develop procedures to organize and operate a media briefing area and/or a JIC. 
f. Develop and maintain pre scripted EAS messages, news releases, and public 

service announcements, for all hazards to include hurricane and coastal storm, 
rainwater flooding, storm surge and tornado. 

g. Encourage development of disaster plans and kits for the public. 
h. Provide evacuation information to the affected public. 

i. Participate in exercises and training to validate this annex and supporting SOPs. 
j. Update public information responder listing, as necessary. 
k. Develop and implement training programs for all ESF members. 
l. Develop and maintain a roster with contact information of all ESF personnel. 

m. Ensure all ESF 15 personnel integrate NIMS and ICS principles in all 
planning and preparedness initiatives. 

 
2. Response 

 
a. Alert agencies whose personnel, equipment, or other resources may be used. 
b. Provide timely and accurate EAS messages and news releases in common 

language and terminology to inform the public. 
c. Provide emergency public information to special needs populations. 
d. Coordinate with news media regarding emergency operations. 

e. Provide mass notification to urban and rural populations and provide 
periodic media updates. 

f. Execute a multiagency/jurisdiction coordinated public information program. 
g. Organize and operate a press briefing area and a JIC, as appropriate. 

h. Supplement local emergency management public information operations, as 
necessary, and when resources are available. 

 
3. Recovery 

 
a. Continue public information activities to include updating the public on 

recovery efforts. 
b. Anticipate and plan for arrival of and coordinate with state ESF 15 personnel in the 

EOC, and the Joint Field Office (JFO). 
c. Process and disseminate disaster welfare and family reunification 

information. 

 
4. Mitigation 

 
a. Support and plan for mitigation measures. 

b. Support requests and directives resulting from the Governor and/or GEMA 
concerning mitigation and/or redevelopment activities. 

c. Document matters that may be needed for inclusion in agency or 
state/federal briefings, situation reports and action plans. 

 

 
II. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

 
A. Strategy 

449

Item XI. 5.



EMA will coordinate overall information and planning activities for state agencies and 
organizations. 

 

EMA will coordinate with appropriate agencies to ensure operational readiness of the Intel 
Function for the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency provides primary responsibility of this ESF 
and support for this function is the responsibility of City of Guyton, City of Rincon, City of 
Springfield, and the Effingham Board of Commissioners. 
 

B. Response Actions 

 
1. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
a. Develop a briefing and reporting system to include an EOC briefing, situation 

report, public information and federal request format for the EOC Intel Function; 
b. Share Intel formats with agencies and organizations that have primary 

functional responsibilities; 
c. Update the information and planning system as required; and 

d. Participate in and/or conduct exercises. 

 
2. Response/Recovery 

 
a. Begin Intel Function upon activation of the EOC; 

b. Collect and process information from state agencies and organizations with 
primary Emergency Support Function responsibilities; 

c. Prepare EOC briefings, situation reports and geographic data for mapping to keep 
state and federal agencies and organizations, officials, local governments and local 
Emergency Management Agencies (EMAs) abreast of the severity and magnitude 
and provide updates to Public Affairs for media release; 

d. Provide technical assistance information and analysis to the EMA Director and 
EOC Chief, upon request; 

e. Coordinate needs and damage assessment of affected areas for 
dissemination to appropriate agencies and organizations; 

f. Track and record data necessary for federal declaration; 
g. Prepare information for after-action reports; and 

h. Resume day-to-day operations. 

 
C. Public Information Services 

 
1. Strategy 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) will be developed and maintained by the agency 
or organization that has primary responsibility for this section of the ESF. This function 
will be coordinated with and involve other support agencies and organizations. 

 

The public information services function is the primary responsibility of Effingham 
County Emergency Management Agency and support for this function is the 

450

Item XI. 5.



responsibility of City of Guyton, City of Rincon, City of Springfield, and the Effingham 
Board of Commissioners. 

 

2. Actions 

 
a. Mitigation/Preparedness 

 
i. Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or 

coordinator. 
ii. Develop protocol and designate a liaison for communication with local, state, 

and federal governments and to handle legislative inquires. 
iii. Assist agencies and organizations with ESF responsibilities in 

development of uniform procedures for media releases (refer to 
Appendix I, Public Information Procedures). 

iv. Maintain a media directory (refer to Appendix J, Media Contact List). 

v. Support disaster public awareness initiatives through dissemination of 
information, news articles, PSAs, and presentation of audiovisual materials. 

vi. Establish communication resources to provide people with sensory 
disability (e.g., visual and hearing impaired) an nonEnglish speaking 
persons with emergency management information regarding emergencies or 
disasters. 

vii. Educate the public on alert messages such as watches and warnings through 
media such as radio, television, and newspaper. 

viii. Develop protocols for agencies and organizations with functional support 
responsibilities (e.g., American Red Cross: opening of shelters, Department 
of Transportation: evacuation routing) to inform the media about emergency 
and/or disaster plans. 

ix. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate public information 
capacity. 

 
b. Response/Recovery 

 
i. Define public notification timeframe regarding an emergency or 

disaster and disseminate information to the media. 
ii. Maintain a system to ensure accurate dissemination of emergency 

information such as location, type of hazard, extent of damage, 
casualties, shelters open, evacuation routes, and other protective actions. 

iii. Provide a designated area for media briefings and/or press 
conferences and conduct briefings in a timely manner. 

iv. Provide updates (e.g., response to inquiries about missing relatives, 
restricted areas of access and reentry) regarding the emergency or disaster. 

v. Establish media responsibilities and appropriate spokespersons from local 
government, agencies, and organizations with ESF responsibilities. 

vi. Continue provision of public safety and other necessary assistance 
information throughout the recovery phase. 

vii. Provide advanced media releases to the GEMASOC. 
viii. Coordinate with other jurisdictions that share the media market. 

ix. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized 
during recovery. 

451

Item XI. 5.



III. RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

A. Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

 
1. Define the public notification time frame regarding an emergency or disaster, as well as 

disseminate information to the media. 
2. Maintain a system to ensure accurate dissemination of emergency information, such as 

location, type of hazard, extent of damage, casualties, shelters open, evacuation routes, 
and other protective actions. 

3. Provide a designated area for media briefings and/or press conferences and conduct 
briefings in a timely manner. 

 
B. City of Guyton 

 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

C. City of Rincon 
 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

D. City of Springfield 
 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

E. Effingham Board of Commissioners 
 

Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery. 
 

 

452

Item XI. 5.



ACRONYM 

 
ARC American Red Cross 

 

BOE Board of Education 

 

CERT Community Emergency Response Team  

DFACS Department of Family and Children’s Services 

DFO Disaster Field Office 

DRC Disaster Recovery Center 

 

EAS Emergency Alert System 

 

EOC Emergency Operations Center 

EOP Emergency Operations Plan  

ESF Emergency Support Function 

FCO Federal Coordinating Officer 

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency 

GANG Georgia National Guard 

GEMA Georgia Emergency Management Agency  

IC Incident Commander 

ICP Incident Command Post 

 

ICS Incident Command System 

 

JFO Joint Field Office 
453

Item XI. 5.



JIC Joint Information Center 

 

JOC Joint Operations Center 

 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding 

 

NIMS National Incident Management System 

NRP National Response Plan 

OHS Office of Homeland Security 

 

PDAT Preliminary Damage Assessment Team 

PIO Public Information Officer 

POC Point of Contact 

 

SA Salvation Army 

 

SAR Search and Rescue 

 

SCO State Coordinating Officer 

SITREP Situation Report 

SNPS Special Needs Population Shelters 

SOC State Operations Center 

SOP Standard Operating Procedure 

USACE US Army Corps of Engineers 

VOAD Volunteer Organizations Active in Disasters 

WMD Weapons of Mass Destruction 

454

Item XI. 5.



AUTHORITIES AND REFERENCES 
 

Local Curfews 
 

Georgia Emergency Management Act of 1981, as amended. 
 

Georgia Emergency Operations Plan, revised January 2017. 
 

Local Resolution for Emergency Management. 
 

The Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, Public Law 93288, as 
amended. (http://www.fema.gov/library/stafact.shtm) 

455

Item XI. 5.

http://www.fema.gov/library/stafact.shtm)
http://www.fema.gov/library/stafact.shtm)


EMERGENCY SUPPORT FUNCTION ACTIVATION CHECKLIST 
 

1. Receive notification of ESF Activation from Effingham County Emergency Management 
Agency. 

 

2. Notify all ESF supporting 

agencies. 

3. Verify status of Activation of the 

EOC. 

4. Send Representative to the EOC at designated times. 

 

5. Sign in at EOC Security Station to receive badge and log hours. 

6. Report arrival to Operations Chief and EOC Manager. 

7. Obtain situation briefing from EOC staff. 

 
8. Ensure adequate staffing for 24-hour coverage. Confirm names and hours of liaison staff 

with appropriate agencies. 

 
9. Inventory go kits and work area. Check supplies, phone, and computer. Report any 

deficiencies to the EOC Manager. 

 
10. Establish filing system (may include, but not limited to, status reports, situation reports, 

briefing papers, assignments, mission tasking, telephone rosters, daily reports, etc). 

 
11. Establish contact with forward deployed teams or other agencies, as required. Exchange 

point of contact information and establish reporting times for all elements. 
 

12. Begin gathering information and provide operational report to Operations Chief. 

456

Item XI. 5.



GLOSSARY 

Alternate Emergency Operations Center  A site located away from the primary Emergency Operations 
Center where officials exercise direction and coordination in an emergency or disaster. 

 

Area Command  An organization established to oversee the management of multiple incidents that are 
each being handled by an Incident Command System organization or to oversee the management of large or 
multiple incidents to which several Incident Management Teams have been assigned. 

 

Catastrophic Incident  A natural or manmade incident, which results in extraordinary levels of mass 
casualties, damage, or disruption severely affecting the population, infrastructure, environment, economy, 
and/or government functions 

 

Command Post  A designated location to communicate and exercise direction and coordination over an 
emergency or disaster. 

 

Continuity of Government  Measures taken to ensure coordination of essential functions of government in 
the event of an emergency or disaster. 

 

Critical Facilities  Schools, libraries, hospitals, public roads, water and sanitation systems, public safety 
buildings and other essential infrastructure. 

 

Cyber  Pertaining to computers and their support systems, such as servers, routers, and switches that 
support critical infrastructure. 

 

Damage Assessment  An appraisal or determination of the number of injuries or deaths, damage to public 
or private property, status of critical facilities, services, communication networks, public works and utilities, 
and transportation resulting from a manmade or natural disaster. 

 

Decontamination  Reduction or removal of chemical, biological or radioactive material from a structure, 
area, object, or person. 

 

Direction and Coordination  Determining and understanding responsibilities so as to respond 
appropriately and expeditiously at a centralized center and/or on scene location during emergency 
operations. 

 

Disaster  A manmade or natural disaster resulting in severe property damage, injuries and/or death within 
a community or multijurisdictional area that requires local, state, and federal assistance to alleviate damage, 
loss, hardship, or suffering. 

 

Disaster Recovery Center (DRC)  A facility established in a centralized location within or near the disaster 
area at which disaster victims (individuals, families, or businesses) apply for disaster aid. 

 

Drill  A practical approach or procedure that involves elements of a preparedness plan or the use of specific 
equipment to evaluate a plan prepared response. 

 

Emergency  As defined by the Stafford Act, an emergency is “any occasion or instance for which, in the 
determination of the President, Federal assistance is needed to supplement State and local efforts and 
capabilities to save lives and to protect property and public health and safety, or to lessen or avert the threat 
of a catastrophe in any part of the United States.” 

 

Emergency Alert System (EAS)  A digital voice/text technology communications system consisting of 
broadcast stations and interconnecting facilities authorized by the Federal 

457

Item XI. 5.



Communications Commission to provide public information before, during, and after disasters. 
 

Emergency Management  An organized analysis, planning, direction, and coordination of resources to 
mitigate, prepare, respond, and assist with recovery from an emergency or disaster. 

 

Emergency Management Agency (EMA)  Local government agency, established by local resolution(s), 
charged with the responsibility for local emergency management mitigation, preparedness, response, and 
recovery activities within the jurisdiction. 

 

Emergency Management Agency Director  An individual with primary responsibility for emergency 
management mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery within the jurisdiction. 

 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC)  Physical location at which local government officials and 
designated agencies and/or organization representatives coordinate information and resources to support 
domestic management activities. 

 

Emergency Operations Plan (EOP)  A document describing mitigation, preparedness, response, and 
recovery actions necessary by local government and designated and supporting agencies or organizations in 
preparation of an anticipated emergency or disaster. 

 

Emergency Support Function (ESF)  15 identified government and private sector capabilities organized 
in into a structure to facilitate assistance required during mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery to 
save lives, protect health and property, and maintain public safety. 

 

Evacuation  Organized, phased, and supervised withdrawal, dispersal, or removal of civilians from 
dangerous or potentially dangerous areas, and their reception and care in safe areas. 

 

Evacuees  Persons moving from areas threatened or struck by an emergency or disaster. 
 

Exercise  A simulated occurrence of a manmade or natural emergency or disaster involving planning, 
preparation, operations, practice and evaluation. 

 

Federal Disaster Assistance  Aid to disaster victims and state and local governments by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency and other federal agencies available once a Presidential Declaration has 
been made. 

 

First Responder  Local and nongovernmental police, fire, and emergency personnel who in the early 
stages of an incident are responsible for the protection and preservation of life, property, evidence, and the 
environment. 

 

Georgia Emergency Management Agency (GEMA)  A state agency established by state law, 
responsible for statewide emergency management mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery 
activities within the State of Georgia. 

 

Hazard  A dangerous situation or occurrence that may result in an emergency or disaster. 
 

Hazard Mitigation  Any measure that will reduce potential damage to property, persons or life from a 
disaster or emergency from a predetermined possible hazard. 

 

Hazardous Material  Substance or material that has been determined to be capable of posing an 
unreasonable risk to health, safety, and property including pollutants and contaminants when released into 
the environment. 

 

Hazardous Materials Incident  An occurrence resulting in the uncontrolled release of hazardous materials 
accident capable of posing a risk to health, safety, and property. 

458

Item XI. 5.



In-kind Donations  Donations given in the form of goods, commodities, or services rather than money. 
 

Incident  An occurrence or event, natural manmade caused, that requires an emergency response to protect 
life or property. 

 

Incident Command Post (ICP)  Field location at which the primary tactical level, on scene incident 
command functions are performed. The ICP may be collocated with the incident base or other incident 
facilities. 

 

Incident Command System (ICS)  A management tool consisting of procedures for organizing personnel, 
facilities, equipment and communications at the scene of an emergency. 

 

Incident Commander  The individual responsible for all incident activities, including the development of 
strategies and tactics and the ordering and release of resources. The IC has overall authority and 
responsibility for conducting incident operations and is responsible for the management of all incident 
operations at the incident site. 

 

Incident of Critical Significance  An actual or potential high impact event that requires a coordinated and 
effective response by and appropriate combination of County, local, nongovernmental, and/or private sector 
entities in order to save lives and minimize damage, and provide the basis for long-term community recovery 
and mitigation activities. 

 

Infrastructure  The manmade physical systems, assets, projects, and structures, publicly and/or privately 
owned, that are used by or provide benefit to the public. Examples of infrastructure include utilities, bridges, 
levees, drinking water systems, electrical systems, communications systems, dams, sewage systems, and 
roads. 

 

Joint Information Center (JIC)  A facility established to coordinate all incident related public information 
activities. It is the central point of contact for all news media at the scene of the incident. Public information 
officials from all participating agencies should collocate at the JIC. 

 

Joint Operations Center (JOC)  The JOC is the focal point for all Federal investigative law enforcement 
activities during a terrorist or potential terrorist incident or any other significant criminal incident. 

 

Jurisdiction  A range or sphere of authority. Public agencies have jurisdiction at an incident related to their 
legal responsibilities and authorities. Jurisdictional authority at an incident can be political or geographical. 
(e.g., city, county, State, or Federal boundary lines) or functional (e.g., law enforcement, public health). 

 

Liaison Officer  A member of the Command Staff responsible for coordinating with representatives from 
cooperating and assisting agencies. 

 

Local Government  County, municipality, city, town, township, local public authority, school district, 
special district, intrastate district, council of governments, regional or interstate government entity, or agency 
or instrumentality of a local government; or a rural community, unincorporated town or village, or other 
public entity. 

 

Major Disaster  As defined by the Stafford Act, any natural catastrophe (including any hurricane, tornado, 
storm, high water, wind driven water, tidal wave, tsunami, earthquake, volcanic eruption, landslide, mudslide, 
snowstorm, or drought) or, regardless of cause, any fire, flood, or explosion, in any part of the United States, 
which in the determination of the President causes damage of sufficient severity and magnitude to warrant 
major disaster assistance under this act to supplement 

459

Item XI. 5.



the efforts and available resources of States, local governments, and disaster relief organizations in alleviating 
the damage, loss, hardship, or suffering caused thereby. 

 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)  A written memorandum of understanding between agencies and 
organizations to share resources and assistance during an emergency or disaster. 

 

Mitigation  Activities designed to reduce or eliminate risks to persons or property or life, to lessen the 
actual or potential effects or consequences of an emergency or disaster. 

 

Mobile Command Post (MCP)  A vehicle having the capability to communicate and exercise direction and 
coordination over an emergency or disaster. 

 

Mutual Aid Agreement  Written agreement between agencies, organizations, and/or jurisdictions that they 
will assist one another on request by furnishing personnel, equipment, and/or expertise in a specified manner. 

 

National Incident Management System (NIMS)  A system that provides a consistent, nationwide 
approach for Federal, State, and local governments; the private sector; and NGOs to work effectively and 
efficiently together to prepare for, respond to, and recover from domestic incidents, regardless of cause, size, 
or complexity. 

 

Natural Resources  Natural resources include agriculture, biota, fish, livestock, wildlife, domesticated 
animals, plants, and water. 

 

Nongovernmental Organization  A nonprofit or private sector entity that is based on interests of its 
members, individuals, or institutions and that is not created by a government, but may work cooperatively 
with government. 

 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)  Branch of the U.S. Department of Labor 
responsible for establishing and enforcing safety and health standards in the workplace. 

 

Operating Condition (OPCON)  Scale with increasing levels of preparedness from five to one requiring 
performance of predetermined actions in response to a perceived or real threat. 

 

Power Outage  An interruption or loss of electrical service due to disruption of power generation or 
transmission caused by accident, sabotage, natural hazards, equipment failure, or fuel shortage. 

 

Preparedness  Maintaining emergency management capabilities in readiness, preventing capabilities from 
failing, and augmenting the jurisdiction’s capability including training, developing, conducting and 
evaluating exercises, identifying, and correcting deficiencies, and planning to safeguard personnel, 
equipment, facilities, and resources from effects of a hazard. 

 

Presidential Declaration  When disaster exceeds local and state government’s capacity to respond, or 
provide sufficient resources for response, the state’s Governor may request federal assistance, which is then 
approved by the President in the form of a Presidential Declaration which then increases federal aid to the 
affected areas. 

 

Primary Responsibility  An agency or organization designated leadership and coordination of a specific 
emergency support function so as to mitigate, prepare, respond, and assist with recovery of an emergency or 
disaster. 

 

Private Sector  Organizations and entities that are not part of any governmental structure. Includes for-
profit and not-for-profit organizations, formal and informal structures, commerce and industry, private 
emergency response organizations, and private voluntary organizations. 

460

Item XI. 5.



Public Health  Protection, safety, improvement, and interconnections of health and disease prevention 
among people, domestic animals and wildlife. 

 

Public Information  Dissemination of information in anticipation of an emergency or disaster and timely 
actions, updates, and instructions regarding an actual occurrence. 

 

Public Information Officer  A designated individual responsible for preparing and coordinating the 
dissemination of emergency public information. 

 

Public Works  Work, construction, physical facilities, and services provided by governments for the benefit 
and use of the public. 

 

Recovery  Long-term activities beyond damage assessment necessary to satisfy immediate life support 
needs, maintain logistical support, begin restoration of the infrastructure, identify individuals and 
communities eligible for disaster assistance, and implement post disaster mitigation. 

 

Resources  Personnel and major items of equipment, supplies, and facilities available or potentially 
available for assignment to incident operations and for which status is maintained. Resources are described 
by kind and type and may be used in operational support or supervisory capacities at an incident or at an 
Emergency Operations Center. 

 

Response  Time sensitive actions to save lives and/or protect property, stabilize emergency or disaster 
situations, and initiate actions to notify emergency management representatives of the crisis, evacuate and/or 
shelter the population, inform the public about the situation, assess the damage, and request additional 
assistance, as needed. 

 

SARA  Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986. 
 

Shelter  A designated facility that provides temporary congregate care for individuals and families who 
have been forced from their homes by an emergency or disaster. 

 

Shelter Management  The internal organization, administration, and operation of a shelter facility by the 
American Red Cross. 

 

Staging Area  A location preselected for emergency management equipment, vehicles, and personnel to 
begin coordinated operations, deployment of personnel to host jurisdictions and other assistance to affected 
communities. 

 

Standard Operating Procedures (SOP)  Directions, detailing task assignments, and a step by step process 
of responsibilities relating to each Emergency Support Function or in relation to organizational response. 

 

State Operations Center (SOC)  Permanent facility designated by the State Emergency Management 
Agency as the central location for information gathering, disaster analysis, and response coordination before, 
after and during a disaster. 

 

Strategic Plan  A plan that addresses long-term issues such as impact of weather forecasts, time phased 
resource requirements, and problems such as permanent housing for displaced disaster victims, environmental 
pollution, and infrastructure restoration. 

 

Support Agencies  An agency or organization which provides assistance to the primary agency or 
organization with designated Emergency Support Function responsibility. 

 

Terrorism  The unlawful use or threatened use of force or violence by a person or an organized group 
against people or property with the intention of intimidating or coercing societies or 

461

Item XI. 5.



governments, often for ideological or political reasons. 
 

Unaffiliated Volunteer  An individual who is not formally associated with a recognized voluntary disaster 
relief organization; also known as a "spontaneous" or "emergent" volunteer. 

 

Unified Command  An application of Incident Command System (ICP) used when there is more than one 
agency with incident jurisdiction or when incidents crosspolitical jurisdictions. Agencies work together 
through the designated members of the Unified Command to establish their designated Incident 
Commanders at a single ICP and to establish a common set of objectives and strategies and a single Incident 
Action Plan. 

 

Unsolicited Goods  Donated items offered by and/or sent to the incident area by the public, the private 
sector, or other source, that have not been requested by government or nonprofit disaster relief coordinators. 

 

Urban Search and Rescue  Operational activities that include locating, extricating, and providing onsite 
medical treatment to victims trapped in collapsed or damaged structures. 

 

Volunteer  Any individual accepted to perform services by an agency that has authority to accept volunteer 
services when the individual performs services without promise, expectation, or receipt of compensation for 
services performed. 

 

Volunteer and Donations Coordination Center  Facility from which the Volunteer and Donations 
Coordination Team operates to review and process offers. 

 

Warning  Alerting local government, agencies and organizations with emergency support function 
responsibilities, and the public regarding the threat of extraordinary danger (e.g., tornado warning, hurricane 
warning, severe storm warning) and that such occurrence has been sighted or observed specifying related 
effects that may occur due to this hazard. 

 

Watch  Indications by the National Weather Service that, in a defined area, conditions are possible or 
favorable for the specific types of severe weather (e.g., flashflood watch, tropical storm watch). 

 

Weapon of Mass Destruction  Any weapon that is designed or intended to cause widespread destruction 
resulting in serious bodily injury or death through the release, dissemination, or impact of toxic substance at 
a level dangerous to human life. 

462

Item XI. 5.



 

P = PRIMARY AGENCY: 
 

Responsible for Management of the ESF; Devise, coordinate, and implement disaster recovery plans for the 
ESF. 

 

S = SUPPORT AGENCY: 
 

Responsible to provide expertise, experience, and assets to the ESF as needed or requested by the Primary 
Agency. 

 

ESF's: 
1 = TRANSPORTATION 
2 = COMMUNICATIONS 
3 = PUBLIC WORKS / ENGINEERING 
4 = FIREFIGHTING 
5 = EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
6 = MASS CARE 
7 = RESOURCE SUPPORT 
8 = PUBLIC HEALTH / MEDICAL 
9 = SEARCH AND RESCUE 
10 = HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
11 = AG / NATURAL RESOURCES 
12 = ENERGY 
13 = PUBLIC SAFETY 
14 = LONG TERM RECOVERY 
15 = EXTERNAL AFFAIRS 

463

Item XI. 5.



ESF SUMMARY OF RESPONSIBILITIES   
 

Amateur Radio Emergency Service 

  ESF 2: Communications (Support) 

Amateur radio is prepared to provide point to point communications when all other 
communications methods are overloaded or non-functional. The group of volunteers typically 
provide and operate their own radio equipment. A local 2-meter repeater is provided by EMA on 
146.745 MHz using tone 97.4 the repeater, and is located at the landfill tower site. Amateur radios 
are located at the EOC, and Amateur operators will test and maintain this equipment. 

 

American Red Cross  Savannah Chapter 

  ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 

1. Open, administer and operate all shelters. 
 

2. Attend regular coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

3. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to these activities. 

 

4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets to 
the response effort. 

 

5. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

City of Guyton 
 

ESF 3: Public Works / Engineering (Support) 
 

1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 
 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to develop 
procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to support 
recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

464

Item XI. 5.



7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 
 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records to 
the Primary Agency. 

 

ESF 7: Resource Support (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 
of responsibility. 

 

3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 
operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 

 

4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management activities. 
 

5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible supplies 
stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 

 

6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 
available. 

 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies. 

ESF 14: Long Term Recovery (Support) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 

465

Item XI. 5.



5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. ESF 

15: External Affairs (Support) 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

City of Rincon 
 

ESF 3: Public Works / Engineering (Support) 

1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 
 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to develop 
procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 

 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to support 
recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 
 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records to 
the Primary Agency. 

466

Item XI. 5.



ESF 7: Resource Support (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 
of responsibility. 

 

3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 
operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 

 

4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management activities. 
 

5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible supplies 
stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 

 

6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 
available. 

 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies. 

ESF 14: Long Term Recovery (Support) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. ESF 

15: External Affairs (Support) 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

 

City of Springfield 
 

ESF 3: Public Works / Engineering (Support) 
 

1. Obtain required waivers and clearances related to ESF support. 
 

2. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

 

3. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they related to your responsibility. Also to 

467

Item XI. 5.



develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Assemble a list of public works and engineering related assets available to support 
recovery and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

5. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

6. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

7. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

8. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 
 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records to 
the Primary Agency. 

 

ESF 7: Resource Support (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 
of responsibility. 

 

3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 
operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 

 

4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management activities. 
 

5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible supplies 
stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 

 

6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 
available. 

 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies. 

ESF 14: Long Term Recovery (Support) 

468

Item XI. 5.



1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. ESF 

15: External Affairs (Support) 

Designate an individual to serve as a public information officer or coordinator. 
 

Effingham 911 
 

ESF 2: Communications (Primary) 
 

1. Coordinate with each support agency through regularly scheduled meetings to ensure 
planning functions are implemented to support this ESF. 

 

2. Oversee the coordination and management of communications resources, facilities and 
equipment and initiate alternate and backup systems as needed. 

 

3. Develop maintenance and protection arrangements for inoperative communications 
equipment. 

 

4. Coordinate communications with response operations, shelters, lodging, and food 
facilities. 

 

5. Continue coordinated communications to achieve rapid recovery and contact with the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during response and 
recovery efforts. 

 

7. Coordinate the various types of communications within the county, including landline 
telephones, cellular telephones, 800 MHz, VHF, marine band, amateur radio, citizens band 
radios and emergency response agencies in affected areas. 

 

Effingham Animal Control 
 

ESF 11: Ag / Natural Resources (Support) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your area of responsibility. 

469

Item XI. 5.



3. Assemble a list of assets available to support the recovery and coordinate this 
information with the EOC. 

 

4. Request the contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

8. Work with GDA and DNR to provide for surveillance of foreign animal diseases or an 
animal disease, syndrome, chemical, poison, or toxin that may pose a substantial threat to the 
animal industries. 

 

Effingham Board of Commissioners 
 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Support) 
 

Support ESFs across the spectrum of incident management, from prevention to response and 
recovery. 

 

ESF 12: Energy (Support) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Assemble a list of energy and utility related assets available to support recovery and 
coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets to 
the response effort. 

 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 15: External Affairs (Support) 
 

Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery. 
 

Effingham Board of Education  

 ESF 1: Transportation (Primary) 

Make school buses, resources, personnel, equipment, vehicles and fuel available as needed to assist 
in fulfilling transportation needs. 

470

Item XI. 5.



ESF 2: Communications (Support) 
 

The Board of Education operates a UHF conventional radio system, primarily between the school 
buildings and busses. This system could be utilized by other agencies in support of emergency 
operations. The school buildings have facilities for taking and handling phone calls, some with 30 or 
more phone lines. The school system also has equipment to distribute messages to a call list and 
phone in info lines. 

 

ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 
 

1. Support sheltering activities with personnel and facilities. 
 

2. Provide security at BOE facility shelters as required. 
 

3. Attend regular meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to support 
 

4. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
 

5. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 12: Energy (Support) 
 

The School system operates a fuel dispensing station and a mobile fuel hauler that can be task with 
other deliveries. Maintains contracts for purchase of motor fuel. 

 

Effingham Development Services 
 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented. 
 

2. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to critical activities. 

 

3. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

4. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

5. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with RESOURCE SUPPORT policies and procedures and report these records to 
the Primary Agency. 

 

ESF 14: Long Term Recovery (Support) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

471

Item XI. 5.



2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. ESF  

Effingham Coroner 
 

ESF 13: Public Safety (Support) 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and expertise as 

appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and agencies. 

 

Effingham County Emergency Management Agency 

  ESF 2: Communications (Support) 

Effingham EMA maintains satellite telephone service and has a single phone activated and ready. 
Effingham EMA is also responsible for the daily operations of the countywide trunked radio 
system. Technical support and infrastructure support is transferrable to other local radio systems. 

 

ESF 5: Emergency Management (Primary) 
 

1. Coordinate with each support agency through regular meetings to ensure planning 
functions are implemented to support this ESF. 

 

2. Coordinate the flow of information within the Emergency Operations Center. 
 

3. Coordinate the efforts to collect, process, report, and display essential information. 
 

4. Facilitate support for planning response operations. 
 

5. Distribute plans and reports to the state and other ESFs. 
 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during response and 
recovery efforts. 

 

7. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

472

Item XI. 5.



8. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
information related to these activities. 

 

9. Request asset support from volunteer and private sector agencies. 
 

10. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local response capabilities. 
 

11. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and forward records to the 
primary agencies. 

 

ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 
 

1. Support sheltering activities with personnel and facilities. 
 

2. Provide security at BOE facility shelters as required. 
 

3. Attend regular meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to support 
 

4. Identify and provide staff representatives to support the ESF and other operational 
 

5. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local capability. 
 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 7: Resource Support (Support) 
 

1. Attend coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on your area 
of responsibility. 

 

3. Locate, procure, and issue resources to other county agencies for use in emergency 
operations necessary to support the EOP or to promote public safety. 

 

4. Locate and coordinate the use of available space for incident management activities. 
 

5. Coordinate and determine the availability and provision of consumable nonedible supplies 
stocked in distribution facilities and customer supply centers when available. 

 

6. Procure required stocks from vendors or suppliers when county items are not 
available. 

 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies. 

 

ESF 14: Long Term Recovery (Primary) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

473

Item XI. 5.



2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Develop procedures to obtain private sector support as required. 
 

4. Request contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need, as well as 
logistical requirements necessary, to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. ESF 

15: External Affairs (Primary) 

1. Define the public notification time frame regarding an emergency or disaster, as well as 
disseminate information to the media. 

 

2. Maintain a system to ensure accurate dissemination of emergency information, such as 
location, type of hazard, extent of damage, casualties, shelters open, evacuation routes, and 
other protective actions. 

 

3. Provide a designated area for media briefings and/or press conferences and conduct briefings 
in a timely manner. 

 

Effingham County Prison 
 

ESF 1: Transportation (Support) 
 

Immediately following an incident of critical significance, assess the overall status of the 
transportation system within the county and begin determination of potential needs and resources. 

 

Effingham County Sheriff's Office  

 ESF 2: Communications (Support) 

1. Effingham Sheriff's Office maintains 24/7 dispatching service capabilities and 
provides a hub for incoming emergency calls that could be distributed to the 
appropriate emergency service, or transferred to E911. 

 

2. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

3. Participate in drills and exercises, in order to evaluate local communications 
capability. 

 

4. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery, in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures, and report these 
records to the Emergency Management Agency. 

 

5. Coordinate communication asset information with the Emergency Management 
Agency. 

 

6. Attend regular coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented in 
support. 

474

Item XI. 5.



ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 
 

Provide security and control of designated shelters and PODS ESF 11: 

Ag / Natural Resources (Support) 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your area of responsibility. 

 

3. Assemble a list of assets available to support the recovery and coordinate this 
information with the EOC. 

 

4. Request the contributions through volunteer agencies and private sector businesses. 
 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate local communications capability. 
 

7. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

ESF 13: Public Safety (Primary) 
 

1. Identify agencies, organizations and individuals capable of providing support 
services for deceased identification. 

 

2. Maintain a description of capabilities and procedures for alert, assembly and 
deployment of mortuary assistance assets. 

 

3. Control entry and exit to the emergency or disaster area. 
 

4. Control vehicle and individual access to restricted areas. 
 

5. Assist with evacuation procedures 
 

6. Assist with search and rescue of citizens 
 

7. Provide security for the Critical Shelters 

 

Effingham County Water and Sewer 
 

ESF 3: Public Works / Engineering (Support) 
 

Effingham County water/sewer operations are based out of the South Effingham Wastewater 
Reclamation Facility located at 805 Low Ground Road, they have the capability through equipment 
and supplies to install, repair and/or cutoff damaged water lines within Effingham County in the 
event of an emergency.  The Wastewater Reclamation Facility is a nondischarging, tertiary 
treatment plant. 

475

Item XI. 5.



Effingham Emergency Medical Service  

 ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 

Supply paramedics as a substitute when there is a shortage of nurses at shelter operations. 
 

ESF 8: Public Health / Medical (Support) 
 

1. Plan for establishment of staging areas for medical personnel, equipment, and 
supplies. 

 

2. Assist the coordination of patient evacuation and relocation. 

 ESF 9: Search and Rescue (Support) 

 Provide immediate medical assistance to trapped victims. 
 

Effingham Environmental services 
 

ESF 8: Public Health / Medical (Support) 
 

1. Monitor environmental surveillance. 
 

2. Continue long-term emergency environmental activities.  

 

ESF 11: Ag / Natural Resources (Support) 

 Provide technical assistance to public natural, historic and cultural properties in damage 
 assessment; request needed technical assistance and damage assessment support from the state or 
 federal government through the SOC. 

 

Effingham Fire Rescue 
 

ESF 2: Communications (Support) 
 

Effingham Fire has a mobile communications trailer that is stocked with portable radios, mobile 
radios and portable repeaters. The fire department would need to furnish a trained individual to 
operate this equipment.  Effingham Fire maintains a VHF portable radio cache in a carrying case. 

 

ESF 4: Firefighting (Primary) 
 

1. Coordinate the provision of local firefighting personnel and equipment. 
 

2. Coordinate and assign any responding mutual aid resources. 
 

3. Coordinate those resources volunteered for ESF 4 (Firefighting) from other 
unidentified sources. 

 

4. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on 
available resources and critical needs. 

 

5. Assemble a complete list of available firefighting resources within their district that may 
be available for response, and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

476

Item XI. 5.



6. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies. ESF 9: 

Search and Rescue (Primary) 

1. Recruit train and certify search and rescue personnel. Mobilize support personnel and 
equipment. 

 

2. Establish and maintain uniform search and rescue procedures 
 

3. The designated EOC Fire Department Coordinator will coordinate provision of 
representatives on a 24-hour basis to the EOC. The composition of each SAR team shall be 
determined by the Incident Commander/ SAR Coordinator. 

 

ESF 10: Hazardous Materials (Primary) 
 

Provide, obtain, or recommend training for response personnel using courses made available by 
FEMA, Department of Energy (DOE), Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), the Georgia Public 
Safety Training Center, EPA, and manufacturers and transporters of hazardous materials, as well as 
training based on OSHA requirements for each duty position. Participate in drills and exercises to 
evaluate hazardous materials response capabilities. 

 

Effingham Health Department  

 ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 

Coordinate, locate, supply nurses for shelter operations. Monitor food and water for contamination. 
 

ESF 8: Public Health / Medical (Primary) 
 

1. Coordinate with each support agency through regularly scheduled meetings to ensure 
planning functions are implemented to support this ESF. 

 

2. Provide leadership in directing, coordinating and integrating the overall county efforts to 
provide medical and public health assistance to the affected area. 

 

3. Conduct initial assessment of health and medical needs. 
 

4. Determine need for additional personnel and resources and initiate request mutual aid to 
EOC. 

 

5. Coordinate and direct the activation and deployment of voluntary resources of 
health/medical personnel, supplies and equipment. 

 

6. Establish, as needed, active and passive surveillance systems for the protection of public 
health. 

 

7. Coordinate the response for: hazardous materials, safety of food and drugs, 
radiological hazards, mental health problems victims, water systems and victim 
identification/mortuary services. 

 

ESF 11: Ag / Natural Resources (Support) 
 

Coordinate public information and provide updates for ESF 15 to distribute to the public and 
media. 

477

Item XI. 5.



Effingham Hospital 
 

ESF 8: Public Health / Medical (Support) 
 

1. Coordinate the evacuation of patients from the disaster area as requested. 
 

2. Coordinate the transport of victims to medical facilities outside the county in 
accordance with approved trauma transport protocols. 

 

Effingham Public Works 
 

ESF 1: Transportation (Support) 
 

Coordinate with the support agencies in directing transportation resources and prioritizing the 
needs for transportation services as well as providing temporary signs and assisting with refueling 
needs. 

 

ESF 3: Public Works / Engineering (Primary) 
 

1. Serve as the Primary coordinator for debris removal and related tasks. 
 

2. Assist with the provision of water (potable and non-potable) and ice into the disaster area if 
local supplies become inadequate. 

 

3. In coordination with local emergency management officials, develop policy for 
conservation, distribution and use of potable and firefighting water. 

 

4. Identify and locate chemicals to maintain a potable water supply. 
 

5. Include an alerting list in the SOP, to include points of contact and telephone numbers, of 
agencies, counties, municipalities and organizations supporting public works and 
engineering functions. 

 

6. Maintain a current inventory of equipment and supplies. 
 

7. Establish operational needs for restoration of public works service during the 
emergency. 

 

8. Develop and maintain listings of commercial and industrial suppliers of services and products, 
to include points of contact and telephone numbers associated with public works and 
engineering functions. 

 

9. Coordinate with other ESFs to consolidate reports of damage and focus assessment efforts. 
 

10. Act as a liaison between the EOC and the state EOC for damage assessment activity. 
 

11. Maintain contact with municipal liaisons to collect and relay information. 

478

Item XI. 5.



12. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report expenditure records to 
the primary agency. 

 

ESF 12: Energy (Primary) 
 

1. Attend regularly scheduled meetings to ensure planning functions are implemented to 
support this ESF. 

 

2. Conduct a needs assessment and prioritize the deployment of services based on available 
resources and critical needs as they relate to your responsibility. 

 

3. Assemble a list of energy and utility related assets available to support recovery and 
coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

4. Request volunteer agencies and private resources with assets to contribute those assets to 
the response effort. 

 

5. Evaluate the availability, operational condition and duration of need as well as 
logistical requirements necessary to obtain critically needed equipment. 

 

6. Maintain records of expenditures and document resources utilized during recovery in 
accordance with Resource Support policies and procedures and report these records to the 
primary agency. 

 

7. Effingham Public Works operates a mobile fuel transport that can be task with 
deliveries of diesel. Maintains contracts for fuel. 

 

Extension Service 
 

ESF 11: Ag / Natural Resources (Primary) 
 

1. Assist with agriculture production, animal industry, and wildlife adversely affected by a 
disaster. 

 

2. Encourage support agencies to develop emergency operations plans that detail their support 
functions for ESF 11. 

 

G.S.P. Post 42 
 

ESF 13: Public Safety (Support) 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

GA DOT 
 

No responsibilities have been provided. 
 

Georgia Forestry Commission 
 

ESF 2: Communications (Support) 
 

Ga Forestry operates its own radio system that could be utilized to pass messages to Forestry 
479

Item XI. 5.



headquarters in Macon and other destinations. 
 

ESF 4: Firefighting (Support) 
 

1. Georgia Forestry  Effingham Unit is responsible for controlling outdoor burning on open 
and forested lands. 

 

2. Provide support and assistance as required and available. 

Georgia Power 

ESF 12: Energy (Support) 
 

Coordination of priorities and restoration status information Guyton  

Guyton Police 
 

ESF 13: Public Safety (Support) 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

Recreation Department 
 

ESF 6: Mass Care (Support) 
 

Operate Point of Distribution Sites (PODS)for food and water. 
 

ESF 7: Resource Support (Primary) 
 

1. Develop methods and procedures for responding to and complying with requests for 
resources. Coordinate staging areas for volunteers to unload, store, or disperse donated 
goods. 

 

Rincon Fire Department 
 

ESF 4: Firefighting (Support) 
 

1. Forward requests for mutual aid firefighting assistance to the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC). 

 

2. Coordinate during an incident of critical significance or other activation of the EOC. 
 

3. Attend regularly scheduled coordination meetings to ensure planning functions are 
implemented to support this ESF. 

480

Item XI. 5.



4. Conduct a needs analysis and prioritize the deployment of services based on 
available resources and critical needs. 

 

5. Assemble a complete list of available firefighting resources within their district that may 
be available for response, and coordinate this information with the EOC. 

 

6. Request asset contributions from volunteer and private sector agencies.  

 

ESF 9: Search and Rescue (Support) 

1. Recruit, train and certify search and rescue personnel. Mobilize support personnel and 
equipment. 

 

2. Establish and maintain uniform search and rescue procedures 
 

3. The designated EOC Fire Department Coordinator will coordinate provision of 
representatives on a 24-hour basis to the EOC. The composition of each SAR team shall be 
determined by the Incident Commander/ SAR Coordinator. 

 

ESF 10: Hazardous Materials (Support) 
 

Participate in drills and exercises to evaluate hazardous materials response capabilities. Maintain 
hazardous materials awareness training of responders. 

 

Rincon Police Department 
 

ESF 13: Public Safety (Support) 
 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

Springfield Police Department  

 ESF 13: Public Safety (Support) 

Participate in planning for areas of agency expertise, and provide assistance and 

expertise as appropriate and in coordination with other ESF departments and 

agencies. 

481

Item XI. 5.



 

 

  

 
 

 

482

Item XI. 5.



 

 

 

 

 

  _________________________________  ____________ 

  Wesley Corbitt, BOC Chairman   Date 

 

 

  _________________________________  ____________ 

  Stephanie Johnson BOC Clerk   Date 

 

 

  _________________________________  ____________ 

  Clinton Hodges, EMA Director   Date 

 

 

 

483

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2024 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
  
The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. Allocating funding for Elections’ poll pad stand cases. 
2. Allocating funding for mobile hub stations for voting machines. 
3. Allocating funding for CEM sound dampeners, project not yet complete in 

FY 2023. 
4. Allocating funding for the Old Augusta Road water & sewer extension per 

the Cowan agreement. 
5. Allocating funding to carry forward a prior fiscal year project, 

improvements to the Parks & Landscape lot at CEM, project not complete 
in FY 2023. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the resolution to amend the budget for FY 2024.  
2. Do not approve the resolution. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

484

Item XI. 6.



 

 

 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2024. 

 

Other Alternatives:  

N/A  

 

Department Review:  

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Multiple 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2024 budget amendment resolution 

485

Item XI. 6.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY 2024 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2024 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 6th, 2023 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

 

 
 
 
This amendment allocates funding for poll pad stand cases, voting machine hubs, CEM gym sound 

dampeners, Old Augusta Road water & sewer, and lot improvements to the Parks & Landscape lot at the CEM 

complex. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2023. 
 
Attest: 
 
 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT DEPT NAME ACCT NAME ACCT NO. AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

008 ELECTIONS OFFICE EQUIPMENT 100-1410-008-54-2501 4860.00 to fund poll pad stand cases

008 ELECTIONS CASH CARRY FORWARD 100-38-9015 -4860.00 to fund poll pad stand cases

008 ELECTIONS OFFICE EQUIPMENT 100-1410-008-54-2501 225000.00 to fund voting machine hubs

008 ELECTIONS CASH CARRY FORWARD 100-38-9015 -225000.00 to fund voting machine hubs

322 SPLOST 2021 CEM GYM ADDITIONS 322-6110-322-54-1313 121000.00 to fund CEM sound dampeners

322 SPLOST 2021 CEM COMPLEX PHASE 2 322-6110-322-54-1201 -121000.00 to fund CEM sound dampeners

105 WATER & SEWER OLD AUGUSTA WATER & SEWER 505-4441-105-54-1406-23 1333196.00 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

105 WATER & SEWER COST RECOVERY FEES 505-34-4212 -33008.92 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

105 WATER & SEWER SEWER BILLING 505-34-4255 -125000.00 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

105 WATER & SEWER WATER BILLING 505-34-4215 -125000.00 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

105 WATER & SEWER OPERATING XFER IN SPECIAL TAX505-39-1107 -1050187.08 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

001 SPECIAL TAX DISTRICT CASH CARRY FORWARD 270-38-9015 -1050187.08 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

001 SPECIAL TAX DISTRICT OPERATING XFER OUT (WATER & SE270-3510-001-61-1006 1050187.08 to fund Old Augusta Rd water & sewer

030 PARKS & LANDSCAPES SITE IMPROVEMENTS 270-6220-030-54-1200 20000.00 to fund Parks & Landscapes lot improvement

030 PARKS & LANDSCAPES CASH CARRY FORWARD ROADS&REC270-38-9015-1 -20000.00 to fund Parks & Landscapes lot improvement

0.00 net entries

486

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject:    UGA Extension Office staffing contract 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance 

Meeting Date: 7/18/23  

Item Description: Consideration to approve the FY 2024 UGA Extension Office 
personnel agreement 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of the FY 2024 UGA Extension Office personnel agreement. 
 

Executive Summary: 

In prior fiscal years, the personnel at the UGA Extension Officer were treated as 

employees of both UGA and the County.  In order to simplify this arrangement, in FY 

2023 the County contracted with UGA in such a way that the Extension Office personnel 

would be employed fully by UGA, and the County would reimburse UGA for its share of 

the costs, on a quarterly basis.  The FY 2023 amended contract total was for $200,031 

and this proposed FY 2024 contract is for $219,579.    

 Background: 
1. As in FY 2023, this FY 2024 contract is for six positions 
2. Amended FY 2023 contract was $200,031.  This FY 2024 contract is for $219,579 
3. Actual expenses for the contract could be lower, depending on insurance selections 

when vacancies are filled 
4. This contract is currently funded in the FY 2024 budget 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the FY 2024 UGA Extension Office personnel agreement. 
2. Do not approve the FY 2024 UGA Extension Office personnel agreement. 
3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the FY 2024 UGA Extension Office 

personnel agreement. 

 

Other Alternatives: N/A   Department Review: Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

General Fund, UGA Extension Office department 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2024 UGA Extension Office personnel agreement 

487

Item XI. 7.



Date:

To: Arch Smith

Southeast District Interim Extension Director

From:

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Subject: Renewal Contract - Effingham County BOC

*** Please note there are signature lines on page 2 ***

District Extension Director Date

Associate Dean for Extension, CES, UGA Date

The county requests a final invoice to be sent within 60 days of the contract end date.

The budget sheet is attached.

The contract is for salary, retirement, SS/Med and HLO costs for the employees as noted on the 

attached budget for the period of July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024.  

The Effingham County BOC wishes to maintain a contract agreement between the Effingham 

County Board of Commissioners and the Georgia Board of Regents of The University of Georgia on 

behalf of The University of Georgia Coopererative Extension Service. 

488

Item XI. 7.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners
July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

Salary Original Amended

Morgan Triplett, 4H Agent (TRS) 24,720.00$                

Bonnie Weber, CAA (TRS) 12,360.00$                

Blake Carter, CEC, PS Asst -ANR (TRS) 24,338.00$                

VACANT, 4H PA- PT 14,997.00$                

Shannon Gray, 4H PA (TRS) 33,475.00$                

VACANT, 4H Edu (TRS) 37,080.00$                

Total Salaries 146,970$                   -$                             

Benefits

TRS (19.98%) 29,364.61$                -$                             

Total Benefits 29,365$                     

Social Security (7.65%)

FICA OASDI (6.2%) 9,112$                        -$                             

FICA HI (1.45%) 2,131$                        -$                             

Total SS 11,244$                     

Insurance - for 4H PA & EDU

Hospital -$                            

Life -$                            

Total HLO 32,000$                     TBD during hiring process

Total Salary and Fringe 219,579$                   -$                             

***Totals are rounded up to the next $ for contract billing, only actual expenses will be billed.***

UGA will bill quarterly for the actual expenses of the 

above.  All other benefits will be charged to 11310 

13200 17300001 112001. 

Contact:

Bill to the following name and address: Mark Barnes, Finance Director

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 912-754-8012

804 S. Laurel St. mbarnes@effinghamcounty.org

Springfield, GA 31329 accountspayable@effinghamcounty.org

Approved by:

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

FY 24

489

Item XI. 7.

mailto:mbarnes@effinghamcounty.org
mailto:accountspayable@effinghamcounty.org


Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order 1 for Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay 

Bell  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Multiple 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order 1 for Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell 

for the Clarence E. Morgan Gymnasium Expansion design and construction 

management 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of Change Order 1 for Task 

Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence E. Morgan Gymnasium 

Expansion design and construction management 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff sent an RFP to the IDC consultants in September requesting proposals to 

design an expansion to the CEM Gymnasium for an EEMA and Recreation 

offices. Nine firms were contacted and one submittal was received.  

o Hussey Gay Bell: $198,000.00 

 Hussey Gay Bell was the original architect/engineer for the design of the current 

CEM Gym. Staff has reviewed the proposal and recommends award. 

 Change Order 1 has been submitted for the addition of low voltage/data/IT 

design to the task order for HGB. This was not included in the original scope 

request or proposal. The cost for this addition is $9,000.00.  

 Change Order 1 also includes the $3,000 reimbursable expenses total that was 

listed in HGB’s original proposal, but not included in the contract total. This was 

an oversight by staff in the original task order approval.   

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order 1 for Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell 

for the Clarence E. Morgan Gymnasium Expansion in the amount of $12,000 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing, Finance 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Change Order 1 for Task Order 23-REQ-007  

 

 

490

Item XI. 8.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: Task Order 23-REQ-007 – CEM Expansion 

Contract Date: November 16, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: July 18, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung International, Inc. 

    329 Commercial Drive, Suite 200 

    Savannah, GA 31406 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Low Voltage/Data/IT Design $9,000 

2 Reimbursable Expenses $3,000 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 TOTAL $12,000 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 198,000.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 198,000.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 12,000.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 210,000.00 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung International, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     329 Commercial Drive, Suite 200 

Springfield, GA 31329     Savannah, GA 31406 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

491

Item XI. 8.



 

 

16 June 2023 
 
Mr. Tim Callanan, County Manager 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

804 S Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA  31329 
 

RE: CEM GYM ADDITION – LOW VOLTAGE/DATA/IT DESIGN 

ADDITIONAL DESIGN SERVICES FEE PROPOSAL 
 
Dear Mr. Callanan: 
 
Hussey Gay Bell is pleased to present to you our additional design services fee proposal for low voltage/data/IT 
design.  Per our design meetings on 6-9-23 and 6-14-23, the County requested that the design team provide 
design services for low voltage (data/IT) design.  The County wants the low voltage infrastructure to be installed 
as part of the general construction by the County’s preferred vendor, Net Planner.  Low voltage design was not 
included in the design team’s original scope of work and constitutes additional services.  Our fee for this service 
will be fixed at $9,000.00. 

 
I trust you will find this proposal acceptable, if so, please sign and date below.  If you have any questions, please 
give me a call.   
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY GAY BELL & DEYOUNG INTERNATIONAL, INC. 

 

Robert Armstrong, AIA 
 

Robert Armstrong, AIA 
Vice President 
 
cc: G. Holmes Bell, IV, PE 
 C J Chance, PE 
 Warren Law, PE 

File 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACCEPTED BY          DATE 
 
 

492

Item XI. 8.



493

Item XI. 8.

rarmstrong
Typewritten Text
HUSSEY GAY BELL

rarmstrong
Typewritten Text
Robert Armstrong, AIA

rarmstrong
Typewritten Text
Vice President

rarmstrong
Typewritten Text
11-28-2022



494

Item XI. 8.



495

Item XI. 8.



496

Item XI. 8.



497

Item XI. 8.



498

Item XI. 8.



499

Item XI. 8.



500

Item XI. 8.



501

Item XI. 8.



502

Item XI. 8.



503

Item XI. 8.



504

Item XI. 8.



505

Item XI. 8.



506

Item XI. 8.



507

Item XI. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement to Conduct Municipal Elections 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Board of Elections 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Intergovernmental Agreement to Conduct Municipal Elections 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement 

to Conduct Municipal Elections between Effingham County Board of Commissioners, Board of 

Elections, City of Guyton, City of Rincon, and the City of Springfield 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The City of Guyton, City of Rincon, and City of Springfield (Cities) wish to Contract with 

the County to conduct their municipal elections that occur in 2023 and any run-off 

elections that may occur.  

 The Election Board’s election personnel, as necessary and appropriate as determined 

by the County Director of Elections and Registration, shall be sworn in as election 

superintendents for the City and shall conduct all aspects of the election except for filing 

notices of candidacy and affidavits and any other ethics filings, which will be handled by 

the City Clerk acting as election superintendent for qualifying. Early voting (both in-

person and by mail) for all elections shall take place at the Effingham County Board of 

Elections and Registration located at 284 GA Highway 119 South, Springfield, Georgia. 

 This Agreement shall be effective upon each City’s adoption of an ordinance authorizing 

the Elections Board to conduct the City’s municipal elections to occur during the 2023 

elections cycle. 

 The County shall be responsible for all fees, costs, and expenses incurred in conducting 

the municipal elections on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement to Conduct Municipal Elections 

2. Do not approve of the Intergovernmental Agreement to Conduct Municipal Elections 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2, 3 

Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney, Board of Elections 

Funding Source: Elections Operations 

Attachments: IGA  

 

 

 

 

508

Item XI. 9.



1 | P a g e  
 

  

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

TO CONDUCT MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS 

 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this     

___ day of ___________, 2023, between the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, 

Georgia (the “County”), a political subdivision of the State of Georgia with Consent of the 

Effingham County Board of Elections and Registration (the “Elections Board”), the City of 

Guyton, Georgia (the “City”), a municipal corporation lying wholly within the County, the City of 

Rincon, Georgia (the “City”), a municipal corporation lying wholly within the County, and the 

City of Springfield, Georgia (the “City”), a municipal corporation lying wholly within the County 

(each City may hereafter be referred to collectively as the “Cities”). 

 

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement are all governmental units; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County and the Cities desire to maintain a mutually beneficial, efficient 

and cooperative relationship that will promote the interests of the citizens of both jurisdictions; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Cities desire to contract with the County to conduct its municipal 

elections to occur in 2023, as well as any run-off elections to determine the victor of a race 

originally on the November 2023 ballot; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Cities and the County are authorized by Art. IX, Sec. III, Par. I of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to contract for any period not exceeding fifty (50) years for 

the provision of facilities or services which they are authorized by law to provide, including an 

agreement for the conduct of City elections; and 

 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-45(c) authorizes the governing authority of any 

municipality to contract with the county within which that municipality wholly or partially lies 

to  conduct any or all elections; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 21-2-45(c), the Cities may by ordinance authorize 

a county to conduct such election(s), and the effectiveness of this Agreement is contingent on 

the City adopting such an ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, H.B. 705 in the 2007 session of the Georgia General Assembly created the 

Effingham County Board of Elections and Registration; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Elections Board has jurisdiction over the conduct of primaries and 

elections and the registration of electors in the County; and 

 

509

Item XI. 9.



2 | P a g e  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to H.B. 705, Section 10, the Elections Board has the authority to 

contract with the Cities to conduct municipal elections and therefore, the Elections Board is a 

necessary party to this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Elections Board has discussed and agreed to recommend to the County 

that it enter into an Agreement with the Cities for providing the services of the Elections Board 

to properly conduct municipal elections pursuant to the applicable laws of the State of Georgia; 

and  

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the following mutual obligations, the County, 

Elections Board, and Cities agree as follows: 

 

1. 

 The Cities hereby stipulate, covenant, and agree for the Elections Board to conduct any 

and all municipal elections held for or in the Cities to occur in 2023, including but not limited to 

general, special, and runoff elections, as well as any run-off elections occurring in 2023 to 

determine the victor of a race originally on the November 2023 ballot, and Elections Board 

agrees to the same. 

2. 

The Cities hereby stipulate, covenant, and agree that the Election Board shall have 

complete control over the municipal elections contemplated in Section 1, except as otherwise 

stated in this Agreement. 

3. 

 The Cities stipulate, covenant, and agree to furnish to Elections Board, in a timely 

manner, any and all documents necessary for Elections Board to conduct said elections including 

but not limited to positions subject to election and candidates for those positions. 

4. 

 The Elections Board shall review and update, with the assistance of Cities, if requested, 

the voter lists in order to have a current and certified list prior to any election. 

5. 

 The County shall provide the facilities necessary to conduct said elections in a 

reasonably, orderly fashion, and as may be requested by Elections Board. 

6. 

 The County shall be responsible for all fees, costs, and expenses incurred in conducting 

the municipal elections on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

510

Item XI. 9.



3 | P a g e  
 

7. 

The County Director of Elections & Registration shall be responsible for providing 

services in certifying results to the Secretary of State’s office. 

8. 

The Election Board’s election personnel, as necessary and appropriate as determined by 

the County Director of Elections and Registration, shall be sworn in as election superintendents 

for the City and shall conduct all aspects of the election except for filing notices of candidacy and 

affidavits and any other ethics filings, which will be handled by the City Clerk acting as election 

superintendent for qualifying. All elections will be conducted using whichever method the Board 

deems appropriate based on each election. Early voting (both in-person and by mail) for all 

elections shall take place at the Effingham County Board of Elections and Registration located at 

284 GA Highway 119 South, Springfield, Georgia.  Further, the City shall not accept any absentee 

ballots or absentee ballot applications from any voters.  The City shall direct any voter with an 

absentee ballot or who desires to obtain an absentee ballot to the Effingham County Board of 

Elections and Registration located at 284 GA Highway 119 South, Springfield, Georgia.   

9. 

9.1  The City shall be solely responsible for any liability resulting from any claims or litigation 

arising from or pertaining to any City election, except claims or litigation regarding the acts of 

agents or employees of the County, the County Board of Elections and Registration, and the 

County Director Elections and Registration in connection with any municipal election held 

pursuant to this Agreement. The City agrees to reimburse the County for all costs, including, 

but not limited to, court costs and attorney fees for the County Attorney or outside counsel, 

incurred by the County as a result of any such claim or litigation. The City shall make payment 

of such reimbursements to the County within thirty (30) days of receipt of any invoice for 

reimbursement from the County. 

 

9.2  In the event that a City election is contested, the City shall be solely responsible for any 

liability resulting from any claims or litigation arising from or pertaining to any contested 

municipal election, except claims or litigation regarding the acts of agents or employees of the 

County, the County Board of Elections and Registration, and the County Director of Elections 

and Registration in connection with any City Election held pursuant to this Agreement. The City 

agrees to reimburse  the County for all costs incurred in responding to the election challenge, 

including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees for the County Attorney or outside counsel and all 

expenses associated with the election challenge and any appeals thereafter. The City shall make 

payment of such reimbursements to the County within thirty (30) days of receipt of any invoice 

for reimbursement from the County. If a second election is required, the City shall be responsible 

for all costs and expenses of the second election. 

 

 

 

511

Item XI. 9.



4 | P a g e  
 

9.3  To the extent allowed by law, the City agrees to defend and hold harmless the County and 

Elections Board with respect to any claim, demand, action, damages, judgment, cost and/or 

expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and legal expenses) to which 

the County may be subjected as a consequence of or as a result of any error, omission, tort, 

intentional tort, willful misconduct, or any other negligence on the part of the City and/or its 

employees. 

 

9.4  To the extent allowed by law, the County agrees to defend and hold harmless the City with 

respect to any claim, demand, action, damages, judgment, cost and/or expenses (including, 

without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and legal expenses) to which the City may be 

subjected as a consequence of or as a result of any error, omission, tort, intentional tort, willful 

misconduct, or any other negligence on the part of the County and/or its employees. 

 

9.5  It is the intent of the parties to be covered under the auspices of any applicable immunity 

granted by law. 

 

9.6 Should it be necessary to comply with legal requirements that any of the County’s personnel 

shall be sworn in as a temporary officer or employee of the City, such formality shall be observed 

without limitation. 
 

9.7  In the event that a city law, ordinance, or code pertaining to the administration of the election 

directly contradicts or makes more/less strict a portion of the State of Georgia’s Election Code 

(O.C.G.A. Title 21), then the County shall only be responsible for enforcing the requirements set 

forth in O.C.G.A. Title 21. 

 

10. 

10.1  All County personnel assigned under this Agreement are and will continue to be employees 

of the County for all purposes, including, but not limited to: duties and responsibilities, employee 

benefits, grievance, payroll, pension, promotion, annual or sick leave, standards of performance, 

training, workers compensation and disciplinary functions. 

10.2  All Elections Board personnel assigned under this Agreement are and will continue to be 

part of the Effingham County Department of Elections and Registration and under the 

supervision of the Director. 

 

10.3  All City personnel assigned under this Agreement are and will continue to be employees of 

the City. 

 

11. 

This Agreement shall be effective upon each City’s adoption of an ordinance authorizing 

the Elections Board to conduct the City’s municipal elections to occur during the 2023 elections 

cycle. If a City fails to adopt such an ordinance within a time frame that would reasonably allow 

the Elections Board to conduct the City’s general election to occur in November 2023, this 

Agreement shall be null and void and have no force and effect to that City. If a City successfully 

512

Item XI. 9.



5 | P a g e  
 

adopts such an ordinance within a time frame that would reasonably allow the Elections Board to 

conduct the City’s general election to occur in November 2023, this Agreement shall expire upon 

the final certification of all elections to be conducted under this Agreement.  

12. 

All required notices shall be given by certified first class U.S. Mail, return receipt 

requested. The parties agree to give each other non-binding duplicate facsimile notice. Future 

changes in address shall be effective upon written notice being given via certified first class U.S. 

mail, return receipt requested. Notices shall be addressed to the parties at the following 

addresses: 

 

Notices to the Elections Board shall be sent to the following address: 

 Effingham County Board of Elections and Registration 

 Attn:  Director of Elections and Registration 

 284 GA Highway 119 S 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 Notices to the County shall be sent to the following address: 

 Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

 Attn: County Manager 

 804 S. Laurel St. 

 Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 Notices to the Cities shall be sent to the following address: 

 City of Guyton 

Attn: City Manager 

 310 Central Boulevard 

 Guyton, GA 31312 

 

City of Rincon 

Attn: City Manager 

 302 S. Columbia Avenue 

 Rincon, GA 31326 

 

 

City of Springfield 

Attn: City Manager 

 Post Box 1 / 130 S. Laurel Street 

 Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

 

513

Item XI. 9.



6 | P a g e  
 

13. 

 The Cities hereby stipulate, covenant, and agree to be responsible for obtaining any 

clearance for the Justice Department which may be needed prior to any elections being conducted 

by Elections Board, and Cities further hereby stipulate, covenant, and agree to be responsible for 

compliance with the rules or regulations of any other governmental agency which may be 

applicable as a result of this Agreement. 

14. 

The County, Elections Board, and Cities shall not assign any of the obligations or  

benefits of this Agreement. 

 

 

15. 
 

The parties acknowledge, one to the other, that the terms of this Agreement constitute 

the entire understanding and Agreement of the parties regarding the subject matter of the 

Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and agreement between the 

Parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes all prior oral or written 

agreements or understandings. No representation oral or written not incorporated in this 

Agreement shall be binding upon the Cities, the County, or the Elections Board. All parties must 

sign any subsequent changes in the Agreement. 
 

16. 
 

If a court of competent jurisdiction renders any provision of this Agreement (or portion 

of a provision) to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable, that provision or portion of the 

provision will be severed and the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and 

effect as if  the invalid provision or portion of the provision were not part of this Agreement. No 

action taken  pursuant to this Agreement should be deemed to constitute a waiver of compliance 

with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement and will not 

operate or   be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach, whether of a similar or dissimilar 

nature. This  Agreement is governed by the laws of the state of Georgia without regard to 

conflicts of law principles thereof. Should any party institute suit concerning this Agreement, 

venue shall be in the Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia. Should any provision of 

this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed that the court interpreting or 

construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the terms hereof shall be more strictly 

construed against one party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be 

construed more strictly against the party who itself or through its agent prepared the same, it 

being agreed that the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation hereof. 

 

17. 
 

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the respective parties’ 

successors. 

 

514

Item XI. 9.



7 | P a g e  
 

18. 
 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an 

original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

19. 

 

Each of the individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of his or her respective party 

agrees and represents to the other party that he or she is authorized to do so and further agrees 

and represents that this Agreement has been duly passed upon by the required governmental 

agency or council in accordance with all applicable laws and spread upon the minutes thereof. 

The parties hereto agree that this Agreement is an intergovernmental contract and is entered into 

pursuant to Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 1983. 

 

20. 

 

Further, the Effingham County Board of Elections and Registration has reviewed and 

approved this Agreement and has authorized its Chairman and its Director of Elections 

and Registration  to execute any ancillary documents required to conduct the municipal 

election. 

 

21. 

 

This Agreement shall expire upon the final certification of all 2023 elections to be  

conducted under this Agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and 

year stated below. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman 

 

 

Attest: __________________________________ 

 Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

 

Date:         

 

 

 

 

515

Item XI. 9.



8 | P a g e  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and 

year stated below. 

 

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS AND REGISTRATION 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Thomas G. Allen, Chairman 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Laura Bassett, Director of Elections & Registration 

 

Attest: __________________________________ 

 Krystle McDonald, Assistant Director of Elections & Registration 

 

 

Date:         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

516

Item XI. 9.



9 | P a g e  
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and 

year stated below. 

 

CITY OF GUYTON 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Russell Deen, Mayor 

 

Attest: __________________________________ 

  

Print Name/Title: ______________________ 

 

 

Date:         

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Benjamin M. Perkins, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

517

Item XI. 9.



10 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and 

year stated below. 

 

CITY OF RINCON 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Kenneth Lee, Mayor 

 

Attest: __________________________________ 

 Dulcia King, Clerk 

 

 

Date:         

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Raymond Dickey, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

518

Item XI. 9.



11 | P a g e  
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and 

year stated below. 

 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________ 

 Barton A. Alderman, Mayor 

 

Attest: __________________________________ 

 Jennifer Smith, Clerk 

 

 

Date:         

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Benjamin M. Perkins, City Attorney 

 

 

519

Item XI. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of MOU with Effingham County EMS and Rescue Training, INC. 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: MOU with Effingham County EMS and Rescue Training, INC. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the MOU with Effingham 

County EMS and Rescue Training, INC 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Rescue Training, Inc has requested approval of the MOU with Effingham County 

EMS to provide a comprehensive learning experience for their students from 

Chatham County Paramedic Consortium by riding along with EMS personnel.  

 The term of this agreement is from the date of signature to December 31, 2024 

and will automatically renew annually unless terminated by either party with 30 

days written notice; however, students currently participating shall be given the 

opportunity to complete their affiliation for the remainder of their program/course.  

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County 

Attorney.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of MOU with Effingham County EMS and Rescue Training, INC. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EMS, County Attorney, Purchasing 

Funding Source: NA 

Attachments: MOU 

 

 

 

 

520

Item XI. 10.



Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

AFFILIATION AGREEMENT  

Between  

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  

And  

Rescue Training, Inc. 

I. PARTICIPATING AGENCY 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this __th day of ______ 2023 between 

Rescue Training, Inc., sponsored by Chatham County Paramedic Consortium, 

hereinafter referred to as Chatham County Paramedic Consortium and 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners hereinafter referred to as EMS 

Service. 

II. PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT 

It is mutually agreed that the purpose of this Agreement is to provide a 

comprehensive learning experience for participants (students) from Chatham 

County Paramedic Consortium, within a clinical setting, in accordance with 

provisions of the guidelines set forth in this agreement. 

III. GENERAL PROVISIONS OF AGREEMENT 

A. Both parties agree that there will be no distinction in employment or 

placement because of race, sex, color, creed, age, national origin, religion, 

marital status, disability or handicap and adhere to the provisions of Federal 

and State laws regarding discrimination. 

B. The EMS Service will provide, at the Participant's expense, emergency care 

for injuries or acute illness while on duty at the EMS Clinical Site in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

C. The term of this Agreement shall be from its date of execution through  

December 31, 2024 and will automatically renew thereafter annually, 

provided, however, that either party shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement upon 30 days written notice. However, currently participating 

students shall be given the opportunity to complete their affiliation for the 

remainder of the program/course they are currently participating. 

 

IV. SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF CHATHAM COUNTY PARAMEDIC 

CONSORTIUM. 

A. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium shall designate a person or 

persons to coordinate and act as liaison with the appropriate EMS 

Service personnel. 

Rescue Training Affiliation Agreement 2023 Page 1 or 4 
521

Item XI. 10.



B. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium shall provide EMS Service with 

a list of participants in the learning experience at least ten (10) business days 

before each program is to start. 

C. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. shall insure that participants 

have the necessary didactic prerequisites to maximize the learning 

experience at the EMS Service. 

D. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. shall insure that the participants 

comply with the provisions hereinafter set forth in Section VI of this 

Agreement. 

E. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. does undertake and agree 

that it will indemnify and hold harmless the EMS Service and its 

officers, directors, employees, and agents, of any damages of any kind 

and by whomever and whenever made arising out of the activity of any 

participant or student supplied by Chatham County Paramedic 

Consortium pursuant to this Agreement. 

F. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. shall procure and maintain, 

during the term of this Agreement and any renewal, general liability 

insurance in the amount of no less than $1,000,000/$2,000,000 to cover 

any and all liability for claims arising out of the activities carried out 

under this Agreement; and in addition, each participant shall maintain 

professional liability insurance in the amount of no less than 

$1,000,000/$3,000,000; and Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners  shall be certificate holder under such general liability 

policy or policies. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium shall 

submit certificates of insurance to the EMS Service evidencing such 

insurance as requested by the EMS Service. Chatham County 

Paramedic Consortium agrees that the EMS Service will receive no less 

than thirty (30) days written notice prior to cancellation, modification, or 

non-renewal of any of the insurance coverages described herein. 

Participants who do not have patient contact (non-allied health 

participants) will not be required to be covered by professional liability 

insurance. 

G. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. will provide training to all 

faculty and students on infection control practices as required by 

CFR1910.1030 

H. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. will provide verification to the 

EMS Service that all students have received HBV vaccine, TB test results 

within 12 months, measles, mumps, rubella, and chicken pox status, either 

proof of having had the disease or the appropriate vaccination, and a Tdap 

booster. 

I. Chatham County Paramedic Consortium. will provide training to all 

faculty and students on the HIPPA standards for the security of electronic 

health information 

Rescue Training Affiliation Agreement 2023 Page 2 or 4 
522

Item XI. 10.



V. SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMS SERVICE  

 It shall be the responsibility of the EMS Service to: 

A. Provide an appropriate orientation of participants in connection with its  

facilities and its policies and procedures. 

B. Provide opportunities for a learning experience with appropriate  

supervision. 

C. Retain ultimate responsibility for patient care even if a student gives that  

care. 

D. Designate a preceptor (or coordinator) from its staff to act as the liaison with 

Chatham County Paramedic Consortium in this Agreement, as appropriate to the 

learning objectives. 

E. Verify Preceptor training (letter or course roster) or require preceptors to complete the 

online (free) Preceptor Training Course through Platinum Planner. 

VI. SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTICIPANT (Student)  

It shall be the responsibility of the participant(s) assigned through this Agreement 

to: 

A. Comply with the policies and procedures of the EMS Service. 

B. Provide the necessary and appropriate uniform while on duty in the EMS  

Clinical Site. 

C. Obtain prior written approval of both parties to this Agreement before  

publishing any material related to the learning experience provided under the 

terms of the Agreement. 

D. Sign a "Hold Harmless Agreement" with the EMS Service prior to 

commencing his/her experience within the EMS Clinical Site. 

E. At all times wear the appropriated badge on every clinical and comply in  

all respects with the student requirements set forth in the requirements Sheets. 

VII. REQUEST FOR WITHDRAWL OF PARTICIPANT 

The EMS Service shall reserve the right to request Chatham County Paramedic 

Consortium to withdraw any participant from its facilities whose conduct or work with 

patients or personnel is not in accordance with the policies and procedures of the EMS 

Service or is detrimental to patients or others. 

VIII. MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT Modification of this Agreement 

may be made by mutual consent of both parties, in writing, and attached to this Agreement 

and shall include the date and the signatures of parties agreeing to the modification. 

Rescue Training Affiliation Agreement 2023 Page 3 or 4 523

Item XI. 10.



IX. COPIES OF AGREEMENT 

Copies of this signed Agreement shall be placed on file and be available at the 

Corporate office of Chatham County Paramedic Consortium and in the offices of 

Rescue Training, Inc. and Effingham County Board of Commissioners. 

X. SIGNATURES TO AGREEMENT 

A. Effingham County Board of Commissioners   

1. Signed by: ____________________________________  

2. Title: ________________________________________  

3. Date: 

B. Rescue Training, Inc., Sponsored by Chatham County Paramedic 

Consortium. 

1. Signed by: ____________________________________  

2. Title: ________________________________________  

3. Date: 

Rescue Training Affiliation Agreement 2023 Page 4 or 4 
524

Item XI. 10.



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Master Services Agreement for (Engineering) Professional Services for FY24 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:    

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Amendment #3, the extension of the Master 

Services Agreement for Professional Services for EOM Operations  

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of Amendment #3 of the Master Services 

Agreement for Professional Services with EOM Operations to perform Public Works 

related Engineering tasks.  For FY 2024, the scope of services will be defined in Task 

Orders to be approved by the Board of Commissioners.  

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County has utilized consultant and contractor services for Public Works related 

Engineering support.  Since 2018, EOM Operations has performed these tasks. 

 For FY 2023-2024, County staff is recommending approval of Amendment #3 for the 

Master Services Agreement with EOM Operations.  Funding is approved in the FY 

2024 budget. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve the Master Services Agreement for Engineering Professional Services 

Amendment #3 for FY 2024 for EOM Operations. 

2. Reject the FY 2024 extension.  Direct staff to advertise for a consultant to perform 

some or all of the Public Works related Engineering tasks. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Finance, County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: Multiple funding sources depending on the services provided; 

General Fund, Development Services, Water/Sewer, WWTP, Special Tax District  

 

Attachments: 

1. EOM Operations Master Agreement for Professional Services dated September 

15, 2020  

2. Amendments. 

525

Item XI. 11.



526

Item XI. 11.



527

Item XI. 11.



528

Item XI. 11.



529

Item XI. 11.



530

Item XI. 11.



531

Item XI. 11.



532

Item XI. 11.



533

Item XI. 11.



534

Item XI. 11.



535

Item XI. 11.



536

Item XI. 11.



537

Item XI. 11.



v1 

AMENDMENT No. 3 
Master Agreement for Professional Services 

 
This Amendment No. 3 (hereinafter referred to as “Amendment”) is made by and between The Board of 

Commissioners of Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a 

division of EOM Public Works, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “EOM”). 

WHEREAS, the County and EOM entered into a Master Agreement for Professional Services dated 

September 15th, 2020 for Professional Services (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Master Agreement was Amended June 21, 2022 to extend the term of the agreement to 

June 30, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for 

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 

the parties agree as set forth below. 

1. This Amendment renews the Master Agreement for Professional Services. The renewal term begins on 
July 1, 2023 and terminates on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Agreement and this Amendment, this 
Amendment shall control. 
 

3. This Amendment shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed 
below.  

Both parties indicate their approval of this Amendment by their signatures below. 
 
EOM OPERATIONS            Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
 
Authorized Signature ______________________       Authorized Signature _______________________ 

Name____________________________         Name ____________________________________ 

Title______________________________         Title______________________________________ 

Date_______________             Date_____________________ 

538

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Public Works Services agreement amendment 6 for FY 2024 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works  

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Amendment 6 to EOM Operations contract 

to perform Public Works related tasks. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of Amendment 6 with EOM Operations to 

perform Public Works related tasks.   

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County has utilized consultant services for Public Works support.  Since 2015, 
EOM Operations has performed these tasks.  Public Works Operations Management 
Services include the County’s department of Public Works, Fleet Maintenance, 
Water Distribution and Wastewater Collections and Treatment. 

 The current contract was approved on June 20, 2017. 

 Amendment 1 dated August 7th, 2018; Amendment 2 dated August 20th, 2019; 

Amendment 3 dated September 15th, 2020; Amendment 4 dated October 19th, 2021; 

Amendment 5 dated June 21, 2022. 

 For FY 2024, County staff is recommending Public Works services be performed via 

contract with EOM Operations.  This assures timely and complete services to the 

community in the most cost effective manner.   

 Funding is approved in the FY 2024 budget. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve the Amendment 6 for the extension of Public Works services for FY 2024 

for EOM Operations. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Public Works 

Funding Source: General Fund & Special Funds. 

 

Attachments: 

1. EOM Operations Contract June 20, 2017 with Amendment 1 through 5. 

2. FY 2024 Amendment 6 proposal. 

539

Item XI. 12.



540

Item XI. 12.



541

Item XI. 12.



542

Item XI. 12.



543

Item XI. 12.



544

Item XI. 12.



545

Item XI. 12.



546

Item XI. 12.



547

Item XI. 12.



548

Item XI. 12.



549

Item XI. 12.



550

Item XI. 12.



551

Item XI. 12.



552

Item XI. 12.



553

Item XI. 12.



554

Item XI. 12.



555

Item XI. 12.



556

Item XI. 12.



557

Item XI. 12.



558

Item XI. 12.



559

Item XI. 12.



560

Item XI. 12.



561

Item XI. 12.



562

Item XI. 12.



563

Item XI. 12.



564

Item XI. 12.



565

Item XI. 12.



566

Item XI. 12.



567

Item XI. 12.



568

Item XI. 12.



569

Item XI. 12.



570

Item XI. 12.



571

Item XI. 12.



572

Item XI. 12.



573

Item XI. 12.



574

Item XI. 12.



575

Item XI. 12.



576

Item XI. 12.



577

Item XI. 12.



578

Item XI. 12.



579

Item XI. 12.



580

Item XI. 12.



581

Item XI. 12.



582

Item XI. 12.



583

Item XI. 12.



v1 

AMENDMENT No. 6 
AGREEMENT 

For 
OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

 
This Amendment No. 6 (hereinafter referred to as “Amendment”) is made by and between The Board of 

Commissioners of Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a 

division of EOM Public Works, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “EOM”). 

WHEREAS, the County and EOM entered into an Agreement for Public Works Operations Management 

Services  dated June 20th, 2017 for Public Works Operations Management Services defined to include 

the County’s department of Public Works, Fleet Maintenance, Water Distribution and Wastewater 

Collections and Treatment (hereinafter referred to as  the “Agreement”); Amendment 1 dated August 

7th, 2018; Amendment 2 dated August 20th, 2019; Amendment 3 dated September 15th, 2020; 

Amendment 4 dated October 19th, 2021; Amendment 5 dated June 21st, 2022 and   

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for 

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 

the parties agree as set forth below. 

1. This Amendment allows for an increase in the Base Fee to $2,797,025 which includes the addition of 3 
new positions.  
  

2. This Amendment modifies section 2.3.5 of the Agreement for Public Works Operations Management 
Services to reflect the current lift station listed below.  
 

EF-PS-01 MARLOW ELEMENTARY 

EF-PS-02 SOUTH BEND 

EF-PS-03 
SOUTH EFFINGHAM 
ELEMENTARY 

EF-PS-04 HODGEVILLE ROAD 

EF-PS-05 PARK WEST 

EF-PS-06 EXLEY TRACT 

EF-PS-07 GREYSTONE 

EF-PS-08 BLANDFORD ELEMENTARY 

EF-PS-09 GOSHEN ROAD_LEARNING TREE 

EF-PS-10 WINDFIELD 

EF-PS-11 S.E.P_BUCKINGHAM 

EF-PS-12 
OLD AUGUSTA RD- JASPER 
VILLAGE 

EF-PS-13 TIMBERLAKE 

EF-PS-14 STAFFORDSHIRE 

EF-PS-15 SETTLERS POINT 

EF-PS-16 PARK WEST PHASE 3 

EF-PS-17 RED OAK 

EF-PS-18 SUMMER STATION 

EF-PS-19 CEDAR RIDGE 

EF-PS-20 LAUREL MILL 

EF-PS-21 BLANDFORD CROSSING 

EF-PS-22 SADDLECLUB @ BELMONT GLEN 

EF-PS-23 PATRIOTS POINT 

EF-PS-24 ANTIGUA- CARRIBEAN VILLAGE 

EF-PS-25 PARK WEST  PHASE 4 

EF-PS-26 WOODLANDS 

EF-PS-27 COVERED BRIDGE 

EF-PS-28 TRADE CENTER- GITC 

EF-PS-29 BLUE JAY COMMONS 

EF-PS-30 PARK WEST  PHASE 5 

EF-PS-31 CREEKSIDE 

EF-PS-32 NEW HAVEN 

584

Item XI. 12.



v1 

3. This Amendment allows for a change in department operating limits and structure to reflect the 2023-
2024 approved budget. EOM will provide an accounting of the amount spent for each budget in the 
monthly report.  
 

4. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Agreement, previous Amendments and this 
Amendment, this Amendment shall control. 
 

5. This Amendment shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed 
below.  

Both parties indicate their approval of this Amendment by their signatures below. 
 
EOM OPERATIONS            Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
 
Authorized Signature ______________________       Authorized Signature _______________________ 

Name____________________________         Name ____________________________________ 

Title______________________________         Title______________________________________ 

Date_______________             Date_____________________ 

585

Item XI. 12.



Staff Report 
Subject: Consideration to Approve Task Order 8 with EOM Operations under the 

Master Services Agreement  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Task Order 8 with EOM Operations under the Master Services 

Agreement 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Task Order 8 with EOM 

Operations for services under the Master Services Agreement 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The services included in this Task Order are as follows: 

1. Site Plan Review 

2. Capital Improvement Program Assistance 

3. Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System Compliance (MS4) 

4. Long Term Monitoring for Watershed Protection Plan (WPP) 

 The total fee for sections 1 and 2 is $252,288.00 

 The total fee for section 3 is $21,300.00 

 The total fee for section 4 is $27,500.00 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve Task Order 8 with EOM Operations under the Master Services 

Agreement for FY24 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Finance 

Funding Source: Operations 

Attachments: Task Order 8 

 

 

 

 

586

Item XI. 13.



 
 

  Page 1 

Task Order 8  
Civil Engineering Services 
 
 
EOM Operations, a full scale public works operations, engineering, and utilities construction firm is pleased to 
provide civil engineering design review services as described below. The services described herein shall be performed 
in accordance with and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Agreement for Professional 
Services (hereinafter referred to as “Agreement”) executed by and between The Board of Commissioners of 
Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a division of EOM Public Works, LLC 
(hereinafter referred to as “EOM”) on 15th day of September, 2020 and all subsequent amendments to the 
Agreement. 

1. Site Plan Review 
1.1 Plan review of residential subdivisions and commercial and industrial sites. This includes the review of 

clearing and grading plans, storm drainage systems, hydrology reports, geotechnical reports, roadway 
systems, sanitary sewer systems, potable water systems, and reuse water systems for compliance with 
Effingham County’s, State and Federal Design Standards  and Specifications. Plan review includes: sketch plan 
(excluding zoning issues), clearing and grading plans and civil site development plans review for the 
infrastructure listed above. Review shall be based on electronic plan submissions provided by Owner staff. 
Services exclude meetings and/or calls with consultants to review County development standards and 
ordinances. 
 

1.2 The following are excluded from site plan review services.  
 

1.2.1 Residential development plan reviews greater than 20 acres and/or more than 6 lots per acre. 
1.2.2 Commercial development plan reviews that are greater than 50 acres, more than one building, 

campuses, master site plans. 
1.2.3 Water and Sewer Extension forms and submittals. 
1.2.4 Review and evaluation of Traffic Impact Studies and Speed Studies. 
1.2.5 Reviewing and updating existing County’s specifications, ordinances, standards and procedures 

related to site development, civil engineering, and construction. 
1.2.6 Review of any site development located in sensitive areas which will require additional technical 

assistance to evaluate. 
1.2.7 Review of site development of any commercial or industrial facilities which handle hazardous 

materials, or require any specialized pre-treatment facility or component which will require 
specialized technical staff to review. 

1.2.8 Review of surface and sub-surface mines sites, landfills, and contaminated or brownfield sites. 
1.2.9 Review of any structural component of any site development. 
1.2.10 Review of any septic systems. 
1.2.11 More than 3 reviews for a single development due to quality, changes in the project, additional 

requirements stipulated by other agencies, etc. These reviews will be performed on an hourly basis.  

2. Capital Improvement Program Assistance 
2.1 Assist Owner staff with identifying, evaluating and prioritizing capital improvement projects pertaining to 

water, wastewater, roadway systems and drainage. This includes preliminary project assessments and scope 
development and preparation of opinions on preliminary project budgets. Planning, design, bid documents, 
permitting and management of projects are excluded from the base scope services. 

 
2.2 The services listed above exclude grant applications. 

587

Item XI. 13.



 
 

  Page 2 

  

3. Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Compliance Services 
3.1 Planning: EOM will meet with all relevant County departments to discuss project tasks and ensure all are 

properly planned. During this meeting EOM will provide the activity summary which will outline all tasks that 
will need to be completed prior to the December 31st, 2023 deadline. The activity summary is a summary of 
the best management practices (BMPs) in the County’s Stormwater Management Program (SWMP). EOM will 
meet with the appropriate departments prior to the end of the permit year to discuss the SWMP and ensure 
that all tasks are complete or scheduled for completion.  

3.2 EOM will update the County’s SWMP to reflect the permit changes that became effective on December 6, 
2022 and expire on December 5, 2027. 

3.3 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 1 Stormwater Presentations: EOM will prepare and present educational opportunities 
utilizing lesson plans, books, resources and other educational tools. 

3.4 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 2 Education through Media Outlets: EOM will prepare and distribute 4 general awareness 
information topics to multiple media outlets.  

3.5 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 3 Education through Website Scope Changes: EOM will make recommendations to IT for 
updates to the website to improve education content and ease of use. 

3.6 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 4 Educational Brochures: EOM will create educational brochures for distribution at the 
County administrative offices. Cost of printing will be billed to the County without markup. 

3.7 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 1 Rivers Alive Clean-Up: EOM will coordinate, advertise and oversee a stream clean up 
event. 

3.8 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 2 Community Outreach Clean-Up: EOM will coordinate, advertise and oversee a litter clean 
up event. 

3.9 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 3 Recycling Program: The County currently contracts waste disposal and recycling services to 
Atlantic Waste. EOM will provide copies of recycling schedules and items accepted in the annual report.  

3.10 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 4 Citizen Complaint: EOM will include a summary of all citizen complaints received related to 
stormwater pollutants and illicit discharges in the annual report.  

3.11 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 3 Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination (IDDE) Inspections: In accordance with the 
County’s approved SWMP, The County is required to complete dry weather screening on 100% of the total 
number of outfalls within the 5‐year permit term that are located within the County limits that outfall to 
Waters of the State annually. Dry weather screening will be performed according to the County’s dry 
weather screening procedures approved by the EPD. The EPD approved dry weather screening checklist will 
also be filled out for each outfall visited and inspected. The checklists will be delivered in a format that can be 
easily inserted into the County’s NPDES Phase II 2023 Annual Report. If a dry weather discharge is present, a 
visual observation of the flows odor, color, turbidity, and floatables will be noted. Also, a sample will be 
collected and tested per the County’s approved IDDE Guidance Manual for temperature, pH level, chlorine, 
surfactants, and specific conductivity utilizing an in‐situ water quality meter. Finally, a sample will be 
collected and analyzed for surfactants by a laboratory. If the in‐situ measurement or visual observations 
indicated potential sewage, a fecal coliform grab sample will be collected and analyzed by a laboratory. 

3.12 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 3 IDDE Source Tracing: Source tracing activities will need to be completed if the dry weather 
screening data indicates that there is a potential water quality impairment present. The County will be 
notified immediately if the in‐situ parameters or laboratory results indicate that there is a potential illicit 
discharge prior to beginning any source tracing activities. EOM will not initiate source tracing activities 
without prior authorization of the County. Source tracing will involve following the MS4 system “upstream” 
in an attempt to identify the source of the non‐stormwater discharge. Please note that the NPDES Phase II 
permit requires that the County to source trace 100% of the identified illicit discharges and notify the illicit 
discharger to cease the activity, if the source tracing clearly documents the source. In the event that the 
source cannot be definitively identified, the County is only required to document the activities undertaken 
and the findings. All the source tracing work should be performed according to the EPD approved Source 
Tracing Procedures included in the County’s SWMP. Source tracing is considered out of scope. In the event 
that EOM performs a source tracing work effort, the estimated cost for EOM to conduct the work will be 
based on a “per source tracing exercise.” If the illicit discharge source cannot be clearly identified within a 

588

Item XI. 13.



 
 

  Page 3 

three hour time frame, the work will be documented and provided to the County for approval of further 
investigation. 

3.13 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 4 Illicit Discharge Education: EOM will assure on of the topics in Section 3.3 above is related 
to IDDE. 

3.14 MCM 4.2.6 BMP 2 MS4 Inspections: In accordance with the County’s approved SWMP, the County shall 
inspect 100% of the MS4 structures in urbanized areas within the 5 year permit term. EOM will complete a 
visual inspection and record the data. The inspection records will be summarized in an excel spreadsheet and 
submitted with the Annual Report. 

3.15 MCM 4.2.6 BMP 5 Employee Training: EOM will utilize existing training materials and conduct an employee 
training session for County employees involved in facility management, construction, or operations. 

3.16 EPD Annual Report Submission: After the December 31st, 2023 deadline, EOM will contact County staff to 
collect information on programs implemented during the 2023 reporting period. This documentation will be 
used to develop the County’s Annual Report for submittal to EPD by February 15th, 2024. Prior to submittal, 
an electronic copy of the Annual Report will be provided to the County for review and comment. Once the 
County finds the report acceptable, EOM will submit the Annual Report to EPD. If EPD has comments on the 
Annual Report, EOM will address the comments on an hourly basis.  

3.17 At this time, the County’s MS4 boundary is limited and fully developed. As such, some of the services in the 
permit’s Minimum Control Measures have not been needed. In the event this changes, EOM can provide 
additional services at an hourly rate upon written authorization from the County. 

4. Long Term Monitoring for Watershed Protection Plan (WPP) 
4.1 Water Quality Monitoring: Water quality will be monitored as required according to the Watershed 

Protection Plan updated on June 2020. The monitoring for all parameters except metals and bacteria will be 
performed four (4) times per year during three (3) dry weather days (no rain event over previous 72 hours) 
and one (1) wet weather day (at least 0.2 inches rainfall and at least 72 hours since the last storm event). The 
wet weather event will be collected as a composite of three grab samples collected over the storm 
hydrograph. Bacteria sampling, including fecal coliform and enterococci, will be based on a geometric mean 
(geomean) requiring the collection of four (4) samples over a thirty-day period. Bacteria sampling will be 
performed during the summer months to calculate two (2) geomeans per year. Metals will be monitored 
once annually during the wet weather event. 

4.2 EPD Annual Report Submission: As a part of implementing the WPP, a certification including summary of 
work and EPD’s Excel Watershed Assessment and Protection Plan Data Submittal Form will be completed and 
submitted to the County. The task also includes providing quarterly updates of the sampling progress along 
with results. The annual certification and report will be submitted to EPD by June 30, 2023.   

5. Reporting 
Provide monthly progress reports for inclusion in Board of Commissioner packets. 

6. Owner Meetings  
Attend Planning Board and Board of Commissioner’s meetings, as necessary, to participate in technical discussions or 
provide project updates on agenda items involving EOM services. Attend regular meetings with Owner staff to 
provide technical assistance and guidance. Meetings may be conducted in person or virtual and shall not exceed 
more than one meeting per week. 

7. Compensation 
7.1 Owner shall pay to EOM as compensation for services performed under this Task Order a Base Fee of Three 
Hundred One Thousand Eighty-Eight Dollars ($301,088.00). Below is a breakdown of the Base Fee.  
 

7.1.1 Section 1 Site Plan Review and Section 2 Capital Program Assistance $252,288.00 
7.1.2 Section 3 MS4 Compliance Services $21,300.00 

589

Item XI. 13.



 
 

  Page 4 

7.1.3 Section 4 WPP Services $27,500.00 
 
7.2 Services will be billed on a monthly basis.  

 
5.2 Additional efforts, including fees and services outside the Scope of Services will be coordinated directly with 
the Owner prior to proceeding. Additional fees will be billed at the hourly rates shown on Appendix A.  

8. Authority 
6.1 Both parties represent and warrant to the other party that the execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Task Order has been duly authorized by the responsible parties thereof. Both parties warrant that all required 
approvals have been obtained and the executing party below has such authority to bind the party. 
 
Both parties indicate their approval of this Task Order by their signatures below.  
 
EOM OPERATIONS,      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
a division of EOM PUBLIC WORKS, LLC   
 
Authorized Signature:      Authorized Signature: 
 
   
Name: __________________________   Name: __________________________ 
 
Title: ____________________________   Title: ____________________________ 
  
Date: ___________________________   Date: ___________________________ 
 
  

590

Item XI. 13.



 
 

  Page 5 

Appendix A – Additional Services 
 
 
Additional outside of base scope services shall be billed at the hourly rates listed below and shall be invoiced the 
month following the month in which services occurred.  
 

Director of Engineering/Vice President    $190.00/HR  
Floodplain Manager        $180.00/HR  
Program Manager       $175.00/HR  
Senior Professional Engineer     $165.00/HR  
Professional Engineer      $155.00/HR 
Engineer        $145.00/HR  
Project Manager      $135.00/HR 
Construction Engineer      $125.00/HR  
CADD Draftsmen       $115.00/HR  
Administration       $75.00/HR  

 

591

Item XI. 13.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 

Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the State Court of Effingham County 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: State Court 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 

Inc. (JAG) for the State Court of Effingham County 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Probation Services 

Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the State Court of 

Effingham County 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Effingham County State Court has submitted a termination letter for the current 

Probation Agreement with Effingham County and is requesting approval to 

accept the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 

Inc. (JAG). 

 Effingham County currently has an agreement in place with JAG for the 

Probation Case Management software. JAG has agreed that by approving this 

agreement, the current agreement will terminate.  

 The term of this agreement shall begin August 1, 2023 and continue through July 

31, 2028. Either party may terminate update thirty (30) days written notice or as 

otherwise detailed in the agreement. 

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County 

Attorney. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 

Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the State Court of Effingham County 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney, State Court 

Funding Source: fees to be paid by probationers 

Attachments: Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc.  

 

 

 

592

Item XI. 14.



 

593

Item XI. 14.



 1 
 
 

     
 
 

 
 

JUDICIAL ALTERNATIVES OF GEORGIA 
 

Probation Services Agreement 
 

This Agreement is made by and between Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, 
a corporation, organized under the laws of the State of Georgia, with its principal  
place of business at 901 Bellevue Ave, Dublin Georgia hereinafter called 
“Contractor” and the State Court of Effingham County, Georgia hereinafter 
called “Court”. This Agreement is governed by Article 6 of Chapter 8 of Title 42 of 
the Official Code of Georgia, Annotated. The parties enter into the Agreement 
under the specific authority of 42-8-101. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONTRACTOR 
 
In consideration of the obligations of the Court or governing authority, Contractor 
shall provide the following services. 
 
A. Responsibilities of Probation Services Contractor 
 
1.) Compliance with Statutes and Rules. Contractor shall comply with Article 6 of 
Title 42 Chapter 8 of the Official Code of Georgia and all standards, rules and 
regulations promulgated by the Department of Community Supervision. 
 
2.) Records and Confidentiality. Contractor shall create and maintain individual 
files for each offender receiving services from Contractor in accordance with this 
Agreement. Contractor shall maintain the confidentiality of all files, records and 
papers relative to supervision of probationers under this Agreement. These 
records, files and papers shall be available only to the judge of the court handling 
the case, the Department of Audits and Accounts, the Department of Community 
Supervision and upon transfer of probation supervision to the State, to the 
Georgia Department of Corrections. 
 
 

594

Item XI. 14.



 2 
 
 

 
3.) Financial Records. Contractor shall maintain financial records according to 
generally accepted accounting practices. 
 
4.) Employee Qualifications and Training. Contractor shall employ competent and 
able personnel to provide the services to be rendered hereunder and to 
appropriately administer the assigned caseload.  

(a) Any person employed as JAG probation officer shall be at least 21 
years of age at the time of appointment to the position of private probation officer 
and shall have completed a standard two-year college course or have four years 
of law enforcement experience; provided, however, that any person employed as 
a private probation officer as of July 1, 1996, and who had at least six months of 
experience as a private probation officer or any person employed as a probation 
officer by a county, municipality, or consolidated government as of March 1, 
2006, shall be exempt from such college requirements.  

b) Every JAG probation officer shall be required to obtain 40 hours of 
initial orientation training as set forth below provided that the 40 hour initial 
orientation shall not be required of any person who has successfully completed 
and who provides documentation of satisfactorily completing a basic course of 
training for supervision of probationers or parolees certified by the Peace Officer 
Standards and Training Council. Initial training of new probation officers shall be 
completed within the first 6 months of employment.  JAG Probation Officers will 
complete a 5-hour block of instruction covering a General Probation Overview 
 and consisting of: The History of Probation,  Ethics and Professionalism, 
Probation Officer Liabilities and Responsibilities, Constitutional Law, and 
Probation Law; a 20-hour block of instruction covering Probationer Management 
and consisting of: Confidentiality, Intake, Preparation and Maintenance of Files, 
Case Documentation, Interviewing and Communication Skills, Available 
Sentencing Options, Financial Collections, Community Service, Alcohol and 
Substance Abuse, and  Personal Welfare and Safety; and a 15-hour block of 
instruction covering Legal Procedures and Reports and consisting of: General 
Report Writing Techniques, Violations, Delinquency Reports and Warrants, 
Courtroom Protocol, Testimony and Revocation Proceedings, First Offender Act, 
Case Termination Reports, Domestic Violence, and Statutory Changes and 
Updates.  
 (c) All JAG probation officers are required to obtain 20 hours of annual in-
service training. In-service training shall be completed on a calendar year basis. 
 The initial orientation training hours completed during the first calendar year of 
employment shall also count towards satisfying the annual in-service training 
requirements for that same period.  Annual In-Service Training shall be on topics 
that relate to the criminal justice system and/or the operation of the probation 
entity as approved by DCS Misdemeanor Probation Oversight Unit (MPOU).  

(d) All JAG Administrative Employees, Agents, Interns, or Volunteers shall 
be required in accordance with DCS Board Rule 105-2-.09 to be at least 18 years 
of age; sign a statement co-signed by the probation entity director or his/her 

595

Item XI. 14.



 3 
 
 

designee that the administrative employee, agent, intern, or volunteer has 
received an orientation on these rules as well as operations guidelines relevant 
to the administrative employee, agent, intern, or volunteer’s job duties which shall 
be maintained in administrative employees, agents, interns, or volunteer’s 
personnel files; have obtained a high school diploma or equivalent and; complete 
a 16 hour initial orientation program within 6 months of appointment and 8 hour 
annual in-service continuing education training program, consisting of a 
curriculum approved by MPOU. Additionally, such person shall maintain a clear 
criminal record; complete continuing education and; adhere to all other 
requirements established in these rules. 

(e) All Administrative Employee, Agent, Intern, or Volunteer will obtain 16 
hours of initial orientation training consisting of a 4-hour block of instruction 
covering: The History of Probation,  Ethics and Professionalism, Probation 
Officer Liabilities and Responsibilities, Constitutional Law, and Probation Law;  
an 8-hour block of instruction covering Probationer Management and consisting 
of: Confidentiality, Intake, Preparation and Maintenance of Files, Case 
Documentation, Interviewing and Communication Skills, Available Sentencing 
Options, Financial Collections, Community Service, Alcohol and Substance 
Abuse, and  Personal Welfare and Safety; and a 4-hour block of instruction 
covering Legal Procedures and Reports and consisting of: General Report 
Writing Techniques, Violations, Delinquency Reports and Warrants, Courtroom 
Protocol, Testimony and Revocation Proceedings, First Offender Act, Case 
Termination Reports, Domestic Violence, and Statutory Changes and Updates; 
obtain 8 hours of annual in-service training.  In-service training shall be 
completed on a calendar year basis.  The initial orientation training hours 
completed during the first calendar year of employment shall also count towards 
satisfying the annual in-service training requirements for that same period. 

(f) Annual In-Service Training shall be on topics that relate to the criminal 
justice system and/or the operation of the probation entity as approved by 
MPOU.  The progress and completion of initial orientation and in-service training 
is required to be documented and maintained in the individual's files utilizing the 
forms approved by MPOU. Probation entities and individuals providing probation 
services may obtain training resource information from MPOU, local law 
enforcement agencies, local colleges and schools, and national professional 
associations such as the American Probation and Parole Association, Georgia 
Professional Association of Community Supervision, American Correctional 
Association, and/or credible sources approved by MPOU.  All training must be 
approved by MPOU. 

(g) JAG trainers will have expertise in the area of training and will posses 
a college degree or POST certification.  JAG shall maintain a description of the 
course and the contact information of the trainer on file.  Training provided by 
professional training services shall be accepted so long as a description of the 
course and the trainer’s contact information is maintained on file and has been 
approved by MPOU. 

 

596

Item XI. 14.



 4 
 
 

 
(h) In no event shall any person convicted of a felony be employed as a 

private probation officer or administrative support staff.  
 
5.) Criminal History Check. Contractor shall have a criminal history records check  
made of all employees and give written consent to the Department of Community 
Supervision or the Effingham County to conduct periodic criminal history checks. 
 

6.) Officer per Probationer Ratio and Standards of Supervision. Contractor shall 
manage caseload limits so as not to exceed 250 probationers per probation 
officer for basic supervision and 100 probationers per probation officer for 
intensive supervision.  Probation Officers shall require a minimum of 1 office 
contact per month for each probationer supervised.  The Probation Officer may 
at his or her discretion require the probationer to report on a weekly basis if the 
probationer is not in full compliance with his or her terms of conditions of 
supervision. 
 
7.) The contractor shall maintain an office within the county of Effingham, 
Georgia for meeting with and the provision of services to probationers. 
 
B. Reports 
 
Contractor shall provide to the judge and governing authority with whom the 
contract or agreement was made and the board a monthly report, on or before 
the 10th day of the following month, summarizing the number of offenders under 
supervision; the amount of fines, and restitution collected; the amount of fees 
collected and the nature of such fees, including probation supervision fees, 
rehabilitation programming fees, electronic monitoring fees, drug or alcohol 
detection device fees, substance abuse or mental health evaluation or treatment 
fees, and drug testing fees; the number of community service hours performed 
by probationers under supervision; a listing of any other service for which a 
probationer was required to pay to attend; the number of offenders for whom 
supervision or rehabilitation has been terminated and the reason for the 
termination; and the number of warrants issued during the month, in such detail 
as requested.  Contractor shall provide personal history, employment data, and 
location information to the court or law enforcement as necessary in tracking 
probation violators. 
 
C. Tender of Collections 
 
Contractor shall tender to the Clerk of the Court a report of collections and all 
fines, fees, and costs collected during the month from probationers by the 10th 
day of the following month. Restitution shall be paid to the victim by the 10th   day 
of the month following collection unless the Court orders payment to the clerk of 
court, and then it shall be paid as such other collections are paid to the Clerk.  

597

Item XI. 14.



 5 
 
 

In the event Contractor cannot locate the victim, payment shall be made to the 
Clerk of Court. Contractor shall credit payments of funds to in the following order 
of priority: 1) restitution 2) probation fees to include GCVEF, 3) fines, 4) court 
costs and surcharges. Contractor shall not retain or profit from any fines, 
restitution, fees or cost collected from probationers except the probation fees 
authorized by this Agreement and listed in Exhibit “A”. 
 
D. Access to Contractor Records 
 
1.) All records shall be open to inspection upon the request of the affected 
county, municipality, consolidated government, court, the Department of Audits 
and Accounts, an auditor appointed by the affected county, municipality, or 
consolidated government, Department of Corrections, Department of Community 
Supervision, State Board of Pardons and Paroles, or the board. 
 
2.) Fiscal Audit: Contractor shall employ an independent auditor to annually audit 
its records and books pertaining to the services rendered at the courts request. 
Upon a written request by the court, a copy of this audit shall be provided to the 
Court and County Governing Authority within 2 months or sixty (60) days of the 
close of the year audited. 
 
E. Conflict of Interest per O.C.G.A 42-8-109 
 
1.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under neither the provisions of this article nor any 
employees of such entities shall engage in any other employment, business, or 
activity which interferes or conflicts with the duties and responsibilities under 
contracts authorized in this article. 
 
2.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of neither this article nor its 
employees shall have personal or business dealings, including the lending of 
money, with probationers under their supervision. 
 
3.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of this article nor any employees 
of such entities, shall own, operate, have any financial interest in, be an instructor 
at, or be employed by any private entity which provides drug or alcohol education 
services or offers a DUI Alcohol or Drug Use Risk Reduction Program certified by 
the Department of Driver Services. 
 
4.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of this article nor any employees 
of such entities shall specify,  directly or indirectly, a particular  DUI Alcohol or a 
Drug Use Risk Reduction Program which a probationer may or shall attend. 

598

Item XI. 14.



 6 
 
 

This paragraph shall not prohibit furnishing any probationer, upon request, with 
the names of certified DUI Alcohol or Drug Use Risk Reduction Programs. Any 
person violating this paragraph shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
F. Scope of Services to Probationers by Contractor. Contractor shall provide the 
following services: 
 
1.) Court Attendance and Probationer Case History. During all court sessions, 
Contractor shall have a probation officer attend and interview each offender to 
complete a case and personal history and to provide orientation and instruction 
regarding compliance with the Court’s ordered conditions of probation. At 
orientation, the probation officer shall provide a list of all service fees to the 
probationer. 
 
2.) Supervision. Contractor shall monitor and supervise probationers to ensure 
compliance with the Court’s order of probation. Contractor shall make a 
supervision assessment of the offender and determine the probationer’s 
reporting schedule.  
 
3.) Restitution, Fine and Fee Collection. Contractor shall collect restitution, fines, 
court costs and fees, program fees, and probation fees as ordered by the Court. 
Contractor shall provide an itemized ledger prepared in accordance with 
accepted accounting practices for each month for each case under supervision. 
 

(a) Indigent Offenders: Offenders determined by the court to be indigent 
in accordance with O. C. G.A 42-8-102 shall be supervised at no cost to 
the probationer or the Court or governing body. 
 
(b) Pay-Only Cases:  Pay-Only cases or the term 'pay-only probation' 
means a defendant has been placed under probation supervision solely 
because such defendant is unable to pay the court imposed fines and 
statutory surcharges when such defendant's sentence is imposed. Such 
term shall not include circumstances when restitution has been imposed 
or other probation services are deemed appropriate by the court.  When 
pay-only probation is imposed, the probation supervision fees shall be 
capped so as not to exceed three months of ordinary probation 
supervision regardless of the number of concurrent or consecutive cases; 
provided, however, that collection of any probation supervision fee shall 
terminate as soon as all court imposed fines and statutory surcharges are 
paid in full;  and provided, further, that when all such fines and statutory 
surcharges are paid in full, the private probation officer, as the case may 
be, shall submit an order to the court terminating the sentence within 30 
days of fulfillment of such conditions. If pay-only probation is subsequently 
converted to a sentence that requires community service, on petition by a 
probation officer or private probation officer and with the probationer 

599

Item XI. 14.



 7 
 
 

having an opportunity for a hearing, the court may reinstate probation 
supervision fees as necessary to monitor the probationer's compliance 
with community service obligations.  
 
(c) Consecutive sentences:  When a defendant is serving consecutive 
misdemeanor sentences, whether as a result of one case from one 
jurisdiction or multiple cases from multiple jurisdictions, upon motion by 
the defendant, the court may discharge such defendant from further 
supervision or otherwise terminate probation when it is satisfied that its 
action would be in the best interest of justice and the welfare of society. 
Such motion shall not be ripe until 12 months after the sentence was 
entered and every four months thereafter. The defendant shall serve the 
applicable entity or governing authority that is providing his or her 
probation services with a copy of such motion. Additionally, when a 
defendant is serving consecutive misdemeanor sentences the probation 
officer shall review such case after 12 consecutive months of probation 
supervision wherein the defendant has paid in full all court imposed fines, 
statutory surcharges, and restitution and has otherwise completed all 
testing, evaluations, and rehabilitative treatment programs ordered by the 
court to determine if such officer recommends early termination of 
probation. Each such case shall be reviewed every four months thereafter 
for the same determination until the termination, expiration, or other 
disposition of the case. If such officer recommends early termination, he or 
she shall immediately submit an order to the court to effectuate such 
purpose. 

 
4.) Community Service. The contractor shall coordinate, monitor, and ensure 
compliance with community service by each probationer as ordered by the Court. 
The Court may convert fines, statutory surcharges, and probation supervision 
fees to community service on the same basis as it allows a defendant to pay a 
fine through community service as set forth in subsection (d) of Code Section 17-
10-1.  Contractor will maintain records of service participation.   
 
5.) Employment Assistance. The contractor shall prepare referrals and lend 
reasonable assistance to probationers either to the extent ordered by the Court 
or to the extent available for probationers desiring employment assistance or 
counseling. 
 
6.) Drug/Alcohol Screening.  The contractor shall coordinate with local authorities 
and facilities, evaluation and assessment of probationers for drug/alcohol 
rehabilitation, mental health or psychological counseling, or educational 
programs mandated by the Court and shall require probationer’s compliance.  
Contractor shall conduct drug and alcohol screens as determined necessary by 
the Court. The probationer shall be responsible for the costs of all drug or alcohol 
testing. 

600

Item XI. 14.



 8 
 
 

 
7.) Electronic Monitoring.  Contractor when so ordered shall provide and operate 
a system of electronic home detention monitoring: 
 
8.) Reports of Violations Probation and Revocation Procedures.  The contractor 
shall recommend revocation of probation whenever the probationer has failed to 
substantially comply with the terms and conditions of probation. The Court shall 
provide Contractor with direction of what constitutes a substantial failure to 
comply with probation terms and conditions. Contractor shall prepare probation 
violation warrants and orders for submission to the Court. Contractor shall have 
probation officers available to testify at probation revocation hearings, sentencing 
hearings and such other hearings as deemed reasonable and necessary by the 
Court. The Court shall provide Contractor direction as to what curative measures 
should be taken in the case of minor violations. 
 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE COURT OR GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
 
In consideration for the services of Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc the Court 
shall provide the following: 
 
G. Payment for Contractors Services 
 
For regular probation supervision which includes a minimum of one (1) office 
contact per month and may require as many as four (4),   the probationer shall 
pay a fee of $45.00 per month. For intensive probation supervision which 
includes a minimum of one (1) office contact per week and four (4) office 
contacts each month, probationer shall pay a fee of $55.00 per month. 
Contractor shall collect such probation fee for each month a probationer is under 
probation supervision. A one (1) month supervision fee is defined as the date 
the probationer is placed on probation and runs through the monthly anniversary 
date each month. If a probationer is supervised past the monthly anniversary 
date, the probationer will be charged one (1) months supervision fee.  During the  
term of this Agreement and Contractor’s satisfactory performance, the Court shall 
refer all offenders ordered to serve time on probation, to Contractor for purposes 
of probation supervision services. 
 
H. Probation Fee 
 
The Court shall make payment of the probation fee a term and condition of the 
order of probation for each probationer assigned for supervision to Contractor 
unless the Court determines the probationer to be indigent. In no case shall 
Effingham County or the Court be liable for payment of any supervision fee, any 
program fee or any service fee of a probationer. 
 
 

601

Item XI. 14.



 9 
 
 

 
 
I. Access to Criminal Histories 
 
The Court shall assist Contractor in obtaining access to criminal histories in the 
Georgia Crime Information Center and National Crime Information Center 
through local law enforcement in order for Contractor to conduct pre-sentence or 
probationer investigations as may be requested 
 
J. Notice of Court Sessions 
 
The Court shall provide Contractor two (2) days advance notice of all court 
sessions that Contractor is required to attend. Notice for purposes of this 
provision may be given by mail, telephone and fax machine. 
 
K. Court Facilities 
 
The Court shall provide to Contractor an area, as available, for conduct of initial 
interviews and orientation with the probationer on the day of sentencing. 
 
L. Period of Service 

       
This agreement shall commence performance on August 1, 2023 and shall 
continue until July 31, 2028 and shall not exceed a period of five (5) years.  
Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice. 
The Court and/or Governing Authority may terminate this Agreement immediately 
for cause, including without limitation material breach of this Agreement, 
insolvency of Contractor, filing of a voluntary or involuntary case in bankruptcy. 
Within fifteen (15) working days of termination, the contractor shall peacefully 
surrender to the Court all records and documents generated by Judicial 
Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, in connection with this Agreement and the services 
hereunder and any equipment or supplies assigned to Contractor by the Court. 
Contractor shall turn over to the Clerk of Court any moneys collected or received 
less supervision fees validly incurred and duly owing to Contractor through the 
termination date. Any fines, costs, fees or restitution received by Contractor from 
probationers of this Court after termination of this Agreement shall be forwarded 
to the Clerk of Court, other than fees earned by Contractor. The Court shall 
provide Contractor a receipt for all property surrendered under this provision. 
 
 
 
INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, AND BONDING OBLIGATIONS OF CONTRACTOR 
 
M. Insurance and Bond 
 

602

Item XI. 14.



 10 
 
 

Contractor shall maintain comprehensive general liability insurance, including 
acts, errors or omissions and contractual liability insurance, in an amount not less 
than $1,000,000. JAG shall furnish continuous proof of insurance coverage as 
required hereunder, as well as proof of maintaining employee bonds in an 
amount of $100,000 per employee. 
 
N. Indemnification 
 
Neither the Court nor the County Governing Authority shall be liable to Contractor 
nor to anyone who may claim a right resulting from any relationship with Judicial 
Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, for any acts of Contractor, its employees, agents 
or participants in the performance of services conducted on the property of the 
State Court of Effingham County. Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the Court and Effingham County, Georgia from any claims, demands, 
actions, proceedings, expenses, damages, liabilities or losses (including but not 
limited to attorney’s fees and courts costs) and any causes of action arising from 
any acts or omissions arising out of or in connection with the services performed 
by Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, or its employees and agents under the 
terms of this Agreement. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CONTRACTOR 
 

O. Deficiency in Service by Contractor 
 
In the event that the court and/or governing authority determines that there are 
deficiencies in the services provided by Contractor hereunder, the Court and/or 
Governing Authority may terminate this Agreement in accordance with Item L or 
notify the Contractor in writing as to the exact nature of such deficiency. Within 
sixty (60) days of receipt of such notice, the Contractor shall cure or take 
reasonable steps to cure the deficiencies. In the event the company fails to cure 
or take reasonable steps to cure the deficiencies to the Court and/or Governing 
Authority’s satisfaction, then either may declare the Contractor in default and 
may terminate this Agreement. 
 
P. Time is of the Essence of this Agreement 
 
Q. Compliance with the Law 
 
The Contractor shall comply with all federal, state and local laws statutes, 
regulations and ordinances arising out of or in connection with the performance 
of its services pursuant to this. 
 
R. Independent Contractor 
 
Contractor is an independent contractor and is not an agent, joint venturer or 
other affiliate of the State Court of Effingham County in any way. Contractor 

603

Item XI. 14.



 11 
 
 

shall use its own employees and agents to perform this Contract. It is agreed that 
Contractor is solely responsible for payment of all federal, state, and local income 
taxes, self-employed Social Security taxes, and any other similar obligations 
arising from the performance of this Agreement or receipt of compensation 
therefore. The Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Court and 
Effingham County from and against any and all federal, state, or local tax liability 
or penalties that may arise from the payments made to the Contractor pursuant 
to this Agreement. The Contractor acknowledges that neither it nor its employees 
are eligible for any benefits provided by the Court or Effingham County to their 
respective party. 
 
S. Entire Agreement 
 
This Agreement, including all exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and 
supersedes any and all agreements, whether written or oral, that may exist 
between the parties regarding the same. No representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements between the parties not embodied herein shall be of 
any force and effect. No amendment or modification to this Agreement or any 
waiver of any provision hereto shall be effective unless in writing and signed by 
all parties to include the court, governing authority, and contractor. 
 
T. Binding Agreement 
 
This Agreement shall not be binding upon any successor to the undersigned 
Judge of the State Court of Effingham County, Georgia and unless ratified by 
the successor in office. If a successor attains the position of undersigned judge, 
and this Agreement is not ratified by such successor, then Contractor shall be 
permitted a reasonable time period, no less than ninety (90) days, in which to 
wind up its activities. The Court will be deemed not to have ratified the 
Agreement unless Court gives written notice of ratification within 30 days of 
taking the oath of The Court has entered into this Agreement in part on the basis 
of personal reliance in the integrity and qualifications of the staff of Contractor. 
The same is applicable to change in leadership of the Governing Authority. 
 
Contractor may not delegate, assign or subcontract any obligation of Contractors 
performance under the Contract and may not assign any right under this 
Contract, in either case without Court’s written approval. The Court’s discretion in 
this regard shall be absolute.  
 
 
 
Any notices made in accordance with this Agreement except as otherwise set out 
in Item J, shall be in writing and shall be made by registered or certified mail, 
return receipt requested, to: 

604

Item XI. 14.



 12 
 
 

 

Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
Attn: Kenneth Kight 
901 Bellevue Ave. 
Dublin, Georgia 31021 
Office: (478) 274-0060 
Fax:    (478) 274-8168 
 
State Court of Effingham County  
Honorable Stephen R. Yekel 
700 North Pine Street, Suite 238 
Springfiled, Georgia 31329 
Phone: 912-754-2117 
Fax:  (912) 754.6071 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HERE TO HAVE EXECUTED THIS 
AGREEMENT ON THE ______DAY OF __________________, 20___. 
 
PROBATION SERVICES CONTRACTOR: 
By: _________________________________       __ 
Name: Kenneth Kight 
Title: CFO, Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
 
By: _________________________________       __ 
Name: ___________________     ______________ 
Title: _______________      ___________________ 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners, Georgia  
 
By: _________________________________ 
Chief Judge: Honorable Stephen R. Yekel 
Court: State Court of Effingham County, Georgia 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 

605

Item XI. 14.



 13 
 
 

 
                           SCHEDULE OF FEES 

 
The following are fees paid by the offender to Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
 
 

SERVICE     COST OF SERVICE 
 
Regular Probation Supervision     $45.00 per month, per offender 
 
Intensive Supervision                $55.00 per month, per offender 
(Requires minimum of 1 weekly contact) 
 
Pre-Trial Supervision                $45.00 per month, per offender 
 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES   COST OF SERVICE 
 
Drug Screens      $20.00 per screen        
(Screens for 8 controlled substances)                             
 
Electronic Monitoring                $10.00 per day, per offender 
Electronic Monitoring w/Intox    $12.00 per day, per offender 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

606

Item XI. 14.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 

Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the Superior Court of Effingham County 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Superior Court 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 

Inc. (JAG) for the Superior Court of Effingham County 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Probation Services 

Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the Superior Court of 

Effingham County 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Effingham County Superior Court has submitted a termination letter for the 

current Probation Agreement with Effingham County and is requesting approval 

to accept the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 

Inc. (JAG). 

 Effingham County currently has an agreement in place with JAG for the 

Probation Case Management software. JAG has agreed that by approving this 

agreement, the current agreement will terminate.  

 The term of this agreement shall begin August 1, 2023 and continue through July 

31, 2028. Either party may terminate update thirty (30) days written notice or as 

otherwise detailed in the agreement. 

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County 

Attorney. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of 

Georgia, Inc. (JAG) for the Superior Court of Effingham County 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney, Superior Court 

Funding Source: fees to be paid by probationers 

Attachments: Probation Services Agreement with Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc.  

 

 

 

607

Item XI. 15.



 1 
 
 

     
 
 

 
 

JUDICIAL ALTERNATIVES OF GEORGIA 
 

Probation Services Agreement 
 

This Agreement is made by and between Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, 
a corporation, organized under the laws of the State of Georgia, with its principal  
place of business at 901 Bellevue Ave, Dublin Georgia hereinafter called 
“Contractor” and the Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia hereinafter 
called “Court”. This Agreement is governed by Article 6 of Chapter 8 of Title 42 of 
the Official Code of Georgia, Annotated. The parties enter into the Agreement 
under the specific authority of 42-8-101. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONTRACTOR 
 
In consideration of the obligations of the Court or governing authority, Contractor 
shall provide the following services. 
 
A. Responsibilities of Probation Services Contractor 
 
1.) Compliance with Statutes and Rules. Contractor shall comply with Article 6 of 
Title 42 Chapter 8 of the Official Code of Georgia and all standards, rules and 
regulations promulgated by the Department of Community Supervision. 
 
2.) Records and Confidentiality. Contractor shall create and maintain individual 
files for each offender receiving services from Contractor in accordance with this 
Agreement. Contractor shall maintain the confidentiality of all files, records and 
papers relative to supervision of probationers under this Agreement. These 
records, files and papers shall be available only to the judge of the court handling 
the case, the Department of Audits and Accounts, the Department of Community 
Supervision and upon transfer of probation supervision to the State, to the 
Georgia Department of Corrections. 
 
 

608

Item XI. 15.



 2 
 
 

 
3.) Financial Records. Contractor shall maintain financial records according to 
generally accepted accounting practices. 
 
4.) Employee Qualifications and Training. Contractor shall employ competent and 
able personnel to provide the services to be rendered hereunder and to 
appropriately administer the assigned caseload.  

(a) Any person employed as JAG probation officer shall be at least 21 
years of age at the time of appointment to the position of private probation officer 
and shall have completed a standard two-year college course or have four years 
of law enforcement experience; provided, however, that any person employed as 
a private probation officer as of July 1, 1996, and who had at least six months of 
experience as a private probation officer or any person employed as a probation 
officer by a county, municipality, or consolidated government as of March 1, 
2006, shall be exempt from such college requirements.  

b) Every JAG probation officer shall be required to obtain 40 hours of 
initial orientation training as set forth below provided that the 40 hour initial 
orientation shall not be required of any person who has successfully completed 
and who provides documentation of satisfactorily completing a basic course of 
training for supervision of probationers or parolees certified by the Peace Officer 
Standards and Training Council. Initial training of new probation officers shall be 
completed within the first 6 months of employment.  JAG Probation Officers will 
complete a 5-hour block of instruction covering a General Probation Overview 
 and consisting of: The History of Probation,  Ethics and Professionalism, 
Probation Officer Liabilities and Responsibilities, Constitutional Law, and 
Probation Law; a 20-hour block of instruction covering Probationer Management 
and consisting of: Confidentiality, Intake, Preparation and Maintenance of Files, 
Case Documentation, Interviewing and Communication Skills, Available 
Sentencing Options, Financial Collections, Community Service, Alcohol and 
Substance Abuse, and  Personal Welfare and Safety; and a 15-hour block of 
instruction covering Legal Procedures and Reports and consisting of: General 
Report Writing Techniques, Violations, Delinquency Reports and Warrants, 
Courtroom Protocol, Testimony and Revocation Proceedings, First Offender Act, 
Case Termination Reports, Domestic Violence, and Statutory Changes and 
Updates.  
 (c) All JAG probation officers are required to obtain 20 hours of annual in-
service training. In-service training shall be completed on a calendar year basis. 
 The initial orientation training hours completed during the first calendar year of 
employment shall also count towards satisfying the annual in-service training 
requirements for that same period.  Annual In-Service Training shall be on topics 
that relate to the criminal justice system and/or the operation of the probation 
entity as approved by DCS Misdemeanor Probation Oversight Unit (MPOU).  

(d) All JAG Administrative Employees, Agents, Interns, or Volunteers shall 
be required in accordance with DCS Board Rule 105-2-.09 to be at least 18 years 
of age; sign a statement co-signed by the probation entity director or his/her 

609

Item XI. 15.



 3 
 
 

designee that the administrative employee, agent, intern, or volunteer has 
received an orientation on these rules as well as operations guidelines relevant 
to the administrative employee, agent, intern, or volunteer’s job duties which shall 
be maintained in administrative employees, agents, interns, or volunteer’s 
personnel files; have obtained a high school diploma or equivalent and; complete 
a 16 hour initial orientation program within 6 months of appointment and 8 hour 
annual in-service continuing education training program, consisting of a 
curriculum approved by MPOU. Additionally, such person shall maintain a clear 
criminal record; complete continuing education and; adhere to all other 
requirements established in these rules. 

(e) All Administrative Employee, Agent, Intern, or Volunteer will obtain 16 
hours of initial orientation training consisting of a 4-hour block of instruction 
covering: The History of Probation,  Ethics and Professionalism, Probation 
Officer Liabilities and Responsibilities, Constitutional Law, and Probation Law;  
an 8-hour block of instruction covering Probationer Management and consisting 
of: Confidentiality, Intake, Preparation and Maintenance of Files, Case 
Documentation, Interviewing and Communication Skills, Available Sentencing 
Options, Financial Collections, Community Service, Alcohol and Substance 
Abuse, and  Personal Welfare and Safety; and a 4-hour block of instruction 
covering Legal Procedures and Reports and consisting of: General Report 
Writing Techniques, Violations, Delinquency Reports and Warrants, Courtroom 
Protocol, Testimony and Revocation Proceedings, First Offender Act, Case 
Termination Reports, Domestic Violence, and Statutory Changes and Updates; 
obtain 8 hours of annual in-service training.  In-service training shall be 
completed on a calendar year basis.  The initial orientation training hours 
completed during the first calendar year of employment shall also count towards 
satisfying the annual in-service training requirements for that same period. 

(f) Annual In-Service Training shall be on topics that relate to the criminal 
justice system and/or the operation of the probation entity as approved by 
MPOU.  The progress and completion of initial orientation and in-service training 
is required to be documented and maintained in the individual's files utilizing the 
forms approved by MPOU. Probation entities and individuals providing probation 
services may obtain training resource information from MPOU, local law 
enforcement agencies, local colleges and schools, and national professional 
associations such as the American Probation and Parole Association, Georgia 
Professional Association of Community Supervision, American Correctional 
Association, and/or credible sources approved by MPOU.  All training must be 
approved by MPOU. 

(g) JAG trainers will have expertise in the area of training and will posses 
a college degree or POST certification.  JAG shall maintain a description of the 
course and the contact information of the trainer on file.  Training provided by 
professional training services shall be accepted so long as a description of the 
course and the trainer’s contact information is maintained on file and has been 
approved by MPOU. 

 

610

Item XI. 15.



 4 
 
 

 
(h) In no event shall any person convicted of a felony be employed as a 

private probation officer or administrative support staff.  
 
5.) Criminal History Check. Contractor shall have a criminal history records check  
made of all employees and give written consent to the Department of Community 
Supervision or the Effingham County to conduct periodic criminal history checks. 
 

6.) Officer per Probationer Ratio and Standards of Supervision. Contractor shall 
manage caseload limits so as not to exceed 250 probationers per probation 
officer for basic supervision and 100 probationers per probation officer for 
intensive supervision.  Probation Officers shall require a minimum of 1 office 
contact per month for each probationer supervised.  The Probation Officer may 
at his or her discretion require the probationer to report on a weekly basis if the 
probationer is not in full compliance with his or her terms of conditions of 
supervision. 
 
7.) The contractor shall maintain an office within the county of Effingham, 
Georgia for meeting with and the provision of services to probationers. 
 
B. Reports 
 
Contractor shall provide to the judge and governing authority with whom the 
contract or agreement was made and the board a monthly report, on or before 
the 10th day of the following month, summarizing the number of offenders under 
supervision; the amount of fines, and restitution collected; the amount of fees 
collected and the nature of such fees, including probation supervision fees, 
rehabilitation programming fees, electronic monitoring fees, drug or alcohol 
detection device fees, substance abuse or mental health evaluation or treatment 
fees, and drug testing fees; the number of community service hours performed 
by probationers under supervision; a listing of any other service for which a 
probationer was required to pay to attend; the number of offenders for whom 
supervision or rehabilitation has been terminated and the reason for the 
termination; and the number of warrants issued during the month, in such detail 
as requested.  Contractor shall provide personal history, employment data, and 
location information to the court or law enforcement as necessary in tracking 
probation violators. 
 
C. Tender of Collections 
 
Contractor shall tender to the Clerk of the Court a report of collections and all 
fines, fees, and costs collected during the month from probationers by the 10th 
day of the following month. Restitution shall be paid to the victim by the 10th   day 
of the month following collection unless the Court orders payment to the clerk of 
court, and then it shall be paid as such other collections are paid to the Clerk.  

611

Item XI. 15.



 5 
 
 

In the event Contractor cannot locate the victim, payment shall be made to the 
Clerk of Court. Contractor shall credit payments of funds to in the following order 
of priority: 1) restitution 2) probation fees to include GCVEF, 3) fines, 4) court 
costs and surcharges. Contractor shall not retain or profit from any fines, 
restitution, fees or cost collected from probationers except the probation fees 
authorized by this Agreement and listed in Exhibit “A”. 
 
D. Access to Contractor Records 
 
1.) All records shall be open to inspection upon the request of the affected 
county, municipality, consolidated government, court, the Department of Audits 
and Accounts, an auditor appointed by the affected county, municipality, or 
consolidated government, Department of Corrections, Department of Community 
Supervision, State Board of Pardons and Paroles, or the board. 
 
2.) Fiscal Audit: Contractor shall employ an independent auditor to annually audit 
its records and books pertaining to the services rendered at the courts request. 
Upon a written request by the court, a copy of this audit shall be provided to the 
Court and County Governing Authority within 2 months or sixty (60) days of the 
close of the year audited. 
 
E. Conflict of Interest per O.C.G.A 42-8-109 
 
1.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under neither the provisions of this article nor any 
employees of such entities shall engage in any other employment, business, or 
activity which interferes or conflicts with the duties and responsibilities under 
contracts authorized in this article. 
 
2.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of neither this article nor its 
employees shall have personal or business dealings, including the lending of 
money, with probationers under their supervision. 
 
3.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of this article nor any employees 
of such entities, shall own, operate, have any financial interest in, be an instructor 
at, or be employed by any private entity which provides drug or alcohol education 
services or offers a DUI Alcohol or Drug Use Risk Reduction Program certified by 
the Department of Driver Services. 
 
4.) No private corporation, private enterprise, or private agency contracting to 
provide probation services under the provisions of this article nor any employees 
of such entities shall specify,  directly or indirectly, a particular  DUI Alcohol or a 
Drug Use Risk Reduction Program which a probationer may or shall attend. 

612

Item XI. 15.



 6 
 
 

This paragraph shall not prohibit furnishing any probationer, upon request, with 
the names of certified DUI Alcohol or Drug Use Risk Reduction Programs. Any 
person violating this paragraph shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
F. Scope of Services to Probationers by Contractor. Contractor shall provide the 
following services: 
 
1.) Court Attendance and Probationer Case History. During all court sessions, 
Contractor shall have a probation officer attend and interview each offender to 
complete a case and personal history and to provide orientation and instruction 
regarding compliance with the Court’s ordered conditions of probation. At 
orientation, the probation officer shall provide a list of all service fees to the 
probationer. 
 
2.) Supervision. Contractor shall monitor and supervise probationers to ensure 
compliance with the Court’s order of probation. Contractor shall make a 
supervision assessment of the offender and determine the probationer’s 
reporting schedule.  
 
3.) Restitution, Fine and Fee Collection. Contractor shall collect restitution, fines, 
court costs and fees, program fees, and probation fees as ordered by the Court. 
Contractor shall provide an itemized ledger prepared in accordance with 
accepted accounting practices for each month for each case under supervision. 
 

(a) Indigent Offenders: Offenders determined by the court to be indigent 
in accordance with O. C. G.A 42-8-102 shall be supervised at no cost to 
the probationer or the Court or governing body. 
 
(b) Pay-Only Cases:  Pay-Only cases or the term 'pay-only probation' 
means a defendant has been placed under probation supervision solely 
because such defendant is unable to pay the court imposed fines and 
statutory surcharges when such defendant's sentence is imposed. Such 
term shall not include circumstances when restitution has been imposed 
or other probation services are deemed appropriate by the court.  When 
pay-only probation is imposed, the probation supervision fees shall be 
capped so as not to exceed three months of ordinary probation 
supervision regardless of the number of concurrent or consecutive cases; 
provided, however, that collection of any probation supervision fee shall 
terminate as soon as all court imposed fines and statutory surcharges are 
paid in full;  and provided, further, that when all such fines and statutory 
surcharges are paid in full, the private probation officer, as the case may 
be, shall submit an order to the court terminating the sentence within 30 
days of fulfillment of such conditions. If pay-only probation is subsequently 
converted to a sentence that requires community service, on petition by a 
probation officer or private probation officer and with the probationer 

613

Item XI. 15.



 7 
 
 

having an opportunity for a hearing, the court may reinstate probation 
supervision fees as necessary to monitor the probationer's compliance 
with community service obligations.  
 
(c) Consecutive sentences:  When a defendant is serving consecutive 
misdemeanor sentences, whether as a result of one case from one 
jurisdiction or multiple cases from multiple jurisdictions, upon motion by 
the defendant, the court may discharge such defendant from further 
supervision or otherwise terminate probation when it is satisfied that its 
action would be in the best interest of justice and the welfare of society. 
Such motion shall not be ripe until 12 months after the sentence was 
entered and every four months thereafter. The defendant shall serve the 
applicable entity or governing authority that is providing his or her 
probation services with a copy of such motion. Additionally, when a 
defendant is serving consecutive misdemeanor sentences the probation 
officer shall review such case after 12 consecutive months of probation 
supervision wherein the defendant has paid in full all court imposed fines, 
statutory surcharges, and restitution and has otherwise completed all 
testing, evaluations, and rehabilitative treatment programs ordered by the 
court to determine if such officer recommends early termination of 
probation. Each such case shall be reviewed every four months thereafter 
for the same determination until the termination, expiration, or other 
disposition of the case. If such officer recommends early termination, he or 
she shall immediately submit an order to the court to effectuate such 
purpose. 

 
4.) Community Service. The contractor shall coordinate, monitor, and ensure 
compliance with community service by each probationer as ordered by the Court. 
The Court may convert fines, statutory surcharges, and probation supervision 
fees to community service on the same basis as it allows a defendant to pay a 
fine through community service as set forth in subsection (d) of Code Section 17-
10-1.  Contractor will maintain records of service participation.   
 
5.) Employment Assistance. The contractor shall prepare referrals and lend 
reasonable assistance to probationers either to the extent ordered by the Court 
or to the extent available for probationers desiring employment assistance or 
counseling. 
 
6.) Drug/Alcohol Screening.  The contractor shall coordinate with local authorities 
and facilities, evaluation and assessment of probationers for drug/alcohol 
rehabilitation, mental health or psychological counseling, or educational 
programs mandated by the Court and shall require probationer’s compliance.  
Contractor shall conduct drug and alcohol screens as determined necessary by 
the Court. The probationer shall be responsible for the costs of all drug or alcohol 
testing. 

614

Item XI. 15.



 8 
 
 

 
7.) Electronic Monitoring.  Contractor when so ordered shall provide and operate 
a system of electronic home detention monitoring: 
 
8.) Reports of Violations Probation and Revocation Procedures.  The contractor 
shall recommend revocation of probation whenever the probationer has failed to 
substantially comply with the terms and conditions of probation. The Court shall 
provide Contractor with direction of what constitutes a substantial failure to 
comply with probation terms and conditions. Contractor shall prepare probation 
violation warrants and orders for submission to the Court. Contractor shall have 
probation officers available to testify at probation revocation hearings, sentencing 
hearings and such other hearings as deemed reasonable and necessary by the 
Court. The Court shall provide Contractor direction as to what curative measures 
should be taken in the case of minor violations. 
 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE COURT OR GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
 
In consideration for the services of Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc the Court 
shall provide the following: 
 
G. Payment for Contractors Services 
 
For regular probation supervision which includes a minimum of one (1) office 
contact per month and may require as many as four (4),   the probationer shall 
pay a fee of $45.00 per month. For intensive probation supervision which 
includes a minimum of one (1) office contact per week and four (4) office 
contacts each month, probationer shall pay a fee of $55.00 per month. 
Contractor shall collect such probation fee for each month a probationer is under 
probation supervision. A one (1) month supervision fee is defined as the date 
the probationer is placed on probation and runs through the monthly anniversary 
date each month. If a probationer is supervised past the monthly anniversary 
date, the probationer will be charged one (1) months supervision fee.  During the  
term of this Agreement and Contractor’s satisfactory performance, the Court shall 
refer all offenders ordered to serve time on probation, to Contractor for purposes 
of probation supervision services. 
 
H. Probation Fee 
 
The Court shall make payment of the probation fee a term and condition of the 
order of probation for each probationer assigned for supervision to Contractor 
unless the Court determines the probationer to be indigent. In no case shall 
Effingham County or the Court be liable for payment of any supervision fee, any 
program fee or any service fee of a probationer. 
. 
 

615

Item XI. 15.



 9 
 
 

 
 
 
 
I. Access to Criminal Histories 
 
The Court shall assist Contractor in obtaining access to criminal histories in the 
Georgia Crime Information Center and National Crime Information Center 
through local law enforcement in order for Contractor to conduct pre-sentence or 
probationer investigations as may be requested 
 
J. Notice of Court Sessions 
 
The Court shall provide Contractor two (2) days advance notice of all court 
sessions that Contractor is required to attend. Notice for purposes of this 
provision may be given by mail, telephone and fax machine. 
 
K. Court Facilities 
 
The Court shall provide to Contractor an area, as available, for conduct of initial 
interviews and orientation with the probationer on the day of sentencing. 
 
L. Period of Service 

       
This agreement shall commence performance on August 1, 2023 and shall 
continue until July 31, 2028 and shall not exceed a period of five (5) years.  
Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice. 
The Court and/or Governing Authority may terminate this Agreement immediately 
for cause, including without limitation material breach of this Agreement, 
insolvency of Contractor, filing of a voluntary or involuntary case in bankruptcy. 
Within fifteen (15) working days of termination, the contractor shall peacefully 
surrender to the Court all records and documents generated by Judicial 
Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, in connection with this Agreement and the services 
hereunder and any equipment or supplies assigned to Contractor by the Court. 
Contractor shall turn over to the Clerk of Court any moneys collected or received 
less supervision fees validly incurred and duly owing to Contractor through the 
termination date. Any fines, costs, fees or restitution received by Contractor from 
probationers of this Court after termination of this Agreement shall be forwarded 
to the Clerk of Court, other than fees earned by Contractor. The Court shall 
provide Contractor a receipt for all property surrendered under this provision. 
 
 
 
INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, AND BONDING OBLIGATIONS OF CONTRACTOR 
 

616

Item XI. 15.



 10 
 
 

M. Insurance and Bond 
 
Contractor shall maintain comprehensive general liability insurance, including 
acts, errors or omissions and contractual liability insurance, in an amount not less 
than $1,000,000. JAG shall furnish continuous proof of insurance coverage as 
required hereunder, as well as proof of maintaining employee bonds in an 
amount of $100,000 per employee. 
 
N. Indemnification 
 
Neither the Court nor the County Governing Authority shall be liable to Contractor 
nor to anyone who may claim a right resulting from any relationship with Judicial 
Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, for any acts of Contractor, its employees, agents 
or participants in the performance of services conducted on the property of the 
Superior Court of Effingham County. Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the Court and Effingham County, Georgia from any claims, demands, 
actions, proceedings, expenses, damages, liabilities or losses (including but not 
limited to attorney’s fees and courts costs) and any causes of action arising from 
any acts or omissions arising out of or in connection with the services performed 
by Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc, or its employees and agents under the 
terms of this Agreement. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CONTRACTOR 
 

O. Deficiency in Service by Contractor 
 
In the event that the court and/or governing authority determines that there are 
deficiencies in the services provided by Contractor hereunder, the Court and/or 
Governing Authority may terminate this Agreement in accordance with Item L or 
notify the Contractor in writing as to the exact nature of such deficiency. Within 
sixty (60) days of receipt of such notice, the Contractor shall cure or take 
reasonable steps to cure the deficiencies. In the event the company fails to cure 
or take reasonable steps to cure the deficiencies to the Court and/or Governing 
Authority’s satisfaction, then either may declare the Contractor in default and 
may terminate this Agreement. 
 
P. Time is of the Essence of this Agreement 
 
Q. Compliance with the Law 
 
The Contractor shall comply with all federal, state and local laws statutes, 
regulations and ordinances arising out of or in connection with the performance 
of its services pursuant to this. 
 
R. Independent Contractor 
 

617

Item XI. 15.



 11 
 
 

Contractor is an independent contractor and is not an agent, joint venturer or 
other affiliate of the Superior Court of Effingham County in any way. 
Contractor shall use its own employees and agents to perform this Contract. It is 
agreed that Contractor is solely responsible for payment of all federal, state, and 
local income taxes, self-employed Social Security taxes, and any other similar 
obligations arising from the performance of this Agreement or receipt of 
compensation therefore. The Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 
the Court and Effingham County from and against any and all federal, state, or 
local tax liability or penalties that may arise from the payments made to the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement. The Contractor acknowledges that 
neither it nor its employees are eligible for any benefits provided by the Court or 
Effingham County to their respective party. 
 
S. Entire Agreement 
 
This Agreement, including all exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and 
supersedes any and all agreements, whether written or oral, that may exist 
between the parties regarding the same. No representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements between the parties not embodied herein shall be of 
any force and effect. No amendment or modification to this Agreement or any 
waiver of any provision hereto shall be effective unless in writing and signed by 
all parties to include the court, governing authority, and contractor. 
 
T. Binding Agreement 
 
This Agreement shall not be binding upon any successor to the undersigned 
Judge of the Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia and unless ratified 
by the successor in office. If a successor attains the position of undersigned 
judge, and this Agreement is not ratified by such successor, then Contractor shall 
be permitted a reasonable time period, no less than ninety (90) days, in which to 
wind up its activities. The Court will be deemed not to have ratified the 
Agreement unless Court gives written notice of ratification within 30 days of 
taking the oath of The Court has entered into this Agreement in part on the basis 
of personal reliance in the integrity and qualifications of the staff of Contractor. 
The same is applicable to change in leadership of the Governing Authority. 
 
Contractor may not delegate, assign or subcontract any obligation of Contractors 
performance under the Contract and may not assign any right under this 
Contract, in either case without Court’s written approval. The Court’s discretion in 
this regard shall be absolute.  
 
 
 
Any notices made in accordance with this Agreement except as otherwise set out 

618

Item XI. 15.



 12 
 
 

in Item J, shall be in writing and shall be made by registered or certified mail, 
return receipt requested, to: 

 

Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
Attn: Kenneth Kight 
901 Bellevue Ave. 
Dublin, Georgia 31021 
Office: (478) 274-0060 
Fax:    (478) 274-8168 
 
Superior Court of Effingham County  
Honorable D. Jay Stewart 
PO Box 2038 
Richmond Hill, Georgia 31324 
Phone: 912-459-1315 
Fax:  (912) 544-9857 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HERE TO HAVE EXECUTED THIS 
AGREEMENT ON THE ______DAY OF __________________, 20___. 
 
PROBATION SERVICES CONTRACTOR: 
By: _________________________________       __ 
Name: Kenneth Kight 
Title: CFO, Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
 
By: _________________________________       __ 
Name: ___________________     ______________ 
Title: _______________      ___________________ 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners, Georgia  
 
By: _________________________________ 
Chief Judge: Honorable D. Jay Stewart 
Court: Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

619

Item XI. 15.



 13 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 

                           SCHEDULE OF FEES 
 

The following are fees paid by the offender to Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. 
 
 

SERVICE     COST OF SERVICE 
 
Regular Probation Supervision     $45.00 per month, per offender 
 
Intensive Supervision                $55.00 per month, per offender 
(Requires minimum of 1 weekly contact) 
 
Pre-Trial Supervision                $45.00 per month, per offender 
 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES   COST OF SERVICE 
 
Drug Screens      $20.00 per screen        
(Screens for 8 controlled substances)                             
 
Electronic Monitoring                $10.00 per day, per offender 
Electronic Monitoring w/Intox    $12.00 per day, per offender 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

620

Item XI. 15.



Staff Report 
Subject: Acceptance of Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and Superior Court 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Probation 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023  

Item Description: Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and Superior Court 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends acceptance of the termination of the 

Probation Services Agreement between Effingham County and Superior Court 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Superior Court has submitted a letter terminating the Probation Agreement in 

place with Effingham County. This will move their probation cases to be 

supervised by Judicial Alternative of Georgia (JAG).  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Acceptance of Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and Superior Court 

2. Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager 

Funding Source: 

Attachments: Termination Letter 

 

 

 

 

621

Item XI. 16.



622

Item XI. 16.



623

Item XI. 16.



624

Item XI. 16.



625

Item XI. 16.



626

Item XI. 16.



627

Item XI. 16.



628

Item XI. 16.



629

Item XI. 16.



Staff Report 
Subject: Acceptance of Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and State Court 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Probation 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023  

Item Description: Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and State Court 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends acceptance of the termination of the 

Probation Services Agreement between Effingham County and State Court 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 State Court has submitted a letter terminating the Probation Agreement in place 

with Effingham County. This will move their probation cases to be supervised by 

Judicial Alternative of Georgia (JAG).  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Acceptance of Termination of the Probation Services Agreement between 

Effingham County and State Court 

2. Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager 

Funding Source: 

Attachments: Termination Letter 

 

 

 

 

630

Item XI. 17.



631

Item XI. 17.



632

Item XI. 17.



633

Item XI. 17.



634

Item XI. 17.



635

Item XI. 17.



636

Item XI. 17.



637

Item XI. 17.



638

Item XI. 17.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of 2024 LMIG Project List and Submittal of Application to GDOT 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2024 

Item Description: 2024 LMIG project list 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the 2024 LMIG Project 

List and approval to submit application to GDOT 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff has been working with Roberts Civil Engineering to compile a project list for 

the 2024 LMIG program through GDOT. This project lists includes roughly 7.8 

miles of patching, milling, leveling, and resurfacing of roads throughout the 

County.  

 Staff has reviewed the list and is requesting approval of the project list and 

approval to submit the LMIG application to GDOT.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of 2024 LMIG Project List and Submittal of Application to GDOT 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Public Works (EOM), Purchasing 

Funding Source: LMIG/TSPLOST 

Attachments: Application for GDOT 

 

 

 

 

639

Item XI. 18.



 

 

 

 

 

 

July 03, 2023 

 

Mr. Troy Pittman, P.E., District Engineer 

Georgia Department of Transportation 

Post Office Box 610 

Jesup, Georgia 31598 

 

Attention: Jeremy Barwick, LMIG Coordinator 

 

Re:  2024 LMIG Application Request   

 

Dear Mr. Pittman: 

 

Attached for your review and approval is the 2024 LMIG application and project report from the 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners for 07.883 +/- miles of patching, milling, leveling 

resurfacing on Antiqua Drive and others. 

 

Effingham County received funding from the LMIG Program in 2023 and has elected to combine 

their previously approved projects with the current 2024 LMIG project list request for bidding 

purposes.  The Effingham Board of Commissioners are scheduled to advertise both the 2023 and 

2024 LMIG projects in July of 2023. 

 

If any additional information is needed, please contact Mr. Timothy Callanan, County Manager, 

at 912-754-2111. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

Copy: 

File 

 

Attachments: 

LMIG Application 

Project Report 

 

640

Item XI. 18.



FY _________ LMIG PROJECT LIST           COUNTY / CITY ___________________________

Road Name Beginning Ending Length 
(Miles)

Description of Work Project Cost Project Let 
Date

2024 Effingham

Antiqua Place Caribean Village Caribean Village 0.463 Patching, Milling and
Resurfacing

$98,000.00 Summer
2023

Archer SR 119 Brittingham
Road

1.03 Leveling and Resurfacing $178,000.00 Summer
2023

Brittany Lane Hester Road Cul-De-Sac 0.53 Patching, Leveling and
Resurfacing

$149,000.00 Summer
2023

Cambridge Road Cul-De-Sac Cul-De Sac 0.689 Patching, Milling and
Resurfacing

$124,000.00 Summer
2023

Fairmont Road Bridge End Cambridge 0.150 Patching and Resurfacing $48,000.00 Summer
2023

Kates Cove Road Lexington Ave.
Ext

Cambridge 0.121 Milling and Resurfacing $32,000.00 Summer
2023

Little McCall Road Abby Lane Courthouse
Road

2.00 Patching, Leveling and
Resurfacing

$488,000.00 Summer
2023

Old Augusta Road EOP Taylor Chapel
Road

0.50 Leveling and Resurfacing $101,000.00 Summer
2023

Antiqua Drive Antiqua Place Antiqua Place 0.08 Patching Milling and
Resurfacing

$27,000.00 Summer
2023

Old Augusta /Mt.
Pleasant Rd

Clyo Kildare Rd Old Augusta
Road

2.40 Leveling and Resurfacing $460,000.00 Summer
2023

641

Item XI. 18.



Revised 6/1/2020 
10/18/2013 

Page 1 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION LOCAL 

MAINTENANCE & IMPROVEMENT GRANT (LMIG) 

APPLICATION FOR FISCAL YEAR 20___ 
TYPE OR PRINT LEGIBLY. ALL SECTIONS MUST BE COMPLETED. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFORMATION 

Date of Application: 

Name of local government:   

Address:   

Contact Person and Title:   

Contact Person’s Phone Number: 

Contact Person’s Fax Number:   

Contact Person’s Email:   

Is the Priority List attached? 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AFFIDAVIT AND CERTIFICATION 

I,                                                                             (Name), the                                                               (Title), on behalf of 

     (Local Government), who being duly sworn do swear that the information given 

herein is true to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.  Local Government swears and certifies that it has read and 

understands the LMIG General Guidelines and Rules and that it has complied with and will comply with the same. 

Local government further swears and certifies that it has read and understands the regulations for the Georgia Planning 

Act of 1989 (O.C.G.A. § 45-12-200, et seq.), Service Delivery Strategy Act (O.C.G.A. § 36-70-20, et seq.), and the Local 

Government Budgets and Audits Act (O.C.G.A. 36-81-7 et seq.) and will comply in full with said provisions. Local 

government further swears and certifies that the roads or sections of roads described and shown on the local government’s 

Project List are dedicated public roads and are part of the Public Road System in said county/city. Local government 

further swears and certifies that it complied with federal and/or state environmental protection laws and at the completion of 

the project(s), it met the match requirements as stated in the Transportation Investment ACT (TIA). 

Further, the local government shall be responsible for any claim, damage, loss or expense that is attributable to negligent acts, 

errors, or omissions related to the designs, drawings, specifications, work and other services furnished by or on behalf 

of the local government pursuant to this Application (“Loss”). To the extent provided by law, the local government further 

agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the DEPARTMENT and the State of Georgia from all suits or claims that may arise 

from said Loss. 

July 03,2023

Effingham Board of Commissioners
804 S. Laurel Street

Timothy Callanan, County Manager
912-754-2111

N/A
tcallanan@effinghamcounty.org

Wesley Corbitt Chairman
Effingham Board of Commssioners

24

642

Item XI. 18.



Revised 6/1/2020 
10/18/2013 

Page 2 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION LOCAL 

MAINTENANCE & IMPROVEMENT GRANT (LMIG) 

APPLICATION FOR FISCAL YEAR 20___ 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AFFIDAVIT AND CERTIFICATION 

If the local government fails to comply with these General Guidelines and Rules, or fails to comply with its Application and 

Certification, or fails to cooperate with the auditor(s) or fails to maintain and retain sufficient records, the DEPARTMENT 

may, at its discretion, prohibit the local government from participating in the LMIG program in the future and may pursue any 

available legal remedy to obtain reimbursement of the LMIG funds. Furthermore, if in the estimation of the DEPARTMENT, 

a roadway or bridge shows evidence of failure(s) due to poor workmanship, the use of substandard materials, or the 

failure to follow the required design and construction guidelines as set forth herein, the Department may pursue any available 

legal remedy to obtain reimbursement of the allocated LMIG funds or prohibit local government from participating in the 

LMIG program until such time as corrections are made to address the deficiencies or reimbursement is made.  All projects 

identified on the Project list shall be constructed in accordance with the Department’s Standard Specifications of 

Transportation Systems (Current Edition), Supplemental Specifications (Current Edition), and Special Provisions. 

Local Government: 

E-Verify Number 

(Signature) Sworn to and subscribed before me, 

(Print) This day of , 20 . 

Mayor / Commission Chairperson 

In the presence of: 

(Date) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT SEAL:

NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Expires:

NOTARY SEAL: 

24

643

Item XI. 18.



Revised 6/1/2020 
10/18/2013 

Page 3 

GDOT LMIG APPLICATION CHECKLIST 

1. Local Government must include a cover letter with their LMIG Application. The cover letter shall include the

following:

a. Overview of type of project(s) being requested

b. Status of previous LMIG funding

c. Signature of Mayor or County Commission Chairperson

2. The LMIG Application Form shall include the following:

a. Signature of Mayor or County Commission Chairperson

b. County/City Seal

c. Notary signature and seal

3. Project List including a brief description of work to be done at each location.

(Required)

644

Item XI. 18.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EEMA 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Pre-Event Contract 

for Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services with Thompson 

Consulting Services, LLC 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County has had a pre-event contract in place with Thompson 

Consulting Services, LLC with the most recent one being approved in 2018. Staff 

published an RFP requesting proposals for these services, and four (4) proposals 

were received. 

 These proposals were evaluated by Chief Hodges and EEMA staff and they 

recommend approval to Thompson Consulting Services, LLC again.  

 No compensation will result from the pre-event contract unless an activation 

change order is approved by the Board of Commissioners in the event of a 

declared emergency. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EEMA, Fire, Purchasing 

Funding Source: No compensation will result from the pre-event contract unless an 

activation change order is approved by the Board of Commissioners in the event of a 

declared emergency. 

Attachments: 

 Thompson Consulting Services, LLC Agreement 

 

 

 

645

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

This document is a pre-event contract.   

 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of 

Georgia (hereinafter called the “County”), and Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (hereinafter called 

the “Contractor”), a corporation maintaining an office located in 2601 Maitland Center Parkway, Maitland 

FL 32751, for the purposes of engaging in the business of providing disaster debris monitoring & financial 

recovery services. 

 

 WHEREAS, the County is empowered to provide for disaster debris monitoring & financial 

recovery services and is further allowed by law to enter contracts; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is willing to render the service of disaster debris monitoring & 

financial recovery services within the County upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is the expectation of each of the parties that by entering into this Agreement, and 

by the full and faithful observance and performance of its respective duties, obligations and responsibilities, 

a mutually-satisfactory relationship between them will be established and maintained;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, 

the County and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all the laws of the federal government and the State of Georgia and 

the rules and regulations of any and all other governmental agencies relative to natural disasters.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall comply with all present and future ordinances which have an effect on or 

regulate national disasters.  The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations of all governmental agencies in the performance of this contract. 

 

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants 

are employed, and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, color, 

religion, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, 

upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay 

or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor agrees 

to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided 

setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.  

646

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 (2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 

contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for employment without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a collective 

bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor 

union or workers' representatives of the contractor's commitments under this section, and shall post copies 

of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.  

 (4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and 

of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.  

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 

September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, 

and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary 

of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders.  

(6) In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 

with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or suspended 

in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 

federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions as may be imposed and remedies invoked as 

provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the 

Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law.  

(7) The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the 

provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, 

regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 

of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The 

contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering 

agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

Provided, however, That in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation 

with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency the contractor 

may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States.”  

 

CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, the contractor will compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis 

of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided 

that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all 

hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.  

 

The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or 

mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, 

hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or 

articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of 

intelligence.  

 

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act 

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work 

which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such 

647

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of 

forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than 

one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable 

for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 

the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such 

territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each 

individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was 

required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the 

overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section. 

 

3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS  (name of the Federal agency or the loan or grant recipient) shall upon its own action 

or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be 

withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under 

any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-

assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same 

prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in 
paragraph (2) of this section.  

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in 

paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these 

clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any 

subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this 

section.”  

 

DAVIS BACON ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows (if applicable):  

Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144 and 3146-3148) as supplemented by 

Department of Labor regulations at 29 C.F.R. Part 5 (Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction)). See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II, ¶ D. 

 

COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 
(1) Contractor: The contractor shall comply with 18 U.S.C. § 874, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, and the requirements 

of 29 C.F.R. pt. 3 as may be applicable, which are incorporated by reference into this contract.  

 

(2) Subcontracts: The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clause above and such 

other clauses as the FEMA may by appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the 

subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be 

responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all of these contract 

clauses. 

  

(3) Breach: A breach of the contract clauses above may be grounds for termination of the contract, and for 

debarment as a contractor and subcontractor as provided in 29 C.F.R. § 5.12.”  

648

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

CLEAN AIR ACT AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Clean Air Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

  

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) and understands and agrees that the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional 

Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.  
 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 

pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.  

 

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

and understands and agrees that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners will, in turn, report 

each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.”  

 

DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION 
(1) This contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180 and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000. As such 

the contractor is required to verify that none of the contractor, its principals (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.995), 

or its affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R.  § 180.940) or disqualified 

(defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.935).  

 

(2) The contractor must comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must 

include a requirement to comply with these regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it enters into.  

 

(3) This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD 

OF COMMISSIONERS (insert name of subrecipient). If it is later determined that the contractor did not 

comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C, in addition to remedies available 

to GEMA / EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (name of state agency serving as 

recipient and name of subrecipient), the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including but 

not limited to suspension and/or debarment.  

 

(4) The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 

C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C while this offer is valid and throughout the period of any contract that may arise 

from this offer. The bidder or proposer further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in 

its lower tier covered transactions.” 
 

649

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, 31 U.S.C. § 1352 (as amended) 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the required certification. Each 

tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person 

or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member 

of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 

obtaining any Federal contract, grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also 

disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal 

award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient.” 

 
PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS 
(1) In the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall make maximum use of products 

containing recovered materials that are EPA- designated items unless the product cannot be acquired 

—  

(i) Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract performance 

schedule;  

 

(ii) Meeting contract performance requirements; or  

 

(iii) At a reasonable price.  

 

(2) Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA-designate items, is available at 

EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-

procurement-guideline-cpg-program.” 

 

CHANGES 

The County reserves the right to make changes in the Services, including alterations, reductions or additions 

thereto. If the County elects to make the change, the County shall issue a contract amendment or change 

order and Contractor shall not commence work on any such change until such written amendment or change 

order has been issued and signed by both parties.  

 

If the contractor wishes to make changes, the contractor shall submit a written request – either a contract 

amendment or change order and shall not commence work on any such change until such written 

amendment or change order has been approved and signed by both parties. 
 

ACCESS TO RECORDS 

The following access to records requirements apply to this contract: 

 

(1) The contractor agrees to provide Effingham County Board of Commissioners, the FEMA 

Administrator, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized 

representatives access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are 

directly pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions.  

(2) The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.  

(3) The contractor agrees to provide the FEMA Administrator or his authorized representatives 

access to construction or other work sites pertaining to the work being completed under the 

contract. 

650

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

DHS SEAL, LOGO AND FLAGS 

The contractor shall not use the DHS seal(s), logos, crests, or reproductions of flags or likenesses of 

DHS agency officials without specific FEMA pre- approval. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL LAW, REGULATIONS AND EXECUTIVE ORDERS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that FEMA financial assistance will be used to 

fund the contract only. The contractor will comply will all applicable federal law, regulations, executive 

orders, FEMA policies, procedures, and directives. 

NO OBLIGATION BY FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 
The Federal Government is not a party to this contract and is not subject to any obligations or liabilities to 

the non-Federal entity, contractor, or any other party pertaining to any matter resulting from the contract. 

 

PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS OR RELATED ACTS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that 31 U.S.C. Chap. 38 (Administrative Remedies 

for False Claims and Statements) applies to the contractor’s actions pertaining to this contract. 
 

AGREEMENT NOT AN EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 

It is the understanding and intention of the parties hereto that the Agreement shall constitute a contract for 

disaster debris monitoring & financial recovery services; that said Agreement shall not constitute an 

exclusive franchise; nor shall same be deemed or construed as such. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  TERM OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed and 

performance of such Agreement shall begin upon issuance of a Task Order.  The initial agreement shall 

terminate on June 30, 2024.  There will be three (3) single-year renewals.  This Agreement shall terminate 

absolutely and without further obligation on the part of County at the close of the fiscal year in which it 

was executed and at the close of each succeeding fiscal year for which it may be renewed as provided for 

in O.C.G.A. §36-60-13, the provisions of which are incorporated herein.  This Agreement shall terminate 

immediately and absolutely at such time as appropriated and otherwise unobligated funds are no longer 

available to satisfy the obligations of the County under this Agreement.  

 

LICENSES AND TAXES 

The Contractor must obtain all licenses and permits required by the County, the Federal Government and 

the State Government.    
 

INDEMNITY  

The Contractor agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, its commissioners, 

officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, claims, suits, liens, and 

judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or indemnification, for injuries to or 

death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other rights of any person or persons caused 

by the Contractor or its subcontractors.  Contractor further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide 

defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, at its sole expense, and agrees 

to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or 

fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation 

Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee of the Contractor or its subcontractors or anyone 

directly or indirectly employed by any of them. The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the County under 

this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount 

of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the Contractor. 
 

 

651

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

IMMUNITY 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any immunity to which 

the County, its officials, or employees are legally entitled.  
 

INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect the company from claims under workmen’s 

compensation acts and from any other claims for damages to property, and for personal injury, including 

death, which may arise from operations under this contract, whether such operations are by the Contractor 

or by any sub-contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by Contractor.   

Certificates of such insurance shall be filed with the County.  The Contractor will provide the County ten 

(10) days’ notice in the event the Contractor’s insurance is cancelled or terminated for any reason 
 

 *The limits of insurance are as follows: 

A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury, including death 

and property damage claims arising from operations of a contractor or tenant. Minimum 

limits: $1,000,000 bodily injury and property damage each occurrence, and $2,000,000 

Property Damage, in the aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection 

against bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the contractor while 

performing within the scope of duties. Minimum limits: $500,000 for each accident, disease 

policy limit, and disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit. 

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of 

the contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit 

per accident for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” 

basis. 

D. Umbrella Policy: $10,000,000 

Failure to obtain or maintain the appropriate insurance coverages as stated herein (and in RFP 18-

001) shall be deemed a default on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately 

cure a default under this provision within twenty-four (24) hours thereof.  In the event Contractor 

does not timely cure a default under this provision, the County shall be entitled to immediately 

terminate this contract. 

 

*Liability Insurance shall be effective for the duration of the contract period as described in the 

contract documents, including RFP 18-001 and any authorized change orders/task orders. 

 

All insurance premiums shall be paid by the Contractor and shall be without cost to the County. 

 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

652

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

FEES:. SEE ATTACHMENT A 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
   

 

Debris Monitoring Positions 

Paper-Based Ticketing Automated Ticketing 

Hourly Hourly 

$ Rate $ Rate 

    

Project Manager  $   $  

Operation Managers  $   $  

Field Supervisors  $   $  

GIS Analyst  $   $  

Environmental Specialists  $   $  

Billing/Invoicing/Data Managers  $   $  

Project Coordinators  $   $  

Load Ticket Data Entry Clerks  $   $  

Collection Crew Monitors  $   $  

Tower Monitors  $   $  

Residential Drop-off Monitors  $   $  

Automated Ticketing Specialists    $  

 

   

  

Grant Management Consulting Positions 

  

Hourly 

$ Rate 

  

 

 

 

Senior Grant Management Consultant $  

Grant Management Consultant $  

Administrative Assistant $  

Grand Total $  

 

 

  

 

Emergency Management Consulting 

Positions 

Hourly 

$ Rate 

  

 

 

  

Senior Planner $  

Planner $  

Grand Total $  

 

The hourly labor rates shall include all applicable overhead and profit.   

Lodging, meals and incidentals will be billed at the most current GSA per diem rate for the area.  

Mileage will be reimbursed at the most recent IRS published rate.   

All other direct project expenses will be reimbursed at cost without mark-up. 
 

653

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

These prices shall remain in effect for a period of 36 months, no exception. 

 

No work outside the scope of work contained in the RFP will be performed without the advanced written 

consent of the County Manager or Project Manager. 

 

TERMINATION  
The agreement between the County and Contractor can be terminated with 30 days written notice by the 

County based on: 

a. County electing, in writing, not to exercise any of its option periods. 

b. Failure of the Contractor to perform based on the Contractor’s bankruptcy, lack or loss of skilled 

personnel, or disregarding laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having 

jurisdiction.  Should any single, multiple or all of the above conditions occur, the County shall have 

the authority to terminate the contract with written notice to Contractor.  The Contractor shall be 

liable for any losses occurring as a result of not abiding by the terms of the agreement. 

c. Failure of the Contractor to abide by any of the conditions of this Agreement. 

d. Any termination of the Contractor’s services shall not affect any right of the County against the 

Contractor then-existing or which may thereafter occur.  Any retention of payment monies by the 

County due the Contractor will not release Contractor from compliance with the Contract 

documents. 

 

Should the contract, upon expiration, be awarded to another service provider, Contractor shall cooperate 

with the County to assist with the orderly transfer of the functions and operations provided by the Contractor 

hereunder to another service provider or to the County as determined by the County in its sole discretion.  

Prior to termination or expiration of this Agreement, the County may require the Contractor to perform and, 

if so required, the Contractor shall perform certain transition services necessary to shift the support work 

of the Contractor to another provider or to the County itself and the County shall pay for such service at the 

rates set forth in this Agreement.  Transition services may include but shall not be limited to the following: 

1.  Working with the County to jointly develop a mutually agreed upon Transition Services Plan to 

facilitate the termination of the Services; and  

2.  Notifying all affected service providers and subcontractors of the Service provider 

Effingham County shall have the right to terminate any contract to be made hereunder for its convenience 

by giving written notice 30 days in advance of its election to do so and by specifying the effective date of 

such termination. The Vendor shall be paid for services rendered through the effective date of such 

termination. Further, provided a contract is awarded, if a Vendor shall fail to fulfill any of its obligations 

hereunder, the County may, by giving written notice to the Vendor, terminate the agreement with said 

Vendor for such default. If this agreement is so terminated, the Vendor shall be paid only for work 

satisfactorily completed.  

 

TRANSFERABILITY OF CONTRACT   
No assignment of the Contract or any right accruing under this Contract shall be made in whole or in part 

to third persons by the Contractor without the express written consent of the County, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld; in the event of any assignment, the assignee shall assume the liability of the 

Contractor. 

 

ADMINISTRATION   
The administration and enforcement of this Agreement shall be the responsibility of the County Manager 

or his designated representative(s). 

 

The County Manager shall recommend that the Board of Commissioners adopt any rules and regulations 

required to implement or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall 

654

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

cooperate with the County Manager or his representative(s) in any inspections and render whatever 

assistance they reasonably request.  The Contractor agrees to follow the reasonable recommendations of 

the County Manager so that the County’s reputation is in no way damaged by the Contractor’s performance.   

 

NO AGENCY CREATED 

Nothing in the Contract is intended to grant authority to the Contractor, as agent or otherwise, to bind the 

County to any contract, warranty, or agreement, or to subject the County to any costs, liabilities or expenses.  

It is expressly understood that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor with absolutely no authority 

to bind or obligate the County and for whom the County shall have no liability or responsibility. 

 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

This agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, 

and no representations, inducements, or agreements, oral or otherwise, not embodied herein, shall be of any 

force and effect.  Should, through administrative oversight, a particular requirement of RFP No. 18-001 not 

be expressly addressed within the body of this Agreement, the RFP language shall be referred to for 

guidance. 

 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

It is the intention and agreement of the parties of this Contract that all legal provisions of law which are 

required to be inserted herein, shall be and are inserted herein.  However, if by mistake or otherwise, some 

such provision is not herein inserted, or is not inserted in proper form, the contract may be amended 

provided that such amendment is in writing and signed by the parties hereto stating that said writing is an 

amendment or modification hereto.  Any other attempts at modification, whether by course of conduct, oral 

or informally written agreement or whatever, shall not prevail. 

 

SEPERABILITY OR PROVISION 

If any provision of this Agreement, or its application to any person or circumstances, is invalid or 

unenforceable, a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefore in order to carry out, so far 

as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of this invalid and unenforceable provision herein 

and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been approved and accepted at Springfield, Effingham County, 

Georgia, and shall be construed under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

HEADINGS 

The use of headings, captions, and numbers herein is solely for the convenience of identifying and indexing 

the various paragraphs and shall in no event be considered otherwise in construing or interpreting any 

provision of the Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

655

Item XI. 19.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed by their duly 

authorized officers and their corporate seals affixed hereto on the day and year below their respective 

signatures. 

 

 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

     EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  

      

 

    BY:        

                                                             Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

                                            

  

     

    ATTEST:         

     Stephanie Johnson, Effingham County Clerk 

              

 

 

          Date:           

 

 

     FOR THE CONTRACTOR 

 

     BY:        

      

     Title:        

 

     Attest:        

 

Date:        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

656

Item XI. 19.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia 

Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services 

Due Date / Time: June 1, 2023 | 11:00 am 

 

ELECTRONIC SUBMITTAL 
Proposal Cost 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

657

Item XI. 19.



 
 

2601 Maitland Center Parkway 
Maitland, Florida 32751 

O: (407) 792-0018 | F: (407) 878-7858  

www.thompsoncs.net 

A THOMPSON HOLDINGS, INC. COMPANY 

 

June 1, 2023 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel St. 

Springfield, GA 31329 

Submitted electronically to: https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/effinghamcounty 

RE: Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery 

Services | Proposal Cost 

Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (Thompson) is pleased to provide Effingham County with the 

enclosed Proposal Cost for Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & 

Financial Recovery Services. 

Thompson has invested considerable resources in order to improve the efficiencies of our administrative 

and accounting services, as well as our training and logistics operations. In turn, we pass on these 

efficiencies to our clients in the form of cost savings and no-cost services. We understand the 

importance of minimizing costs and as such will not charge the County for positions that are duplicative 

in nature or unnecessary to perform the scope of services requested. Project costs will vary depending 

on the severity and duration of a disaster event, and all positions may not be necessary to complete the 

scope of services requested.  

The pricing proposal form has been provided on the following page. Please feel free to contact 

Thompson President, Jon Hoyle, with any questions pertaining to the proposal cost.  

Best regards, 
THOMPSON CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC 

 

 

Jon Hoyle, President 
2601 Maitland Center Parkway, Maitland, FL 32751 
O: 407.792.0018 |C: 321.303.2543 |F:  407.878.7858 
E-mail: jhoyle@thompsoncs.net 
  

EN: RFP No. 23-RFP-025 - Proposal Cost Form     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

658

Item XI. 19.



 
Selection Committee, Effingham, Georgia June 1, 2023 
RFP 23-RFP-025 Proposal Cost 
 
  

PRICING PROPOSAL FORM 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task 

order is approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

The hourly labor rates shall include all applicable overhead and profit. Lodging, meals and 

incidentals will be billed at the most current GSA per diem rate for the area. Mileage will be 

reimbursed at the most recent IRS published rate. All other direct project expenses will be 

reimbursed at cost without mark-up 
 

1Duplicative management position not necessary to complete the scope of work requested by the County, 

therefore will not be charged to the County. Tasks associated with this position will be performed by the Project 

Manager. 

2Position not necessary due to efficiencies of our Automated Debris Management System (ADMS), therefore 

position will not be charged to the County. 

 

 
 

Debris Monitoring Positions 

Paper-Based Ticketing Automated Ticketing 

Hourly Hourly 

$ Rate $ Rate 

Project Manager $ 65.12 $ 65.12 

Operation Managers 1 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Field Supervisors $ 43.42 $ 43.42 

GIS Analyst $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Environmental Specialists $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Billing/Invoicing/Data Managers $ 55.00 $ 55.00 

Project Coordinators 2 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Load Ticket Data Entry Clerks 
2
 $ 18.00 $ 0.00 

Collection Crew Monitors $ 35.28 $ 37.99 

Tower Monitors $ 34.19 $ 35.82 

Residential Drop-off Monitors $ 29.85 $ 29.85 

Automated Ticketing Specialists 2  $ 0.00 

 

 
Grant Management Consulting Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Grant Management Consultant $ 135.68 

Grant Management Consultant $ 103.11 

Administrative Assistant $ 24.42 

Grand Total $ 263.21 
 

 
Emergency Management Consulting 

Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Planner $ 135.68 

Planner $ 103.11 

Grand Total $ 238.79 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

659

Item XI. 19.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

660

Item XI. 19.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Ordinance Revision 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration of an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code: 
Appendix C – Articles II-III – General Provisions of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, responding 
to the changes of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law. 
 
Summary Recommendation 
In order to conform with Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law, Staff recommends 
approval of an ordinance revision which includes the definition and statute to appoint a County Surveyor.    
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The Official Code of Georgia, Title 36 – Chapter 7 – County Surveyor, requires that each county within 

the state must have at least one surveyor. 
• This ordinance revision adds the definition for the County Surveyor and the appointment of the County 

Surveyor by the County Manager or designee. 
• This revision will conform to the 2022 update of the Official Code of Georgia, Zoning Procedures Law.    

Alternatives  
1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article II & 

III General Provisions 
2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article II & III 

General Provisions. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Draft of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article II & III General Provisions  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

661

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 10 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of the administration and enforcement of this ordinance, and unless otherwise stated in this 
ordinance, the following words shall have a meaning as indicated herein.  

Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense; words used in the singular number shall 
include the plural number; words used in the plural number shall include the singular number; the word "shall" is 
mandatory, not directory.  

2.1 Accessory buildings. A secondary residence, garage, or other building or structure subordinated to and not 
forming an integral part of the main or principal building on a lot or parcel but pertaining to the use of the 
main building.  

2.2 Advertising signs. A surface whereon advertising material is set in public view, including reference to any use of 
premises whereon it is displayed or posted.  

2.3 Alley. A narrow thoroughfare dedicated or used for public passageway up to 20 feet in width, which usually 
abuts the rear of the premises, or upon which service entrances or buildings abut, and which is not generally 
used as a thoroughfare by both pedestrians and vehicles, is not used for general traffic, and is not otherwise 
officially designated as a street. A way which affords only a secondary means of access to abutting property.  

2.4 Alteration. Any change in the arrangement of a building, including any work affecting the structural parts of a 
building; or an enlargement; or any change in wiring, plumbing, heating, or cooling system; and includes the 
words "to alter" and "alter."  

2.5 Apartment building. A building which is used or intended to be used as a home or residence for more than two 
families living in separate quarters.  

2.6 Automotive sales, services, and storage. The sale, service, or storage of new or used automobiles, including 
paint and body repair shops. Any business that stores automobiles shall only store automobiles that will be 
put back in use on the roadways of the United States.  

2.6.5 Bed and breakfast lodging facility. A transient accommodation with on-site staff that provides no more than 
nine guestrooms. At least one meal shall be offered and served on the premises to registered evening guests. 
The facility must meet all requirements of the county health department parking requirements shall be the 
same as for hotels and motels.  

2.7 Boat house. A house or shed for sheltering one or more boats.  

2.8 Boundary of district. The centerline of a street or right-of-way or the centerline of an alleyway between the 
rear or side property lines, or, where no alley or passageway exists, the rear or side property lines or all lots 
bordering on any zoning district limits or any zoning district boundary shown on the maps adopted by section 
4.2.  

2.9 Buildable area. That portion of any lot which may be used or built upon in accordance with the regulations 
governing the given zoning district within which the particular lot is located, once the various front, side, and 
rear yard requirements required for the district have been subtracted from the total lot area.  

2.10 Building. Any structure having a roof entirely separated from any other structure by space or by walls, having 
no communicating doors or windows or similar opening, and being erected for the purpose of providing 
support of shelter for persons, animals, things, or property of any kind, and having a foundation to which it is 
anchored.  

662

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 2 of 10 

2.11 Building height. The height of a building with a gabled or hip roof shall be the vertical distance measured from 
the average elevation of the finished building site to the top of the roof of the uppermost story or to the 
deck line of a mansard roof. The height of a building with a flat or nearly flat roof, less than seven degrees 
from the horizontal, shall be measured from the footing as stated above to the highest point of the roof.  

2.12 Building line. A line delineating the minimum allowable distance between the street right-of-way and nearest 
extreme projection of a building (including all areas covered by any vertical projections to the ground or 
overhang, walls, roof, or any other part of the structure).  

2.13 Building site. The ground area of a building or buildings together with all open spaces surrounded by said 
building or buildings.  

2.14 Building inspector. Any person hired by the county commissioners to inspect, determine compliance with, and 
render minor decisions concerning the compliance of structures and lots within the county.  

2.15 Camper. A motor home, tent, trailer, or other self-contained vehicle designated for recreational purposes.  

2.16 Care homes. Includes rest and nursing homes, convalescent homes, and boarding homes for the aged 
established to render nursing care for chronic or convalescent patients, but excludes facilities for care of 
active or violent patients such as feebleminded or mental patients, epileptics, alcoholics, senile psychotics, or 
drug addicts.  

2.17 Centerline, highway. The line running parallel with the highway right-of-way which is halfway the distance 
between the extreme edges of the official right-of-way width as shown on maps approved by the county tax 
assessor.  

2.18 Certified survey. A survey, sketch, plat, map, or other exhibit is said to be certified when a written statement 
regarding its accuracy or conformity to specified standards is signed by the specified professional engineer, 
registered surveyor, architect, or other legally recognized person.  

2.19 Church. A legally approved structure and its accessory buildings used and approved on a permanent basis, 
primarily for the public worship of God.  

2.20 Club, private. An organization or association of persons for some common purpose, such as, but not 
necessarily limited to, a fraternal, social, educational, or recreational purpose, but not including clubs 
organized primarily for profit or to render a service, which is customarily carried on as a business. Such 
organizations and associations must be incorporated under the laws of Georgia as nonprofit corporations 
and such corporations' major purpose shall not be for the purpose of serving alcoholic beverages to its 
members or others. This may not be located on, or in connection with any commercial activity.  

2.21 Commissioners. The board of commissioners of the county, which is the local governing authority for the 
county.  

2.21.1 Common outdoor open space. areas accessible from all parts of the development. Common open space can 
include passive or active recreation area, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating. 
Ponds, lakes, buffers or other spaces that are not usable by the residents of a development for recreational 
purposes shall not be included in common outdoor open space.  

2.22 Conditional use. Those uses allowed within a district, only after specific requirements are met. The 
commissioners at their discretion may require additional restraints, restrictions, qualifications, or limiting 
factors upon a specific use so that it becomes acceptable. A public hearing shall be required with regard to all 
proposed conditional uses.  

 

663

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 3 of 10 

2.23 County Surveyor. The individual appointed by the County Manager or designee, who is responsible for 
performing land surveying and related services for the County.  

2.24 Culvert. A sewer or drain crossing under a road, driveway, or embankment.  

2.25 Density. The number of units or buildings per acre, or the number of people per unit, building, acre, or mile; 
the quantity of people, structures, or units within a specified area.  

2.26 Depth of lot. The depth of lot is the depth between its mean front street line and its mean rear line, measured 
along the median between the two side lot lines.  

2.27 Dwelling. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living quarters for one or more 
families on a permanent or long-term basis.  

2.27.1 Condominium. A building or series of buildings on the same lot or portions thereof containing more 
than one dwelling unit under separate ownership with joint ownership of common open spaces.  

2.27.2 Duplex. A residential building designed for, or used as, the separate homes or residences of two 
separate and distinct families, but having the appearance of a single-family dwelling unit. Each 
individual unit in the duplex shall comply with the definition of single-family detached dwelling.  

2.27.3 Single-family detached dwelling. A building or structure designed for and occupied as a residence 
exclusively by one family.  

2.27.4 Site-built single-family detached dwelling. A single-family detached dwelling constructed on the 
building site from basic materials delivered to the site and constructed in accordance with all 
requirements of the building codes as adopted by the county.  

2.27.5 Class A single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that meets or exceeds the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.27.6 Class B single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that does not meet the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.27.7 Garden apartment community. A low intensity, low-rise, apartment community comprised of two- or 
three-story buildings, each containing attached dwelling units typically characterized by a garden-like 
setting, surrounded by lawns, trees, shrubbery, and gardens and/or interior courtyards.  

2.27.8 Multifamily. A building or collection of buildings that are designed for and occupied by three or more 
families and located on a single parcel.  

2.27.9 Mixed-use residential. The mixing of principal residential uses with nonresidential uses. Mixed use 
residential may occur by the following:  

(a) Nonresidential and multifamily in the same building (e.g., retail on ground floor, multifamily 
above), or  

(b) Multifamily and another primary nonresidential use located in different buildings sited on the 
same lot or parcel (e.g., multifamily located on the same parcel as an office building).  

(c) Both options shall be designed, located, and oriented on the site so that nonresidential uses are 
directly accessible to residents of the development. For the purposes of this section, "directly 
accessible" shall mean pedestrian access by way of improved sidewalks or paths and streets that 
do not involve leaving the development or using a major thoroughfare. "Directly accessible" does 

664

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 4 of 10 

not necessarily mean that nonresidential uses need to be located in a particular location, but that 
the siting of such uses considers the accessibility of the residential component of the 
development to the nonresidential use. Parking areas shall be designed to minimize distances 
between uses.  

2.25.10 Townhouse. A unit in a building with multiple dwelling units, where each unit is on an individual lot, 
shares a common sidewall, and is one to three stories in height.  

2.26 Dwelling unit. A structure or a portion of any structure designed, arranged and used for living quarters for one 
or more persons living as a single housekeeping unit with cooking facilities, but not including units in hotels, 
motels, boarding houses, or like uses.  

2.27 Dwelling, group. A building or portion of a building occupied or intended for occupancy by several unrelated 
persons or families, but in which separate cooking facilities are not provided for such resident persons or 
families. The term "group dwelling" includes, but is not limited to, roominghouses, apartment hotels, 
fraternity houses or sorority houses, YMCA, or YWCA. A hotel, motel, or tourist home shall not be deemed to 
be a group dwelling as herein defined.  

2.28 Reserved. 

2.29 Engineer. Any person having an acceptable degree from a recognized institution of higher learning who is 
capable of determining the correct manner in which to construct roads, streets, highways, water and 
sewerage systems, drainage system, structures, or other technically related areas. The person to be county 
engineer must be recognized by the State of Georgia as one.  

2.30 Estate. Any residential site comprising five acres or more shall come within the meaning of the word "estate."  

2.31 Reserved. 

2.32 Family. One person, or a group of two or more persons, living together and interrelated by bond or 
consanguinity, marriage, or legal adoption, occupying a dwelling unit as a single-family unit, with a single set 
of kitchen facilities.  

2.33 Floodprone areas. That land adjacent to a creek, stream, river, channel, canal, or other body of water that is 
designated as a floodplain or flood prone area by a governmental agency.  

2.34 Floor area. The sum of the gross floor area for each of the several stories under roof, measured from the 
interior limits or faces of a building or structure.  

2.35 Floor area ratio. Floor area of building or buildings on any lot divided by the area of the lot.  

2.36 Frontage. The distance or width of a parcel of land abutting a public right-of-way and as measured upon such 
right-of-way.  

2.37 Garage, community. A structure or series of structures under one roof, and under one ownership, for the 
storage of vehicles by three or more owners or occupants of property in the vicinity, where said structure 
has no public shop nor mechanical services in connection therewith.  

2.38 Garage, private. A structure for the private use of the owner or occupant of a principal building, situated on 
the same lot as the principal building for the storage of motor vehicles, with no facilities for mechanical 
service or repair of a commercial or public nature for profit.  

2.39 Garage, public. A structure for the storage, care, repair, or refinishing of motor vehicles, or a structure 
containing a public shop, or where automotive mechanical service is provided.  

665

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 5 of 10 

2.40 Gas station. A structure designated or used for the retail sale or supply of fuel, lubricants, air, water, and 
other operating commodities for motor vehicles and including the customary spacing and facilities for the 
installation of such commodities on or in such vehicles, but not including space or facilities for the storage, 
painting, repair, refinishing, body work, or other servicing of motor vehicles.  

2.41 Highway. Any public thoroughfare of paving 22 feet or wider, including a street, which affords primary access 
to abutting property, and any thoroughfare of less width which is not classified as an alley (street).  

2.41A Historic structure. A structure that is at least 50 years old and meets one of the following requirements:  

2.41A.1 Listed on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places;  

2.41A.2 Eligible for listing on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places; or  

2.41A.3 Currently receiving or eligible to receive tax credits for rehabilitation of historic properties.  

2.42 Hospital. An institution providing health services, primarily for in-patients, and medical and surgical care of 
the sick or injured, including as an integral part of the institution such related facilities as laboratories, out-
patient departments, training facilities, central service facilities, and staff offices.  

2.43 Hotel. A building occupied as the more or less temporary residence of individuals who are lodged, with or 
without meals, and in which there are ten or more sleeping rooms with entrances through a common lobby 
or office.  

2.44 Junk. Old and dilapidated automobiles, trucks, tractors, and other such vehicles and parts thereof, wagons 
and other kinds of vehicles and parts thereof, scrap building material, scrap piping, bottles, glass, old iron, 
machinery, rags, paper, excelsior, hair, mattresses, beds or bedding, or any other kind of scrap or waste 
materials which is stored, kept, handled, or displayed within the county limits.  

2.44A Industrialized home. A dwelling manufactured in accordance with the Georgia Industrialized Building Act 
(O.C.G.A. title 8, chapter 2, article 2, part 1) and the rules of the commissioner of the state department of 
community affairs issued pursuant thereto, bearing an insignia of approval issued by the commissioner.  

2.45 Junkyard. Any land or building used for commercial storage and/or sale of paper, rags, scrap metals, other 
scrap, or discarded materials, or for the dismantling, storage, or salvaging of automobiles or other vehicles 
not in running condition, or of machinery or parts thereof, but not to be used as a dump. A "junk yard" also 
includes any outdoor area that is used exclusively for the temporary storage of wrecked automobiles, which 
are automobiles that do not get repaired and put back in use on the roadways of the United States, provided 
that no work shall be performed on any wrecked automobile while it is in storage.  

2.46 Lot. Parcel of land shown on a recorded plat or on the zoning map, or any piece of land described by a legally 
recorded deed.  

2.47 Lot, corner. Any lot situated at the junction of and abutting on two or more intersections or intercepting 
streets or public highways. If the angle or intersection of the direction lines of two highways is more than 135 
degrees, the lot fronting on said intersection is not a corner lot.  

2.48 Lot, interior. Any lot which is not a corner lot that has frontage only on one street other than an alley.  

2.49 Lot lines, front. In the case of a lot abutting upon only one street, the front lot line is the line separating such 
lot from such street. In the case of a corner lot, that part of the lot having the narrowest frontage on any 
street shall be considered the front lot line. In the case of any other lot, one such line shall be elected to be 
the front lot line for the purpose of this article, provided it is so designated by the building plans which meet 
the approval of the building and zoning inspector.  

666

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 6 of 10 

2.50 Lot lines, rear. The rear lot line is that boundary which is opposite and most distant from the front lot line. In 
the case of a lot pointed at the rear, or any odd-shaped lot, the rear lot line shall be determined by the 
building and zoning inspector.  

2.51 Lot lines, side. A side lot line is any lot boundary line not a front lot line or a rear lot line. A side lot line 
separating a lot from a street is an exterior side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot or 
lots is an interior side lot line.  

2.52 Lot, through. Any lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets or other thoroughfares.  

2.52A Manufactured home. A dwelling fabricated in an off-site facility for installation or assembly at the building 
site, bearing a label certifying that it is constructed in compliance with the National Manufactured Housing 
Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. § 5401 et seq.).  

2.52A.1 Manufactured home site. A parcel of land designed and designated for the location of one 
manufactured home, its accessory buildings or structures, and accessory equipment for exclusive use 
of the home.  

2.52A.2 Manufactured home stand. That area of a manufactured home site which has been reserved for 
placement of a manufactured home.  

2.53 Mapped streets. A mapped street is any approved street shown on an official map or the projection of any 
existing street through an unsubdivided parcel of land, whether the street is dedicated or in existence or not.  

2.54 Marshland. All land subject to tidal action which is comprised of generally unstable soil materials commonly 
known as "hard or soft" marsh, which in its natural state is vegetated with marsh grass, reeds, and similar 
growth and is usually characterized by poor load-bearing capacity. Marshland lies below an elevation of six 
feet above mean sea level.  

2.55 Mobile home. A dwelling manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which is transportable in one or more sections; 
in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or 40 body feet or more in length, or when erected on 
site, is 320 or more square feet in floor area; is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling 
with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities; and includes the plumbing, 
heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein. All mobile homes must be installed in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160, et. seq. Mobile homes must meet the construction standards specified in ANSI 
A119.1. Compliance with ANSI A119.1 shall be determined by the following procedures:  

2.55.1 For mobile homes that are proposed to be relocated within the county, the county building inspector 
or designee must inspect the unit to determine if the unit meets the standards of ANSI A119.1 
standards and all other applicable county ordinances are met, after which the county administrator or 
designee may issue the building permit for placement of the mobile home on site. An inspection fee 
determined from time to time by the board of commissioners shall be charged for each individual 
inspection of a mobile home.  

2.56 Reserved. 

2.57 Motel or motor hotel. A building or group of two or more buildings designed to provide sleeping 
accommodations for transient or overnight guests with no common entrance or lobby. Each building shall 
contain a minimum of ten residential units or rooms which generally have direct, private openings to a 
street, drive, or patio, etc.  

2.58 Nonconforming lot. Any lot that is smaller than the minimum dimensions, area, or other regulations of the 
district in which the lot is located.  

667

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 7 of 10 

2.59 Nonconforming use. Use of any property or premises in any manner that does not comply with the 
regulations provided for the district in which the property or premises is situated, if such use was originally 
legally established at the effective date of this ordinance or any amendment thereof.  

2.60 Parking space. That area required for the parking or storage of one automobile, including necessary aisle or 
driveway space providing access thereto.  

2.60A Planned manufactured home community. A tract used or intended for use as a residential area occupied by 
manufactured homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and adequate 
community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the developer; and in 
which the resident owns or rents the manufactured home and rents the manufactured home space. All 
manufactured homes located within a manufactured home community must be installed in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160 et seq.  

2.60B Planned single-family home community. A subdivision used or intended for use as a residential area 
occupied by single-family homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and 
adequate community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the 
developer; and in which the subdivision is under single ownership or control.  

2.61 Planning board. The county planning board, which is a body of people appointed by the commissioners whose 
responsibilities include the guidance of growth and development within the county.  

2.61A Pond. A manmade depression designed to hold water that is less than one acre in size. These include 
retention, detention, and borrow pits less than one acre.  

2.62 Principal building. The building situated or to be placed nearest the front property line and the use of which 
conforms to the primary use permitted by the zoning classification in which it is located.  

2.63 Professional buildings. Structures used for the conduct of business in any of the following or related 
categories: law; architecture; accounting; engineering; medicine; dentistry; optometry; osteopathy; 
chiropractors; optician; planning, or consulting of the nature of the aforestated categories, not including 
outside storage space for business vehicles or equipment.  

2.64 Public body. Any government or governmental agency in Effingham County, the State of Georgia, or the 
United States Government.  

2.65 Public use. Use of any land, water, or buildings by municipality, public body, or board, commission, or any 
county, state, or the federal government, or any agency thereof for a public service or purpose.  

2.66 Repairs. Restoration of portions of a building to its condition as before decay, wear, or damage, but not the 
alteration of the shape or size of any portion.  

2.67 Residential. The term "residential" or "residence" applies herein to any lot, plot, parcel, tract, area, piece of 
land, and/or any building used or intended to be used exclusively for family dwelling purposes, including 
concomitant uses specified herein.  

2.68 Restaurant. A building, room, or rooms where food is prepared and served to a group of families, a club, or to 
the public for consumption within the enclosed structure.  

2.69 Right-of-way line. The outside boundaries of a highway right-of-way, whether such right-of-way be 
established by usage, dedication, or by the official right-of-way.  

2.70 Roominghouse. (The terms roominghouse, boardinghouse, tourist home, cooperative house, and 
lodginghouse are used synonymously in this ordinance.) A building, other than a hotel or dormitory, where, 

668

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 8 of 10 

for compensation and by arrangement for definite periods, lodging or lodging meals are provided for more 
than three persons unrelated to the owners of the structure.  

2.71 Rooming unit. Any room or group of rooms, forming a habitable unit used for living and sleeping, but which 
does not contain cooking or eating facilities.  

2.72 Setback. The minimum horizontal distance between the right-of-way line, rear, or side lines of the lot, and the 
front, rear, or side lines of the building. When two or more lots under one ownership are used, the exterior 
property line so grouped shall be used in determining offsets.  

2.72A Shipping container. A receptacle designed for intermodal transport of cargo aboard ship, truck trailer, or rail 
car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of containerized cargo, including but 
not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, size dimensions of eight feet wide by eight or ten 
feet high by 20, 35, or 40 feet in length, and which is otherwise designed and constructed in conformance 
with standards for shipping containers as set forth by the international standards organization.  

2.72B Shipping container facility. A facility that provides storage for shipping containers awaiting transport or next 
use.  

2.73 Site. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel of land on a legally recorded subdivision plat or in a 
legally recorded subdivision plat or in a legally recorded deed.  

2.74 Special exception. A use, specifically designated in this ordinance, that would not be appropriate for location 
generally or without restriction throughout a given zoning district but which, if controlled as to number, area, 
location, or relation to the neighborhood, would, in the opinion of the county commissioners, promote the 
public health, safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general 
welfare.  

2.75 Story. That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next 
above it; or if there be no floor above it, then the space between the floor and ceiling next above it.  

2.76 Street. A dedicated and accepted public right-of-way for vehicular traffic which affords the principal means of 
access to abutting properties.  

2.77 Structural alteration. Any change in the shape or size of any portion of a building or structure such as walls, 
columns, beams, arches, girders, floor joists, or roof joists.  

2.78 Surveyor. A person who determines or delineates the form, extent, position, distance, or shape of a tract of 
land by taking linear and angular measurements, and by applying the principles of geometry and 
trigonometry.  

2.79 Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires rigid location on the ground or 
attachment to something having a permanent location on the ground; provided, however, that utility poles, 
fences, and walls (other than building walls) shall not be considered to be structures.  

2.80 Subdivision. "Subdivision" means all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites, 
or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building development, and 
includes all division of land involving a new street or change in existing streets, and includes resubdivision and, 
where appropriate, the process of subdividing or the land or area subdivided; provided, however, that the 
following exceptions are included within this definition only for the purpose of requiring that the planning board 
be informed and have record of such subdivisions:  

Exceptions:  

669

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 9 of 10 

(a) The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total number of lots 
is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standard of the governing authority;  

(b) The immediate transfer of property necessitated by death of the property owner to the said property 
owner's legal heirs, provided that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning 
district where that property is located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a 
cumulative total of not more than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(c) The transfer of property between family members within the third degree of consanguinity, provided 
that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning district where that property is 
located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a cumulative total of not more 
than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(d) The division of land into parcels of ten acres or more where no new street is involved.  

Plats of such exceptions shall be received as information by the zoning administrator who shall indicate such 
fact on the plats.  

Conditional exemptions: In order to provide property owners with an expeditious method for subdividing a 
portion of a tract of land, conditional exemptions from the provisions of this ordinance are authorized and 
may be granted by the county zoning administrator provided such requests for conditional exemptions 
comply with the following:  

(a) The division of land into two parcels when the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the 
zoning district where that property is located and when divided for residential purposes meets health 
department requirements and where no new street is involved; provided that the same tract cannot be 
divided using this conditional exemption more than one time in any 12-month period beginning on the 
date of recording.  

Plats requesting conditional exemption will be received by the county zoning administrator's office for 
review. Plats meeting the requirements stated above can be approved by the zoning administrator who shall 
indicate such fact on the plats. If, in the determination of the zoning administrator, a plat requesting 
conditional exemption does not comply with the above requirements, or other factors peculiar to the 
individual circumstance of the property in question, the zoning administrator is required to deny the 
conditional exemption and forward the plat to the planning board for processing as a subdivision.  

2.81 Trailer. A non-self-propelled vehicle or conveyance permanently equipped to travel upon the public highways 
that provides temporary use as a residence or living quarters or office; serves as a carrier of people, new or 
used goods, products, or equipment; or is used as a selling, advertising, or display device whether or not the 
wheels have been removed and whether or not set on jacks, skirts, masonry blocks, or other foundation.  

2.82 Trash. Cuttings from vegetation, refuse, paper, bottles, and rags.  

2.83 Use. The purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed, or intended, or for which either land or a 
building is or may be occupied or maintained.  

2.83A Utilities, government-owned. Any government-owned water and sewer utilities and appurtenances, 
including publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the state, wells, water distribution lines, sewage 
collection lines, re-use water distribution lines, pump stations, water storage facilities, meter stations, and 
fire hydrant.  

2.83B Vacant. A structure in which the principle use has been abandoned. This shall not include structures for sale 
or rent or temporarily unoccupied.  

670

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 10 of 10 

2.84 Variance. A modification of the strict terms of this ordinance granted by the county commission where such 
modification will not be contrary to the public interest; and where, owing to conditions peculiar to the 
property and not as a result of any action on the part of the property owner, a literal enforcement of the 
ordinance would result in unnecessary and undue hardship; and where such modification will not authorize a 
principal or accessory use of the property which is not permitted within the zoning district in which the 
property is located.  

2.85 Vehicle. A conveyance for persons or materials.  

2.86 Waterfront. Any site shall be considered as waterfront property provided any or all of its lot lines abut on or 
are contiguous to any body of water including creek, canal, river, or any other body of water natural or 
artificial, including marshland, not including a swimming pool, whether said lot line is front, rear, or side.  

2.87 Yard. An open space on the same lot with a building; said space lies between the building and nearest lot or 
street line.  

2.88 Yard, front. That area of open space to the front of the platted lot, the area immediately adjacent to the 
street side of the lot. If streets are bound on two sides of the lot, the narrower portion fronting on a street 
shall be declared the front. See "Lot lines, front."  

2.89 Yard, rear. That area of open space that is opposite the area delineated as the front. That area of greatest 
distance from the street. See "Lot lines, rear."  

2.90 Yard, side. That area of open space that is immediately adjacent to the side lot lines. See "Lot lines, side."  

2.91 Zoning administrator. That person hired by the county commissioners to enforce the zoning ordinance, 
subdivision regulations, and any other land use ordinances adopted by the county commissioners.  

2.92 Zoning ordinance or ordinance. The zoning ordinance of the county.  

2.93 Zoning map. The official map of the County.  

(Amend. of 4-4-00(20); Amend. of 4-4-00(21); Amend. of 4-4-00(22); Ord. of 10-21-04, § 1; Ord. of 9-54-07, § 1(a); 
Ord. of 8-5-08; Ord. of 1-3-11, § 1; Ord. of 7-17-12, § 1; Ord. of 11-5-19 ; Ord. of 3-1-22(1) ; Ord. of 11-15-22(1) ; 
Ord. of 1-3-23(2) ) 

 

671

Item XI. 20.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 
ARTICLE III. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 43 

ARTICLE III. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

3.1 County Surveyor 

 The County Manager or designee shall appoint a professionally licensed land surveyor. The County 
Surveyor will be responsible for preforming land surveying and related services for the county. The County 
Surveyor is empowered to appoint one or more assistants or deputies, for whose conduct he/she is responsible.    

3.2 Abandoned real property. 

3.2.1 For any public street or alley which is hereafter officially vacated or abandoned, the regulations applicable to 
each parcel of abutting property shall apply to the centerline of the property which is abandoned. In the 
event abandoned property is not divided at the centerline for abutting properties, the zoning districts 
applicable shall apply to such ownership line as determined by virtue of such abandonment.  

3.2.2 For any public property other than streets or alleys, the regulations applicable to the zoning classification 
which abuts the abandoned property for the greatest number of linear feet shall apply to the entire 
property.  

3.3 Abandoned vehicles. 

Within all zoning districts, except where specifically authorized, all vehicles which are inoperative and/or 
unlicensed shall not be abandoned in the public right-of-way or on private property in excess of 30 days during any 
consecutive 120-day period, except within a completely enclosed garage or other structure. For purposes of this 
section, the term "vehicle" includes farm and commercial vehicles, machinery, and equipment.  

(Ord. of 12-15-92) 

3.4 Accessory structures in residential districts. 

3.4.1 Accessory structures in the AR-1, AR-2, R and PD-R residential districts may be erected within a side or rear 
yard, provided they conform to the following:  

(a) Maximum height: One and one-half story or 15 feet above finished grade in the R and PD-R districts; 35 
feet in AR-1 and AR-2 districts.  

(b) An accessory structure shall not be less than five feet from the rear property line and not less than five 
feet from interior side setback lines.  

(c) An accessory structure shall not be less than ten feet from a principal structure.  

(d) Not more than two accessory structures, including a detached garage, shall be located in any R or PD-R 
district, on one lot.  

3.4.2 Accessory structures in the AR-1 and AR-2 agricultural residential districts may be placed in the front yard 
where the property is at least five acres and not in a platted subdivision. All structures on the property must 
comply with the front setback requirements for a principal structure.  

672

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 2 of 43 

(a) Accessory structures shall not be erected on a lot prior to construction of a principal structure, except 
for agricultural purpose storage buildings in the AR-1 zoning district, where the property is at least five 
acres, and not in a platted subdivision.  

(b) Accessory structures in the R, PD-R, and AR zoning districts may not be used for any type of commercial 
operation, except as provided for in section 3.15A and 3.15B.  

(c) An accessory structure shall not be used as a dwelling unit.  

3.3.3. A shipping container may be utilized as an accessory building in an AR-1 and AR-2 zoning districts, provided it 
shall conform to the following:  

(a) Containers shall be painted in solid neutral colors. No writing or advertising of any kind shall be 
permitted.  

(b) Containers shall meet the required side and rear yard setback requirements for an accessory structure, 
and shall be placed no nearer than ten feet from a primary structure.  

(c) Containers shall not be placed in the front yard.  

(d) Containers shall not be stacked above the height of a single container.  

(e) Containers shall be subject to lot coverage requirements.  

(f) Containers shall only be placed on AR-1 and AR-2 lots that meet the minimum lot size for the district.  

(g) The number of shipping containers on AR-1 and AR-2 lots shall be limited to one container per acre of 
land, to a maximum of five containers on a parcel.  

(h) No electricity or plumbing shall be connected to a shipping container.  

(i) Ventilation is not required.  

(j) No hazardous materials may be stored in a shipping container.  

(k) Shipping containers shall be secured from entry by children and the general public when not attended.  

(l) Shipping containers used for storage of equipment and supplies, and associated with an approved 
building construction project, shall be permitted to remain on site until the approval of the project's 
final building inspection, or expiration of the building permit, whichever is less.  

(Ord. of 2-19-91; Ord. of 1-19-21 ; Ord. of 9-15-20 ; Ord. of 1-3-23(2) ) 

3.4 Buffers. 

Purpose and function: To provide minimum separation and screening of different land uses. To minimize the 
adverse effects of commercial and industrial land uses on surrounding property; to act as a filtration zone for 
stormwater; to make the environment more visually attractive; and to preserve the tree canopy in the county.  

It is the intent of this ordinance that buffers be maintained and controlled so that the effects of the 
screening are not diminished.  

3.4.1 Buffer Design Standards: 

A. Plant material: Existing plant materials including understory vegetation in buffers shall be maintained 
whenever possible. AH trees over six inches diameter at breast height (dbh) shall be retained. 
Additional planting may be required when existing plant material is inappropriate for screening. 
Additional landscaping may be added at the property owner's discretion.  

673

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 3 of 43 

B. Structural elements: Structural elements such as fences, walls, and berms may be placed in buffers. 
When privacy fences or walls are located in a buffer, a minimum of two feet from the exterior property 
line will be maintained to allow for plant material to soften the affects of the structural element.  

C. Encroachment: Buffer areas should remain natural. There shall be no encroachment of structures, 
including eaves or paving, in buffer areas.  

 Proposed use  Adjacent use  

  R-district  
or  
single-family  
subdivision 
exterior 
boundary*  

AR-1 orAR-2  Multifamily  Commercial,  
Institu-  
tional**  

Light 
Industrial  

Heavy 
Industrial**  

R-district or 
single-family 
subdivision 
exterior 
boundary*  

15 feet  15 feet  20 feet  30 feet  300 feet  300 feet  

AR-1 or AR-2  15 feet  15 feet  20 feet  30 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Multifamily  20 feet  20 feet  15 feet  20 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Commercial,  
Institutional**  

30 feet  30 feet  20 feet  15 feet  50 feet  150 feet  

Light 
Industrial**  

300 feet  150 feet  300 feet  50 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

Heavy 
Industrial**  

300 feet  300 feet  300 feet  150 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

 

* Subdivisions of less than five lots are exempt from buffer requirements when neighboring property is 
under the same ownership.  

**Adjacent Commercial, Institutional, and Industrial developments which are designed as a single 
development or share parking may reduce the buffer width by up to 50 percent between these parcels. If 
commercial property is developed with zero lot lines then the buffer between parcels shall be eliminated. At 
no time may buffers be reduced between Commercial, Institutional, or Industrial and Residential uses.  

***Industrial surface mines will follow the buffer requirements in section 3.17.4.  

3.4.2 Adjacent public street buffers: All development excluding industrial development shall maintain a ten-
foot wide landscaped buffer between any parking or loading area and an adjacent accessed public right-of-way 
(ROW). In single family subdivisions a ten-foot landscaped buffer must be maintained between any lot or internal 
street and any public collector or arterial ROW accessed from the subdivision.  

Where parcels abut a street without access to that street the buffer on that side of the parcel shall equal the 
required buffer for the use on the other side of the street in the above chart.  

Street buffers for industrial property shall equal the required buffer for the use on the other side of the 
street in the above chart.  

PDs may have different buffer requirements. Please refer to PD ordinance.  

3.4.2 Adjacent public street buffers: All development shall maintain a ten-foot wide landscaped buffer 
between any parking or loading area and an adjacent accessed public right-of-way (ROW). In single-family 

674

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 4 of 43 

subdivisions a ten-foot landscaped buffer must be maintained between any lot or internal street and any public 
collector or arterial ROW accessed from the subdivision.  

Where parcels abut a street without access to that street the buffer on that side of the parcel shall equal the 
required buffer for the use on the other side of the street in the above chart.  

PDs may have different buffer requirements. Please refer to PD ordinance.  

3.4.3 Permitted activity in required buffers as shown in chart 3.4.1: 

A. Drainage ditches, utility and service lines provided that they are approximately perpendicular to the 
property line.  

B. Street and rail access, and driveways provided that they are approximately perpendicular to the 
property line.  

C. Sidewalks and pathways that connect multiple parcels.  

D. Lighting fixtures.  

E. Signs.  

F. Flagpoles.  

3.4.4 Specific buffer requirements: 

A. Buffers for adjacent vacant property. When determining buffers for adjacent property, the property 
shall be classified based on the use allowed by right in the existing zoning district that would require 
the greatest buffer.  

B. Buffers at property line easement. When a shared easement is located on a property line the required 
buffer shall be located on each side of the shared easement.  

3.4.5 Required plant material: 

A. Where trees do not already exist they must be planted at a rate of one tree, at least two inches dbh, 
every 30 linear feet of buffer. The following list specifies recommended trees for this area. For buffers 
greater than 30 feet in depth required tree planting must come from the large tree list.  

B. Buffers in industrial zones must include understory plantings at a rate of on three gallon plant every 
five linear feet if sufficient understory foliage does not exist.  

Large Trees >50' Suitable for areas with more than 400 square feet of total planting area; in a planting strip at 
least 16' × 25' or 20' × 20'  

Common/Scientific 
Name  

Height & 
Width  

Sun/Shade  Insect & 
Disease 
Resistance  

Growth Rate  Deciduous 
Evergreen  

Remarks  

Beech, American 
Fagus grandifolia 

50-75' h  
40-80' w  

PS/FS  L  S  D  Native. 
Needs ample 
room above 
and below 
ground. Acid 
soil. Fruit 
attracts 
wildlife, no 
litter. Zones 
4-9  

675

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 5 of 43 

Blackgum Nyssa 
sylvatica 

65-75' h  
25-35' w  

PS/FS  H  S  D  Native. Soil 
pH below 6 
best, texture 
tolerant, 
drought 
tolerant, wet 
soil tolerant. 
Fruit attracts 
wildlife, 
some litter. 
Zones 4-9  

Cypress, bald 
Taxodium 
distichum 

60-80' h  
25-35' w  

FS/PS  M  F  D  Native. 
Drought & 
wet tolerant. 
'Knees' form 
in wet areas. 
Tolerates 
compaction. 
Zones 4-11  

Cypress, pond 
Taxodium 
ascendens 

50-60' h  
50-60' w  

PS/FS  H  F  D  Native. Soil 
adaptable 
below 7.5. 
Knobby 
'knees' form 
in moist 
areas. 
Attracts 
wildlife. No 
litter. Zones 
5-9  

Hickory, pignut 
Carya glabra 

50-65' h  
30-40' w  

PS/FS  M  M  D  Native. Soil 
texture 
adaptable. 
Drought 
tolerant. 
Nuts attract 
wildlife. 
Zones 4-9  

Hickory, shagbark 
Carya ovata 

60-80' h  
25-35' w  

PS/FS  H  S  D  Native. Soil 
texture 
adaptable. 
Abundant 
nuts attract 
wildlife. 
Shaggy bark 
attractive. 
Zones 4-8  

Magnolia, 
Southern 

60-80' h  
30-40' w  

PS/FS  M  M  E  Native. Soil 
adaptable. 
Bark is thin, 

676

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 6 of 43 

Magnolia 
grandiflora 

protect from 
mechanical 
injury. White 
showy 
blooms in 
spring & 
summer. 
Good 
cultivars. 
Zones 7-9  

Maple, Red Acer 
rubrum 

60-75' h  
25-35' w  

PS/FS  H  F  D  Native. 
Prefers acidic 
soil, texture 
tolerant, wet 
tolerant. 
Bark is thin. 
Fruit attracts 
wildlife. 
Many 
cultivars. 
Zones 4-9  

Oak, 
laurel/darlington 
Quercus laurifolia 

60-70' h  
50' w  

PS/FS  H  F  SE  Native. Soil 
adaptable. 
Roots will 
heave 
sidewalks. 
Acorns 
attract 
wildlife, 
creates some 
litter. Zones 
6-10  

Oak, live Quercus 
virginiana 

60-80' h  
60-120' w  

PS/FS  H  M  E  Native. Soil 
adaptable. 
Roots will 
eventually 
heave 
sidewalks. 
Good wind 
resistance. 
Some litter. 
Zones 8-10  

Oak, shumard 
Quercus shumardii 

60-80' h  
40-50' w  

FS  M  F  D  Native. Soil 
texture 
adaptable, 
acidic. Urban 
tolerant. 
Acorns 
attract 
wildlife. 

677

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 7 of 43 

Some litter. 
Zones 5-9  

Oak, southern red 
Quercus falcata 

60-80' h  
60-70' w  

FS  M  M  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, all 
textures, 
urban 
tolerant. 
Fruit attracts 
wildlife, no 
significant 
litter. Zones 
7-9  

Oak, scarlet 
Quercus coccinea 

60-75' h  
45-60' w  

FS  M  M  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, all 
textures. 
Needs ample 
root space. 
Nuts attract 
wildlife. 
Some litter. 
Zones 5-8  

Oak, swamp 
chestnut Quercus 
michauxii 

60-70' h  
30-50' w  

PS/FS  M  M  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, all 
textures, 
occasional 
wet. Leaf 
litter 
persistent, 
acorns for 
wildlife. 
Zones 6-9  

Oak, white 
Quercus alba 

60-100' h  
60-80' w  

PS/FS  H  M  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, all 
textures. 
Protect roots 
from 
disturbances. 
Nuts attract 
wildlife. 
Some litter. 
Zones 3-9  

Oak, willow 
Quercus phellos 

60-75' h  
40-60' w  

FS  M  F  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, all 
textures, 
occasional 
wet, drought, 
urban 
tolerant. 
Nuts attract 
wildlife. 

678

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 8 of 43 

Some litter. 
Zones 5-9  

Pine, loblolly Pinus 
taeda 

50-80' h  
30' w  

FS  M  F  E  Native. Soil 
texture 
adaptable, 
acidic. Thick 
bark-
resistant to 
fire. Needle 
drop prolific. 
Zones 6-9  

Pine, longleaf 
Pinus palustris 

60-80' h  
30-40' w  

FS  M  F  E  Native. Soil 
texture 
adaptable. 
Beautiful 
bark. Needle 
and cone 
drop prolific. 
Drought 
tolerant once 
established. 
Zones 7-10  

Redcedar, eastern 
Juniperus 
virginiana 

40-50' h  
8-25' w  

FS  H  F  E  Native. Soil 
pH and 
texture 
tolerant. Blue 
fruit attracts 
wildlife. 
Good wind 
break, urban 
tolerant. 
Zones 3-9  

Sweetgum 
Liquidambar 
styraciflua 

75' h  
50' w  

PS/FS  H  M  D  Native. Soil 
pH of 7.5 or 
less. Surface 
roots. Fruit 
attract 
wildlife, 
significant 
litter. 
Cultivar 
'Rotundifolia' 
fruitless. 
Zones 5-9  

Sycamore, 
American Platanus 
occidentalis 

75-90' h  
60-70' w  

FS  L  F  D  Native. Soil 
pH and 
texture 
adaptable. 
Prefers moist 
soil. Roots 

679

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 9 of 43 

may heave 
sidewalks. 
Showy bark. 
Zones 4-9  

Tulip poplar 
Liriodendron 
tulipifera 

80-120' h  
25-40' w  

FS  H  F  D  Native. Acidic 
soil, 
occasional 
wet. Avoid 
drought & 
salt. Showy 
greenish-
yellow 
blooms in 
spring. Some 
leaf drop in 
high heat. 
Zones 4-9  

 

KEY  

Sun/shade exposure:  Growth rate:  Pest resistance:  Type:  

FS = Full sun  S = Slow (less than 1' per 
year)  

H = High  D = Deciduous  

PS = Part sun  M = Medium (1-2' per 
year)  

M = Medium  E = Evergreen  

S = Shade  F = Fast (more than 2' per 
year)  

L = Low  SE = Semi Evergreen  

 

Medium Canopy Trees: (Count for 550 square feet of area for planting—minimum two inches caliber)  

 Medium Trees 30' - 50' Suitable for spaces with 100 to 200 sqft of total planting space; in a planting strip at 
least 4-7 feet wide; or place at least 4' from pavement or wall.  

Common 
Name/Scientific 
Name  

Height & 
Width  

Sun/Shade  Insect & 
Disease 
Resistance  

Growth Rate  Deciduous 
Evergreen  

Remarks  

Birch, river 
Betula nigra 
'Heritage  

40-50' h  
40-50' w  

PS/FS  M  F  D  Native. 
Acidic soil. 
Drought 
sensitive in 
confined 
spaces. 
Roots need 
room. 
Cultivars 
available. 
Zones 3B-9  

Holly, East 
Palatka Ilex x 
attenuata 

30-45' h  
10-15' w  

FS  M  M  E  Florida 
natural 
hybrid. 
Urban & 

680

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 10 of 43 

drought 
tolerant 
once 
established. 
Red berries 
attract 
wildlife. 
Zones 7-9  

Holly, American 
Ilex opaca 

40-50' h  
15-25' w  

FS  M  S  E  Native. Salt 
and drought 
tolerant 
once 
established. 
Red berries 
attract birds, 
no litter. 
Zones 5-9  

Holly, Nellie R. 
Stevens Ilex x 

20-30' h  
10-15' w  

FS  H  M  E  Hybrid. Soil 
texture 
tolerant. 
Needs male 
and female 
plants for 
berries. 
Drought 
tolerant. 
Showy red 
berries & 
deep green 
leaves. Zones 
6-9  

Holly, Savannah 
Ilex x attenuata 

30-45' h  
6-10' w  

FS  M  M  E  Hybrid. 
Acidic soil, 
urban 
tolerant. Red 
berries 
attract birds, 
no litter. 
Zones 6-9  

Magnolia, 
sweetbay 
Magnolia 
virginiana 

40-50' h  
15-25' w  

PS  M  M  D  Native. 
Acidic soil. 
Tolerates 
wetlands. 
Flood & 
drought 
tolerant. 
Showy, 
white, 
fragrant 

681

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 11 of 43 

flowers. 
Zones 5-9  

Magnolia, 
Southern 
Magnolia 
grandiflora 

30-50' h  
15-30' w  

FS  H  M  E  Native. Soil 
adaptable. 
White showy 
blooms in 
summer & 
early fall. 
Smaller 
leaves than 
species. 
Zones 6-9  

Oak, overcup 
Quercus lyrata 

35-50' h  
35-50' w  

FS  H  M  D  Native. Soil 
adaptable, 
wet & 
drought 
tolerant 
once 
established. 
Urban 
tolerant. 
Acorns 
attract 
wildlife, 
significant 
litter. Zones 
5-9  

Palm, cabbage 
Sabal palmetto 

40-50' h  
10-12' w  

PS/FS  H  S  E  Native. Soil 
tolerant, 
frond and 
fruit litter 
messy. 
Needs 
irrigation 
until 
established 
as all cut 
roots die 
back. 
Southern 
region only. 
Zones 8B-11  

Redbud, 
eastern Cerci's 
Canadensis 
'Forest Pansy'  

20-30' h  
15-30' w  

PS  M  F  D  Native. Light, 
rich, moist 
soil, texture 
adaptable. 
Showy 
purple 
blooms in 
spring. 

682

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 12 of 43 

Cultivar 
'Texas White' 
good. Short 
lived. Zones 
4-9  

Silver bell, 
Carolina 
Haleiwa 
Carolina 

20-40' h  
15-30' w  

PS/FS  H  M  D  Native. 
Acidic soil. 
Drought 
sensitive in 
full sun, 
roots need 
room. Showy 
white 
blooms in 
spring. Zones 
5-8  

Yellowwood, 
American 
Cladastris 
kentukea  

30-50' h  
40-50' w  

PS/FS  H  M  D  Native. 
Needs 
pruning 
while young. 
White 
fragrant 
blooms. 
Tolerates 
urban 
conditions. 
Zones 4-8  

 

 KEY  

Sun/shade exposure:  Growth rate:  Pest resistance:  Type:  

FS = Full sun  S = Slow (less than 1' per 
year)  

H = High  D = Deciduous  

PS = Part sun  M = Medium (1-2' per 
year)  

M = Medium  E = Evergreen  

S = Shade  F = Fast (more than 2' per 
year)  

L = Low  SE = Semi Evergreen  

 

 Small Trees < 25' Useful under utility lines; areas with < 100 sf of total planting area; a planting strip with a 
width of at least 4'.  

Common 
Name/Scientific 
Name  

Height & 
Width  

Sun/Shade  Insect & 
Disease 
Resistance  

Growth Rate  Deciduous 
Evergreen  

Remarks  

Cherry, Okame 
Prunusx incamp 
'Okame' 

15-25' h  
20' w  

PS/FS  M  M  D  Hybrid. Soil 
texture and 
pH 
adaptable. 
Roots need 
room. Pink 

683

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 13 of 43 

showy 
blooms. Fruit 
attracts 
birds. Zones 
7-9  

Crape myrtle,  
Japanese 
Lagerstroemia 
fauriei 

35-50' h  
25-35' w  

FS  H  M  D  Japan. Soil 
adaptable. 
Urban 
tolerant. 
White showy 
flowers. 
Beautiful 
bark. May be 
resistant to 
powdery 
mildew. 
Zones 6-9  

Dogwood, 
flowering 
Cornus florida 

20-30' h  
20' w  

PS  M  M  D  Native. Part 
shade. 
Drought 
sensitive, 
low salt 
tolerance, 
needs good 
drainage. 
White showy 
flowers. 
Horizontal 
branching 
pattern. 
Zones 5-9  

Fringetree 
Chionanthus 
virginicus 

12-15' h  
10-15' w  

PS/FS  M  S  D  Native. 
Acidic soil. 
Thin bark 
easily 
damaged. 
Urban 
tolerant. 
Showy white 
blooms in 
spring. Fruit 
attracts 
birds. Zones 
4-9  

Holly, yaupon 
Ilex vomitoria 
'Pendula' 

15-20' h  
15-20' w  

S/FS  M  M  E  Native. Soil 
& pH greatly 
adaptable. 
Urban 
tolerant. 
Thin bark. 

684

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 14 of 43 

Red berries 
attract 
wildlife. 
Zones 7-10  

Magnolia, 
Southern 
Magnolia 
grandiflora 
'Little Gem'  

20-25' h  
10-15' w  

PS/FS  M  M  E  Native. Soil 
adaptable. 
Bark is thin, 
protect from 
mechanical 
injury. White 
showy 
blooms in 
summer and 
early fall. 
Zones 7-9  

Redbud, 
Oklahoma 
Cercis 
reniformis 
'Oklahoma'  

20-30' H  
15-30' w  

PS/FS  M  F  D  Native. Soil 
& pH 
adaptable, 
salt 
sensitive, 
showy thick 
leaves. 
Zones 5-9  

Waxmyrtle 
Myrica  
cerifera  

15-20' h  
20-25' w  

PS/FS  M  F  E  Native. Soil 
& pH 
adaptable, 
urban 
tolerant. 
Blue berries 
attract 
wildlife. 
Zones 8-11  

 

 KEY  

Sun/shade exposure:  Growth rate:  Pest resistance:  Type:  

FS = Full sun  S = Slow (less than 1' per 
year)  

H = High  D = Deciduous  

PS = Part sun  M = Medium (1-2' per 
year)  

M = Medium  E = Evergreen  

S = Shade  F = Fast (more than 2' per 
year)  

L = Low  SE = Semi Evergreen  

 

(Amend. of 12-12-06; Ord. of 11-4-08; Ord. of 12-8-09, § 1; Ord. of 8-2-16, § 1(a)) 

3.5 Buildings on through lots. 

Where a lot extends through from one street to another, the setback requirement for each such street shall 
be complied with and any building shall have dual facing. No accessory building or other structure shall be placed 

685

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 15 of 43 

on through lots if said structures would conflict with other building values or uses on the same street. On lots 
having frontage on more than two streets, the minimum front yard shall be provided in accordance with the 
provisions of this ordinance on at least two of the street frontages.  

3.6 Cemeteries, mausoleums, and crematories. 

No premises shall be used or occupied for the purposes of a cemetery or mausoleum in any district except 
multi-family residential, single-family residential, and agricultural residential districts and then only upon approval 
after a public hearing. No land for which a plat has not been recorded shall be used for any burials. The dead shall 
not be buried or placed closer than ten feet to any highway right-of-way, nor closer than ten feet to any other 
property line. No premises shall be used or occupied for the purposes of a crematorium in any district except as a 
conditional use in a B-2 zoning district.  

(Amend. of 7-3-01(1)) 

3.7 Churches and schools. 

Public schools shall be subject to the regulations set forth in section 5.3 of this appendix.  

3.7.1 Schools, churches, and religious institutions shall be permitted in agricultural, single-family residential 
districts, agricultural residential districts, multifamily residential districts, general commercial districts, and 
neighborhood commercial districts provided that the following requirements are complied with:  

3.7.1.1 Off-street parking shall be provided as set forth in section 3.30 of this appendix.  

3.7.1.2 The principal building and accessory buildings shall comply with the yard and setback 
requirements of the district in which they are located.  

3.7.2 Schools, churches, and religious institutions may be permitted in other districts only after 
recommendations of the planning board and approval by the county commissioners, which shall hold a 
public hearing on such request.  

3.7A Conditional zoning. 

3.7A.1. In deciding any application for an amendment to the zoning classification of a parcel of property or 
to the zoning map, the board of commissioners may, on their own motion or upon the 
recommendation of the planning board or the zoning administrator, grant the application subject to 
certain conditions deemed necessary by the board to promote and protect the health, safety, morality, 
and welfare of the county and to further the purposes of this ordinance. Such provisions shall be 
imposed for the benefit of the community to prevent or lessen any negative impact expected to result 
from the zoning reclassification or zoning map amendment.  

3.7A.2. Conditions that may be adopted include, but are not limited to, conditions as to buffers, 
preservation of existing vegetation and tree cover, maximum density and/or number of lots, minimum 
lot size, setback restrictions, and property use restrictions. Such restrictions shall be binding upon the 
applicant and any successor in title.  

3.7A.3. If the conditions under consideration by the board are unacceptable to the applicant, the applicant 
may withdraw its application without prejudice to the filing of a new application requesting a different 
zoning classification.  

3.7A.4. Map amendments and zoning classification amendments approved conditionally shall be reflected 
on the zoning map by a notation indicating that the property has been conditionally zoned.  

686

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 16 of 43 

(Ord. of 12-14-99(1)) 

3.8 Conversion of dwellings. 

The conversion of any building into a dwelling, or the conversion of any dwelling so as to accommodate an 
increased number of dwelling units or families, shall be permitted only within a district in which a new building for 
similar occupancy would be permitted under this ordinance, and only when the resulting occupancy will comply 
with the requirements governing new construction in such district with respect to minimum lot size, lot area per 
dwelling unit, percentage of lot coverage, dimensions of yards and other open spaces, and off-street parking. Each 
conversion shall be subject also to such further requirements as may be specified hereinafter within the article 
applying to such district.  

3.8A Construction sites (portable toilets). 

Portable toilet facilities, as approved by the building inspector, shall be furnished at all construction sites for 
which a building permit has been issued prior to the commencement of work. The building inspector is authorized 
to waive this requirement upon a showing that alternate sanitary facilities are available to workers at the site.  

3.8B Construction sites (waste material). 

All landowners, construction and demolition contractors, and other responsible persons for construction or 
demolition sites shall provide on-site refuse receptacles, bulk containers or detachable containers for loose debris, 
paper, building material wastes, scrap building materials, and other trash produced by those working on the site. 
All of the above-mentioned materials shall be containerized by the end of each day, and the site shall be kept in a 
reasonably clean and litter free condition. Dirt, mud, construction materials, or other debris deposited upon any 
public or private property as a result of construction or demolition shall be immediately removed by the 
landowners, construction and demolition contractors, and other responsible persons. Construction or demolition 
sites shall be kept clean and orderly at all times.  

(Ord. of 10-1-19 ) 

3.9 Deed restrictions. 

These regulations shall not lessen any previous deed restrictions or restrictive covenants recorded with any 
deed, plat, or other legal document relating to the use of lot and building requirements. The person or agency in 
the capacity of administering and enforcing these regulations shall abide by any deed restrictions or restrictive 
covenants provided the restrictions are known.  

3.10 Excavation of sand, gravel, or other material (for industrial or commercial use). 

Excavation shall be considered a temporary use, and shall be permitted only in industrial and agricultural 
districts. Excavations shall not be nearer than 100 feet to any school, church, dwelling, or highway right-of-way.  

3.11 Existing uses. 

Nothing contained in this ordinance shall be deemed or construed to prohibit a continuation of any 
particular lawful use or uses of any land, building, structure, improvement, or premises legally existing in any of 
the respective districts at the time this ordinance becomes effective; provided, however, that if any such existing 
lawful use changes to a different use after the date of the adoption of this ordinance, such different use shall 

687

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 17 of 43 

conform to the provisions of this ordinance regulating the particular district in which said premises is situated. If 
any legally existing use or occupancy of a building or premises conflicts with any requirement of this ordinance or 
any of its amendments, such building shall not be moved, structurally altered, or added to except with the 
approval of the county commissioners.  

All future building structures, repairs, alterations, or other improvements shall comply with all district 
requirements contained herein, and such structural provisions of the building code and other regulations as have 
been incorporated herein and made a part hereof, including any building on which construction has been 
suspended at the time this ordinance was adopted and any building for which foundations were not completed at 
said time.  

No nonconforming building or structure shall be extended or enlarged except when authorized by the board 
of commissioners, which may permit one enlargement or extension up to 25 percent of the floor area of the 
structure as it existed at the time of passage of this ordinance.  

3.12 Fences. 

Except in planned manufactured home communities, industrial districts, and general and neighborhood 
commercial districts, no fence, wall, or screened structure, excluding plants and shrubbery, over ten feet in height 
shall be built within any yard.  

3.13 Garbage disposal. 

Garbage or other refuse shall be deposited only in approved garbage cans or in approved garbage disposal 
areas.  

3.14 Government uses. 

The board of county commissioners of Effingham County are not legally exempt from the provisions of this 
ordinance.  

3.15 Home occupations. 

"Home occupation" means an occupation or profession which is conducted entirely within a dwelling, which 
is carried on only by family members residing therein, which does not involve customers or clients coming onto the 
premises, and which is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for residential purposes.  

Home occupations are permitted in the Agricultural Residential districts (AR-1 and AR-2) and Residential 
districts (R-1 and R-2), provided the following criteria are met:  

(a) Each home occupation must be approved by the zoning administrator before any activities in 
connection with the occupation begin.  

(b) "Home occupation" shall not include the repair and/or maintenance of motor vehicles, large scale 
manufacturing or any use which will create noise, noxious odors, or any hazard that may endanger the 
health, safety, or welfare of the neighborhood.  

(c) A home occupation shall not create noise, dust, vibration, odor, smoke, glare, or electrical interference 
that would be detectable beyond the dwelling's structure.  

(d) A home occupation shall not allow customers or clients to come to the premises.  

(e) The dwelling in which a home occupation is conducted must be the bona fide residence of the principal 
practitioner thereof.  

688

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 18 of 43 

(f) Home occupations shall be limited to no more than 25 percent of the total heated floor area of the 
residence or 500 square feet, whichever is less.  

(g) The proposed size of the home occupation shall be specified at the time of application to the zoning 
administrator.  

(h) Any additions or alterations to the residence which will be used for the home occupation must be of an 
architectural style in keeping with the surrounding residential and agricultural development.  

(i) There shall be no exterior evidence of a business being conducted on the premises. No outside storage 
or display, including signs, shall be allowed.  

(j) No more than two commercial ventures (home occupations, residential businesses, and/or rural 
businesses) shall be allowed in any residence at one time.  

(k) One business vehicle used exclusively by the resident is permitted. The vehicle shall be no larger in size 
than a pick-up truck, panel truck, or van and is limited in size to one-ton carrying capacity. The vehicle 
shall not have business identification (signs) on it when it is parked at the premises and will not have 
any equipment used in the business left on the vehicle in a manner that can be seen from the 
surrounding property.  

(l) Pick-ups from and deliveries to the site in regard to the business shall be restricted to vehicles having 
no more than two axles and shall be restricted to no more than two pick-ups or deliveries per day.  

(Ord. of 12-14-99(2), § 1; Amend. of 12-14-04(1)) 

3.15A Residential businesses. 

"Residential business" means an occupation or profession which is conducted entirely within a dwelling, 
which is carried on only by family members residing therein and by no more than one employee who does not 
reside therein, and which is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for residential purposes.  

Residential businesses are permitted only in the AR-1, AR-2, and R-1 districts, provided the following criteria 
are met:  

(a) Each residential business must be approved by the planning board before any activities in connection 
with the occupation begin. The planning board may place any reasonable conditions on the application 
deemed necessary to insure the orderly operation of the proposed business and its compatibility with 
the surrounding properties. The planning board shall hold a public hearing as provided in article IX of 
this ordinance.  

(b) Residential businesses shall not include the repair and/or maintenance of motor vehicles, large scale 
manufacturing, or any use which will create noise, noxious odors, or any hazard that may endanger the 
health, safety, or welfare of the neighborhood.  

(c) The residential business shall not involve group instruction or group assembly of people on the 
premises.  

(d) The dwelling must be the bona fide residence of the principal practitioner at the time of the application 
and, if approved, the residential business shall be valid only as long as the original principal practitioner 
resides in the dwelling, is conducting the business and has a current business license.  

(e) Residential businesses shall be limited to no more than 35 percent of the total heated floor area of the 
residence or 700 square feet, whichever is less. The proposed size of the residential business shall be 
specified at the time of application.  

689

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 19 of 43 

(f) Any additions or alterations to the residence which will be used for the residential business must be of 
an architectural style in keeping with the surrounding residential and agricultural development.  

(g) The portion of the residence in which the business is conducted shall be completely enclosed in a 
manner that the business is not visible from the surrounding property.  

(h) No outside storage or display shall be allowed.  

(i) Only one nonilluminated sign not to exceed one square foot is permitted, location to be approved by 
the zoning administrator.  

(j) No more than two commercial ventures (home occupations, residential businesses, and/or rural 
businesses) shall be allowed in any residence at one time.  

(k) Property on which the residential business is proposed must have frontage on a public road.  

(l) No customers or clients shall be permitted at the site unless sufficient off-street parking is provided 
and the location thereof approved by the zoning administrator.  

(m) Days of operation requiring access by the public, customers, and/or clients shall be Monday through 
Saturday, daylight hours only.  

(n) The principal practitioner will be permitted to park one commercial vehicle in the approved parking 
area. The commercial vehicle is limited to a passenger car, a van or a light truck (up to one ton).  

(o) No utility trailer may be used in the operation of the business except upon approval by the zoning 
administrator. The request must include the proposed use and size of the trailer.  

(Ord. of 12-14-99(2), § 2; Amend. of 12-14-04(1)) 

3.15B Rural businesses. 

"Rural business" means an occupation or profession which is conducted either entirely or partially within a 
dwelling, which is carried on by a principal practitioner who at all times maintains said dwelling as his or her 
permanent residence, and which employs no more than one employee who does not reside therein.  

Rural businesses are permitted as a conditional use only in Agricultural Residential (AR-1 and AR-2) districts, 
and a rural business may be permitted in said district only if it meets the following criteria:  

(a) Intent. A rural business shall be a small office or small-scale retail sales or service-type business which 
shall be secondary or incidental to the primary use of property for agricultural or residential purposes. 
Such business shall be primarily directed toward providing local or neighborhood service to the rural-
residential area in which it is located. Rural businesses are intended to be of a smaller size, intensity, 
and scale than commercial uses which would be more commonly found in commercial or business 
zoning districts. Rural business activities may occur in an accessory structure detached from the 
principal residence or in a screened area outside of the dwelling. In addition, an applicant for a rural 
business must have established residency and be living in a residence upon the subject property prior 
to any application being filed for consideration by the zoning administrator. There are no restrictions 
on customers coming to the premises.  

(b) Each rural business must be reviewed by the planning board and approved by the board of 
commissioners before any activities in connection with the occupation begin. The planning board may 
recommend to the board of commissioners that conditions be imposed to insure the orderly operation 
of the proposed business and its compatibility with the surrounding properties. The board of 
commissioners may place reasonable conditions on the proposed use as deemed necessary to insure 
the orderly operation of the proposed business and its compatibility with the surrounding properties. 

690

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 20 of 43 

The planning board and board of commissioners shall hold public hearings as provided in article IX of 
this ordinance.  

(c) Rural businesses shall be limited to no more than 1,000 square feet if in a structure, and 1,000 square 
feet of land if outside a structure. Should the use require both inside and outside area, the total area 
used may not exceed 1,000 square feet. If the rural business is to be conducted in the residence, no 
more than 45 percent of the heated floor space or 1,000 square feet, whichever is less, may be used 
for the business. The proposed size of the business shall be specified at the time that the application is 
submitted to the zoning administrator.  

(d) Any additions or alterations to the residence which will be used for the rural business must be of an 
architectural style in keeping with the surrounding residential and agricultural development. Any 
structure built to house the business must be located to the side or rear of the residence, unless it is at 
least 100 feet from the front property line and meets all applicable side and rear setbacks. The 
structure must be readily and easily usable for customary agricultural and residential uses.  

(e) Any outside area in which the business is conducted, other than parking area, shall be completely 
enclosed in a manner that the business is not visible from surrounding property.  

(f) Only one nonilluminated sign not to exceed 16 square feet is permitted, location to be approved by the 
zoning administrator. Said location must be at least 15 feet from all property lines.  

(g) No more than two commercial ventures (home occupations, residential businesses, and/or rural 
businesses) shall be allowed in any residence at one time.  

(h) Property on which the rural business is proposed must have frontage on a public road.  

(i) Parking for customers/clients must be provided on-site, and the location of the parking approved by 
the zoning administrator.  

(j) Days and hours of operation requiring access by the public, customers and/or clients shall be Monday 
through Saturday, daylight hours only.  

(k) Rural business shall be located on property containing at least three acres of land.  

(l) Uses permitted (as rural businesses):  

1. Offices;  

2. Beauty shops, barber shops;  

3. Retail sales or services of a specialty nature, such as antique shops, specialty food shops, custom 
furniture stores, custom-made sporting goods shops, and meat cutting as a retail service to the 
public provided, however, that no slaughtering or wholesale meat cutting or processing is 
permitted;  

4. Small repair shops for appliances, machinery, farm equipment, or automobiles with the following 
limitations:  

a. Repair shops shall not create noise, noxious odors, or any hazard which would adversely 
affect the health, safety, or welfare of the adjoining property owners or the neighborhood 
in general;  

b. Repair shops shall operate during daylight hours only;  

c. No more than two vehicles shall actually be serviced, actively worked on, or repaired at any 
one time. Any pieces of machinery equipment or vehicles stored for service or awaiting 
pick-up after servicing shall be parked within an area reserved for that purpose (maximum 
1,000 square feet) and designated at the time of approval by the board of commissioners. 

691

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 21 of 43 

The storage area must be located to the side or rear of the shop building unless normal 
operation would generate large amounts of vehicular traffic.  

(m) Uses not permitted as rural businesses:  

1. Any use which clearly is out of scale or character with an agricultural or residential area.  

(Ord. of 12-14-99(2), § 3; Amend. of 12-14-04(1)) 

3.16 Junk yards. 

3.16.1 All junk yards shall be completely screened from roads or developed areas with a solid fence or wall a 
minimum of seven feet, maintained in good condition as determined by the governing authority, and painted 
except for masonry construction, or with suitable evergreen plantings. Refer to section 3.4 for additional 
requirements.  

3.16.2 No operations shall be conducted which shall cause a general nuisance or endanger the public health.  

3.16.3 All existing junk yards shall comply with these requirements within one year of the date of this ordinance, 
or shall then terminate their operation.  

3.16.4 Wrecked automobiles shall be stored in an orderly manner with an adequate area for maneuvering 
provided within the property boundaries. All loading and unloading shall occur within the property 
boundaries and no trucks delivering or picking up the wrecked automobiles shall park in the public road or 
public road rights-of-way. Under no circumstances may wrecked automobiles be stacked and at no time may 
any storage yard contain more than 50 wrecked automobiles. Further, all wrecked automobiles shall be free 
of all motor fuels and fluids including, but not limited to, gasoline, diesel fuel, oil, brake fluid, engine coolant 
and transmission fluids.  

(Ord. of 11-5-19 

3.16A Shipping container facility. 

3.16A.1 Buffers. A shipping container facility shall be subject to the buffer requirements for heavy industrial uses 
pursuant to section 3.4, buffers. A variance to the buffer requirements may be requested, according to the 
following:  

(a) The width of the vegetative buffer required in HI-Heavy industrial may be reduced six feet for every 
one feet of berm height.  

3.16A.2 Facility operation limitations. All repairs, with the exception of general maintenance and minor repairs, 
shall only occur within an enclosed building.  

3.16A.3 Signs. All signage shall meet the requirements for signs in industrial districts per part II, chapter 62-signs, 
article III, section 3.38, signs.  

3.16A.4 Parking and access. Parking and access for customers and employees must be provided on-site, pursuant 
to section 3.30, off-street access control and parking.  

3.16A.5 Hours of operation. Days and hours of operation requiring access by customers and/or clients shall be 
Monday through Saturday, daylight hours only, except in cases of emergencies, natural disasters, or required 
maintenance.  

3.16A.6 Uses permitted. Shipping container storage, including offices related to the business operations.  

692

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 22 of 43 

3.16A.7 Uses not permitted: Any use which is ineligible for state or local permits, or a county occupational tax 
license.  

3.16A.8 Performance standards. Shipping container storage facilities are subject to section 5.12.4, performance 
standards.  

3.16A.9 Approval. A shipping container facility conditional use application shall be submitted for review by the 
planning board and approval by the board of commissioners.  

3.16A.10 Transportation network and road impacts. 

(a) A traffic impact study shall be required, pursuant to the county traffic impact study requirements.  

(b) All vehicles entering and exiting the site are subject to section 74-8, designated truck routes.  

(c) The property on which the shipping container facility is proposed must have frontage on a paved roads 
built to county or GDOT standards.  

(d) No shipping container facility operators or transportation partners, customers, etc., shall damage any 
portion of a county road or right-of-way or cause a road to become impassable or unsafe to normal 
passenger traffic.  

3.16A.11 Minimum requirements for operating a shipping container facility using a county road access: 

(a) Entrance drive/road into shipping container facility property is to be paved from edge of existing road 
to county right-of-way or to radius point. Pavement is to be at minimum eight inches thick graded 
aggregate base course with three inches thick asphalt surface course.  

(b) Pavement section is to be 24-foot minimum width at county right-of-way, with a 30-foot radius on each 
side.  

(c) Figure 1 of this section illustrates the shipping container facility entrance road requirements.  

(d) A driveway culvert is to be installed if the right-of-way contains a roadside ditch or drainage swale, to 
allow for the continuation of drainage control along the right-of-way.  

(e) The shipping container facility operator must install a sign facing the county road. The sign shall include 
the following information:  

1. Operator/company name, and  

2. Operator/company phone number.  

(f) "Trucks Entering Road" signs are also to be installed at locations to be determined by the county 
engineer. A "Stop" sign is to be placed in the right-of-way to control trucks entering a county road from 
the shipping container facility.  

Figure 1 Shipping Container Facility Entrance Road Requirements 

693

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 23 of 43 

 

(Ord. of 1-3-23(2) ) 

3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or 

wetlands. 

3.17.1 The following activities shall be subject to review by the county planning board:  

1. Excavation of land, or removal of earth that exceeds one acres of disturbed area.  

2. Removal of earth or like material from the subject site to another parcel.  

3. Filling of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands.  

If any item above meets the project criteria, review by the planning board and approval by the board of 
commissioners is mandatory.  

3.17.2 Excavation, mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands. Excavation, 
mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands that are associated with a 
specific project that has been approved by the board of commissioners that comply with all other regulations 
set forth in this ordinance are exempt from section 3.17.  

3.17.3 Requirements for submittal for planning board and/or staff review. 

1. Application and checklist.  

a. Applications and checklist may be obtained from the development services office.  

b. Application and checklist must be complete and submitted with the all required information.  

c. Fees in accordance with the county schedule of fees must be paid at the time of application 
submittal.  

2. Excavation activities that have greater than one acre of disturbed area must obtain a state mining 
permit. A copy of the approved state mining permit must be submitted to the development services 
office prior to work commencing.  

3. Any excavation activity between one acre and ten acres that requires a state mining permit, or is a 
GDOT-approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, may be permitted as a conditional 
use in the AR-1 and AR-2 zoning districts, upon approval of the board of commissioners, and after 
review by the planning board.  

694

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 24 of 43 

4. Any excavation activity greater than one acre of disturbed area may be permitted in the PD-MR zoning 
district. Excavation activities that have greater than ten acres must be permitted in PD-MR.  

3.17.3A Requirements for approval and final inspection. 

1. Pond of less than one acre of disturbed area. Construction of the pond shall cease within six months of 
approval date. The pond may be subject to a final inspection.  

2. For any excavation activity between one acre and ten acres that is approved as a conditional use in AR-
1 or AR-2, and requires a state mining permit, or is a GDOT-approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-
approved project, the bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation activities shall cease 
within three years of DNR or GDOT approval date. Extension of excavation activities beyond three 
years will require approval by the board of commissioners, after review by the planning board. 
Business operator shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate, pursuant to article II, business 
and occupation tax, for a license to operate a surface mine. Applicant shall submit a survey of the 
completed excavation site to development services. A final inspection is required. All DNR reclamation 
requirements shall be met.  

3. For any excavation activity greater than one acre that requires a state mining permit and is permitted 
in PD-MR, or is a GDOT-approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, the bond shall be 
submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation activities shall cease within five years of DNR or GDOT-
approval date. Extension of excavation activities beyond five years shall require approval by the board 
of commissioners, after review by the planning board. Business operator shall maintain an annual 
occupation tax certificate, pursuant to article II, business and occupation tax, for a license to operate a 
surface mine. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site to development 
services. A final inspection is required. All DNR reclamation requirements shall be met.  

3.17.4 Construction requirements. 

1. All projects must comply with best management practices as outlined in the "Manual for Soil and 
Sediment Control in Georgia" as specified in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6.  

2. Side slopes of any excavated area must be constructed at a 3:1 slope (one foot in elevation change per 
three feet of horizontal distance) from the top of the excavation to the bottom at all times during 
construction and at completion of the excavation.  

3. All disturbed areas will have a permanent stand of grass established at completion.  

4. No digging and hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. A project of regional significance may be permitted alternative hours of 
operation, upon review and approval by the county manager or his designee.  

5. Unless a pond/excavation is to be shared by two or more parcels it shall be located at least 50 feet 
from the nearest property line. Excavations shall not be nearer than 100 feet to any school, church, 
dwelling, or highway right-of-way. This section shall serve as the buffer requirements for surface 
mining operations  

6. The limits of excavation of the pond shall be located at a distance from the nearest access easement or 
utility easement, as follows:  

a. For pond depths of ten inches or less, the limits of excavation of the pond shall be 20 inches from 
the nearest access easement or utility easement; and  

b. For every additional five-inch depth of pond, the additional distance from the nearest access 
easement or utility easement shall be ten inches.  

7. All wetland impacts must be approved by the USACE.  

695

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 25 of 43 

8. The construction entrance and roadway shall be designed and built pursuant to GSWCC Construction 
Exit Guidance (2016 Edition). The roadway shall extend a minimum of 50 feet into the mine site from 
the paved entrance.  

(Ord. of 7-5-05; Ord. of 8-2-16, § 1; Ord. of 9-15-20 ; Ord. of 1-3-23(1) ) 

3.17A Ponds—Construction. 

• No digging and hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  

• Unless a pond is to be shared by two or more parcels it shall be located at least 50 feet from the nearest 
property line.  

• No pond shall be located less than ten feet from the nearest access or utility easements.  

• The pond sides shall be sloped at a 3 to 1 run to rise ratio.  

• All wetland impacts must be approved by the USACE.  

• All digging and hauling operation must be completed within six months.  

(Ord. of 9-4-07, § 1(b)) 

3.18 Land subject to flooding. 

No building or mobile home shall be moved into or constructed in a floodprone area unless the first floor 
elevation, including all mechanical and electrical equipment, ductwork, and any basement, is one foot above the 
highest elevation at that location expected to be flooded in a 100-year flood. These requirements shall be enforced 
in accordance with the county floodplain management ordinance.  

3.19 Living units in zones other than residential. 

Dwellings shall not be permitted in any industrial district as a principal use. However, living untis may be 
established conditionally within an industrial district, provided that succh living untis are accessory to the industrial 
use and have direct access to an abutting street.  

(Ord. of 12-8-09, § 1) 

3.20 Minimum living area. 

No single or multiple-family living unit shall be constructed with a total living area of less than 525 square 
feet; provided, however, that a special exception to the minimum living area requirements shall be granted for the 
construction of efficiency type apartments having no separate bedroom if it is established that the granting of such 
exception will not adversely affect the interest of the general public or the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood. Application for any such special exception shall be made to the planning board, which shall forward 
its recommendations to the county commissioners for their action. The planning board may require the submission 
of plans in connection with such applications and may impose such additional requirements as a condition of the 
granting of the request as it deems reasonable and appropriate. (This section shall not apply to mobile homes 
meeting all other requirements of this ordinance.)  

696

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 26 of 43 

3.21 Mobile homes, trailers, mobile home parks, and trailer parks. 

No trailer, manufactured home, industrialized home, or mobile home shall be parked outside of a 
campsite/RV park or planned manufactured home community unless specifically permitted in a particular zoning 
district to provide living quarters or space for the conduct of a business. A trailer, manufactured home, 
industrialized building, or mobile home may be used temporarily for office purposes during the construction of a 
principal building or road upon the issuance of a temporary permit by the zoning officer. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, any owner of camping and recreational equipment, including but not limited to travel trailers, pick-up 
coaches, motorized homes, and boat trailers, may park or store such equipment on private residential property 
subject to the following conditions:  

3.21.1 Such parked or stored camping and recreational equipment shall never be occupied or used for living, 
sleeping, or housekeeping purposes.  

3.21.2 If the camping or recreational equipment is parked or stored outside of a building, it shall be parked 
or stored, if possible, to the rear of the front building line of the lot.  

3.21.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 3.21.2 above, camping and recreation equipment may 
be parked anywhere on the premises while actually being loaded or unloaded.  

3.21A. Mobile and manufactured homes septic tank installation. 

Any certificate of occupancy and any building permit issued for a mobile home or manufactured home may 
be revoked by the zoning administrator 30 days or more after issuance of such certificate or permit upon a 
determination that the mobile home or manufactured home has not been connected to a properly functioning 
septic tank or sewage system, duly approved by the county health department.  

3.22 Reserved. 

3.23 Moving of buildings. 

Whenever a building is moved from any location to a site within Effingham County, the building shall 
immediately be made to conform to all provisions of the building, plumbing, and electrical codes, if any, and this 
ordinance. The person causing the building to be moved shall secure a building permit from the zoning office.  

3.24 Nonconforming buildings or structures. 

3.24.1 Any lawful use of any dwelling, building, or structure existing as of July 5, 1988 may be continued, even 
though such use does not conform to the provisions hereof. If no structural alterations are made, a 
nonconforming use may be changed to another nonconforming use of a more restricted classification. 
Whenever a nonconforming use has been changed to a more restricted use or to a conforming use, such use 
shall not thereafter be changed to a less restricted use. No nonconforming building or structure shall be 
extended or enlarged except when authorized by the county commissioners, who may permit one 
enlargement or extension up to 25 percent of the floor area of the structure as it existed as of July 5, 1988.  

3.24.2 Whenever the use of a building shall become nonconforming through a change in the zoning ordinance or 
the district boundaries, such use may be continued, and if no structural alterations are made, may be 
changed to another nonconforming use of the same or a more restricted classification.  

3.24.3 A nonconforming use of a building or portion thereof that is discontinued for a continuous period of six 
months shall not be reestablished except in conformity with the regulations of the district in which such 
building is located.  

697

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 27 of 43 

3.24.4 A nonconforming building, other than a single-family dwelling, which has been damaged by fire, explosion, 
act of God, or act of war to the extent of more than 60 percent of its reproduction value at the time of 
damage shall not be restored except in conformity with the regulations of the district in which it is located. 
When damage is less than 60 percent of its reproduction value, a nonconforming building may be repaired or 
reconstructed and used as before the time of damage, provided such repairs or reconstruction are 
completed within one year of the date of such damage.  

3.24.5 Subject to the limitation set forth in section 2.55.2 of this ordinance, a nonconforming single-family 
dwelling which has been damaged or destroyed by fire, explosion, act of God, or act of war may be repaired, 
reconstructed, or replaced with a nonconforming structure of the same dimensions and used as before the 
time of damage, provided such repair, reconstruction, or replacement is completed within one year of the 
date of such damage and provided that the structure meets all applicable county building and permitting 
requirements.  

3.24.6 A nonconforming structure located on a lot in any district, when once removed, shall not be relocated on 
such lot and shall not be replaced with another nonconforming structure except as otherwise permitted by 
this ordinance.  

3.25 Nonconforming lots. 

3.25.1 Remedies. Where two or more nonconforming lots with continuous frontage are under the same 
ownership or where a nonconforming lot has a continuous frontage with a larger tract under the same 
ownership, such lot or lots shall be combined to form one or more building sites meeting the lot 
requirements of the district in which they are located.  

3.25.2 Dwellings on nonconforming lots. A building permit may be issued for a single-family dwelling on any 
nonconforming lot, excluding substandard lots, provided that the remedies set forth in this section cannot be 
complied with and provided that the regulations of the district in which the lot is located are met.  

3.25.3 Nonconforming uses of land. The nonconforming use of land not involving any principal building or 
structure existing on the effective date of this ordinance may be continued for a period of not more than 
three years; provided, however, that no such nonconforming use of the land shall in any way be expanded or 
extended either on the same or adjoining property. If such nonconforming use of land or any portion thereof 
is discontinued or changed, any future use of such land shall be in conformity with the provisions of this 
ordinance.  

3.25.4 Dwellings on substandard lots. The county commissioners may authorize the issuance of a building permit 
for a single-family dwelling for a substandard lot only after it has been determined that remedies as set forth 
in this section cannot be complied with. The county commissioners may also grant variances to lot and 
building requirements in cases of hardship, if conditions detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare 
are not caused.  

3.26 Nonconforming use of buildings and structures. 

Use of any building or structure not in conformance with these regulations pertaining to uses permitted on 
the effective date of this ordinance may not be:  

3.26.1 Changed to another nonconforming use except where it is determined by the county commissioners 
that the design, construction, and character of the building is suitable for uses permitted in the district 
in which such nonconforming use is situated.  

3.26.2 Reestablished after discontinuance for six months except where it is determined by the county 
commissioners that the design, construction, and character of the building is unsuitable for conforming 
uses.  

698

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 28 of 43 

3.26.3 Extended, enlarged, or expanded except when authorized by the county commissioners who may 
permit one enlargement or extension up to 25 percent of the floor area of the structure as it existed at 
the time of passage of this ordinance.  

3.27 Nursing homes. 

Nursing homes shall include convalescent homes, homes for the aged, and such other activities designed to 
take care of the aged or persons unable to care for themselves without supervision or assistance. Nursing homes 
shall be permitted as a conditional use in any multifamily residential district. Such uses shall comply with all 
regulations applicable to the district. Such uses shall comply with the off-street parking requirements set forth in 
this article. In addition, such uses shall meet the minimum requirements as set forth by state or federal agencies 
regulating such activities and shall, upon application for either building permit or occupancy certificate, provide 
certificates indicating approval by such state and federal agencies.  

3.28 Obstruction to vision at road intersections and driveways. 

3.28.1 The minimum development standards set forth in this section shall apply to land abutting streets, street 
intersections, and driveways delineated as follows:  

(a) The triangle bounded on two sides by the intersecting right-of-way lines, measured 40 feet in each 
direction from the point of intersection, and on the third side by the diagonal line connecting the ends 
of the 40-foot sides, as illustrated in Figure 1.  

(b) The triangles bounded on two sides by the intersection of a private driveway, measured 40 feet along 
the road right-of-way and 12.5 feet along the private driveway. This shall apply to each side of the 
private driveway.  

(c) Additional sight distance requirements may be imposed on streets and roads maintained by Effingham 
County or the State of Georgia based on design speed and Institute of Transportation Engineers and 
American Association of State Highway Transportation Officials standards.  

3.28.2 Within the triangles identified in subsection 3.28.1 above, and except as provided in subsection 3.28.2 
below, no structure, sign, plant, shrub, tree, berm, fence, wall, or other object of any kind shall be installed, 
constructed, set out or maintained so as to obstruct cross-visibility at a level between 30 and 120 inches 
above the level of the center of the street intersection or driveway.  

3.28.3 The restrictions of this section shall not apply to:  

(a) Existing natural grades which, by reason of natural topography, rise 30 or more inches above the level 
of the center of the adjacent intersection;  

(b) Trees having limbs or foliage trimmed in such a manner that no limbs or foliage extend into the area 
between 30 and 120 inches above the level of the center of the abutting intersection; or  

(c) Fire hydrants, public utility poles, mailboxes, street markers, governmental signs, and traffic control 
devices.  

(1) All items listed in (c) above, shall be installed and maintained in accordance with approved 
standards.  

3.28.4 In other than 90 degree intersections or where grades mandate, the Effingham County Building and Zoning 
Department in coordination with the public works department may impose additional sight triangles under 
standards adopted by the American Association of State Highway Transportation Officials.  

3.28.5 The director of building and zoning shall investigate violations, issue notices and orders, and perform other 
duties required for enforcement under this section.  

699

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 29 of 43 

3.28.6 The director of building and zoning, with the concurrence of the public works director, may, based on 
design speed and Institute of Transportation Engineers and American Association of State Highway 
Transportation Officials standards, reduce or waive all or part of these requirements of this section where a 
waiver could not constitute a traffic hazard or a condition dangerous to public safety. A decision by the 
director of building and zoning may be appealed to the board of commissioners. 

700

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 30 of 43 

  

701

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 31 of 43 

3.29 Offensive color, designs, smoke, noise, etc. 

Nothing shall be allowed on the premises in any district which would in any way be offensive or obnoxious by 
reason of the emission of odors, liquids, gas, dust, smoke, vibration, or noise; nor shall anything be placed, 
constructed, or maintained that will in any way constitute an eye-sore or nuisance to adjacent property owners, 
residents, or to the community. All uses must satisfactorily comply with the requirements of the state department 
of natural resources as required by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.  

3.30 Off-street access control parking and loading. 

In all districts off-street parking facilities shall be provided and properly maintained, as set forth in this 
section for any building which is hereafter erected, enlarged, or increased in capacity. Such facilities shall be made 
available for public use.  

3.30.1 [Generally.] In order to promote the safety of motorists and pedestrians and to minimize traffic congestion 
and conflict by reducing the magnitude of and the number of points of contact, the following regulations shall 
apply:  

3.30.1.1 A point of access, that is, a driveway or other opening for vehicles onto a public street, shall 
be a minimum of 12 feet in width and not exceed 25 feet in width, except as otherwise provided 
in this section.  

3.30.1.2 The maximum number of points of access permitted onto any one street shall be as follows:  

   Lot Width  
Abutting Street  

Maximum Number of Points  
for Access  

Less than 65 feet  1  

65 feet to 200 feet  2  

Greater than 200 feet  2 plus 1 for each additional 200 feet  
or fraction thereof.  

 

3.30.1.3 In lieu of any two openings permitted on any one street, there may be permitted a single 
point of access up to 35 feet in width. However, service stations shall be permitted two openings, 
not to exceed 35 feet each in width along any abutting public street, provided that such property 
abuts such street for a distance of not less than 120 feet.  

3.30.1.4 There shall be a minimum distance of 12 feet between any two openings onto the same 
street.  

3.30.1.5 No point of access shall be allowed within 20 feet of the intersection of the right-of-way lines 
of any two local streets, nor within 30 feet at an intersection of a state or federal highway.  

3.30.1.6 No curbs shall be cut or altered and no point of access or opening for vehicles onto a public 
street shall be established without a permit issued by the commissioners under the supervision 
of the county road superintendent.  

3.30.2 Size and access. Each off-street parking space shall have an area of not less than 180 square feet exclusive 
of access drives or aisles and be in usable shape and condition, except in the case of dwellings, and shall have no 
parking area containing less than three spaces. There shall be adequate ingress and egress to all parking spaces. 
Where a lot does not abut on a public or private alley or easement or access, there shall be provided an access 
drive leading to the parking or storage areas or loading spaces. Such access drive shall be not less than 12 feet in 
width in the case of a dwelling, and not less than 20 feet in width in all other cases.  

702

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 32 of 43 

Access to off-street parking areas shall be limited to several well-defined locations, and in no case shall 
there be unrestricted access along the length of a street or alley.  

3.30.3 Number of parking spaces required. The number of off-street parking spaces required are set forth in the 
following table. Where the use of the premises is not specifically mentioned, requirements for similar uses shall 
apply.  

 Uses  Required Parking  

Automatic laundry  1 for each laundry machine  

Automobile sales and service garage  1 for each 400 square feet floor area  

Banks/Professional offices  1 for each 300 square feet floor area  

Bowling alleys  4 for each alley  

Churches, temples, or places of worship, funeral 
homes, schools, public buildings, theaters, 
auditoriums, areas, and places of assembly, private 
clubs, community buildings, social halls, and lodges  

1 for each 4 seats of maximum seating capacity in 
principle assembly area or 1 for each 17 classroom 
seats, whichever is greater  

Country clubs, golf clubs, gun clubs, tennis clubs, and 
organizations designed to provide outdoor sporting or 
recreational activities  

1 for each 5 members  

Dental offices  2 for each dentist  

Driving ranges and golf courses  2 for each tee  

Dwellings—single-family  2 for each unit  

Dwellings—multiple-family  1½ for each unit  

Food store, supermarket  1 for each 200 square feet floor area  

Funeral homes, mortuaries  20 for each parlor  

Furniture, appliance stores  1 for each 200 square feet floor area  

Hospitals, sanitariums, and nursing homes  1 for each 2 patient beds  

Hotels and motels  1 for each guest room plus 1 for each 3 employees  

Manufacturing, industrial plant, research laboratory, 
bottling plants  

1 for each 2 employees on largest shift plus 1 for each 
company vehicle  

Manufacturing and industrial concerns with retail 
business on premises  

1 for each 2 employees on largest shift plus 1 for each 
150 square feet devoted to sales or service  

Medical offices  10 for each doctor  

Restaurants, beer parlors, nightclubs  1 for each 2.5 seats plus 1 for each 3 employees  

Retail stores and shops  1 for each 300 square feet floor area  

Roominghouses, boardinghouses, dormitories, 
fraternities, and sororities  

1 for each 2 beds  

Service station  2 for each pump  

Sports arenas, auditoriums, theaters, assembly halls  1 for each 3.5 seats  

Trailer or monument sales or auctions  1 for each 2,500 square feet of lot area  

Wholesale and warehouse concerns  1 for each 2 employees, plus 1 for each 50 square feet 
of retail sales or service  

 

3.30.4 Location of off-street parking spaces. 

3.30.4.1 Such parking spaces as required in this section shall in no part exist upon and no portion of 
any vehicle shall overhang the right-of-way of any public road, street, alley, or walkway. There 
shall be no off-street parking in the front yards of residential districts except as normally exists in 
driveways.  

703

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 33 of 43 

3.30.4.2 The parking spaces for all dwellings shall be located on the same plot as the main building.  

3.30.4.3 Parking spaces for all other uses shall be provided on the same plot with the main building or 
not more than 300 feet in distance, as measured along the nearest pedestrian walkway, provided 
that such area is under the same ownership as the principal use. The applicant for a building 
permit which proposes to use an area for off-street parking in order to meet the requirements of 
this ordinance and in accordance with the provisions of this subsection shall submit evidence of a 
restrictive covenant running with the land to be used for off-street parking purposes stating that 
such land shall not be encroached upon, used, sold, leased, or conveyed for any other purpose 
until such time as the principal building ceases to be required to provide such off-street parking 
facilities.  

3.30.4.4 Parking requirements for two or more uses of the same or of different types may be provided 
by the establishment of the required number of spaces for each use in a common parking area 
when under the same ownership. Accessory uses shall not be required to have additional parking 
spaces other than those required by the principal use.  

3.30.4.5 Off-street parking areas may be situated in any residential district abutting any commercial 
district or industrial district to a depth not exceeding 120 feet, provided that all off-street parking 
lot improvements as provided in section 3.30.5 of this article are complied with.  

3.30.5 Parking lot improvement requirements. Any off-street parking lot of five or more parking spaces serving any 
use other than dwellings of four units per building or less shall meet the following off-street parking lot 
improvement requirements. Certain types of developments can obtain an exemption from the parking lot tree 
requirements listed in this section. These include, but are not limited to: warehouse loading and unloading areas, 
tractor-trailer parking, container storage yards, car dealerships, etc. Any exemption to the parking lot 
requirements must be approved by the zoning administrator prior to issuance of a LDA permit.  

3.30.5.1 Screening and landscaping. Off-street parking areas for more than five vehicles and off-street 
loading areas shall be effectively screened on each side which joins or faces residential or 
industrial premises situated in any residential district.  

1. In addition to required buffer planting trees from the large tree list (see buffer ordinance) which 
are at least two-inch dbh shall be provided and maintained at a ratio of one tree for every 12 
spaces.  

2. All landscape islands shall be at least as large as the adjoining parking spaces.  

3. There shall be a minimum of curb radii of three feet required on the corners of all landscape 
islands and medians to allow for free movement of motor vehicles around planting materials. 
Although innovative storm water management techniques are strongly encouraged, all islands 
and medians shall have raised curbs unless other storm water management techniques are 
approved by the zoning administrator.  

4. At the end of all rows of parking a terminal landscape island or area shall be provided to protect 
parked vehicles, confine moving traffic to aisles and driveways, and provide space for 
landscaping. A terminal island for a single row of parking spaces shall be planted with at least one 
tree. A terminal island for a double row of parking spaces shall contain two large trees.  

3.30.5.2 Surfacing for all retail sales and services, business services, and professional services. Off-
street parking areas for all retail sales and services, business services, and professional services 
serving the general public and having access to and abutting a paved street shall be provided 
with a hard surface, all-weather pavement of asphalt or cement and shall be so graded and 
drained to provide for the adequate runoff and disposal of surface water.  

704

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 34 of 43 

3.30.5.3 Lighting. Where lighting facilities are provided for the parking area, they shall be designed 
and installed so as to reflect the light away from any contiguous residentially zoned property.  

3.30.6 Off-street loading requirements. 

3.30.6.1 Every hospital, institution, commercial, or industrial building, or similar use having a floor area 
of 20,000 square feet or more and requiring receipt or distribution by vehicle of materials or 
merchandise shall have at least one permanent off-street loading space for each 20,000 square 
feet of gross floor area or fraction thereof immediately adjacent to the principal building.  

3.30.6.2 Every building which requires the receipt or distribution of material and/or merchandise by 
motorized vehicles shall provide off-street loading berths in accordance with the following table:  

Off-Street Loading Space Requirements 

Uses  Square Feet of  
Floor Area  

Required  
Off-Street  
Loading Berths  

Schools  15,000 or more  1  

Hospitals (in addition to space for 
ambulance)  

10,000—300,000  1  

 For each 1 additional 300,000 or major 
fraction thereof  

1 additional  

Undertakers and funeral parlors  All funeral homes  1  

Hotels, offices, and multi-dwellings  10,000 or more  1  

Commercial, wholesale, manufacturing, 
and storage  

10,000—25,000  1  

 25,000—40,000  2  

 40,000—60,000  3  

 60,000—100,000  4  

 For each additional 50,000 or major 
fraction thereof  

1 additional  

 

3.30.6.3 Every off-street loading and unloading space shall have direct access to the public street or 
alley and shall have the following minimum dimensions: length, 30 feet; width, 12 feet; height, 14 
feet.  

(Ord. of 12-8-09, § 1) 

3.31 Overhanging or extruding projections. 

In single-family residential districts, multifamily residential districts, and planned manufactured home 
community districts, every part of a required yard or court shall be open from its lowest point to the sky, 
unobstructed except for the customary ornamental features and eaves; provided, however, that none of the above 
projections shall extend into a required yard more than four feet. Open or enclosed fire escapes, outside stairways, 
balconies, chimneys, flues, or other projections shall not extend into any required yard except that uncovered 
steps may project not more than four feet into the required yard.  

(Amend. of 4-4-00(23); Ord. of 12-8-09) 

705

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 35 of 43 

Sec. 3.32 On street parking. 

3.32.1 Within any R district no trucks or trailers in excess of one ton capacity shall be parked for storage 
purposes, including overnight, on any public right-of-way.  

3.32.2 Dumpsters and temporary storage units may not be placed on any roadway open to the public.  

3.32.3 Parking is allowed on local streets only. If they have a pavement width of at least 28 feet then parking 
is allowed on one side of the road. If they have a pavement width of at least 36 feet then parking may 
be allowed on both sides of the road.  

(Ord. of 1-19-16, § 1) 

3.33 Performance standards. 

These performance standards shall apply to all nonresidential uses.  

3.33.1 Smoke, dust, and dirt. All emissions of visible smoke, dust, dirt, fly-ash, or any particulate matter from 
any pipes, vents, or other openings from any other source shall conform to state and federal standards.  

3.33.2 Fumes, vapors, and gases. All emissions of any fumes, vapors, or gases of a noxious, toxic, or 
corrosive nature which can cause any damage or irritation to health, animals, vegetation, or to any 
form of property shall conform to state and federal regulations.  

3.33.3 Sewerage. There shall be no discharge at any point of liquid or solid waste into any public sewage disposal 
system which will overload such system or create detrimental effects in the flow and treatment of public sewage.  

There shall be no treatment of public sewage. There shall be no discharge of any industrial wastes into 
any private sewage disposal system, stream, or into the ground of any kind or nature which would 
contaminate any water supply or otherwise cause emission of dangerous or objectionable elements or 
conditions. There shall be no accumulation of solid waste conducive to the breeding of rodents or 
insects.  

3.33.4 Odors. There shall be no emission of odorous gases or other odorous matter in such quantities as to 
be offensive, obnoxious, or unpleasant beyond the property line on which the principal use is located. 
Any process including the preparation of food which may involve the creation and emission of any such 
odor shall be provided with a primary and secondary safeguard system so that odor control may be 
maintained in the event of failure of the primary safeguard system. Any odorous matter shall be kept a 
minimum of 1,500 feet from any residence, school, hospital, or church, and any commercial district.  

3.33.5 Noise. The permitted level of noise or sound emission at the property line of the lot on which the 
principal use is located shall not at any time exceed the average noise level prevailing for the same 
hour as generated by streets and traffic activity. The determination of noise level shall be measured 
with a sound level meter that conforms to specifications published by the American Standards 
Association.  

3.33.6 Glare. There shall be no direct glare visible from any residential district caused by unshielded 
floodlights or other sources of high intensity lighting.  

3.34 Permitted building area. 

The principal building on any lot or parcel of land shall be erected within the area bound by the building lines 
established by setback of yard requirements. Accessory buildings may be erected within any building line 
established for the principal building and in required rear yards as may be otherwise provided in these regulations.  

706

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 36 of 43 

3.35 Principal building on a lot. 

Except in planned manufactured home communities and in the AR-1 district as provided in these regulations, 
only one principal building and its customary accessory buildings may be erected on any lot of record. Any dwelling 
shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on which the same is located. An addition to any building 
shall not be construed as a principal building.  

3.36 Retaining walls. 

Nothing in these regulations shall be construed to prohibit or to prevent the erection of a retaining wall on 
any property, provided that such retaining wall does not adversely affect the natural flow of surface water or 
create any other adverse effect upon adjacent or adjoining properties. However, any application for a retaining 
wall shall be subject to approval of the zoning administrator before the issuance of a permit.  

3.37 Shopping centers. 

Shopping centers are hereby defined as a group of retail stores or shops under single ownership or 
management with an area of five acres or more and with a minimum depth of 300 feet established as a shopping 
entity with common parking facilities, ingress, and egress, and loading and unloading facilities. Shopping centers 
shall be permitted in any general or neighborhood commercial district and may be developed in accordance with 
approval of a plat of a subdivision or development as approved by the board of commissioners. The shopping 
center shall not be divided into separate lots for each store or use. No permit shall be issued for the construction 
of a shopping center until the plans and specifications, including the design of ingress and egress roads, parking 
facilities, and other such items as may be found of importance have been approved by the board of 
commissioners. No buildings shall be erected closer than 50 feet to any road right-of-way line. There shall be 
provided a minimum of one parking space for each 200 square feet of floor area designed to be used for business 
or shopping purposes. Such parking area, including maneuvering areas, ingress and egress roads, and driving lands, 
shall be paved and kept in good repair at all times with a hard, all-weather surface. All points of access shall be to 
the public road; however, there shall be no public roads or alleys within the shopping center property. All loading 
and unloading shall be done entirely within the shopping center property. Except as otherwise provided in this 
section all uses within the shopping center shall conform with other regulations as set forth in this ordinance.  

3.38 Signs. 

The purpose of this section is to:  

A. Promote the safety of persons and property by providing that signs do not create traffic hazards or hazards 
due to collapse, fire, collision, decay or abandonment.  

B. To protect the public welfare and county property values by preserving the aesthetic quality of the natural 
environment.  

C. Promote efficient commercial and non-commercial identification or information by improving the legibility 
and effectiveness of signs through the control of their number, location, size, appearance, illumination, and 
animation.  

D. Preserve the right of free speech and expression.  

3.38.1 Sign permits. All signs on commercial or industrial property must have a sign permit issued by the 
Effingham County Zoning Department. Multiple similar signs such as real estate or political signs shall only be 
required to have a single sign permit. All signs other than temporary event signs shall be required to get a building 
permit and meet all required wind load and building regulations.  

707

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 37 of 43 

3.38.2 Legal signs. 

A. Any permitted sign which complies with the provisions of this article, and any subsequent amendments 
hereto, is hereby deemed to be a legal sign. Any proposed alteration to or relocation of such sign shall 
require a new permit pursuant to this section.  

B. Any legal sign which does not comply with the provisions of this article solely due to the enactment of 
an amendment shall, upon the effective date of such amendment, become a nonconforming sign and 
shall be considered a legal sign unless it is relocated or altered.  

3.38.3 Illegal signs. Any existing sign that does not have a permit issued by Effingham County pursuant to this 
section is hereby deemed to be an illegal sign and such sign and the person or persons responsible for such sign 
shall be subject to the enforcement and penalty provisions in this title.  

3.38.4 Signs exempt from regulation. 

A. Governmental agency signs  

B. Property addresses up to 12 inches in height  

C. Incidental signs one square foot or less  

3.38.5 Prohibited signs. 

A. Any sign, except those erected by a governmental agency, in a public street or highway right-of-way.  

B. Inflatable signs.  

C. Signs mounted on a roof or extending above the roofline.  

D. Ribbons, and pennants.  

E. Any sign resembling the shape, size, or color of a governmental traffic sign.  

F. Any sign with lights that resemble the lights used by police, fire, and emergency vehicles.  

G. Any light source on a sign that is directly visible from a vehicle or residence.  

H. Any flashing or intermittent light.  

I. Any sign attached to a natural feature such as a tree or rock.  

J. Any sign attached to a telephone pole or utility pole.  

K. Any unpermitted sign attached to a permitted sign.  

L. No sign shall be placed in or obstruct the view of an area of designated historic interest.  

3.38.6 Billboards. 

A. Uniform size. The outside measurements of all billboards shall be 12 feet in height and 25 feet in 
length.  

B. Location. The billboard must be on commercial or industrial land. It must be located on a parcel with at 
least 200 feet of state or federal highway frontage.  

C. Illumination. All illuminated billboards shall use base-mounted lights. The light source must not be 
visible from a vehicle or a residence. No additional lighting shall be allowed.  

D. Height. All billboards shall be a minimum of ten feet above grade and a maximum of 30 feet above 
grade.  

E. Extrusions prohibited. Extrusions beyond the face of the billboard, excluding aprons, are prohibited.  

708

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 38 of 43 

F. Number of signs per location. Only one billboard shall be allowed to face the same direction per 
location. This allows back to back or V formation billboards but prohibits two billboards facing the 
same direction.  

G. Spacing. Billboard location shall be no less than 500 feet from the nearest billboard measuring from the 
nearest point. No more than three billboards shall be permitted per mile when such billboards are 
located on the same side of the road.  

H. Distance from property line. Billboard structures shall be no less than ten feet from any property line.  

I. State law. All billboards must also comply with all aspects of the Georgia Outdoor Advertising Code.  

J. Changeable copy signs. 

1. General Rule — Animated or changeable copy signs shall be erected, posted, displayed or 
modified only in accordance with the criteria hereunder as well as all other generally applicable 
standards of this ordinance related to the location, height, size, and other characteristics. 
Billboards that move, flash or simulate movement are prohibited.  

2. Each message displayed on any changing billboard display shall remain static for at least ten 
seconds following the completion of its transition from the previous message. As used in this 
subsection "static" shall mean a display that is fixed in one position with no portion of the display 
being in motion or changing in color or light intensity.  

3. Changing of image shall be substantially instantaneous, two seconds or less, as seen by the 
human eye and shall not use fading, rolling, window shading, dissolving or similar effect as part of 
the change.  

4. No display or other effect from any electronically changed billboard shall cause a glare or other 
condition that impairs the vision of the driver of any motor vehicle or which otherwise interferes 
with the safe operation of a motor vehicle.  

5. Video technology in billboards shall use automatic level controls to reduce light levels at night 
and under cloudy or other darkened conditions, in accordance with the following standards. All 
electronic or digital display unit message boards shall have installed ambient light monitors, and 
such monitors shall at all times automatically adjust the brightness level of the electronic 
billboard based on ambient light conditions. Maximum brightness levels for electronic or digital 
display boards shall not exceed ambient light levels by more than 0.3 foot candles.  

6. Any billboard using video technology which malfunctions, fails, or ceases to operate in its usual or 
normal manner causing therein motion, movement, flashing or any other similar effects shall be 
repaired or disconnected within 48 hours by the owner or operator of such billboard, and shall be 
equipped so that it may be turned off by the county in the event of such malfunction or failure.  

7. The county shall be permitted to post emergency notices on electronically changeable billboards 
on 24 hours' notice.  

8. Conversion of an existing billboard to an automatic changeable copy video billboard or to add an 
automatic changeable copy video element to it is allowed only if the billboard as modified will 
conform with all standards in this section and with all other applicable standards related to the 
height, size, location and other characteristics of the billboard.  

3.38.7 Signs in commercial zones. 

A. Each parcel in a commercial zone is entitled to one freestanding sign for up to 200 feet of street 
frontage.  

709

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 39 of 43 

B. Each parcel in a commercial zone may have an additional freestanding sign for each additional 200 feet 
of street frontage and must be separated by at least 200 feet from any other sign on the property.  

C. A multi-unit building on a single commercial parcel may have multiple tenant panels on a single sign.  

D. No sign shall encroach into the street right-of-way or be within 25 feet of an established street 
intersection and no sign or support thereof shall obstruct driver visibility.  

3.38.8 Number of signs. In addition to any potential free standing sign, each business in a commercial or 
industrial zone shall be limited to one facade sign, one projecting sign attached to the building and one wall sign 
for each exposed side of the building other than the front.  

3.38.9 Freestanding sign size. The maximum size of the signable area of a freestanding sign is as follows:  

A. In the B-2, B-3, and I-1 districts: 64 square feet for a single tenant parcel or 100 square feet for a 
multiple tenant parcel.  

B. In the B-1 zoning district: 32 square feet.  

C. In the R-3 and R-4 zoning districts: 50 square feet.  

D. In the R-1, R-1A, and R-2 zoning districts: Six square feet excluding signs at the entrance to 
neighborhoods which may be up to 24 square feet.  

E. In the CP zoning district: 16 square feet.  

F. In the PD zoning district: Sign regulations not less stringent than the regulations herein must be 
included in the written development text required by section 5.15.3.3 of the Effingham County Zoning 
Ordinance.  

3.38.10 Height. 

A. Maximum height. In all commercial and industrial districts no freestanding sign shall exceed 30 feet 
from grade.  

B. Clearance. No hanging, suspended, or projecting sign shall have a vertical clearance of less than 14 feet 
over any vehicular public way, nor less than nine feet over any pedestrian public way. Public ways 
include privately owned sidewalks and drives customarily used by the public.  

Permitted Freestanding Signs - By Land Use  

 Agricultural 
Property  

Single and 
Two Family 
Residential  

Multi-Family 
Residential  

Commercial 
Property  

Industrial 
Property  

Public or 
Community 
Use Property  

Principal Freestanding Sign — Depending on Zoning District  

Maximum 
Number  

1 per lot  1 per lot  1 per street 
frontage  

1 per 200 
feet street 
frontage  

1 per 200 
feet street 
frontage  

1 per 200 
feet street 
frontage  

Maximum 
Signable Area  

16 square 
feet  

6 square feet  50 square 
feet  

64 square 
feet for 
single tenant, 
100 square 
feet for 
multiple 
tenants  

64 square 
feet for 
single tenant, 
100 square 
feet for 
multiple 
tenants  

64 square 
feet for 
single tenant, 
100 square 
feet for 
multiple 
tenants  

Maximum 
Height  

6 feet  5 feet  30 feet  30 feet  30 feet  30 feet  

 

710

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 40 of 43 

3.38.11 Institutional uses. Institutional uses are allowed one sign per 200 feet of street frontage with a 
maximum signable area of 64 square feet regardless of which zoning district they are located in.  

3.38.12 Projections. No sign shall project more than six feet from the wall of a building.  

3.38.13 Event signs. 

A. In the B-1, B-2, B-3, I-1, R-3, or R-4 zoning districts one temporary event sign not to exceed 24 square 
feet in size and not to be displayed for more than 30 days may be located on each parcel. Temporary 
event signs in these districts must be secured to a building.  

B. In all zoning districts each parcel is entitled to one temporary event sign not to exceed six square feet 
in size. Such signs may be displayed for the length of the event. Each parcel may have no more than 
three such events per calendar year.  

C. When there is the threat of a serious wind event the county reserves the right to remove any 
temporary event sign that it deems to be a hazard to public safety. It will be the responsibility of the 
sign owner to retrieve any impounded sign from the county zoning office.  

D. Signs not removed within ten days following the occurrence of an event or expiration of the permitted 
period may be removed by the county zoning office and impounded. The costs of removal shall be 
charged to the person owning or using the sign or the owner of the building or premises.  

E. Impounded signs will be held for ten days, after which they will be destroyed.  

3.38.14 Flags. In the B1, B-2, B-3, and I-1 zoning districts no more than three flags are allowed per parcel. The 
combined square footage of all flags displayed on a parcel in these districts shall be no more than 64 square feet.  

3.38.15 Sign conditions. 

A. Unsafe signs. Whenever a sign becomes structurally unsafe or otherwise endangers the safety of the 
building or the public, the zoning administrator shall order that such sign be made safe or removed. 
The person owning or using the sign or the owner of the building or premises on which such unsafe 
sign is affixed or erected shall comply with such order within ten days of receipt thereof.  

B. Unmaintained signs. Whenever a sign is physically damaged or is not maintained and is determined by 
the zoning administrator to negatively impact the visual character of the surrounding area or pose an 
unsafe condition, the zoning administrator shall order that such sign be properly maintained or 
removed. The person owning or using the sign or the owner of the building or premises on which such 
unsafe sign is affixed or erected shall comply with such order within 60 days of receipt thereof.  

3.38.16 Nonconforming signs. No nonconforming sign may be relocated or altered other than for routine 
maintenance without bringing the sign into conformance with the current sign ordinance. A temporary sign may 
not be considered a nonconforming sign for purposes of grandfathering.   

711

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 41 of 43 

3.38.17 Sign definitions. 

Awning: A cloth, plastic, or other nonstructural covering that either is permanently attached to a building or 
can be raised or retracted to a position against the building when not in use. A sign on an awning is considered a 
projecting sign.  

Banner: A sign on a lightweight material that is secured or mounted to a building.  

Billboard: A large sign erected along a state or interstate highway and intended to be viewed from travelers 
on said highway.  

Changeable copy: Copy, including text and/or graphics that changes at intervals.  

External illumination: Illumination of a sign that is affected by an artificial source of light not contained with 
the sign itself.  

Facade: The side of a building below the eaves.  

Flag: Lightweight material, usually with a political symbol, that is attached on one side to a pole.  

Flashing illumination: Illumination in which the artificial source of light is not maintained stationary or 
constant in intensity and color at all times when a street graphic is illuminated, including illuminated lighting.  

Free standing sign: A sign that is not attached to a building or other structure.  

Graphic: Written or pictorial representation.  

Historic or scenic area: An area that contains unique historic or scenic characteristics that require special 
regulations to ensure that street graphics displayed within the area are compatible with its visual character.  

Incidental sign: A sign of one square foot or less.  

Indirect Illumination: A source or external illumination located away from the sign.  

Institutional uses: Schools, hospitals, churches, and government facilities.  

Internal illumination: A light source that is concealed or contained within a sign.  

Monument sign: A sign that is permanently affixed to the ground at its base, supported entirely by the base 
structure, and not mounted on a pole.  

Multi-use building: A building consisting of more than one commercial use.  

Neon sign: A sign that is created by bending a neon filled glass tube to form text or graphics.  

Nonconforming sign: A sign that was lawfully constructed or installed prior to the adoption or amendment of 
this ordinance and was in compliance with all ordinances at the time of installation, but which does not presently 
comply with these regulations.  

Pole sign: A freestanding sign other than a billboard that is permanently supported in a fixed location by a 
pole(s), uprights, or braces from the ground and not supported by a building or a base structure.  

Portable sign: A sign not permanently attached to the ground or a building or designed to be permanently 
attached to the ground.  

Projecting sign: A sign attached to and projecting from a wall and not in the same plane as the wall.  

Roof sign: A sign that is displayed above the peak or parapet of the building.  

Shopping center: A commercial development under unified control consisting of four or more separate 
commercial establishments sharing a common building, or are in separate buildings that share a common parking 
area or entryway.  

712

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 42 of 43 

Sign: Any structure, display, or device that is used to advertise, identify, direct, or attract attention to a 
business, institution, organization, person, idea, product, service, event, or location by any means, including words, 
letters, figures, design characteristics, symbols, logos, fixtures, colors, movement, or illumination.  

Signable area: An area within a single continuous perimeter composed of a single rectangle, circle, or triangle 
enclosing the extreme limits of characters, lettering, illustrations, ornamentations, or other figures.  

(Ord. of 2-4-97; Amend. of 11-7-06; Ord. of 4-7-09) 

3.40 Traffic visibility across corner lots. 

On any corner lot in any district, no fence, structure, or planting more than 30 inches high measured from 
the center of the road shall be erected or maintained within 20 feet of the corner so as not to interfere with traffic 
visibility across the corner.  

3.41 Swimming pools, private community, or club. 

3.41.1 Swimming pools. A swimming pool, whether in the ground or permanently installed aboveground, is hereby 
defined as any pool, lake, or open tank, other than a farm pond, which is not located within a completely 
enclosed building and which contains, or is capable of containing, water at a depth at any point greater than 
1½ feet. No such private swimming pool shall be allowed in the B-1, AR, PUD districts, or in any R district, 
except as an accessory use, and unless it complies with the following conditions and requirements:  

3.41.2 Use. The pool is intended and is to be used solely for the enjoyment of the occupants of the principal use of 
the property on which it is located and their guests, and no fee shall be charged.  

3.41.3 Location. It may not be located, including any walks or paved areas or accessory structures adjacent 
thereto, closer than ten feet to any property line of the property on which it is located.  

3.41.4 Reserved. 

3.41.5 Community or club swimming pools. A community or club swimming pool shall be any pool constructed by 
an association of property owners, or by a private club solely for use and enjoyment by members of the 
association or club and their families and guests of members. Community and club swimming pools shall comply 
with the following conditions and requirements:  

3.41.5.1 The pool and accessory structures thereto, including the areas used by the bathers, shall meet the 
front setback for the district in which it lies. Side and rear setbacks shall be ten feet.  

3.41.5.2 The swimming pool and all of the area used by the bathers shall be so walled or fenced as to 
prevent uncontrolled access by children from the street or adjacent properties. The said fence or wall 
shall not be less than four feet in height and maintained in good condition and grounded for electricity. 
The area surrounding the enclosure, except of the parking spaces, shall be suitably landscaped with 
grass, hardy shrubs, and trees and shall be maintained in good condition.  

(Ord. of 6-23-15) 

3.42 Time limitation. 

No building permit for construction, erection, or alteration of any building or structure or part thereof, or for 
signs or outdoor advertisements, or part thereof, shall be valid for more than six months unless work at the site 
has commenced within such period.  

713

Item XI. 20.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 43 of 43 

3.43 Notice of starting work. 

The building and zoning inspector shall be given at least 24 hours' notice by the owner or applicant prior to 
commencement of work at the site under building permits.  

3.44 Temporary dwelling allowance. 

In the case of a single-family residence being destroyed by natural disaster or accidental fire it shall be 
allowed in all agricultural and single-family residential districts for a recreational vehicle or trailer to be moved 
onto the property for use as a temporary dwelling during the replacement of the primary residence. This special 
exemption shall be permitted for a period of no longer than one year. Placement of the vehicle must meet all 
setback requirements and be approved by the Effingham County Building Department. Sanitation must be 
approved by the Effingham County Health Department.  

(Ord. of 5-4-10, § 1) 

 

714

Item XI. 20.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:   City of Springfield Annexation - Map# 429A Parcel# 3A 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a request for annexation as submitted by the City 

of Springfield for a property located on Industrial Boulevard Map# 429A Parcel# 3A 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, there are properties 

across the street from the parcel in question, but is not contiguous. 
 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation or a 

petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide written 

notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is located.  

 

A public hearing of the City of Springfield’s Planning & Zoning Board and the Mayor and City 

Council will take place July 25, 2023 at 6:00 pm to consider this petition.  
 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via certified mail from the City of Springfield. These 

parcels combined consists of approximately 1.29 acres (owned by Greenland Developers, Inc.) is 

located on Industrial Boulevard.  This property lies within the Springfield’s water and sewer service 

area. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Springfield.  
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff leaves the decision to the Board’s discretion.   
 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Petition for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (related parcels and depicting city boundary) 

 

715

Item XI. 21.



IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 B

LV
D

GOVERNOR TREUTLEN DR

HWY 21 S

S134-1
S134-2 S133-5

S133-9429A-2BUF

429A-10

429A-1F

429A-104A

S133-7
S133-6

429A-10A
429A-10C

S133-12
429-4

429-4

S133-14

S133-14

429-5

429A-3

429A-9

S133-13

429-18A
429A-8

429-3

429A-4

429A-7

429-19
429-18B

429A-5A

429A-6
429-20

429-21

429A-5
429-21A

429-22 S133-1

429A-1B

429-22C

0 440 880 1,320 1,760220
Feet

1 inch = 220 feet

Legend
Road Centerlines

Interstate
Arterial
Collector
Local
Proposed Parcel Annexation
County Parcels
Municipal Boundary

Proposed Parcel Annexation 
429A-3A & 429A-3BUF HWY 21 S

RAHN STATION RD

Vicinity Map

³

429A-3A
429A-3BUF

716

Item XI. 21.



717

Item XI. 21.



718

Item XI. 21.



719

Item XI. 21.



720

Item XI. 21.



721

Item XI. 21.



722

Item XI. 21.



723

Item XI. 21.



724

Item XI. 21.



725

Item XI. 21.



726

Item XI. 22.



727

Item XI. 22.



728

Item XI. 22.



729

Item XI. 22.



730

Item XI. 22.



731

Item XI. 22.



732

Item XI. 22.



733

Item XI. 23.



734

Item XI. 23.



735

Item XI. 23.



736

Item XI. 23.



737

Item XI. 23.



738

Item XI. 23.



739

Item XI. 23.



740

Item XI. 24.



741

Item XI. 24.



742

Item XI. 24.



743

Item XI. 24.



744

Item XI. 24.



745

Item XI. 24.



746

Item XI. 24.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Sketch Plan (First District)  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II  
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: 3 Byrds Development, LLC request approval of a sketch plan for “Bull Run_North 
Tract Development”, a 217-unit townhome subdivision. Located on Noel C Conaway Road, zoned R-3. [Map# 
352 Parcel# 18] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Bull Run_North Tract 
Development”, a 217-unit townhome subdivision.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 
the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 
sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 
features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 
sketch plan.  

• This parcel was approved for rezoning at the June 6, 2023 Board of Commissioners Meeting.  
• At the February 13, 2023 pre-application meeting, staff and the applicant discussed access 

management, block length, connectivity, development plan review requirements, and buffers. 
• A stub-out to the property to the north (352-4) must be paved to the property line. 
• Open space includes the 1.37 acres at Hwy 30, which is to be dedicated to Effingham County. 
• Amenities included in the Sketch Plan are a dog park, covered picnic shelter, earthen walking trails, and 

a clubhouse.  
• A maintenance association, homeowner’s association, or some other entity will be created to maintain all 

amenities and common areas.  
• The applicant proposes to extend lines ~1000 to connect to existing water and sewer at Windfield 

Subdivision.  
• A GDOT encroachment permit for access to Hwy 30 will be required during the development plan review 

process. 
• Paved roads less than 28’ will not be permitted to allow parking, per sec. 7.1.13 Street right-of-way widths. 
• After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 

recommendations. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, Mr. Alan 

Zipperer seconded. The motion carried unanimously.    

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Bull Run_North Tract Development”. 
2. Deny the sketch plan for “Bull Run_North Tract Development”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Sketch Plan  3. Aerial Photograph  

  

747

Item XV. 1.



748

Item XV. 1.



749

Item XV. 1.



750

Item XV. 1.



751

Item XV. 1.



752

Item XV. 1.



753

Item XV. 1.



754

Item XV. 1.



755

Item XV. 1.



756

Item XV. 1.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Sketch Plan (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Rogan DeMarco requests approval of a sketch plan for “Windfield Parcel C&E 
Townhomes,” a 33-unit townhome subdivision. Located on Noel C Conaway Road, zoned PD. [Map# 352F 
Parcels# 1H&1J] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Windfield Parcel C&E 
Townhomes,” a 33-unit townhome subdivision.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 
the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 
sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 
features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 
sketch plan.  

• These parcels are located within Phase I of the Windfield Subdivision. The Planned Development Text for 
Windfield Subdivision was approved in 2004 and allows for Townhomes within the first phase of the 
development.  

• At the March 13, 2023 pre-application meeting, staff and the applicant discussed access management, 
water/sewer connectivity, buffers, and stormwater management.  

• This development will be served by County water, sewer & reuse.  
• Access for the development will be off Conaway Road.  
• A 25’ buffer will be provided along GA State Route 30 and Conaway Road; this buffer will include an 

existing berm.  
• A total of 1.02 acres will be used for greenspace, equaling 33.2% of the total acreage.  
• After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 

recommendations. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval, Mr. Peter 

Higgins seconded. The motion carried unanimously.    

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Windfield Parcel C&E Townhomes”. 
2. Deny the sketch plan for “Windfield Parcel C&E Townhomes”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph 3. Sketch Plan  

757

Item XV. 2.



758

Item XV. 2.



759

Item XV. 2.



760

Item XV. 2.



761

Item XV. 2.



762

Item XV. 2.



763

Item XV. 2.



764

Item XV. 2.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Sketch Plan (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Greenland Developers request approval of a sketch plan for “Brunson Station (aka 
Helmey Development),” a 304 single and multi-family residential subdivision. Located on Noel C Conaway 
Road, zoned PD-R. [Map# 418 Parcel# 2E] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Brunson Station (aka 
Helmey Development),” a 304 single and multi-family residential subdivision.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 
the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 
sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 
features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 
sketch plan.  

• The 304 – unit subdivision will be served by County water, sewer, and reuse. 
• The density is 2 dwelling units per 170.36 gross acres (204 single family units and 136 townhomes); net 

density is 3.3 units per 104.03 buildable acres. Open space (25.10 acres) includes 10.2 acres of ponds 
and 14.85 acres of usable area.  

• Amenities will include a dog park, pool & accessory structure; multipurpose fields, walking trails, and open 
space with benches and parking throughout the development.  

• A 30’ vegetative buffer is provided around the perimeter of the development.  
• The intersection of Noel C Conaway Road and Kolic Helmey Road are part of the Transportation Master 

Plan and improvements were recommended; the developer has entered into an agreement and cost share 
to improve the intersection. 

• At the February 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Burdette added the following 
conditions: 
1. Future use of the above-referenced property shall meet the requirements of the approved PD –

Residential document and master plan. 
2. Site development plans shall comply with Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance 

and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 
3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 
4. A Traffic Impact Assessment must be submitted during the development plan review process, 

pursuant to the Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements.   
• After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 

recommendations. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval, Mr. Peter 

Higgins seconded. The motion carried unanimously.    

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Brunson Station (aka Helmey Development),” with the following conditions: 

1. Future use of the above-referenced property shall meet the requirements of the approved PD –
Residential document and master plan. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance 
and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

765

Item XV. 3.



3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 
4. A Traffic Impact Assessment must be submitted during the development plan review process, 

pursuant to the Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements.   

 
2. Deny the sketch plan for “Brunson Station (aka Helmey Development)”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph 3. Sketch Plan  

 

 

  

766

Item XV. 3.



767

Item XV. 3.



768

Item XV. 3.



769

Item XV. 3.



770

Item XV. 3.



771

Item XV. 3.



772

Item XV. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Sketch Plan (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Teramore Development as agent for Ashley Fleetwood, George & Angela Usher 
request approval for a sketch plan “Dollar General #25069”. Located on Shawnee Road & Highway 21, 
zoned B-2. [Map# 264A Parcels# 20&21] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Dollar General #25069”, 
with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 
the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 
sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 
features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 
sketch plan.  

• At the January 9, 2023 pre-application meeting staff met with the developers and discussed the site 
limitations, buffers, the use of a private well & septic, and stormwater management.   

• At the April 11, 2023 Planning Board meeting for the rezoning and variance request, Mr. Alan Zipper made 
a motion with the following conditions: 
1. A recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and recorded, before site 

development plans are submitted. 
2. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 – Flood Damage 
Prevention.  

3. A traffic impact assessment or traffic memo will be required during the development plan review 
process. 

• Mr. Ryan Thompson added a condition: 
1. The approved variance to reduce the vegetative buffer applies only in the case of a necessary 

drainfield expansion.  
• At the May 2, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Jamie DeLoach added a condition: 

1. A 30’ buffer will be adhered to between the commercially zoned and residentially zoned parcels across 
Etheridge Road. This buffer may include the detention pond, however if the pond is not needed, the 
30’ planted vegetative buffer will remain in place 

• After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 
recommendations. 

• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval, Mr. Ryan 
Thompson seconded. The motion carried unanimously.   

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Dollar General #25069” with the following conditions: 

1. Development plans shall meet the requirements of Section 5.11 B-3 Highway Commercial Districts. 
2. A recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and recorded, before site 

development plans are submitted. 
3. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 – Flood Damage 
Prevention.  

773

Item XV. 4.



4. A traffic impact assessment or traffic memo will be required during the development plan review process. 
5. The approved variance to reduce the vegetative buffer applies only in the case of a necessary drainfield 

expansion.  
6. A 30’ buffer will be adhered to between the commercially zoned and residentially zoned parcels across 

Etheridge Road. This buffer may include the detention pond, however if the pond is not needed, the 30’ 
planted vegetative buffer will remain in place 

2. Deny the sketch plan for “Dollar General #25069”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Sketch Plan  3. Aerial Photograph 

 

 

774

Item XV. 4.



775

Item XV. 4.



776

Item XV. 4.



777

Item XV. 4.



778

Item XV. 4.



779

Item XV. 4.



780

Item XV. 4.



781

Item XV. 4.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Jacob Tadlock & Halie Tadlock as Agents for Buddy Rose request to rezone 5 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site. Located at 533 Old Louisville Road. [Map# 272 
Parcel# 20] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 
to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant proposes to create a home site, approximately 1 acre in size. This new lot will be served 
by an existing 30’ access easement. 

• Neither of the proposed lots will meet the 5-acre minimum threshold for the AR-1 zoning district, 
therefore, the entire 5 acres must be rezoned. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 

o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, 
before the rezoning can take effect. 

• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 
 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 

782

Item XV. 5.



783

Item XV. 5.



784

Item XV. 5.



785

Item XV. 5.



786

Item XV. 5.



787

Item XV. 5.



788

Item XV. 5.



789

Item XV. 5.



790

Item XV. 5.



791

Item XV. 5.



792

Item XV. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

272-20 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

272-20 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JACOB TADLOCK & HALIE TADLOCK AS AGENTS FOR BUDDY ROSE has filed an application to 

rezone five (5.0) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site; map and parcel number 272-20, located in the 

3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five (5.0) +/- acres; map and parcel number 272-20, located in the 3rd commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before the rezoning can 

take effect. 

 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

793

Item XV. 6.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Jacob Tadlock & Halie Tadlock as Agents for Buddy Rose request to rezone 5 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site. Located at 533 Old Louisville Road. [Map# 272 
Parcel# 20] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 
to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant proposes to create a home site, approximately 1 acre in size. This new lot will be served 
by an existing 30’ access easement. 

• Neither of the proposed lots will meet the 5-acre minimum threshold for the AR-1 zoning district, 
therefore, the entire 5 acres must be rezoned. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 

o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, 
before the rezoning can take effect. 

• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 
 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 

794

Item XV. 6.



Staff Report            
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Katherine R. Waddell requests to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
division of the parcel. Located at 2335 Springfield Egypt Road. [Map# 316 Parcel# 2] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for division of the parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

• The applicant proposes to separate one acre from the front portion of the property for combination with 
an adjacent AR-1 parcel (316A-1).  

• 316A-1 is a 5-acre lot within Harmony Acres; a major subdivision comprised of conforming AR-1 lots. The 
addition of 1 acre to 316A-1 will alter the lot in a manner which does not impact the zoning, use, or 
character of the subdivision. 

• The remaining 4.54 acres does not meet the minimum 5 acres required for the AR-1 zoning district, and 
must therefore be rezoned. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 
o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before 

the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and recorded before rezoning can 
take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph  

795

Item XV. 7.



796

Item XV. 7.



797

Item XV. 7.



798

Item XV. 7.



799

Item XV. 7.



800

Item XV. 7.



801

Item XV. 7.



802

Item XV. 7.



803

Item XV. 7.



804

Item XV. 7.



805

Item XV. 7.



Staff Report            
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Katherine R. Waddell requests to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
division of the parcel. Located at 2335 Springfield Egypt Road. [Map# 316 Parcel# 2] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for division of the parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

• The applicant proposes to separate one acre from the front portion of the property for combination with 
an adjacent AR-1 parcel (316A-1).  

• 316A-1 is a 5-acre lot within Harmony Acres; a major subdivision comprised of conforming AR-1 lots. The 
addition of 1 acre to 316A-1 will alter the lot in a manner which does not impact the zoning, use, or 
character of the subdivision. 

• The remaining 4.54 acres does not meet the minimum 5 acres required for the AR-1 zoning district, and 
must therefore be rezoned. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 
o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before 

the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and recorded before rezoning can 
take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 4.54 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

806

Item XV. 8.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

316-2 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

316-2 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, KATHERINE R. WADDELL has filed an application to rezone five and fifty-four thousandths (5.54) +/- acres; 

from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for to allow division of the parcel; map and parcel number 316-2, located in the 3rd commissioner district, 

and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five and fifty-four thousandths (5.54) +/- acres; map and parcel number 316-2, located 

in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before the rezoning can take 

effect. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

807

Item XV. 8.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Ashley N. Hynes as Agent for Richard Lancaster requests to rezone 5.89 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site. Located at 1101 Springfield Egypt Road. [Map# 342 
Parcel# 29D] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 
requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

• The applicant proposes to establish a home site from family owned land.  
• Because neither the 4.89-acre home site, nor the remaining 1-acre lot meet the 5-acre minimum threshold 

for the AR-1 zoning district, the entire 5.89 acres must be rezoned. 
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request for to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization   4. Aerial photograph  

 

  

808

Item XV. 9.



809

Item XV. 9.



810

Item XV. 9.



811

Item XV. 9.



812

Item XV. 9.



813

Item XV. 9.



814

Item XV. 9.



815

Item XV. 9.



816

Item XV. 9.



817

Item XV. 9.



818

Item XV. 9.



819

Item XV. 9.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

342-29D 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

342-29D 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ASHLEY N. HYNES AS AGENT FOR RICHARD LANCASTER has filed an application to rezone five and 

eighty-nine thousandths (5.89) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for to allow for the creation of a home site; map and parcel 

number 342-29D, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five and eighty-nine thousandths (5.89) +/- acres; map and parcel number 342-29D, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 

 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

820

Item XV. 10.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Ashley N. Hynes as Agent for Richard Lancaster requests to rezone 5.89 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site. Located at 1101 Springfield Egypt Road. [Map# 342 
Parcel# 29D] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 
requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

• The applicant proposes to establish a home site from family owned land.  
• Because neither the 4.89-acre home site, nor the remaining 1-acre lot meet the 5-acre minimum threshold 

for the AR-1 zoning district, the entire 5.89 acres must be rezoned. 
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request for to rezone 5.89 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

821

Item XV. 10.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Second District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Holly Winkler requests for a rural business. Located at 590 Old Tusculum Road. 
[Map# 366 Parcel# 10] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request  for a rural business. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 
requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – the proposed business will be an existing wrecker company. 
o Structure – the home currently serves as private office space 
o Square footage – The area devoted to the business is less than 1,000 square feet.   
o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Old Tusculum Road 
o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 1 acre. The applicant is requesting to include to that 

acreage, an adjacent, vacant, same owner parcel (366-11), which effectively buffers the rural 
business parcel. Similar considerations have been granted to past rural business applications.   

• The applicant wishes to use the property for fleet parking of the businesses 4 “wreckers”. The vehicles 
will be stored behind the dwelling and will not be visible from the road of surrounding dwellings.  

• The applicant’s business is established on the property. The request for a conditional use will bring the 
business in to compliance, there have been no code enforcements or complaints.  

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 
o Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and, and be recorded, before 

the rezoning can take effect. 
• And the added condition: 

o the proposed rural business shall be void if map-parcel, 366-11 changes ownership. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request of a conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

     1. the proposed rural business shall be void if map-parcel, 366-11 changes ownership. 
 

2. Deny the request for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph 3. Deed 

822

Item XV. 11.



823

Item XV. 11.



824

Item XV. 11.



825

Item XV. 11.



826

Item XV. 11.



 

Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Holly Winkler requests a rural business. Located at 590 Old Tusculum Road. [Map# 
366 Parcels# 10 & 11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a 
rural business. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 
requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – the proposed business will be an existing wrecker company. 
o Structure – the home currently serves as private office space 
o Square footage – The area devoted to the business is less than 1,000 square feet.   
o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Old Tusculum Road 
o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 1 acre. The applicant is requesting to include to that 

acreage, an adjacent, vacant, same owner parcel (366-11), which effectively buffers the rural 
business parcel. Similar considerations have been granted to past rural business applications.   

• The applicant wishes to use the property for fleet parking of the businesses 4 “wreckers”. The vehicles 
will be stored behind the dwelling and will not be visible from the road of surrounding dwellings.  

• The applicant’s business is established on the property. The request for a conditional use will bring the 
business in to compliance, there have been no code enforcements or complaints.  

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the added 
condition: 

o the proposed rural business shall be void if map-parcel, 366-11 changes ownership. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1.the proposed rural business shall be void if map-parcel, 366-11 changes ownership. 
2. Deny the request for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

827

Item XV. 12.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

366-10 & 11 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

366-10 & 11 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority 

thereof: 

WHEREAS, HOLLY WINKLER has filed an application for a rural business; map and parcel numbers 366-10 & 11, located in the 3rd 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham County Herald 

on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a rural business; map and parcel number 366-10 & 11, located in the 3rd commissioner district, is 

approved, with the following condition: 

1.the proposed rural business shall be void if map-parcel, 366-11 changes ownership. 
 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

828

Item XV. 12.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July, 2023 
Item Description: T&T Exley Properties requests to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU, 
to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. Located off of Highway 21. (Second District) [Map# 
466D Parcels# 1,6,9,11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres 
from PD-MU to PD-MU, to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning to the PD-MU zoning district is found in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted 

in Districts, Section 15.  
• The original PD-MU document, approved in 2008, designates acreage in the northern most parcels as 

multi-family housing to serve as a transition between industrial and residential use and provide diversity 
of housing to the County. The multi-family portion included the following details: 

o Up to 1,350 units 
o A 30’ buffer, 15’ to be vegetative, between multi-family and surrounding residential properties. 

• The applicant proposes to amend the PD document to: 
o Remove the multi-family component completely. 

 To be replaced with an additional +/- 2,000,000 square feet of industrial development, 
shown to be spread across 3 warehouses equaling approximately 1,000,000 square 
feet. 

 The proposed buffering to adjacent residential properties is shown in concept to be 
100’, the proposed berm within the buffer is described as up to 25’ with a 2:1 slope.  

o Account for the 24.5 acres in use as a Verizon tower site. This is designated as “Highway 
Commercial/Industrial” 

• The requested amendment of the PD document will increase buffering between development and 
neighboring residential use, as well as decrease traffic trips per day by an approximate 50% (10,160 for 
1350 multi-family uses, 5,000 for warehouse use). 

• The change to the PD document was submitted for a DRI which was completed on May 10, 2023. 
Comments on the project were from City of Savannah: “Effingham County should coordinate with City of 
Savannah since it does utilize City of Savannah water through a municipal water supply agreement” 

• On June 8, 2023, a town hall type meeting was held with the intent to inform surrounding property owners 
of current approval/proposed changes. The consensus presented by the public indicated that 
warehousing would be preferable to multi-family housing. The following were some of the concerns raised 
by residents with regards to adjacent industrial use: 

o Light/noise pollution 
o Burden to roads 
o Proximity of development to property lines 
o Appearance from residential properties 
o Destruction of natural habitat 
o The potential for a future rail spur 

• In response to these concerns, Staff is recommending additional conditions to approval. 
• Residents spoke to reiterate concerns at the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
829

Item XV. 13.



o No rail spur shall be permitted. 
o  Any planned trailer storage as a use must be approved as a conditional use. 
o Berms used to buffer from neighboring residential properties shall be a minimum of 25’ high. 

• And the additional stipulations that: 
o The berm be constructed in a manner that it hides structures from line of sight of adjacent 

residential properties. 
o The minimum buffer shall be 115’ 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried 4-0, Ryan Thompson having recused himself from 
this item. 

Alternatives 
1. Approve the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU, with the following 

condition: 
1.No rail spur shall be permitted. 
2. Any planned trailer storage as a use must be approved as a conditional use. 
3. Berms used to buffer from neighboring residential properties shall be a minimum of 25’ high. 
4. The berm shall be constructed in a manner that it hides future structures from line of sight of 
adjacent residential properties. 
5. The minimum buffer shall be 115’. 
 

2. Deny the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 2. PD Text Document  3. Deed 

4.Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 
  

830

Item XV. 13.



831

Item XV. 13.



832

Item XV. 13.



833

Item XV. 13.



834

Item XV. 13.



835

Item XV. 13.



836

Item XV. 13.



837

Item XV. 13.



838

Item XV. 13.



839

Item XV. 13.



840

Item XV. 13.



841

Item XV. 13.



842

Item XV. 13.



843

Item XV. 13.



844

Item XV. 13.



845

Item XV. 13.



846

Item XV. 13.



847

Item XV. 13.



848

Item XV. 13.



849

Item XV. 13.



850

Item XV. 13.



851

Item XV. 13.



852

Item XV. 13.



853

Item XV. 13.



854

Item XV. 13.



855

Item XV. 13.



856

Item XV. 13.



857

Item XV. 13.



858

Item XV. 13.



859

Item XV. 13.



860

Item XV. 13.



861

Item XV. 13.



862

Item XV. 13.



863

Item XV. 13.



864

Item XV. 13.



865

Item XV. 13.



866

Item XV. 13.



867

Item XV. 13.



868

Item XV. 13.



869

Item XV. 13.



870

Item XV. 13.



871

Item XV. 13.



872

Item XV. 13.



873

Item XV. 13.



874

Item XV. 13.



875

Item XV. 13.



876

Item XV. 13.



877

Item XV. 13.



878

Item XV. 13.



879

Item XV. 13.



880

Item XV. 13.



881

Item XV. 13.



882

Item XV. 13.



883

Item XV. 13.



884

Item XV. 13.



885

Item XV. 13.



886

Item XV. 13.



887

Item XV. 13.



888

Item XV. 13.



889

Item XV. 13.



890

Item XV. 13.



891

Item XV. 13.



892

Item XV. 13.



893

Item XV. 13.



894

Item XV. 13.



895

Item XV. 13.



896

Item XV. 13.



897

Item XV. 13.



898

Item XV. 13.



899

Item XV. 13.



900

Item XV. 13.



901

Item XV. 13.



902

Item XV. 13.



903

Item XV. 13.



904

Item XV. 13.



905

Item XV. 13.



906

Item XV. 13.



907

Item XV. 13.



908

Item XV. 13.



909

Item XV. 13.



910

Item XV. 13.



911

Item XV. 13.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July, 2023 
Item Description: T&T Exley Properties requests to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU, 
to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. Located off of Highway 21. (Second District) [Map# 
466D Parcels# 1,6,9,11] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres 
from PD-MU to PD-MU, to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning to the PD-MU zoning district is found in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted 

in Districts, Section 15.  
• The original PD-MU document, approved in 2008, designates acreage in the northern most parcels as 

multi-family housing to serve as a transition between industrial and residential use and provide diversity 
of housing to the County. The multi-family portion included the following details: 

o Up to 1,350 units 
o A 30’ buffer, 15’ to be vegetative, between multi-family and surrounding residential properties. 

• The applicant proposes to amend the PD document to: 
o Remove the multi-family component completely. 

 To be replaced with an additional +/- 2,000,000 square feet of industrial development, 
shown to be spread across 3 warehouses equaling approximately 1,000,000 square 
feet. 

 The proposed buffering to adjacent residential properties is shown in concept to be 
100’, the proposed berm within the buffer is described as up to 25’ with a 2:1 slope.  

o Account for the 24.5 acres in use as a Verizon tower site. This is designated as “Highway 
Commercial/Industrial” 

• The requested amendment of the PD document will increase buffering between development and 
neighboring residential use, as well as decrease traffic trips per day by an approximate 50% (10,160 for 
1350 multi-family uses, 5,000 for warehouse use). 

• The change to the PD document was submitted for a DRI which was completed on May 10, 2023. 
Comments on the project were from City of Savannah: “Effingham County should coordinate with City of 
Savannah since it does utilize City of Savannah water through a municipal water supply agreement” 

• On June 8, 2023, a town hall type meeting was held with the intent to inform surrounding property owners 
of current approval/proposed changes. The consensus presented by the public indicated that 
warehousing would be preferable to multi-family housing. The following were some of the concerns raised 
by residents with regards to adjacent industrial use: 

o Light/noise pollution 
o Burden to roads 
o Proximity of development to property lines 
o Appearance from residential properties 
o Destruction of natural habitat 
o The potential for a future rail spur 

• In response to these concerns, Staff is recommending additional conditions to approval. 
• Residents spoke to reiterate concerns at the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
912

Item XV. 14.



o No rail spur shall be permitted. 
o  Any planned trailer storage as a use must be approved as a conditional use. 
o Berms used to buffer from neighboring residential properties shall be a minimum of 25’ high. 

• And the additional stipulations that: 
o The berm be constructed in a manner that it hides structures from line of sight of adjacent 

residential properties. 
o The minimum buffer from industrial use to residential shall be 115’ 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried 4-0, Ryan Thompson having recused himself from 
this item. 

Alternatives 
1. Approve the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU, with the following 

condition: 
1.No rail spur shall be permitted. 
2. Any planned trailer storage as a use must be approved as a conditional use. 
3. Berms used to buffer from neighboring residential properties shall be a minimum of 25’ high. 
4. The berm shall be constructed in a manner that it hides future structures from line of sight of 
adjacent residential properties. 
5. The minimum buffer from industrial use to residential shall be 115’. 
 

2. Deny the request to rezone 274 of 1,047 acres from PD-MU to PD-MU.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

  

913

Item XV. 14.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

466D-1,6,9,11 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

466D-1,6,9,11 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, T&T EXLEY PROPERTIES has filed an application to rezone two hundred seventy four (274.0) +/- of 1,047 

acres; from PD-MU to PD-MU to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development; map and parcel number 466D-1,6,9,11, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT two hundred seventy four (274.0) +/- of 1,047 acres; map and parcel number 466D-

1,6,9,11, located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from PD-MU to PD-MU, with the following conditions: 

1.No rail spur shall be permitted. 

2. Any planned trailer storage as a use must be approved as a conditional use. 

3. Berms used to buffer from neighboring residential properties shall be a minimum of 25’ high. 

4. The berm shall be constructed in a manner that it hides future structures from line of sight of adjacent residential properties. 

5. The minimum buffer from industrial to residential uses shall be 115’. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

914

Item XV. 14.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Simcoe Investments Group, LLC requests to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 
to PD-R, to allow for a residential development. Located at 1094 Goshen Road. (Second District) [Map# 
451 Parcel# 21] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres 
from R-1 to PD-R, to allow for a residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning to the PD-R zoning district is found in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in 

Districts, Section 15.  
• The applicant wishes to develop a 90 unit, single family residential community. Lot and unit details 

include: 
o  The proposed building setbacks are compatible with the R-5 zoning district. 
o Lot sizes are considerably narrower in comparison with R-5 zoning: 

 Total lot size: 3,456 square feet (R-5 is 6,600 square feet [.15 acres]) 
 Total lot width: 36’ (R-5 is 50’) 

o To mitigate the narrowness of the lots, the applicant proposes home models that are two-story 
and approximately 20’ wide. 

o Density is 3.58 units per useable acre (R-5 allows a maximum of 5 units per useable acre). 
• Water and sewer will be provided by Effingham County. There is a single access point planned to/from 

Goshen Road. 
• The applicant is requesting the following exemptions: 

o Block Length 
 The physical characteristics of the property, and surrounding uses, eliminate the 

opportunity for conventional block layout, “stub outs”, or secondary access points. 
o Free standing sign size 

 Signs of 8’ width are to be submitted for individual approval. If deviation is such that 
staff cannot approve the proposed sign, the matter will be brought before the Board of 
Commissioners for approval. 

o The minimum road centerline radius is requested to be 100’. 
o The applicant will also require exemption from 5.15.1.2 requirement that “the site must have a 

minimum width, between any two opposite boundary lines, of 300 linear feet. 
 The narrowest portions of the property are shown to be reserved for ponds. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, multiple surrounding residents spoke to voice opposition. Their 
concerns included: 

o The impact of an additional development to current traffic concerns 
o Destruction of natural surroundings 
o Diminishments to current character of the area 
o Proposed ponds causing mosquito problems 

• During Board discussing, concerns were raised regarding: 
o Frontage aesthetics 
o Location of density 
o Density and lot size 
o Increase of traffic 

915

Item XV. 15.



o The ability of adequate off street parking to accommodate density 
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to deny. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 to PD-R with the following conditions: 
 1. A sketch plan shall be reviewed by staff, and approved by the Board of Commissioners independent 
of the approved master plan and concept. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 to PD-R.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph    6. PD Document 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

916

Item XV. 15.



917

Item XV. 15.



918

Item XV. 15.



919

Item XV. 15.



920

Item XV. 15.



921

Item XV. 15.



922

Item XV. 15.



923

Item XV. 15.



924

Item XV. 15.



925

Item XV. 15.



926

Item XV. 15.



927

Item XV. 15.



928

Item XV. 15.



929

Item XV. 15.



930

Item XV. 15.



931

Item XV. 15.



932

Item XV. 15.



933

Item XV. 15.



934

Item XV. 15.



935

Item XV. 15.



936

Item XV. 15.



937

Item XV. 15.



938

Item XV. 15.



939

Item XV. 15.



940

Item XV. 15.



941

Item XV. 15.



942

Item XV. 15.



943

Item XV. 15.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Simcoe Investments Group, LLC requests to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 
to PD-R, to allow for a residential development. Located at 1094 Goshen Road. (Second District) [Map# 
451 Parcel# 21] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres 
from R-1 to PD-R, to allow for a residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning to the PD-R zoning district is found in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in 

Districts, Section 15.  
• The applicant wishes to develop a 90 unit, single family residential community. Lot and unit details 

include: 
o  The proposed building setbacks are compatible with the R-5 zoning district. 
o Lot sizes are considerably narrower in comparison with R-5 zoning: 

 Total lot size: 3,456 square feet (R-5 is 6,600 square feet [.15 acres]) 
 Total lot width: 36’ (R-5 is 50’) 

o To mitigate the narrowness of the lots, the applicant proposes home models that are two-story 
and approximately 20’ wide. 

o Density is 3.58 units per useable acre (R-5 allows a maximum of 5 units per useable acre). 
• Water and sewer will be provided by Effingham County. There is a single access point planned to/from 

Goshen Road. 
• The applicant is requesting the following exemptions: 

o Block Length 
 The physical characteristics of the property, and surrounding uses, eliminate the 

opportunity for conventional block layout, “stub outs”, or secondary access points. 
o Free standing sign size 

 Signs of 8’ width are to be submitted for individual approval. If deviation is such that 
staff cannot approve the proposed sign, the matter will be brought before the Board of 
Commissioners for approval. 

o The minimum road centerline radius is requested to be 100’. 
o The applicant will also require exemption from 5.15.1.2 requirement that “the site must have a 

minimum width, between any two opposite boundary lines, of 300 linear feet. 
 The narrowest portions of the property are shown to be reserved for ponds. 

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, multiple surrounding residents spoke to voice opposition. Their 
concerns included: 

o The impact of an additional development to current traffic concerns 
o Destruction of natural surroundings 
o Diminishments to current character of the area 
o Proposed ponds causing mosquito problems 

• During Board discussing, concerns were raised regarding: 
o Frontage aesthetics 
o Location of density 
o Density and lot size 
o Increase of traffic 

944

Item XV. 16.



o The ability of adequate off street parking to accommodate density 
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to deny. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 to PD-R with the following conditions: 
 1. A sketch plan shall be reviewed by staff, and approved by the Board of Commissioners independent 
of the approved master plan and concept. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 29.60 of 39.94 acres from R-1 to PD-R.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
945

Item XV. 16.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

451-21 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

451-21 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, SIMCOE INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC has filed an application to rezone twenty-nine and sixty thousandths 

(29.60) +/- acres; from R-1 to PD-R to allow for a multi-family residential development; map and parcel number 451-21, located in 

the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT twenty-nine and sixty thousandths (29.60) +/- acres; map and parcel number 451-21, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to PD-R, with the following condition: 

1. A sketch plan shall be reviewed by staff, and approved by the Board of Commissioners independent of the approved 

master plan and concept. 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

946

Item XV. 16.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  Rezoning (First & Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: T&D Enterprises as Agent for Clayton Morgan requests to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres 
from AR-1 to PD-MR, to allow for a surface mine. Located at Lowground Road & Midland Road. (First & 
Fourth District) [Map# 350 Parcel# 18] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres 
from AR-1 to PD-MR, to allow for a surface mine, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The regulations governing the PD-MR zoning district, for surface mine operations over 10 acres is found 

in Part II – Official Code, Appendix C – Zoning Districts, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, 
Section – 5.15.7.9 Mining and reclamation (PD-MR) in the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  

• The applicant proposes to expand a pre-existing surface mine site by 18 acres. 
• Staff has met with the applicant and established the following policies for this project: 

o Access will be via Lowground Road. 
o A traffic impact study will not be required. 
o Hours of operation will be 7:00 AM to 5:00 PM  

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 

o Access shall be restricted to Lowground Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

  
Alternatives 

1. Approve the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres from AR-1 to PD-MR, with the following condition: 
1.Access shall be restricted to Lowground Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres from AR-1 to PD-MR.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 
 

  

947

Item XV. 17.



948

Item XV. 17.



949

Item XV. 17.



950

Item XV. 17.



951

Item XV. 17.



952

Item XV. 17.



953

Item XV. 17.



954

Item XV. 17.



955

Item XV. 17.



956

Item XV. 17.



957

Item XV. 17.



958

Item XV. 17.



959

Item XV. 17.



960

Item XV. 17.



961

Item XV. 17.



962

Item XV. 17.



963

Item XV. 17.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: T&D Enterprises as Agent for Clayton Morgan requests to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres 
from AR-1 to PD-MR, to allow for a surface mine. Located at Lowground Road & Midland Road. (First & 
Fourth District) [Map# 350 Parcel# 18] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres 
from AR-1 to PD-MR, to allow for a surface mine, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The regulations governing the PD-MR zoning district, for surface mine operations over 10 acres is found 

in Part II – Official Code, Appendix C – Zoning Districts, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, 
Section – 5.15.7.9 Mining and reclamation (PD-MR) in the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  

• The applicant proposes to expand a pre-existing surface mine site by 18 acres. 
• Staff has met with the applicant and established the following policies for this project: 

o Access will be via Lowground Road. 
o A traffic impact study will not be required. 
o Hours of operation will be 7:00 AM to 5:00 PM  

• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve, with the following 
conditions: 

o Access shall be restricted to Lowground Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

  
Alternatives 

1. Approve the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres from AR-1 to PD-MR, with the following condition: 
1.Access shall be restricted to Lowground Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 18 of 131.90 acres from AR-1 to PD-MR.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

 
 

  

964

Item XV. 18.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

350-18 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

350-18 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, T&D ENTERPRISES AS AGENT FOR CLAYTON MORGAN has filed an application to rezone eighteen 

(18.0) +/- acres; from AR-1 to PD-MR to allow for a surface mine; map and parcel number 350-18, located in the 1st  & 4th  

commissioner districts, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT eighteen (18.0) +/- acres; map and parcel number 350-18, located in the 1st  & 4th 

commissioner districts is rezoned from AR-1 to PD-MR, with the following condition: 

1.Access shall be restricted to Lowground Road. 

 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

965

Item XV. 18.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Braly Investment Properties as Agent for HT Savannah Properties, LLC requests 
to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3, to allow for business development. Located at 817 East US Highway 
80.  [Map# 302 Parcel# 102] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 
to B-3, to allow for business development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, and fleet parking of 6-7 

vehicles for a sanitation business. A 3-4 bay maintenance shop is proposed for development in the future. 
• The site will not host retail operations, the future proposed shop will not service vehicles commercially. 
• Property access with be restricted to US Highway 80, there will be no access via Dogwood Way. 
• B-3 rezoning for a similar project was approved on April 18, 2023 for Map/Parcel# 302-105.  
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
o Access via Dogwood Way is prohibited. 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 
 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3 with the following conditions: 

1. Access via Dogwood Way is prohibited. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

966

Item XV. 19.



967

Item XV. 19.



968

Item XV. 19.



969

Item XV. 19.



970

Item XV. 19.



971

Item XV. 19.



972

Item XV. 19.



973

Item XV. 19.



974

Item XV. 19.



975

Item XV. 19.



976

Item XV. 19.



977

Item XV. 19.



978

Item XV. 19.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Braly Investment Properties as Agent for HT Savannah Properties, LLC requests 
to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3, to allow for business development. Located at 817 East US Highway 
80.  [Map# 302 Parcel# 102] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 
to B-3, to allow for business development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, and fleet parking of 6-7 

vehicles for a sanitation business. A 3-4 bay maintenance shop is proposed for development in the future. 
• The site will not host retail operations, the future proposed shop will not service vehicles commercially. 
• Property access with be restricted to US Highway 80, there will be no access via Dogwood Way. 
• B-3 rezoning for a similar project was approved on April 18, 2023 for Map/Parcel# 302-105.  
• At the 6/13/2023 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve, with the following 

conditions: 
o Access via Dogwood Way is prohibited. 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 
 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3 with the following conditions: 

1. Access via Dogwood Way is prohibited. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 6.08 acres from R-1 to B-3  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

979

Item XV. 20.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

302-102 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

302-102 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, BRALY INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AGENT FOR HT SAVANNAH PROPERTIES, LLC has filed an 

application to rezone six and eight thousandths (6.08) +/- acres; from R-1 to B-3to allow for to allow for business development; map 

and parcel number 302-102, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT six and eight thousandths (6.08) +/- acres; map and parcel number 302-102, located in 

the 1st commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to B-3, with the following condition: 

1. Access via Dogwood Way is prohibited. 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

980

Item XV. 20.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Dena C. Rodewolt as Agent for Land J. Sanders, Inc. requests to rezone 4.33 acres 
from R-1 to B-2, to allow for business development. Located at 2726 Highway 119 North. [Map# 294 Parcel# 
41] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 
to B-2, to allow for business development with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, for a mobile forklift tire and 

repair business. 
• There will be no retail operations on site. 
• City of Guyton has businesses on the opposite side of Highway 119 zoned as equivalent to B-1, this area 

is identified within Guyton City limits as neighborhood commercial.  
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion for approval. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives 

1. Approve the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 to B-2. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 to B-2.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

  

981

Item XV. 21.



982

Item XV. 21.



983

Item XV. 21.



984

Item XV. 21.



985

Item XV. 21.



986

Item XV. 21.



987

Item XV. 21.



988

Item XV. 21.



989

Item XV. 21.



990

Item XV. 21.



991

Item XV. 21.



992

Item XV. 21.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: Dena C. Rodewolt as Agent for Land J. Sanders, Inc. requests to rezone 4.33 acres 
from R-1 to B-2, to allow for business development. Located at 2726 Highway 119 North. [Map# 294 Parcel# 
41] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 
to B-2, to allow for business development with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, for a mobile forklift tire and 

repair business. 
• There will be no retail operations on site. 
• City of Guyton has businesses on the opposite side of Highway 119 zoned as equivalent to B-1, this area 

is identified within Guyton City limits as neighborhood commercial.  
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion for approval. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives 

1. Approve the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 to B-2. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 4.33 acres from R-1 to B-2.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

993

Item XV. 22.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

294-41 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

294-41 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, DENA C. RODEWOLT AS AGENT FOR LAND J. SANDERS, INC. has filed an application to rezone four 

and thirty-three thousandths (4.33) +/- acres; from R-1 to B-2 to allow for a business development; map and parcel number 294-41, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT four and thirty-three thousandths (4.33) +/- acres; map and parcel number 294-41, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to B-2. 

 

 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

994

Item XV. 22.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fifth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: McBride Properties requests to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 for business 
development.  Located on Mill Pond Road. [Map# 446 Parcel# 7E] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 for 
business development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, 5,000 square foot storage 

building, and fleet parking for an electrician business. 
• The property will access Ebenezer Road. 
• There will be no retail operations on site. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

 
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 with the following conditions: 
1.The property shall not have access via Mill Pond Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 

995

Item XV. 23.



996

Item XV. 23.



997

Item XV. 23.



998

Item XV. 23.



999

Item XV. 23.



1000

Item XV. 23.



1001

Item XV. 23.



1002

Item XV. 23.



1003

Item XV. 23.



1004

Item XV. 23.



1005

Item XV. 23.



1006

Item XV. 23.



1007

Item XV. 23.



1008

Item XV. 23.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 18, 2023 
Item Description: McBride Properties requests to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 for business 
development.  Located on Mill Pond Road. [Map# 446 Parcel# 7E] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 for 
business development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• The applicant proposes to develop the property to accommodate an office, 5,000 square foot storage 

building, and fleet parking for an electrician business. 
• The property will access Ebenezer Road. 
• There will be no retail operations on site. 
• At the June 13, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion for approval. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

 
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve the request to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3 with the following conditions: 
1.The property shall not have access via Mill Pond Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 5 acres from R-1 to B-3.  

 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 

1009

Item XV. 24.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

446-7E 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

446-7E 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, MCBRIDE PROPERTIES has filed an application to rezone five (5.0) +/- acres; from R-1 to B-3 to allow for a 

business development; map and parcel number 446-7E, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 18, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 21, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 17, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five (5.0) +/- acres; map and parcel number 446-7E, located in the 5th commissioner 

district is rezoned from R-1 to B-3. 

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

1010

Item XV. 24.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	Verizon North Tower Renewal
	1. Staff Report Verizon Tower Agreement
	2.  Verizon - South Tower - Original Agreement & Amendment

	Item IX. 2.	GED Testing for Prison
	1.  Staff Report (NEW) - 2020 - GED Testing - Prison UPDATED
	FY24_County CI GED Testing MOU Template

	Item IX. 3.	Ebenezer Fire Station Lease Agreement
	Staff Report Facility Lease Agreement Ebenezer FS
	Facility Use Agreement

	Item IX. 4.	GEMA Hazard Mitigation Planning Grant application ratification
	GEMA HMGP Staff Report
	Hazard Mitigation Grant Program _ Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency

	Item IX. 5.	Firehouse subs grant application
	Firehouse Subs Public Safety Staff Report
	Firehouse Drone Quote pdf
	Firehouse Grants Application

	Item IX. 6.	EMPG grant award acceptance
	EMPG Award Acceptance Staff Report 2023
	EMPG Award Notification

	Item IX. 7.	WWTP grant award agreement amendment for additional contingency funds awarded to county, ratification
	Staff Report Contingency Ammendment OPB 42 Mil
	Contingency Amendment

	Item IX. 8.	Donation acceptance for Senior Citizens Center
	Donation Acceptance Staff Report
	Gift  Donation Acceptance Form 

	Item IX. 9.	Request to Approve Application for 2023 ACCG Safety Grant
	ACCG Safety Grant Application July 2023
	2023 ACCG Employee Safety Grant Application and Documentation

	Item IX. 10.	Summit Food Services Amendment 2
	1. Staff Report Summit Food Service
	2. Summit Food Service Agreement_02202018
	3. 2022-301_Summit Food Service Agreement_Amendment 1_06072022
	Effingham County Board of Commissioners - Amendment 2 - 2023-07-01

	Item X. 1.	RCE - FDRE Change Order 3
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 3 FDRE Agreement
	3. 09-Additional Work Template FDRE close out Final

	Item X. 2.	RCE - LMIG 22 Change Order
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 2 LMIG Agreement
	3. 09-Additional Work Template 2022 LMIG

	Item X. 3.	RCE - Intersections
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 2 TSPLOST Intersections
	09-Additional Work Template Lighting Design TSPLOST
	Effingham Intersections Add Service Proposal Two 4.10.23 Final

	Item X. 4.	Timbering Ordinance
	Timbering Ordinance Staff Report
	Timber Ordinance

	Item X. 5.	Ordinance Amendment_Article II, IX,XI
	Zoning Procedures Law Staff Report
	Ordinance amendment_Article II Definitions
	ARTICLE II - Definitions - revised
	Ordinance amendment_Article IX
	ARTICLE IX - 9.4 - procedure for conducting a public hearing - revisions...
	Ordinance amendment_Article XI
	ARTICLE XI - Appeal of Zoning Decision

	Item XI. 1.	Parks Master Plan
	1. Staff Report Effingham County Parks Master Plan
	2023-0706 Effingham County Parks-Rec Master Plan Document (low quality)

	Item XI. 2.	RCE - LMIG 2023 CO
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 1 LMIG 23.24 Agreement
	09-Additional Work Template 2023 and 2024 LMIG

	Item XI. 3.	Automatic and Mutual Aid Agreement
	Staff Report Auto Aid Fire Agreement
	ECFR_RFD Auto Aid Proposed Agreement_CH(2)

	Item XI. 4.	Purchase Authorization for the Ebenezer Fire Station
	Staff Report Ebenezer FS Purchase Authorization

	Item XI. 5.	Local Emergency Operations Plan Update
	LEOP Staff Report
	Effingham County LEOP 2023_Final

	Item XI. 6.	Budget Amendment FY 2024
	Staff Report FY 2024 Budget Amendment 7-18-23
	Resolution FY 2024 budget amendments 7-18-23 meeting

	Item XI. 7.	UGA Extension Office FY 2024 personnel agreement
	staff report -UGA extension staffing
	FY 2024 UGA Extension Office personnel agreement

	Item XI. 8.	CEM Change Order - HGB
	1. Staff Report HGB Task Order
	2. Change Order Template
	3. 2023-6-16 PROPOSAL-IT DESIGN
	3. 2022-610_TO_#23-REQ-007_Hussey_Gay_Bell_CEM_Gym_11152022 (3)

	Item XI. 9.	IGA for Municipal Elections
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. County-Cities -Elections IGA

	Item XI. 10.	EMS MOU
	1. Staff Report Template
	EffinghamEMSMOU

	Item XI. 11.	EOM - Master Services Agreement Renewal
	1 Staff Report EOM Eng master services fy 24
	2. Engineering Master Service Agreement
	Engineering_Master Service Agreement Renewal Amendment No. 3_2023_07_01....

	Item XI. 12.	EOM - Public Works
	1. Staff Report Public Works Agreement
	2. Agreement - Public Works Agreement
	3. Operations_Amendment No. 6_2023_07_01

	Item XI. 13.	EOM - Task Order 8
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Engineering_Task Order 8

	Item XI. 14.	JAG - State Court
	1. Staff Report Template State Court
	Effingham County State Court Contract

	Item XI. 15.	JAG - Superior Court
	1. Staff Report Template Superior Court
	Effingham County Superior Court Contract

	Item XI. 16.	Probation Termination - Superior Court
	1. Staff Report Template
	2._2022-004_Superior_Court_Probation_Services_Agreement_01042022_(2) (1)

	Item XI. 17.	Probation Termination - State Court
	1. Staff Report Template
	2022-416_State_Court_Probation_Services_Agreement_08022022

	Item XI. 18.	LMIG 2024 Project List and Application
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. 2023 LMIG Cov Request Letter
	2023 Effingham LMIG Project List
	2023 Effing ham LMIG Project Submittal

	Item XI. 19.	Thompson Consulting
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Thompson Consulting Agreement

	Item XI. 20.	County Surveyor
	County Surveyor Staff Report
	ARTICLE_II.___DEFINITIONS - County Surveyor
	ARTICLE_III.___GENERAL_PROVISIONS - County Surveyor

	Item XI. 21.	City of Springfield Annexation_
	COS Annexation sr_
	Parcel 429A-3A and 429A-3BUF Vicinity Map
	20230622123908808

	Item XI. 22.	Special Service District_Effingham Gateway
	Effingham Gateway Special Service District 07-18-23

	Item XI. 23.	Special Service District_Research Forest
	Research Forest Special Service District 07-18-23

	Item XI. 24.	Special Service District_Interstate 16
	Interstate-16 Special Service District 07-18-23

	Item XV. 1.	3 Byrds Develpment, LLC Sketch Plan
	Sketch Plan #1 SR
	352-18_3 Byrds_SP

	Item XV. 2.	Windfield Townhomes Sketch Plan
	Sketch Plan #2 SR
	352F-1H&1J_Windfield_SP

	Item XV. 3.	Brunson Station Sketch Plan
	Sketch Plan #3 SR
	418-2E_Brunson Station_SP

	Item XV. 4.	Teramore Development (Dollar General) Sketch Plan
	Sketch Plan #4 SR
	264A-20&21_Teramore_SP

	Item XV. 5.	1a Tadlock RZ
	Presentment_1a_Tadlock
	1a. Tadlock

	Item XV. 6.	1b 2nd Reading Tadlock
	272-20_Tadlock_RZ
	1b_Tadlock

	Item XV. 7.	2a Waddell Rezone
	Presentments_2a_Waddell
	2a. Waddell

	Item XV. 8.	2b 2nd Reading Waddell
	2b_Waddell
	316-2_Waddell_RZ

	Item XV. 9.	3a Hynes Rezone
	Presentments_3a_Hynes
	3a Hynes

	Item XV. 10.	3b 2nd Reading Hynes
	342-29D_Lancaster_RZ
	3b_Hynes

	Item XV. 11.	4a Winkler Rural Business
	Presentments_4a_Winkler
	4a. Winkler

	Item XV. 12.	4b 2nd Reading Winkler
	4b_Winkler
	366-11_Winkler_CU

	Item XV. 13.	5a T&T Exley Rezone
	Presentments_5a_T&T
	5a. T&T Exley

	Item XV. 14.	5b 2nd Reading T&T Exley
	5b_T&T
	466D-1,6,9,11_T&T Exley_RZ

	Item XV. 15.	6a Simcoe Rezone
	Presentments_6a_Simcoe
	6a. Simcoe

	Item XV. 16.	6b 2nd Reading Simcoe
	6b_Simcoe
	451-21_Simcoe_RZ

	Item XV. 17.	7a T&D Rezone
	Presentments_7a_T&D
	7a. T&D

	Item XV. 18.	7b 2nd Reading T&D
	7b_T&D
	350-18_T&D_RZ

	Item XV. 19.	8a Braly Rezone
	Presentments_8a_Braly
	8a. Braly

	Item XV. 20.	8b 2nd Reading Braly
	8b_Braly
	302-102_Braly_RZ

	Item XV. 21.	9a Rodewolt Rezone
	Presentments_9a_Rodewolt
	9a. Rodewolt

	Item XV. 22.	9b 2nd Reading Rodewolt
	9b_Rodewolt
	294-41_Rodewolt_RZ

	Item XV. 23.	10a McBride Rezone
	Presentments_10a_McBride
	10a. McBride

	Item XV. 24.	10b 2nd Reading McBride
	10b_McBride
	446-7E_McBride Properties_RZ

	Bottom

